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1) Ed Ilcational And Employment Backgro\Uld 

I. I have a Bachelor of Science in Anthropology from the University of 

Massachusetts at Amherst and I attended law school at Tulane University School of Law 

in New Orleans. 

2. After graduation, I was admitted to the bars of Massachusetts, the District of 

Columbia and New York State. I worked in private practice in two different Boston law 

firms and after working at those two firms I assumed an in-house counsel position with 

Shawmut Bank from 1990 to 1995. 

3. I joined MasterCard International Incorporated ("MasterCard'') on July 7, 1995. 

In 2002, I was promoted to the position of Senior Vice President, Strategy and Market 

Development of MasterCard Canada, Inc. 

4. In 2004, I assumed the role of President of MasterCard Canada, Inc. ~ first on an 

interim basis, and then on a permanent basis. I remained President of MasterCard 

Canada, Inc. Wltil January 2010, when I assumed the role of President ofanother 

MasterCard division, MasterCard Advisors. 

5. In my current role, I am responsible for driving the.offefing of professional 

services at MasterCard. I have oversight of all global and regional teams covering three 

practice areas, being: Information Services, Consulting Services and Managed Services. 

2) The MasterCard System 

6. MasterCard is headquartered in Purchase, New' York. It has approximately 6,700 

employees located in offices around the world in five regions: Asia PacificJMiddle East 

& Africa (APMEA); Canada; Europe; Latin America/Caribbean; and the United States. 

7. Further information about MasterCard can be located in MasterCard's 2010 
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Annual Report, attached as Exhibit "A". 

2.1) The Parties in the MasterCard System 

8. MasterCard's network is commonly referred to as a four-party network. In 

actuality, five entities generally participate in the operation of MasterCard's four-party 

network: cardholders (\'Cardholders"), issuers ("Issuers''). acquirers ("Acquirers',), 

merchants {"Merchants") and MasterCard. 

9. The four-party MasterCard network is two-sided. On one side, Acquirers offer a 

suite of services to Merchants, used by Merchants to assist them in accepting MasterCard 

credit cards and other forms of payment at their locations, as well as other services. On 

the other side, Issuers make MasterCard-branded credit cards available to individuals 

who thereby become Cardholders. A diagram illustrating the relationship hetween 

MasterCard, Cardholders, Merchants, Acquirers and Issuers during a typical transaction 

.is provided on page 7 of the Form 10K included with the 2010 Annual Report attached as 

10. Issuers must make contractual arrangements with Cardholders, Acquirers must 

make contractual arrangements with Merchants and MasterCard establishes rules and 

protocols so that parties know when tbey will be paid and Cardholders know bow and 

where they can use the card. Acquirers'and Issuers establish fees charged to their . 

respective customers and negotiate the terms that govern those relationships. 

2.1.1) MasterCard Establishes Rules And Protocols Which BallUlce the System 

11. One of MasterCard's roles as network operator is to establish and promote a well 

known brand or trademark so that Cardholders know where their MasterCard credit card 

will be accepted. 
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12. As further discussed below, success of the MasterCatdnetwork depends on 

achieving both widespread consumer demand for use of its credit cards and widespread 

Merchant acceptance afits cards. Merchants will not accept MasterCard credit cards 

unless a meaningful number of consumers want to pay with MasterCard credit cards, and 

the related costs are acceptable. Consumers will not use MasterCard credit cards unless 

the costs are outweighed by the benefits and unless the card is widely accepted by . 

Merchants. 

\3. As a result of the four-party netwOlk, Mercluints and CardholdelS both gain from 

its use. As Carlos Arango, the Principal Researcher of the Currency Department, Bank of 

Canada, stated in his testimony to the Canadian Senate: 

"In two-sided markets, payment service providers require both customer 
and merchants to be on board and to create demand for their service. The 
key element of these markets are efficiency gains for both consumers and 
merchants if a third party coordinates their demand. Among the benefits 
of this coordination are the sharing of large set-up costs and the.gains by 
both merchants and consumers if more of them adopt the payment 
instrument." 

The Senate Testimony.of Carlos Arango of March 3, 2011 is attached as Exhibit ''B''. 

2.1.2) Cardholders in the MasterCard System 

14. Cardholders do not receive credit cards fromMasterCard, but instead may have a 

MasterCard branded credit card issued to them by anyone ofa number ofIssuers. 

15. There are significant advantages to Cardholders who use MasterCard credit cards. 

While these advantages do not restrict Cardholders from using other forms of payment, 

they provide value to consumers who choose MasterCard credit cards as Ii form of 

payment. 

J 6. Cardholders enjoy convenience and security from using MasterCard credit cards. 
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Cardholders are not liable for fraudulent transactions, and responsibility for such 

transactions is instead borne by Issuers, Acquirers or MasterCard, depending on the 

nature of the fraud. 

17. Cardholders also enjoy "charge-back protection". Charge-back protection is 
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available to Cardholders who pay for goods or services using MasterCard credit cards for 

a variety of reasons, including if Cardholders do not receive the purchased goods or 

services or such goods or services are not what they bargained for. An example of 

charge-back protection is a refund provided for a travel purchase that is not enjoyed due 

to the bankruptcy ofa travel agent or airline. A recent example of the ubiquity of this 

protection can be observed in the recent shut down of chartered airline DirectAir. 

DirectAir's website expressly directs: 

"If you have not begun your travel and have a ticket for which you paid 
with a credit card, contact your credit card company for a refund. If you 
are currently ·at your travel destination, please arrange for alternate 
transportation. You can file a claim with your credit card company for a 
refund of the unused portion of your Direct Air ticket. 

If you paid by cash or debit card, please call 1-855-888-8090 or see the 
detailed instructions for filing a claim with the escrow baJJk and securer 
contained in the DOT Notice." 

A copy of a printout from DirectAir's website is attached as Exhibit "e". 

18. If a Cardholder uses a particular Merchant-branded MasterCard credit card, they 

may also receive additional rewards and benefits associated with use of their cards, as 

further discussed below. 

19. MasterCard credit cards offer Cardholders the convenience of not canying cash or 

cheques, a source of unsecured credit, interest-free periods and easy record keeping. 
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2.1.3) Issuers in the MasterCard System 

20. Issuers are responsible for creating product offerings which interest Cardholders, 

issuing MasterCard credit cards to Cardholders and establishing the terms on which 

Cardholders maintain their credit card accounts. 

21. Issuers' arrangements with Cardholders determine credit limits, when payments 

are due, the amount of time before interest is charged on account balances, the minimum 

repayment requirement, the minimmn payment to be made by the Cardholder, the interest 

rate on unpaid accounts, the amount of the armual fee, ifany, the rewards, cash advance 

transaction fees, foreign exchange markup rate and over limit fees. . 

22. Issuers compete to offer arrangements to Cardholders, offering different features, 

different interest rates, different armual fees and different rewards. MasterCard Issuers 

compete with each other to issue MasterCard credit cards, they compete with Issuers of 

Qther cards tQ encourage use of MasterCard issued credit cards instead of Qther payment 

card types, and they compete with suppJiern of Qther payment mechanisms to encourage 

Cardholders to use MasterCard credit cards instead of other means Qf payment. 

23. In some cases, MasterCard requires that Issuern provide Cardholders with certain 

levels of benefits with respect to particular types of cards. However, the fees paid to 

Issuern by Cardholders are generally determined by Issuers and ·not by MasterCard. 

24. Issuers, and not MasterCard, also detennine the interest rates or other charges to 

be applied in circumstances where, as an example, grace periods have expired and 

amounts remain due and owing. The only exception to this statement is that MasterCard's 

Operating Rules prohibits Issuers from engaging in illegal actions; which prevents them 

from charging unlawful interest rates. 
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2.1.3.1) The Historic Issuance of MasterCard Credit Cards in Canada 

25. When the network now opernted by Visa Canada Corporation ("Visa") first came 

to Canada in 1968, it did so as an association of four of Canada's five largest banks: 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, Bank of Nova Scotia and 

The Toronto-Dominion Bank. 

26. When MasterCard first came to Canalla, it did so under the brand name 

MasterCharge. At that time, it forged a relationship with the remaining major banks in 

Canada including Bank ofMontrea! and National Bank of Canada. Interac debit was 

introduced in or around the early I 990s as a product of agreement between Canada's 

largest banks. 

27. Until November of 2008, "non-duality rules" prevented Issuers from issuing both 

MasterCard and Visa cards. In November 2008, the Competition Bureau issued a letter 

which advised that the Bureau waS of the view that it would no !ongerhave a concern if 

Issuers were permitted to issue both MasterCard and Visa credit cards. They may now do 

so. 

28. Traditionally, MasterCard has been the second largest credit card network in 

Canads in mosfMerchant and Cardholder demographics, measured by both the number 

of transactions and by the gross dollar volume of its transactions. However, MasterCard 

is behind American Express as well as Visa, in some important categories including 

"transactors", further discussed below. 

29. MasterCard's Issuers include banks, creditunions, and other financial service 

entities .. MasterCard credit cards have also been issued by a number of small.credit 

unions, such as Credit Union Atlantic, and foreign-based Issuers, including Capital One, 
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Bank of America, Chase, GE Money Canada, and HSBG. 

30. MasterCard Issuers also include a number of the largest fmancial institutions in 

Canada, such as Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, Bank of 

Montreal and National Bank of Canada. 

31. Some of the largest retailers and Merchants in this country also issUe MasterCard 

credit cards, including Canadian Tire and iWal-Mart. 

2.1.4) Acquirers in the MasterCard System 

32. Aequirers that playa significant role in the MasterCard network in Canada 

include Moneris Solutions, Glo.bal Payments Canada and Chase Paymentech. 

33. The suite of services supplied by MasterCard to Acquirers permit Acquirers to 

switch transactions and match MasterCard credit cards presented to their Merchant 

clients with Issuer accounts for authorization and clearance. The services which 

MasterCard supplies to Aequirers also include brand marketing, product development, 

and network/processing solutions involving the MasterCard network. 

34. Acquirers supply a different suite of services to Merchants including, but not 

limited to, a guarantee of prompt payment, banking and deposit arrangements, 

deployment of tenninals or other technology.to accept card payments, implementation 

and project management services, assumption of risk, customer service support,. 

replacement of equipment, flexibility of settlement/deposit arrangements, gift card 

processing; rewards processing, private label card processing, Merchant statements, 

traiuing and training material packages. 

35. Among other things, Acquirers often package and sell to various Merchants· 

different forms ofpaymeDt acceptance and related hardware. They also often offer 
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Merchants a "float" of particular payments in the network. 

36. In exchange for providing a suite of services to Merchants, Acquirers generally 

charge Merchants a fee calculated as the percentage 'of each transaction, ·known as the 

merchant diSC01lllt rate. Generally speaking, the Acquirer makes its profit out of the 

merchant disco1lllt rate. 

37. MasterCard does not track, compile or coiltrol the merchant discount rate or any 

other fee charged by Acquirers to Merchants. MastreCatd does not mandate that 

Acquirers charge Merchants in this way. MasterCard generally does not have knowledge 

of particular merchant discount rates paid by Merchants to their Acquirers. Because 

MasterCard is not privy to negotiated agreements between Acquirers and Merchants, 

MasterCard is not aware of each Merchant's merchant discount rate nor does it know all 

Merchants which accept, or cease to accept, MasterCard credit cards. 

38. The Witness Statement of Mike McCormack states at paragraph 159 that the 

services that Acquirers provide to Merchants are "[ ... J centered on providing merchants 

with the ability to accept Visa and MasterCard branded credit cards for payinent [ .. ;]". 

39. The description of services which Mr. McConnack states are provided by 

Acquirers to Merchants are not a set of services provided by MasterCard to Acqilirers. 

40. Even with respect to the MasterCard network, Merchants deal with their Acquirer 

- not with MasterCard. Merchants connect electronical1yvia point-of-sale solutions to 

the proprietary system operated by their Acquirers. Merchants have no ability to connect 

to the MasterCard network (unless they also issue or acquire MasterCard transactions, 

thereby acting as an Acquirer or Issuer, rather than a Merchant). 
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2.1.5) Merchants in the MasterCard System 

41. Merchants in a variety of sectOIll choose to accept MasterCard credit cards. The 

vast and ovelWhelming majority of Merchants who accept MasterCard credit cards do not 

have any contractuaJ relationship with MasterCard, but rather contract with Acquirers for 

a whole suite of credit card, debit and payment method services. Despite some 

Merchants having cpntractual relationships with MasterCard relating to incentives, 

marketing and technology, MasterCard does not acquire transactions for Merchants in 

Canada. That is, in all instances where MasterCard has concluded an agreement with a 

Merchant, the Merchant still bas an agreement with an Acquirer for the provision of 

acquiring services. 

42. Where it will add value to the lletwork, MasterCard will negotiate agreements 

directly with Merchants. MasterCard has incentive agreements with some large 

Merchants, who have negotiated certain benefits directly with MasterCard in exchange 

for electing to issue or accept MasterCard credit cards. For example, MasterCard may 

provide marketing incentives in exchange for having a high-profIle Merchant choose to 

accept MasterCard credit ca:rds. MasterCard may also pay Merchants for transaction 

volume processed at their store, on Merchant-issued cards .or on cards issued by Issuers 

but labeled with the Merchant's brand (known as "co-branded" credit cards). 

43. 

I further discuss co-branded and Merchant issued 

credit cards below. 

44. Some of the benefits to Merchants of accepting MasterCard credit cards include: 
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a. Increased Sales: Consumers spend more when they are not 

. constrained by cash on hand; 

• II -

b. Customer Satisfaction: Customers appreciate the fact that 

Merchants allow them the flexibility to pay the way they want to 

pay; 

c. Speed of Checkout Merchants do not have to spend time counting 

change or waiting while customers write cheques; 

d. Improved Efficiency; Card transactions today are conducted 

electronically. These paperless payments can save Merchant's time 

and money by minimizing cash handling and payment 

reoonciliation; 

e. Safety: With lower volumes of casli. Merchants are less vulnerable 

to costs of handling, depositing, shrinkage;dishonouring, 

counterfeiting, delay, theft and pilfering; 

f. Currency Conversion: Electronic payments on MasterCard credit 

cards are settled in the currency in which the Merchant sells goods 

and services, regardless of the Cardholder's country of origin is 

-from; 

g. Credit Risk; Merchants accepting payinent by MasterCard cards do 

not bear the risk associated with extending credit to Merchants; 

and 

.. h. Low Cost: Merchants do not have to incur the.expense·of 

establishing and running their own proprietary credit card systems. 
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2.2) The MasterCard Credit Card Payment Process 

45. Payment by MasterCard credit card in Canada generally accords with the 

following process. The first step upon Merchant acceptance of a MasterCard credit card 

for payment is for the transaction to be authorized. In the authorization process, 

information goes from the Merchant to the Acquirer. The Acquirer then communicates 

with the Issuer through MasterCard to determine if the Cardholder has sufficient credit to 

make the purchase. After MasterCard has received instructions from the Issuer, they 

advise the Acquirer that goods can be released. The Merchant and Acquirer note the 

transaction. 

46. A clearance process takes place after the goods are sold. Merchants provide. 

information about transactions, either sale-by-sale or in batches, to their Acquirer. The 

infonnation is then transmitted to MasterCard, MasterCard takes the information, notes 

who is owed what, and advises each Acquirer and Issuer of their net position. Clearance 

and a form of settlement occur between Acquirers and Issuers, where IssuelS pay the net 

transaction value to Acquirers, minus amounts for the related default interchange rate. 

47. Acquirers then settle their accollnts with Merchants. The length oftime for 

settlement between a Merchant and Acquirer will usually be driven by market conditions 

although MasterCard does establish minimum conditions. In Canada, Acquirers compete 

on the time they take to settle with Merchants. Settlement often occurs within one day. 

Barring any problems, MasterCard is not generally involved in the settlement process 

between Acquirers and Merchants. 

48. MasterCard operates its own electronic system for clearing transactions: While 

MasterCard Issllers and Acguirers are not obligated to lise MasterCard's system for 
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settlement of amounts owing between them, many choose to <:10 so because it is co·st-

effective and efficient. However, other Issuers and Acquirers settle through·other 

systems independent of MasterCard. 

49. Acquirers ultimately collect their fees from Merchants on a schedule determined 

by them. Correspondingly, Cardholders maintain an account with Issuers on terms 

agreed upon between them. 

3) Competition for Payments in Canada 

50. Use of a MasterCard credit card is one of many ways for consumers or businesses 

to pay for goods and services in Canada and for merchants to accept payment for goods. 

A non-comprehensive listing of such methods includes cash, cheques, pre-authorized 

debit, Interac debit, Interac e-Transfer, money orders, travelers che"ques, gift cards, 

Merchant-issued credit cards, PayPal, Bill me Later, Obopay, Bill Monk, Text Pay Me 

and Zoompass and general purpose credit cards, inclnding MasterCard, Visa, American 

Express, Discover, ICB and China UnionPay. 

51. cash is ~ particularly significant competitor for MasterCard. The Bank of 

Canada's Carlos Arango stated in his testimony to the Canadian Senate of March 3, 2011 

attached as Exhibit "B"; 

"Cash accounts for 54% of total purchases ...• Based on a rough 
extrapOlation this .could amount to at least 6 billion cash transactions 
compared to 2.5 billion forcredit·cards and 3.9 billion for debit cards in 
2009." 

Correspondingly, an active component of MasterCard's competitive strategy - not just in 

Canada, but throughout the world - has been a "war on cash". 

52. That credit cards and cash compete at the point of sale has been recently 

acknowledged by Mr. Arango in the conclusion of his discussion paper, Why Is Cash 
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(Still) So Entrenched? [nsightsjrom ·/he Bank of Canada's 2009 Methods-aI-Payment 

Survey, released February 2012: 

The results suggest that payment innovations that are easy to use and 
widely accepted may cause snbstantial reductions in cash usage, especially 
for transactions below $25, where we estimate that annual cash volumes 
are 6.2 billion transactions, about the same as the current combined 
volume of debit and credit card payments. 

One example of such an innovation is the contactless feature (where a 
payment instrument can be simply waved over a terminal without the need 
for a signature or PIN) in some Interae debit cards (Flash) and Visa 
(payWave) and MasterCard (payPass) credit cards. Such payment cards 
would be more competitive ·with cash in terms of speed and ease of use. 
Although contactless card features were just introduced in Call ada a few 
years ago, there is already evidence 'of their effect on cash usage (Fung, 
Huynh and Sabetti 2011). More recent innovations allow debit and credit 
payments through mobile phones, as well as make credit card payments 
quicker for low value transactions by eliminating the requirement to 
provide a signature. Epwever, merchants, especially .those with high 
transaction volumes and low transaction values, must be given the right 
incentives to accept these innovations, since it may involve the upgrading 
of existing equipment or the purchase of new equipment. 

Future work [should] allow researchers to develop more elaborate models 
of payment instrument usage. For example, to· explore competition 
betwee11 debit and credit cards at the point of sale, it is important to 
understand the factors 'uu<jerlying both consumer selection o~ different 
debit and credit card plans and merchants' decisions reglU'ding payment 
card acceptance. 

Why Is Gash (Still) So Entrenched? Insights from the Bank 0/ Canada's 2009 

Methods-aI-Payment Survey is attached as Exhibit "E", 

53. MasterClU'd aggressively competes as a general purpose credit card brand within 

the broad payment landscape in Canada. To compete with other methods of payment, 

MasterCard must successfully encourage both MerciJants and Cardholders to use 

MasterCard credit cards. This competition occurs every day, multiple times a day, with 

millions and millions oftransactiollS. By the time a purchase is made, MasterCard has 
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competed with all the other available payment methods for that transaction. 

54. While the acceptance of MasterCard credit cards amongst all Merchants increased 

during my time with MasterCard, MasterCard traditionally struggled for Merchant 

acceptance in certain Merchant segments. We made a conscious effort to expand 

Merchant acceptance by being more attractive to mme Merchants, and broader categories 

of Merchants. We succeeded in this. Presumably those Merchants who previously did 

not accept MasterCard credit cards decided that they would be better off accepting them 

titan not, taking into account the merchant discount rate they had to pay to do so. 

55. MasterCard also competes fur Cardholders in different spaces. For example, 

American Express traditionally had an advantage among affluent Cardholders and 

performed similarly to MasterCard in the commercial sphere. 

56. The colnpetition between Visa and MasterCard is vigorous and occurs on both 

sides of the two-sided Canadian credit card business. On the Merchant side, MasterCard 

competes to enlist Canadian fmancial institutions and processors to acquire Merchant 

MasterCard credit card payments. 

57. On the consumer side, MasterCard competes to enlist Canadian fInancial 

institutions to issue MasterCard credit cards. These Issuers seek to encourage consumers 

to use MasterCard credit cards instead of competing payment forms. MasterCard offers 

consumers a Significant ni.nnber of Merchants who choose to accept MasterCard branded 

credit cards. 

58. PaYPal, a traditional on-line payment provider, has also begun to move into the 

bricks and mortar retail landscape. I believe that the merchant discount rate for 

Merchants to accept PayPal is substantially higher than MasterCard, Visa or American 
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Express. 

59. Some Merchants issue their own general purpose credit cards or operate store-

branded cards. Many Merchants have discontinued their proprietary c~d arrangements 

to accept general purpose cards because of the relatively low cost of doing so. That is, 

they have concluded that they are better off accepting general purpose credit cards and 

paying the associated costs, than operating their own proprietary credit card program. 

60. Merchants who accept credit cards have determined that the benefits outweigh the 

costs. Merchants are aware of the cost of credit card payments because they receive 

disclosures pursuant to the Code and within periodic statements from their Acquirers. 

Merchants also sign contracts outlining their costs beforecommencing acceptance of 

MasterCard credit cards .. 

61. However, Merchants tend to have less awareness about the costs of accepting 

cash, cheque or pre-authorized debit because such costs are less transparent and don't 

appear as an item on a statement Other payment methods have their own'associated 

costs, such as handling, theft, depositing, shrinkage, dishonouring, counterfeiting and 

delays. 

4) The Operating Rules 

62. . MasterCard's role as network operator also includes the establishment of rules 

and protocols to ensure that Acquirerspromptly settle Merchant accounts, Issuers clear 

transactions with Acquirers, and Issuers treat Cardholders as they promise. 

63. MasterCard's Operating Rules (the "Op.erating Rules") require Issuers to settle 

all valid transactions which are submitted by Acquirers. The Operating Rules allow the 

MasterCard network to function as an attractive, efficient payment mechanism for both 
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Cardholders and Merchants. The Operating Rules dated December 7,2011, are attached 

as Exhibit "F". 

64. Within the four"party MasterCard network, MasterCard typically has agreements 

with two main types of parties: Issuers and Acquirers. In order for an entity to act as an 

Issuer or Acquirer within the MasterCard network, it must execute a license agreement.. 

4.1) The Challenged Rules 

65. The "honor all cards rule" ("HACR") for MasterCard credit cards in the Canada 

Region, Rule 5.8.1, reads: 

"Honor All Other MasterCard Cards. Merchants that choose to accept Other 
[non-domestic debit] Cards must honor all Other Cards without discrimination 
when properly presented for payment. The Merchant must maintain a policy that 
does not discriminate among customers seeking to make purchases with another 
Card. t

) 

66. The "no discrimination rule" (UNDR"), Rule 5.11.1, reads: 

"A Merchant must not engage in any acceptance practice that discriminates 
against or discourages the use of a Card in favor of any other acceptance brand." 

67. The "no surcharge rule" ("NSR") for the Canada Region, Rule 5.11.2, reads: 

"A Merchant must not directly or indirectly require any Cardholder to pay a 
surcharge or any part of any Merchant discount or any contemporaneous finance 
charge in connection with a Transaction. A Merchant may provide a discount to 
its customers for cash payments. A Merchant is permitted to charge' a fee (such as 
a bona fide commission, postage, expedited service or convenience fees, and the 
like) if the fee is imposed On all like transactions regardless of the fonn of 
payment used, or as the COIporation has expressly permitted in writing. For the 
purposes of this Rule: 
1. A surcharge is any fee charged in connection with a Transaction that is not 
charged if another payment method is used. 
2. The Merchant discount fee is any fee a Merchant pays to an Acquirer so 
that the Acquirer will acquire the Transactions of the Merchant. 
In addition to a discount for cash, a Merchant may provide a discount to its 
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customers for other fonns of payment, including diffemttial discounts for other 
payment brands. Such discounts must be clearly communicated at the Point of 
Interaction." 

68. Collectively, the HACR, NDR and NSR are the "Challenged Rules". 

4.1.1) The No Surcharge Rule 

69. The NSR is protective of Cardholder interests. It prohibits the Cardholder being 

asked to pay an additional amount above the posted price for using a MasterCard credit 

card. Moreover, the NSR is a common mature in different franchises. 

70. The NSR prevents Merchants from free riding on the benefits of the MasterCard 

network by extracting benefits for themselves in the form of a surcharge for MasterCard 

usage. 

71. If Cardholders are surcharged, tbey may believe tbat their MasterCard is not 

willingly accepted at Mercbant locations. The NSR therefore prevents a bait and switch 

on Cardholders who believe that they will receive the full benefit associated witb use of 

their MasterCard credit card, but, because of a surcbarge, do not. 

72. Insofar as surcharging would negatively affect use of MasterCard credit cards tbe 

NSR protects the MasterCard network from iIijury. Pennitting sureharging would a!low 

certain Merchants to surcharge certain Cardholders in certain situations, to the detriment 

of those Cardholders, and to the detriment of MasterCard since its brand would be seen as 

less valuable, and MasterCard cards used less often. Of coUrse, this concern arises 

because MasterCard competes with many otber fonus of payment. 

73. No MasterCard rule, policy or agreement prevents or discourages Aequirers from 

offering lower prices to Merchants or Merchants from offering discounts odower prices 

to Cardholders. 
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4.1.2) The Non-Discrimination Rule 

74. The NDR is designed to protect the value of the MasterCard brand, including 

protecting against brand disparagement or behaviour which prevents a Cardholder from 

using his or her:MasterCard credit card. 

75. The NDR does not prevent steering, however. Merchants who agree to accept 

payment by MasterCard credit cards are free to effectively encourage Cardholders to pay 

for goods and services by various other payment options so long as they do not do so in 

ways which unduly damages or undermines-the MasterCard brand proposition to 

Cardholder or Cardholder intetests. 

76. Notwithstanding the Challenged Rules, MasteICard permits steering and 

preference statements in the form of discounting and signs promoting use of other 

payment methods as are permitted under the Operating Rules. 

77. However, the NDR prevents Merchants from pUIporting to accept MasterCard 

credit cards and then preventing Cardholders from using them. P_ractical examples of 

condoct prohibited by the MDR are if a Merchant were to automatically send consumers 

paying with MasterCard credit cards to the back of a line at the point of sale. 

4.1.3) The Honour All Cards Rule 

78. One of MasterCard's -cote brand promises to Cardholders is that if a Merchant 

agrees to accept MasterCard credit cards, the Cardholder's partiCUlar MasterCard credit 

card will be accepted. 

79. If a Merehant agrees to accept a MasterCard eredit card, the Merehant inns! -

accept-alI MasterCard credit cards;no matter the type 'of card or who the 'Issuer is-or 

where it is located. 
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80. The HACR is also fundamental to the payment network by giving Cardholders 

-confidence that their MasterCard credit card will be accepted and avoiding negative 

experiences at the point of interaction. MasterCard's HACR enables the network to 

compete by protecting its valuable brand capital. Without confidence that~their 

MasterCard credit card will be accepted for payment, a Cardholder will not be as inclined 

to carry or use a MasterCard preditcard. 

81. It is particularly critical to the viability of the MasterCard network that cards 

issued by smaller entities be honoured, as MasterCard relies on many small Issuers and 

fewer larger Canadian financial institutions to issue MasterCard credit cards. Other 

general purpose credit card networks, such as American Express and Visa, do not rely on 

small Issuers. 

82. Correspondingly, the HACR promotes innovation and entry by small, new 

innovative Issuers and promotes the existence of competing card types. New, smaller, 

innovative Issuers will have confidence that the MasterCard credit eards they issue will 

be accepted. Larger, more established Issuers cannot strike arrangements which would 

exclude such smaller Issuers. 

83. Both the Canadian Federation oflndependent Business and Retail Council of 

Canada.have advised MasterCard that if Merchants are not required to htmor all cards, 

they would recommend to their memhers to drop MasterCard acceptance as a way of . 

"sending a message" because MasterCard is the smaller network and has small issuers. 

Assuming that Merchants are willing to follow the advice of these associations, 

MasterCard will be disproportionately.discrirninated against if the HAGR is removed. 
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4.2) The Role of the Operating Rides 

84. Certain of the Operating Rules minimize negative impact and provide 

Cardholders ease and confidence in using their MasterCard card. If an Acquirer or Issuer 

of the network does not abide by the rules of the network, there is a risk that the 

consumer experience will be denigrated and the quality control that a conswner has come 

to associate with the use of a MasterCard credit card will not have been lived up_ to. 

8S. MasterCard, as is common in other franchise situations, strives to ensure that the 

members of the network meet certain quality control standards. Some of these standards 

(e.g. the NSR and HACR) primarily benefit Cardholders, while others (e.gAimely 

settlement) primarily benefit Merchants. They are all designed to maximize the 

attractiveness of the network, overall, to balance i~ and thereby to maximize Its usage. 

86. The Operating Rules and the Challenged Rules are designed to expand output, 

benefit Cardholders and promote efficiency. The Operating Rules are efficiency 

enhancing and consumer protection rules, designed to -make MasterCard an attractive 

form of payment. Reasons for adoption of the Challenged Rules have nothing to do with 

allY sort of price maintenance. 

87. Even if the Challenged Rules are removed, I do not -believe that MasterCard '8 

default interchange rates or network fees will be materially different, or result in a 

reduction in consumer prices. 

5) The Default Interchange Rate, Interchange Monies and Network Fees 

5.1) Interchange Rates 

88. The interchange rate is an amount retained by an ISSUer on any given credit card -

transaction before payment is made to an Issuer. MasterCard does not receive interchange 
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monies (they flow from Acquirer to Issuer), and MasterCard does not earn revenue on 

interchange amounts. However, MasterCard manages default interchange rates to 

balance the network to maximize its appeal on one hand to Merchants and Acquirers, and 

to Issuers and Cardholders on the other. 

89. Interchange is an input cost for Acquirers. When Acquirers contract with 

Merchants, they may relate the merchant discouut rate which they negotiate and charge to 

the Merchant to demult interchange rates, or they may not. It is up to them. An Acquirer 

may conclude an agreement with a Merchant specifically enumerating default 

interchange rates or may conclude a flat-fee arrangement where default interchange rates 

are invisible and irrelevant to the Merchant. Acquirers are free to negotiate whatever 

pricing they can. They can make money orIose money. MasterCard has no say in the 

matter. 

90. Merchants and Acquirers negotiate agreements without the involvement of 

MasterCard. Acquirers are not required by any agreement with MasterCard to charge 

specific amounts to Merchants or set their pricing so as to specifically enumerate default 

interchange rates. 

5.2) The DefaultIntercbange Rate .'. 

91. In lieu of an agreement between an Acquirer and Issuer providing otherwise, 

MasterCard establishes the default interchange rate applicable to transactions on the 

MasterCard network. However, Acquirers and Issuers are not bound to the default 

interchange rate. At all times, Acquirers and Issuers have the ability to.negotiate the 

interchange rate applicable to any particular .transaction. 

92. The cost and time required to negotiate individual agreements between Acquirers 
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and Issuers lead them to utilize the default interchange rate. In addition to enhancing 

efficiency, default interchange rates prevent large participants from'taking advantage of, 

or even "freezing Qut", smaller entities in the MasterCard netwolk by ensuring the 

transaction will be completed. 

93. But for an agreed interchange rate, Acquirers would not be assured of their costs 

of clearance or that they could clear and settle at all and could not commit to pay a pre

agreed amoimt to Merchants. But for an agreed interchange rate, Issuers could not 

determine pricing to Cardholders. The default interchange rate ensures that there is an 

agreed rate. 

94. Without default interchange rates, the MasterCard network would not function at 

all or, at best, would function at a significantly reduced level With greater uncertainty for 

the involved parties. 

5.2.1) The Role of the Default Interchange Rate 

95. MasterCard's goal in establishing the default interchange rate, as with its use of 

other balancing devices such as the Challenged Rules. is to achieve a balance between the 

"value propositions" that MasterCard provides to Cardholders and Issuers on the one 

hand and Merchants and Acquirers on the other so as to achieve maximum possible 

volume on the MasterCard network. 

96. MasterCard periodically reviews default interchange rates to ensure the rate 

maximizes the benefits of the MasterCard network for Merchants. Cardholders, Acquirers 

and Issuers. 

97. MasterCard considers whether the default interchange rate would tend to 

encourage Merchants to accept MasterCard credit cards and tend to encoUrage Issuers to 
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provide innovative card products that meet consumer demand. In order to achieve 

widespread cOilSwner demand and Merchant acceptance of MasterCard cards, 

MasterCard sets the default interchange rate at a rate where Cardholders must perceive 

benefit and Merchants must be better off accepting MasterCard cards. 

98. There is therefore a relationship between the two sides of the .network: 

MasterCard must ensure that a MasterCard transaction or products associated with 

transactions are attractive to Issuers so that they increase the number of-Cardholders they 

put into the network and, at the same time, the default interchange rate must represent 

value for Acquirers and Merchants compared to the cost. If MasterCard fails in its value 

proposition to Acquirers, MasterCard runs the risk of losing Merchants, and ifthe 

network loses Merchants, the Cardholder value proposition is lost. Iffewer Cardholders 

use MasterCard credit cards, MasterCard loses the Merchant value proposition. 

5.2.2) Market Impact on the Default Intercbange Rate 

99. In some instances, the amount charged by Acguirers to Merchants for their whole 

suite of services may be below the amount of default interchange rate, and in others it 

may be well above it. In some cases, for on-us transactions, the interchange rate is zero 

per cent. 

100. Default interchange rates are constrained by operation oHhe market MasterCard 

considers its "competitive positioning" against other forms of payment as one of the 

factors when establishing default interchange rates. 

101. To the extent default interchange rates inflmmce pricing to Merchants by 

Acquirers, Merchant willingness to accept MasteICaId credit cards may drop .. 

MasterCard will, in that scenario, lose. business to its competitors. 
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102. If default interchange rates are set too low, Issuer willingness to continue to create 

innovative products and issue MasterCard credit cards that attract Cardholders will drop 

and, as a result, so will consumer demand for MasterCard credit cards. 

103. 

The current segregation of default 

interchange rates into different Merchant categories (including, for example, the lower 

default interchange rates related to large petroleum and supermarket Merchants) is a by

product of MasterCard balancing the system and needing to compete for Merchant 

acceptance in those discrete segments. 

104. MasterCard's default interchange rates do not determine Merchant pricing. I 

generally understand that, historically, despite MasterCard's default interchange rate 

being lower than Visa's for many years, the merchant discount rate offured by Acquirers 

to Merchants for acceptance of MasterCard products was at times more expensive than 

for acceptance of Visa products. Some Acquirers offered pricing for blended services 

across payment types and sometimes, irrespective of MasterCard's defaulfinterchange 

rate, made up for a naI:rOW margin on Visa credit card transactions by charging more for 

MasterCard credit card transactions. 

105. As discussed below, MasterCard makes its revenue from Issuers and Acquirers 

25 (full document)



-26 -

based on the number oftl'ansactions and dollar volume associated with those transactions. 

MasterCard's financial interest and goal is therefore to set default interchang~ rates and 

Operating Rules so as to maximize the acceptance and use of MasterCard credit cards, 

against all forms of payment, by maximizing value to Cardholders and Merchants. 

Conduct to the contrary would cause MasterCard financial harm as Cardholders would 

instead make purchases using competing payment types, such as Visa, Interae debit and 

casb, among otbers. 

5.3) The Creation of Premium High Spend Products 

106. In the last five years, MasterCard identified a sector of consumers where 

MasterCard was not competitive, being ~'transactor" purchasers. These purchasers 

typically do not carry a monthly balance on their MasterCard credit card accounts and, on 

~verage, spend more and more frequently. They also tend to expect benefits and be 

attracted to rewards from their payment cards. 

107. Transactors tend to use credit cards as a payment vehicle and do not require 

associated lending. It is desirable to attract transactors to the MasterCard network 

because MasterCard's revenues are derived from transaction count and volume and 

MasterCard derives no economic benefit from lending. Transactors, however, may be 

less desirable to Issuer than "revolvers", because transactors do not generate interest 

revenue for Issuers. 

108. When MasterCard found itselfuncompetitive in.the transactor segment with Visa, 

American Express and Interac debit, MasterCard developed product structures which 

would appeal to high-spend transactor Cardholders, the High Spend and Premium High 

Spend programs. 
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109. The default interchange rate payable in relation to use of High Spend and 

p'remium High Spend MasterCard credit cards was higher than that of core MasterCard 

credit cards, but Issuers were also required to ensure that Cardholders would receive 

additional benefits for using these products. 

110. Issuers were required to certifY that minimum spend levels were met on an 

aggregate basis in order for the Issuer to receive the higher default interchange rate 

related to a High Spend or Premium High Spend product construct. 

111. If an Issuer could not meet the requirements of the Premium High Spend product 

construct, that Issuer's program would be moved auf ofthe product construct. 

MasterCard also retained the ability to assess penalties against non-compliant Issuers, so 

as to eliminate the receipt of interchange monies not otherwise payable to the Issuer and 

to provide economic incentive for the Issuer to be honest in the presentation of qualifYing 

programs. 

5.4) Co-Brand and Other Agreements Between MasterCard and Merchants 

112. In exchange for incentives, ·as noted above, some Merchants enter into agreements 

with MasterCard directly to create credit card products that bear the brands of-both the 

Merchant and MasterCard. These arrangements may be structured so that credit cards 

will be issued by anyone ofMaslerCard's Issuers or issued by the Meri::hant itself. They 

may involve incoIporation of the Merchant's brand on the card, or they may.nol 

113. Where a Merchant does enter into a co-branding or issuing arrangement with 

MasterCard, the associated card product most often provides benefits to Cardholders for 

use orthe card, with extra benefits for use of the card at the participating Merchant. 

114. . I have read the Witness Statement of Candice Li, filed on behalf ofWestJel. Ms. 

27 (full document)



-28 -

Li asserts at paragraph 22 that "To the best of WestJet's knowledge, Interchange Fees are 

set by Visa and MasterCard, and are non-negotiable by the Merchant, el(cept where 

certain limited opportunities exist, such as the issuance of a co-branded credit card". 

115. WestJet is indeed familiar with negotiating interchange rates related to co-branded 

credit cards with MasterCard. 

116. I am also aware that WestJet does not accept cash in the cabin, and only accept 

MasterCard, Visa, American Express and WestJet vouchers. It must fmd cash - given its 

associated costs and inconvenience - to be more ex.pensive than those other payment 

methods. 

117. I have also read portions oftbe Witness Statement of Craig Daigle,filed on behalf 

of Shoppers Drug Mart Inc. While Mr. Daigle, like Ms. Li, acknow.ledges the co-branded 

MasterCard product offered in conjunction with Shoppers Drug Mart Inc!; Mr. Daigle 

states at paragraph 23 that, "Shoppers has no say with respect to Card Acceptance Fees 

and not [sic] been able to effectively negotiate with Visa and MasterCard to constrain or 

reduce these fees". He also states at paragraph 33 that, "Shoppers cachot create· 

competition to constrain increases in or encourage reductions of Card Acceptance Fees". 

Lastly, he states at paragraph 34 that, "Shoppers is unable to effectively encourage-or 

ineent customers to use lower-cost methods of payment, such as cash, Interac debit and 
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lower-cost credit cards, including by surcharging credit cards with higher Card 

Acceptance Fees, declining to accept credit cards with higher Card Acceptance Fees or 

steering consumers to lower-cost payment methods". 

118. As a matter of fact, these statements are inaccurate. Mr. Daigle acknowledges the 

reduction in detault interchange rate payable upon usage of the co-branded MBNA 

Shoppers Optimum MasterCard at Shoppers Drug Mart. However, the Strategic Alliance 

Agreement entered into between Shoppers Drug Mart and MasterCard, _ 

_ is more extensive. The preamble to the Strategic Alliance Agreement states, 

119. As a function of the Strategic Alliance Agreement, Shoppers Drug Mart Inc. 

120. Among other things, the Strategic Alliance Agreement also provides that 

Shoppers Drug Mart Inc. will 

As a result, 

not only can Shoppers Drug Mart Inc. steer consumers to lower-cost payment methods 

(indeed through a MasterCard pro,ducll), 

121. I have also read portions of the Witness Statement of Paul rewer, flied on behalf 
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of So beys Inc. Mr. Jewer states: 

"As a result of the Merchant Rules, grocers are unable to effectively 
encourage customers to use lower-cost methods of payment, such as cash, 
Internc debit and lower-cost credit cards, including by surcharging credit 
cards with higher Card Acceptance Fees, declining to accept credit cards 
with higher Card Acceptance Fees or -steering consumers to lower-cost 
payment methods." (paragraph 49) 

- 30-

122. As otherwise detailed herein, the Operating Rules and the Code of Conduct for 

the Credit and Debit Card Industry ("Code of Conduce') permit various forms of 

steering, including varied discounting between payment types. Additionally, Sobeys has 

entered into a Strategic Alliance Agreement with MasterCard, 

123. The preamble of the Sobeys Strategic Alliance Agreement states, among other 

things: 

124. The Strategic Alliance Agreement provides 

30 (full document)



CONFIDENTIAL- LEVEL A - 31 -

126. Not only did Sobeys negotiate an agteement with MasterCard which provided it 

with significant fmancial benefit (related to ilie co-branded product and otherwise), biit it 

committed to additional obligations regarding acceptance of MasterCard credit cards 

beyond those required in the Operating Rules. It negotiated these commitments in 

exchange for benefits. It is odd. to say the least, therefore that Mr. Jewer says that 

gtocers are unable to effectively 'encourage customers to use lower-cost methods of 

payment, including lower-cost credit cards, or steer consumers to lower-cost payment 

methods. 

5.5) MasterCard's Network Fees 

127. MasterCard's financial interest is related to network fees charged by MasterCard 

, to Issuers and Acquirers, which are not interchange fees. Because MasterCard earns 

revenue on volume-based transaction fees and dollar volume fees, not interchange rates, 

MasterCard has an economic incentive to make rules that increase the use of its brand of 

credit cards. 

128. The blended total of all fees paid to MasterCard, by Issuers and Acquirers, in or 

around 2010, was roughly including costs of settlement between 

Issuers and Acquirers, less the effect of incentives and rebates. 

6), Conclusion 

129. If the Order requested by the Commissioner is granted, MasterCard's competitors, 

such as American Express and Interae debit, who will·not be subject to such Order, will 

be competitively advantaged. They will not be required to permit surcharging, nor will . 
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Merchants be pennitted to decline cards related to those networks. While Interac 

currently permits Merchants to surcharge Interac debit usage, it will not be obligated to 

continue to do so in the future. 

130. Even Visa, who is presumably would be subject to the Competition Tribunal's 

Order, will be competitively advantaged over MasterCard ·because of its size. 

131. The Code of Conduct specifically addresses the same concerns that the 

Application purports to address, such as cost awareness, interchange awareness and 

differentia I discounting for different methods of payment. 

132. In arriving at the Code of Conduct, the Minister of Finance decided not to 

challenge the HACR or NSR, despite being urged to do so by stakeholders. 

133. In fact, even industry participants who represent Merchants do not support the 

relief sought by the Commissioner. According to the Globe & Mail, the Retail Council 

of Canada's President Diane Brisebois stated, "The Retail Council ,?f Canada does not 

support surcharging, but wants the payment system regulated. This is another piece of 

the puzzle, and [the Code 1 provides the Minister with further evidence of a more robust 

regulatory framework". Page Al of the Globe & Mail, dated December 16, 2010 is 

attached as Exhibit "K". 

134. Cardholders are opposed to any initiative whereby Merchants would be permitted 

to add a surcharge to purchases made with a credit card or reject certain forms of 

payment from customers. The Consumers' Association of Canada also does not support 

the relief sought by the Commissioner. A Statement issued by the Consumers' 

Association of Canada stating its position· concerning tbis application is attached as 

Exhibit ·"L". 
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135. The Code of Conduct was not fully in effect when the Application was 

commenced or when my role as President of MasterCard. The Commissioner's 

app lication has not given the Code of Conduct much ofa chance to work. 
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136. The Operating Rules do not necessarily effect MesterCard' s defuult interchange 

rates. If any particular Merchant surcharges MasterCard credit cards or does not honour 

all cards, it will not necessarily have the effect of lowering Canadian default interchange 

rates. Eliminating the Challenged Rules will not, in and ofitself, have a generalized 

effect of lowering default interchange rates which are set at a level which is believed to 

maximize the volmne of transactions on MasterCard credit cards. 

137. Repeal of the NSR is unlikely to have a meaningful effect on default interchange 

rates or merchant discount rates but to the axtent that surcharges occur will injure 

Cardholders, the usefulness of MasterCard credit cards and a divert Cardholders to 

American Express and other fonus of payment. 

138. The NDR is important to MasterCard in light ofits marleet position vis-a-vis Visa 

as a smaller brand of general purpose credit card in Canada. Repeal of the NDR will 

permit disparagement of the MasterCard brand and unfairly discriminate against 

MasterCard as the smaller of the two four-party networks now operating in Canada. 

139. Repeal of the HACR could fundamentally undermine the MasterCard network; 

thwart small brands and small Issuers; and injure Cardholders. Without the rule, 

Cardholders cannot have confidence that their card will be accepted. Even if very few 

Merchants actually fail to honour all cards, once it is known that they may not some 

confidence in the network is loS!. If dishonoring cards becomes common, the situation is 

even worse. It would undermine the effectiveness of MasterCard as a payment device 
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and result in diversion of Cardholders to American Express and other ·forms of payment. 

140. Eliminating tbe Cballenged Rules will not have a generalized effect oflowering 

interchange which is set in an attempt to maximize the volume of transactions on 

MasterCard credit cards. An increase or reduction of the default interchange rate bas 

nothing to do with the level of competition in the payments market (although it will affect 

MasterCard's competitiveness aod efficiency). 

141. If the Challenged Rules are eliminated, to the extentiliat the Commissioner's 

position that Merchant leverage is increased, it will disproportionately advantage large 

Merchants over small ones. Absent the Challenged Rules, large merchants will be in a 

better position to bargain than small Merchants who will thereby be relatively prejudiced. 

142. The remedy sought by the Commissioner would, ifit works the way the 

Commissioner envisions, decrease the efficiency, competitiveness and value to 

Cardholders of the MasterCard network. It would result in both uncertainty about 

acceptance and confusion about prices a!nong Cardholders, which would undermine two 

core brand promises of MasterCard credit cards and would bann the welfure of 

consumers whose credit cards would no longer be as convenient or reliable as they were 

before. 

Signed: ____ _ 

KEVIN J.STANTON 
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We have the fastest We bring '\IVe have processing network intelligence to 
deep in the world. Period. every transaction. 

Our average network response 
time is 130 milliseconds- Our global network is knowledge 
twice as fast as our closest reliable and flexible -'-

and competitor - a particularly making it easier to 
significant advantage in quick· provide innovative insights" service environments such as payment solutions like fast food and transit. 

MasterCard inControl~ 

We have an We're We have 
advertising 

keenly powerful 
platform that's brands. Priceless. focused on MasterCard," Maestro· and 
Our award·winning innovation. Cirrus· span the globe. We 
and enduring Priceless serve consumers, businesses 
advertising campaign has and governments in more than 
appeared in 112 countries 210 countries and territories. 
and 52 languages. 

We have We state- We have a 
a diverse, 

of-the-arf fraOd . 
unified, global monitoring. 

highly We combat payments structure. 
fraud on many fronts, using 

We're able to share skilled industry leading technology. 

worldorce. such as MasterCard Exper~ products and best 
Monitoring Solutions· to practices across regions 
deliver the most advanced quickly and easily. 
fraud protection. 

39 (full document)



2 MasterCard Annual Report 2010 

hom lefltoright 

Ajay sanga 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Rkhard Haythornthwaite 
Chairman of the Board of Directo(S 

Chairman's Message 

Dear Fellow Shareholders: 

As I reflect back on 2010, I do so with a great deal of satisfaction. 

I am very pleased with the strong results MasterCard delivered, particularly 
as global economic uncertainty continued to prevail. Our business momentum 
is good, and our competitive spirit is evident in all that we do. 

I am equally pleased with how we continue to further 
strengthen our organisation through key partnerships, 
business deals, joint ventures and acquisitions - such as 
DataCash Group and the prepaid program management 
business of Travelex. These strategic moves are positioning 
us to compete more aggressively in markets the world 
over - markets in which consumers, businesses and 
governments are coming to appreciate, more and more, 
the MasterCard advantage over cash and checks as well 
as other competing brands. 

To be sure, the benefits we deliver run far and wide. As 
developed and emerging societies continue to recognise 
the safety, efficiency and transparency offered through 
our payment solutions, I have no doubt that MasterCard 
will become the currency of choice. 

Our future looks bright, indeed. Demographic and secular 
trends are favourable; our insights are pointing us to 
emerging opportunities; and our people are energised by 
the intriguing prospects that lie ahead. Above all, our leading 
innovations are shaping the future of payments, bringing 
the MasterCard advantage to everyone, everywhere. 

7~ 
Richard Haythornthwaite 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

1010 
financial !11ghJights 

Net Revenues $5.58 
....... -- .. ............ -- •............•.. - --................ --

Net Income $1.8B 

Gross DolTar $2·.7 .. T Volume: 
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MasterCard- 975 M Branded Credit . - . 
and Debit Cards· ' 

Maestro Debit 
Cards'" 

T=Tril~on, B=B1I!ion, M;Milhon 
.,As of December31, 2,010 

666M 

over 1.6B 
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Executive Letter 

Dear Fellow Shareholders: 

Since taking on the position of president and CEO, I'm often asked what I like best 
about MasterCard. The answer is simple. I'm excited about the way our products 
and solutions benefit people and businesses all around the world - and the integral 
part we play in people's daily lives. 

The fact is that whether you're a young, urban professional working in London, a retired teacher living in Bangkok, 
or a government seeking greater efficiency, our products and solutions make life easier for you. They offer greater 
convenience, security and efficiency than cash or checks ever could. What we do as a company allows us to play 
a central role in facilitating global commerce and all of its positive aspects. 

A Strong Year 
When I look back on 2010, I see a year in which we made great progress in strengthening our company and 
our position in the marketplace. I thank our employees for this. Due to their commitment - and the support of 
customers, merchants, partners and our cardholders - 2010 was another strong year for our company. We 
posted solid gains in key financial metrics. 

At the same time, we expanded our presence in new areas and formed mutually beneficial relationships with 
financial institutions, merchants, government agencies, transit authorities and telecom companies. This included 
acquisitions and business partnerships that support our strategy to grow, diversify and build our business. 

One example is our acquisition of DataCash Group. This strategic move extends our e-commerce merchant 
gateway capabilities from Asia and Australia to European countries and other markets worldwide. Another 
example is our agreement to purchase the prepaid program management business of Travelex. This transaction 
will enable MasterCard to playa greater role in shaping the future of prepaid, especially in high-growth markets 
and in the attractive cross-border payments space. 

As we look to the future, our biggest growth opportunity lies in replacing cash and checks. That's where 
electronic payments - and MasterCard - offer a huge advantage. 

Maldng 
payments mobiie 
More thim four billion people around:the world currently 
have a mobile phone. Or, as we see it, more th.;m four 
billion people ,carry a personal mobile payment deviCe. 

That's an exdting prospect for us because we already have_ 
more than 20 mobile phone initiatives,underway in markets 
around the worfd. 

Recently, we,teamed up with numerous mobile carriers, handset 
manufaCturers and financial institutions glObally to launch several 
near field ,communication paYment 'trials~ These initiatives -:- along, 
with Paypass contactless' payment tags, personMtoMperson money 
tranSfer ,services and -sma'rtphrine apps - are- paving a path to help 
revolutionize:the mobile commerce experience fa'r ,consumers. . 

Thank's to joint ventures with Smart Hub and Telef6nica, 
'MasterCard payment solution~ an~ being further mobilized for 

consumers around the world. And, earlier this year, in partnership 
with airtel Africa -;;md Staridard Chartered Bank; we launched 
the world'S first virtual card that operates off a mobile wallet. 
Innovations 'like these are helping to empower billions of mobile 
phone users who don't have bank accounts or who prefer the 
convenience,of instant ~cces~ within the palr:n of their hands. 

With MasterCard mobife payment solutions, both banked 
and 'un banked mobile' consumers have access to a wide range of 
payment options that provide greater convenience and security 
over cash. And, the benefits-don't stop with retail pun:hases and 
bill payments. Mobile phone use'rs can also send funds; -safely and 
securely, to other people with Ma:~t~rCard MoneySend th~ough 
their partIcipating bank; 

In addition, MasterCard apps like Savings Locator in Italy and 
Pikeless Maker in Ja'pim help consumers find special deals or 
manage their b~dgets. 

There's no doubt that in markets around the world., consumers are 
dialing op,the MasterCard Advantage for mobile payment solutions. 
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increasing 
efficiency 
with prepaid 
With MasterCard prepaid c-ards, unbanked 
workers can collect thElir paychecks and 
governments can payout social benefits 
and tax refunds. 

Consider this: 

• Thanks to MasterCard prepaid solutions, people 
in Peru are receiving government food vouchers 
on MasterCard prepaid cards. 

• In Italy, 1 milllon people receive government 
benefits on reloadable MasterCard prepaid 
cards thanks to our partnership with Paste 
Jtaliane. This is Europe's largest social benefits 
card program. 

• Millions of workers in countries tram China 
to the U.S. now receive their salaries on 
MasterCard prepaid cards. 

• In Russia, MasterCard is a k~y partner in a 
p'roject desi~ned to deliver social services 
benefits to millions of Russian citizens who 
don't have bank accounts. 

• The u.s. Department of the Treasury enrolled 
more than 1.5 million beneficiaries in the Direct 
Express0 Debit MasterCard® program since it 
" .... as introduced in 2008. As a matter of fact, 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury announced 
it will.eliminate paper checks completely for 
Sodal Security and other governrnent benefit 
payments. It estimates the switch from paper 
to electronic payments by 2013 wi!lsave U .. S. 
taxpayers - and the Social Security System
more than $1 billion over the next 10 years. 
That;s an incredible example of the increased 
efficiency that electronk payments offer. 

To be sure, prepaid is a useful solution for many. 
For under-banked and unbanked consumers, it 
mean's financial induslon - and an opportunity 
to participate. in the modern econo,my. Our 
prepaid cards are si'lfe, secure and convenient. 
They can be used everywhere MasterCard debit 
and'credit cards are accepted -and,. if a registered 
card is lost or stolen, cardholders can recover 
'their funds. Can cash do that for you? 

The MasterCard Advantage means efficient
prepaid solutions for consumers, workers, 
governments and benefit recipients around 
the world; . 

The MasterCard Advantage: Putting Insights 
to Work at an Exciting Time 
Today, nearly 60 percent of our revenue comes from outside 
the United States. Given global trends, we think that figure will 
only increase in the coming years, making this an exciting time 
to be in the payments industry. 

For example, over the next decade, there will be 300 million new 
middle class and affluent consumers, 80% of whom will come 
from emerging markets. This presents a world of opportunity for 
us to further penetrate this segment.(1) 

Another example is the growing influence and purchasing power 
of the youth market. More than half of the world's population 
is under the age of 29. And, one in every five dollars - or 
$6.4 trillion annually - is spent by youth. 

Growing urbanization is yet another interesting trend. The World 
Bank estimates that approximately one million people a week move 
from rural homes into cities, putting more people within reach of 
financial services and electronic payments. And, in countries like 
India and Russia, governments are increasingly prioritizing financial 
inclusion within their strategies to ensure future sustainable growth. 

These trends are promising for the global economy and for our 
future growth prospects. Our insights into these and other areas 
help us create solutions that make it easier for people everywhere 
to shop, travel, run a business or manage their finances. 

Of course, in addition to tracking trends, we actively monitor legal 
and regulatory matters that may affect our business. In the U.S., 
for example, we are working with policymakers, the financial 
services industry and community groups, seeking to address the 
harm the proposed regulations on debit card interchange fees 
will have on consumers, small businesses, community banks and 
credit unions. We'll continue to work with all stakeholders to help 
them understand the many benefits electronic payments bring 
to people around the world. 

The MasterCard Advantage: 
Replacing Cash and Checks 
Cash and check transactions continue to account for an astonishing 
85 percent of the world's $15.7 trillion of total global payment 
transactions.(2j Hard as it is to believe, even in so-called "mature" 
payments markets, such as the U.S. and Western Europe, more 
than half of personal consumption expenditure is in paper form. 

Consider the cost of cash. Cash is expensive for governments to 
print, transport, distribute and secure. Its presence reduces the 
transparency of an economy and can even impact tax revenues. 
Is it any wonder that cash is most predominant in "informal" 
economies and "black markets"? 
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Speeding 
up transit 
MasterCard cardholders in some of the world's busiest 
cities are benefiting from our innovative Tap & ,Go™ 
PayPass contactles5 technology. With MasterCard PaYPass. 
riders always have the exact fare, whether traveling by 
subway, bus or taxi. 

In the last year alone, we've expanded our global footprint, making 
it easier for consumers to use public transportation in cities from 
New York to SeouL 

• In New York and New Jersey. MasterCard Pay Pass helped 
commuters get where they wanted to go faster - abov,e ground 
and below. In June 2010, we successfully p'iloted our contactless 
payments System linking' multiple agencies: N.€w York CitY Transit, 
an operating agency of the New York Metropolitan Transit 
Authority (MTA), Port Authority of NY, NJ/PATH and NJ TRANSIT. 
With MasterCard Pay-Pass, riders can Tap & Go quickly and easily. 
paying fares directly at turnstiles and transferring seamlessly 
between t~an5it systems using credit, debit or prepaid-enabled 
MasterCard PayPass cards. 

• In Romania', ultrafast access to 10 subway stations in Bucharest 
is now possible through Jhe BRD Groupe Societe Generale 

www.mastercard.com 5 

card, Instant Pay. Based on (ontactless MasterCard payPas$ 
technology, the Instaht Pay card eliminates the need for 
travelers to purchase a separate card for transportation. 

-JD Poland. MasterCard PayPass is accepted in transit stations, 
taxis and at bUs'stops within the Warsaw vicinity, aHowing 
quick, non-cash payments. In addition, Poland's Citi Handfowy 
is now issuing Citi Handlowy MasterCard PayPass contactless 
debit cards with an application that allows travelers to relo,ad 
their transport tickets at unattended machines. 

- In Singapore, the Post Office Savings Sank (POSS) Everyday 
MasterCard card features MasterCarq PayPass and local 
contactless e~Purse Appli,(ation f.unctionality. This allows 
cardholders to use the card for everyday purchases as well 
as throughout the PlIblic transport network, which includes 
trains, buses and taxis. 

-In Korea, a co-brand MasterCard card with PaYPass tec~nology 
and a local transit application offers MasterCard PayPas$ 
cardholders greater convenience when riding the transit system. 

MasterCard PayPass means no waiting in line. No fumbling for 
cash and' coins, No watching your train leave the station while 
you try to b!-lY a farEl card or token from a vending machine or 
clerk. You just Tap &' Go with your card, mobile phone or key fob, 
and you're on your way. 

In cities around the world, "smart" consumers are benefiting 
from the MasterCard Advantage, 

Moving to electronic payments is just plain smart. The benefits of electronic payments far outweigh those of 
cash. Beyond the obvious advantages of speed, convenience and guaranteed payment, electronic payments offer 
a host of advantages that cash can't touch, including security and transparency for everyone. 

The MasterCard Advantage: A Range of Payment Solutions 
In all markets, we're aggressively seizing opportunities to curtail the use of cash and checks and meet consumers' 
unique needs. 

One way we're doing this is through our portfolio of debit products, including Maestro. Our debit solutions are 
aimed at meeting payment needs based on local market requirements. And, they can be used with some of our 
most innovative payment methods, including Tap & Go, reloadable prepaid and payroll cards. 

We're also well positioned in the commercial space, an area that is fast-growing. By 2015, the commercial segment 
is expected to equate to $1.7 trillion globally. And, this segment is not very developed outside of the United States 
and parts of Europe.(3) 

We're poised to seize that opportunity. We already have one of the largest commercial payroll programs in place 
with Walmart, and we currently capture approximately 60 percent of u.s. public-sector volume. Our commercial 
prepaid cards include everything from payroll to employee benefits to government social benefit programs. These 
programs are benefiting people in numerous countries, including Italy, Peru, Russia, China and the u.s. 
I believe the benefits of prepaid will continue to drive demand, as total global volume on open-loop prepaid cards 
is predicted to reach nearly $840 billion by 2017, according to a study we commissioned last year. 

We're also seeing significant opportunities in e-commerce and mobile. That's why we're forging strategic 
partnerships in this space and developing the infrastructure needed to drive the migration to e-commerce and 
mobile payments. Global e-commerce sales are projected to reach more than $1 trillion in 2011 i4) And, since cash 
is useless when shopping online, consumers really appreciate the convenience of electronic payments. 
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We're already leading the way through various merchant and other partnerships, which make it easier for 
consumers to shop online. Examples include our partnerships with NextJump for MasterCard Marketplace and 
with Borderlinx for cross-border, online shopping. 

Also, we're actively engaged in the mobile arena. Worldwide, there are more than four billion people with a mobile 
phone, yet only 1.5 billion people with a payment card.(S) In Vietnam alone, the mobile market exceeded the 
120 million subscriber mark last year - that's equivalent to a mobile penetration rate of 134 percent. In telling 
contrast, the banked population in Vietnam is estimated at only 15 percent. 

Our successes with mobile are gaining attention. We were recently honored - along with airtel Africa and 
Standard Chartered Bank - for mobile payments innovation at the 16th Annual Global Mobile Awards held during 
Mobile World Congress 2011. Our jointly developed virtual card product received top honors as the Best Mobile 
Money Product or Solution. 

In addition, we also announced plans to launch our Open Application Programming Interface (API) from MasterCard 
Labs, our global research and development arm. This will allow us to tap into the ingenuity and creativity of software 
developers across the globe as we create the next generation of payment applications. 

The MasterCard Advantage: Our People 
In any organization, employees are key to driving results. In that regard, we're extremely fortunate. In addition 
to their knowledge and expertise, our workforce continually demonstrates a passion for developing new solutions, 
dedication to excellence in all they do and strength of character, all of which help distinguish MasterCard. 

In 2010, we saw one of MasterCard's most respected leaders retire, former president and CEO Bob Selander. 
Bob's legacy of bold and visionary leadership will remain a compelling chapter in MasterCard history. His 
contributions were many and varied and include taking the company public in 2006. On behalf of the entire 
MasterCard family, I wish Bob the very best and thank him for his stewardship. 

As a company, we're keenly focused on innovation, and we believe that diversity sits at the root of innovation. 
Diversity of culture, experience and thought all drive innovative thinking. Our employees are encouraged to express 
their diverse opinions, engage in healthy debate and candidly share their experiences and ideas. I want our people 
to feel empowered and to recognize that their contributions make a difference. Their expertise and experience 

Giving 
cardholders 
more (ontrol 
Innovations in payments are,giving consumers 
options and controls like never before. 

With MasterCard inControL Cardholders decide in,advance 
where, when, how, and for what types of purchas'es their cards 
'may,;- and may not -be used. Users can establi~h spending 
p'aram~ters, create budgets and custom_i'ze co_ntrols fot specific 
types of spending-, What's more, with in(ontrol, cardholde(s 
can receive, (eal-time alerts, via e-mail or text message, keeping 
them informed abo\Jt card activity. MasterCard inControl is 
poweripg over 30 bank card prdgra'ms across the globe and 
is live in every region. 

So whether you're a, business oWner who's provjded payment 
cards to employee~'or a parent who's given your child a card 
to t,ake away tc) college"you'li have ~o more surprises b!?cause 
with MasterCard"you are inControl. 

. And, for businesses, MasterCard Smar,tData offers an even 
more extensive solution, 

Companies and government agencies in_41 countries are 
'getting "smart" with MasterCard's SrriartData-reporting tool 
for ma'naging corporate expenses'. Available hi 14 Janguag~s, 
SmartData provides detailed analysis, reporting and . 
reconciliation of, expenses-. 

For consumers and business owners, the MasterCard 
Advanta9_e means more control. 
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help us develop innovative, market-specific payment solutions 
that deliver value to people everywhere. And, I know our 
employees are passionate about this. 

Of course, innovation also requires a tolerance for failure. 
That's why our leaders are focused on supporting a culture 
that encourages collaboration and the sharing of lessons learned. 

Strong leadership is critical to our future - not just at the 
executive level, but throughout MasterCard. I believe that part 
of a manager's role is to drive change, give people hope and 
inspire them to do things they wouldn't otherwise do. I want·all 
of our employees to have the conviction and courage to take on 
difficult tasks while maintaining accountability - and a healthy 
dose of competitive paranoia. 

That latter point is something that can't be ignored. In fact, over 
the last year or so, our internal mantra has been "Competing to 
Win." Everyone is behind it. We're well aware that technology is 
driving shorter product life cycles and reducing barriers to entry for 
others. That's why we're staying on top of our game and keeping 
a watchful eye on our competitors, both traditional and emerging. 

Looking Ahead 
In summary, I'm thrilled about what we achieved in 2010 and 
enthused about what tomorrow will bring. Our business is 
growing, our bottom line is strong and our global resources
both financial and intellectual - are formidable. 

Each day, we put our advantages to work. We're in the enviable 
position of being able to draw upon our assets to make the 
most of opportunities and trends shaping the industry. More 
importantly, by bringing together the best people, insights 
and innovations, we'll continue to create meaningful solutions that 
benefit consumers, businesses and governments all around the 
world. That's what being at the heart of commerce is all about -
and that's why I'm excited to be part of this great company. 

Ajay Banga 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

(1) McKinsey & Company, 2010. 
IZl MasterCard Ad\1SOr5, 2010. 
(3) Packaged Facts. 2009. 
(4) Glenbrook Partners, 2009, 
(5) G$MA & Bank of America Merrill Lynch, 2010. 

Making a 
difference 
everyday 

'NWW.mastercard.com 7 

Making a difference is why our company 
is committed to furthering financial 
inclusion for everyone through the power 
of entrepreneurship. 

We believe financial indusion increases the 
prosperity of communities and ensures that 
people have an opportunity t9 achieve their 
full potential. Programs J1ke Consumo Inteligente 
in Latil') America help us achieve this goal. By 
focusing on entrepreneurship, we aim to fuel 
innovation; employment and economic growth 
to help people around the world build stronger 
futures for themselves, their families and 
their 'commu'nities. 

Through our philanthropic efforts, we strive 
to help people overcome barriers to ,financial 
inclusion. By supporting educational and 
skill-bujlding initiatives, we aim to develop fI 
generati~:m of educated and motivated young 
people poised for career succ~ss, enable the 
creation of neW e~terprises and help small 
businesses thriye and generate long-term 
economic growth. 

Employees,demonstrate. their civic spirit 
by generously lending their time and talerit 
to support local communities. T~e.y teach 
basic business skillS to schoolchildren, lead 
financial1ite'racy workshops for 'parents, 
mentor students'and plan projects.to he,lp 

. nearby resldEmts. 

They support other causes as well, including 
disaster rel,ief effons. In 2010 and 'early 2011, 
MasterCard donated to numerous disaster 
relief efforts. responding to tragedies that 
occurred'il\ chile; China, Haiti, NewZealand, 
Russia, Australia and Japan. 

Making a difference is, without question, the 
mostJ'!lp~rtant Master~ard Advantage of all. 
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Forward-Looking Statements 

This Report on Form 10· K contains forward-looking statements pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical facts may be 
forward-looking statements. When used in this Report, the words "believe," "expect," "could," "may," "would", 
"will", "trend" and similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking 
statements relate to the Company's future prospects, developments and business strategies and include, without 
limitation, statements relating to; 

the Company's belief in the continuing trend towards electronic forms of payment; 

the Company's focus on growing its credit, debit, prepaid and payment transaction processing offerings 
(including statements related to the expanded opportunity for domestic transaction processing, the open 
and competitive market created by SEPA (defined below), extending our processing capabilities in the 
payment value chain, continuing to develop opportunities to further enhance our IPS (defined below) 
offerings and global presence, and the pending acquisition of the prepaid card program management 
operations ofTravelex Holdings Ltd. (as described below)); 

the Company's focus on diversifying our 'business (including seeking new areas of growth, expanding 
acceptance points and maintaining unsurpassed acceptance and successfully working with new business 
partners); 

the Company's focus on building new businesses through e-Commerce, mobile and other initiatives; 

potential opportunities related to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act in 
the United States; 

the effects of economic recoveries in areas sllch as the AsialPacific and Latin America regions; 

the Company's advertising and marketing strategy and investment; 

the potential reduction in the Company's tax rate over time; 

and the Company's belief that cash generated from operations, our borrowing capacity and our access to 
capital resources are sufficient to meet our funrre operating capital needs and litigation settlement 
obligations. 

Many factors and tmcertamtles relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are 
difficult to predict and many of which are olltside of OUf control, influence whether any forward-looking 
statements can or will be achieved. Anyone of those factors could cause our actual results to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied in writing in any forward-Jooking statements made by MasterCard or on its 
behalf. We believe there are certain risk factors that are i,mportant to our business, and these could cause actual 
results to differ from our expectations. Such risk factors include: litigation decisions, regulation and legislation 
related to interchange fees and related practices; regulation established by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 
and Consumer Protection Act in the United States; regulation in one jurisdiction or of one product resulting in 
regulation in other jurisdictions or of other products; competitive issues caused by government actions: 
regulation of the payments industry, consumer privacy, data use andlor security; appeals of currency conversion 
case settlements; future reserves, incurred liability, limitations on business and other penalties resulting from 
litigation; competition in the payments industry; competitive pressure on pricing; banking industry consolidation: 
loss of significant business from significant customers; merchant activity; our relationship and the relationship of 
our competitors to our customers; brand perceptions and reputation; inability to grow our debit business, 
particularly in the United States; global economic events and the overall business environment; decline in cross
border travel; the effect of general economic and global political conditions on consumer spending trends; 
exposure to loss or illiquidity due to settlement obligation defaults by our customers; disruptions to our 
transaction processing systems; account data breaches; reputation damage from increases in fraudulent activity; 
the inability to keep pace with technological developments in the industry; the effect of adverse currency 
fluctuation; the inability to adequately manage change; acquisition integration issues; and issues relating to our 
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Class A common stock and corporate govemance structure. Please see a complete discussion of these risk factors 
in Part I, Item lA-Risk Factors. We caution you that the important factors referenced above may not contain all 
of the factors that are important to YOll. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report or 
as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update our forward-looking statements. 

In this Report, references to the "Company," "MasterCard," "we," "us" or "our" refer to the MasterCard 
brand generally, and to the business conducted by MasterCard Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, 
including our principal operating subsidiary, MasterCard International Incorporated (d/b/a MasterCard 
Worldwide). All third-party trademarks appearing in this Report are the property of their respective holders. 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

MasterCard is a leading global payments company that provides a critical economic link among financial 
institutions, businesses, merchants, cardholders and governments worldwide, enabling them to use electronic 
forms of payment instead of cash and checks. We provide a variety of services in SUppOlt of the credit, debit, 
prepaid and related payment programs of approximately 22,000 financial institutions and other entities that are 
our customers. We primarily: 

• offer a wide range of payment solutions, which enable our customers to develop and implement credit, 
debit. prepaid and related payment programs for their customers (which include cardholders. businesses 
and government entities). 

manage a family of well-known, widely accepted payment card brands, including MasterCard®, 
Maestro® and Cirrus®, which we license to our customers for use in t1leir payment programs, 

• process payment transactions over the MasterCard Worldwide Network, 

provide support services to our customers and, depending upon the service, merchants and other clients, 
and 

as part of managing our brands and our franchise, establish and enforce a common set of standards for 
adherence by our customers for the efficient and secure use of our payment card network. 

MasterCard generates revenue by charging fees to our customers for providing transaction processing and other 
payment-related services and by assessing our customers based primarily on the dollar volume of activity, or 
gross dollar volume ("GDV"), on the cards that carry our brands. 

A typical transaction processed over our network involves four parties in addition to us: the cardholder, the 
merchant, the issuer (the cardholder's financial institution) and the acquirer (the merchant's financial institution). 
Consequently, the payment network we operate supports what is often referred to as a "four-party" payment 
system. Our customers are financial institutions and other entities that act as issuers and acquirers. Using our 
transaction processing services, issuers and acquirers facilitate payment transactions between cardholders and 
merchants throughout the world, providing merchants with an efficient and secure means of receiving payment, 
and consumers and businesses with a convenient, quick and secure payment method that is accepted worldwide. 
We guarantee the settlement of many of these transactions among our customers to ensure the integrity of our 
payment network. In addition, we undertake a variety of marketing activities designed to maintain and enhance 
the value of our brands. However, cardholder and merchant transaction relationships are managed principally by 
our customers. We do not issue cards, extend credit to cardholders, determine the interest rates (if applicable) or 
other fees charged to cardholders by issuers, or establish the "merchant discount" charged by acquirers in 
connection with the acceptance of cards that carry our brands. 

Our business has a global reach and has continued to experience growth. In 2010, we processed 23.1 billion 
transactions, a 2.9% increase over the number of transactions processed in 2009. GDV on cards carrying the 
MasterCard brand as reported by our customers was approximately $2.7 trillion in 2010, a 10.7% increase in U.S. 
dollar terms and a 9.1 % increase in local currency terms over the GDV reported in 2009. 
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We believe the trend within the global payments industry from paper-based forms of payment, such as cash 
and checks, toward electronic forms of payment, such as payment card transactions, creates significant 
opportunities for the growth of our business over the longer term. OUf focus is on continuing to: 

grow our offerings by extending our strength in our core businesses globally, including credit, debit, 
prepaid and processing payment transactions over the MasterCard Worldwide Network, 

diversify our business by seeking new areas of growth in markets around the world, expanding points of 
acceptance for our brands in new geographies, seeking to maintain unsurpassed acceptance, and 
working with new business partners such as merchants, government agencies and telecommunications 
companies, and 

• build new businesses through continued strategic efforts with respect to innovative payment methods 
such as electronic commerce (e-Commerce) and mobile capabilities. 

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly evolving legal and regulatOlY environment. In recent years, we have 
faced heightened regulatOlY scrutiny and other legal challenges. particularly with respect to interchange fees. 
Interchange fees, which represent a balancing of payment system costs among acquirers and issuers (and in turn, 
among merchants and cardholders), have been the subject of regulatory review and challenges and legislative 
action, as wen as litigation, as card-based forms of payment have become relatively more important to local 
economies. Although we establish certain interchange rates and collect and remit interchange fees on behalf of 
our customers. we do not eam revenues from interchange fees. However, if issuers were unable to collect 
interchange fees or were to receive reduced interchange fees, we may experience a reduction in the number of 
customers wi1ling to participate in a four-party payment card system such as ours and/or a reduction in the rate of 
cards issued, as well as overall transaction volumes. Proprietary end-to-end networks or other forms of payment 
may also become more attractive to issuers. Issuers might also decide to charge higher fees to cardholders, 
thereby making our card programs less desirable to consumers and reducing our transaction volumes and 
profitability. They also might attempt to decrease the expense of their card programs by seeking a reduction in 
the fees that we charge. In addition to those challenges relating to interchange fees, we are also exposed to a 
variety of significant lawsuits and regulatory actions, including federal antitrust claims, and claims under state 
unfair competition statutes. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks" in Part I, Item lA. 

MasterCard Incorporated was incorporated as a Delaware stock corporation in May 2001. We conduct our 
business principa11y through MasterCard Incorporated's principal operating subsidiary, MasterCard International 
Incorporated ("MasterCard InternationaJ"), a Delaware non-stock (or membership) corporation that was fanned 
in November 1966. Our customers are generally either principal members of MasterCard International, which 
participate directly in MasterCard International's business, or affiliate members of MasterCard International, 
which participate indirectly in MasterCard International's business through principal members. In May 2006, we 
completed a plan for a new ownership and governance structure for MasterCard Incorporated (including an initial 
public offering of a new class of common stock (the "!PO")) which included the appointment of a new Board of 
Directors comprised of a majority of directors who are independent from our customers. For more information 
about our capital structure, voting lights of our Class A common stock (our voting stock) and Class B common 
stock (our non-voting stock) and conversions of shares of our Class B common stock into shares of our voting 
Class A common stock. see Note 17 (Stockholders' Equity) to the consolidated financial statements included in 
Part II, Item 8. 

Our Industry 

We operate in the global payments industry, which consists of all forms of payment including: 

Paper-cash, personal checks, money orders, official checks, travelers cheques and other paper-based 
means of transferring value; 

Cards-credit cards, charge cards, debit cards (including Automated Teller Machine ("A TM") cards), 
prepaid cards and other types of cards; and 
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Emerging and Other Forms of Payment-wire transfers. electronic benefits transfers. bill payments, 
Automated Clearing House payments, e-Commerce payments and payments using mobile devices. 
among others. 

The most common card-based forms of payment are general purpose cards, which are payment cards 
carrying logos that permit widespread usage of the cards within countries, regions or around the world. General 
purpose cards have different attributes depending on the type of accounts to which they are linked: 

• credit or charge cards typically access a credit account that either requires payment of the full balance 
within a specified period (a charge card) or that permits the cardholder to carry a balance in a revolving 
credit account (a credit card); 

debit cards typically access a checking, demand deposit or other current account maintained by the 
cardholder; and 

prepaid cards typically access previously funded monetary value. 

Generally, card-based forms of payment involve two types of transactions (depending on the type of card 
being used): transactions that typically require the cardholder's signature, which are referred to as "offline" 
transactions; and transactions that require the cardholder to use a personal identification number ("PINn

) for 
verification. which are typically referred to as "online" transactions. Some purchase transactions outside of the 
United States, such as those made using cards equipped with a chip, can be PIN-authenticated but are considered 
offline transactions. In addition. some payment cards are equipped with an RFID (radio frequency identification) 
microchip, which provides an advanced authentication technique, and technology which allows contactless 
payments requiring neither signature nor PIN under established transaction amounts. Many merchants no longer 
require a signature for low value purchases, and there is no PIN or signature on e-Commerce or other 
card-nat-present transactions. Such transactions are still considered, however, to be offline transactions. 

The primary general purpose card brands include MasterCard, Visa@, American Express®, JCB@, Diners 
Club@ and Discover®. Historically, these brands-including MasterCard-were principally associated with credit 
or charge cards in the United States and other major markets around the world. Today, debit and prepaid cards 
with MasterCard's brands (as well as the brands of Visa and others) are issued as well. 

Debit cards may be further categorized into several sub-segments: 

• Signature-based debit cards are cards for which the primary means of cardholder validation at the point 
of sale is for the cardholder to sign a sales receipt (other than circumstances where an actual signature is 
not necessary). 

PIN-based debit cards are cards with which cardholders generally enter a PIN at a point-of-sale terminal 
for validation. 

Cash access cards are cards which permit cardholders to obtain cash principally at ATMs by entering a 
PIN. 

Regional and domesticllocal PIN-based debit brands are the primary brands in many countries. In these 
markets, issuers have historically relied on the Maestro and Cirrus brands (and other brands) to enable cross
border transactions, which typically constitute a small portion of the overall number of transactions. 

In addition to general purpose cards. private label cards comprise a portion of all card-based forms of 
payment. Typically, private label cards are credit cards issued by. or on behalf of, a merchant (such as a 
department store or gasoline retailer) and can be used only at the issuing merchant's locations. 
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Payment Services and Solutions 

We provide transaction processing and other payment-related services as well as a wide range of payment 
solutions to enable our customers to design, package and implement products and programs targeted to the 
specific needs of their customers (which include cardholders, businesses and governments). We work with 
customers to provide customized solutions, as well as more general solutions. OUf payment solutions are built 
upon our expertise in payment programs, product development, payment processing technology, consulting and 
infonnation services and marketing. We also manage and promote our brands for the benefit of all customers 
through brand advertising, promotional and interactive programs and sponsorship initiatives. 

Transaction Processing on the MasterCard Worldwide Network 

Introduction. We operate the MasterCard Worldwide Network. our proprietary. global payments network 
that links issuers and acquirers around the globe to facilitate the processing of transactions and, through them. 
permits MasterCard cardholders to use their cards at millions of merchants worldwide. We process transactions 
through our network for financial institutions and other entities that are our customers, in more than 150 
currencies in more than 210 countries and territories. 

Typical Transaction. A typical transaction processed over the MasterCard Worldwide Network involves four 
participants in addition to us: cardholder, merchant, issuer (the cardho1der's financial institution) and acquirer (the 
merchant's financial institution). 'The foHowing diagram depicts a typical point-of-sale card transaction: 

Typical Point of Sale Card Transaction 

.UUlf 
(e) Acqulrer 

(merchant's bank) 

-:Ir~ 
fl····· $ ,';>"'" ;,' i~ ,MI',,; _ 

(8) Merchant .. 

I Settlement Bank 
QoQ.d • .rid s.rwt ..... 

''''''''''y.'''' 
Transac\lQn Da.'- (D) Issuer 

(cardholder's bank) 

$ t~ ~ 

~t 
(A) Cardholder 

In a typical transaction, a cardholder (A) purchases goods or services from a merchant (B) using a card or 
other payment device. After the transaction is authorized by the issuer (D) using our network, the issuer pays the 
acquirer (C) an amount equal to the value of the transaction, minus the interchange fee (described below), and 
posts the transaction to the cardholder's account. The acquirer pays the amount of the purchase, net of a discount, 
to the merchant (referred to as the "merchant discount"). The merchant discount, among other things, takes into 
consideration the amount of the interchange fee. Our standards generally guarantee the payment of transactions 
using MasterCard-branded cards and certain transactions using Cirrus and Maestro~branded cards between 
issuers and acquirers. 

Interchange Fees. The interchange fee is equal to the difference between the amount of the payment 
transaction (the transaction amount) and the amount the issuer pays the acquirer (the settlement amount). 
Interchange fees represent a sharing of a portion of payment system costs among the customers participating in 
our four-party payment card system. As such, interchange fees are a key factor in balancing the costs consumers 
pay and the costs merchants pay. We do not earn revenues from interchange fees. Generally. interchange fees are 
collected from acquirers and paid to issuers (or netted by issuers against amounts paid to acquirers) to reimburse 
the issuers for a portion of the costs incurred by them in providing services that benefit all participants in tIle 
system, including acquirers and merchants. In some circumstances, such as cash withdrawal transactions, this 
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situation is reversed and interchange fees are paid by issuers to acquirers. We establish default interchange fees 
that apply when there are no other established settlement tenns in place between an issuer and an acquirer. We 
administer the collection and remittance of interchange fees through the settlement process. Interchange fees can 
be a significant component of the merchant discount, and therefore of the costs that merchants pay to accept 
payment cards. These fees are currently subject to regulatory, legislative and/or legal challenges in a number of 
jurisdictions. We are devoting substantial management and financial resources to the defense of interchange fees 
and to the other legal and regulatory challenges we face. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks" in Part 
I, Item IA. 

Merchant Discount. The merchant discount is established by the acquirer to cover its costs and profit 
margin of participating in the four-party system. The discount takes into consideration the amount of the 
interchange fee which the acquirer generally pays to the issuer, and the balance of the discount either consists of 
fees established by the acquirer and paid by the merchant for certain of the acquirer's services to the merchant 
(which are retained by the acquirer) or reflects the costs of such services. 

Additional Fees and Economic Considerations. Acquirers may charge merchants processing and related 
fees in addition to the merchant discount. Issuers may also charge cardholders fees for the transaction, including, 
for example, fees for extending revolving credit. As described below, we charge issuers and acquirers 
transaction-based and related fees for the transaction processing and related services we provide them. 

In a four-party payment system, the economics of a payment transaction relative to MasterCard vary widely 
depending on such factors as whether the transaction is domestic (and, if it is domestic, the country in which it 
takes place) or cross-border, whether it is a point-of-sale purchase transaction or cash withdrawal, and whether 
the transaction is processed over our network or a third-party network or is handled solely by a financial 
institution that is both the acquirer for the merchant and the issuer to the cardholder (an "on-us" transaction). 

MasterCard Worldwide Network Architecture and Operations. We believe the architecture of the 
MasterCard Worldwide NetwoFk is unique, featuring a globally integrated structure that provides scalability for 
our customers and enables them to expand into regional and global markets. Our network also features an 
inteI1igent architecture that enables it to adapt to the needs of each transaction by blending two distinct 
processing structures-distributed (peer-to-peer) and centralized (hub-and-spoke). Transactions that require fast, 
reliable processing, such as those submitted using a MasterCard PayPass@-enabled device in a tollway, use the 
network's distributed processing structure. ensuring they are processed close to where the transaction occurred. 
Transactions that require value-added processing, such as real-time access to transaction data for fraud scoring or 
rewards at the point-of-sale, or customization of transaction data for unique consumer-spending controls, use the 
network's centralized processing structure, ensuring advanced processing services are applied to the transaction. 

The network typically operates at under 80% capacity and can handle more than 160 million transactions 
per hour with an average network response time of 130 milliseconds. The network can also substantially scale 
capacity to meet demand. Our transaction processing services are available 24 hours per day, every day of the 
year. Our global payment network provides multiple levels of back-up protection and related continuity 
procedures in the event of an outage should the issuer. acquirer or payment network experience a service 
interruption. To date, we have consistently maintained availability of our global processing systems more than 
99.9% of the time. 

Processing Capabilities. 

Transaction Switching-A uthori'l.ation, Clearing and Settlement. MasterCard provides transaction 
switching (authorization, clearing and settlement) through the MasterCard Worldwide Network. 

o Authorization. Authorization refers to the process by which a transaction is approved by the issuer 
or, in certain circumstances such as when the issuer's systems are unavailable or cannot be 
contacted, by MasterCard or others on behalf of the issuer in accordance with either the issuer's 
instructions or applicable rules. For offline transactions (as well as online transactions in Europe), 
the Dual Message System (which sends authorization and clearing messages separately) provides for 
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the transmission of authorization requests and results among issuers, acquirers and other transaction 
processors or networks. For online transactions (other than transactions in Europe), the Single 
Message System (which sends authorization and c1earing messages together) switches financial 
messages and provides transaction and settlement reporting. Our standards, which may vary across 
regions, establish the circumstances under which merchants and acquirers must seek authorization 
of transactions. 

o Clearing. Clearirig refers to the exchange of financial transaction information between issuers and 
acquirers after a transaction has been completed. MasterCard clears transactions among customers 
through our central and regional processing systems. Offline transactions using our branded cards 
are generally cleared via centralized processing through the Global Clearing Management System 
and the related information is typically routed among customers via the MasterCard Worldwide 
Network. For online transactions, the Single Message System performs clearing between customers 
and other debit transaction processing networks. MasterCard clearing services can be managed with 
minimal system development, which has enabled us to accelerate our customers' ability to develop 
customized programs and services. 

o Settlement. Once transactions have been authorized and cleared, MasterCard helps to settle the 
transactions by facilitating the exchange of funds between parties. Once clearing is completed, a 
daily reconciliation is provided to each customer involved in settlement. detailing the net amounts 
by clearing cycle and a final settlement position. The actual exchange of funds takes place between 
a clearing bank, designated by the customer and approved by MasterCard. and a settlement bank 
chosen by MasterCard. Customer settlement occurs in U.S. dollars or in a limited number of other 
currencies in accordance with our established rules. 

Cross-Border and Domestic Processing. The MasterCard Worldwide Network provides our customers 
with a flexible structtrre that enables them to support processing across regions and for domestic 
markets. The network processes transactions throughout the world on our branded cards where the 
merchant country and cardholder country are different (cross-border transactions). MasterCard 
processes transactions denominated in more than 150 currencies through our global system, providing 
cardholders with the ability to utilize, and merchants to accept, MasterCard cards across multiple 
country borders. For example, we may process a transaction in a merchant's local currency; however the 
charge for the transaction would appear on the cardholder's statement in the cardholder's home 
currency. MasterCard also provides domestic (or intra-country) transaction processing services to 
customers in every region of the world. which allow customers to facilitate payment transactions 
between cardholders and merchants throughout a particular country. We process most of the crass
border transactions using MasterCard, :Maestro and Cirrus-branded cards and, among our largest 
markets, process the majority of MasterCard-branded domestic transactions in the United States, United 
Kingdom, Canada and Brazil. Outside of these and a select number of other countries, however, most 
intra-country (as opposed to cross-border) transaction activity conducted with our branded payment 
cards is authorized, cleared and/or settled by our customers or other processors without the involvement 
of the MasterCard Worldwide Network. We continue to invest in our network and build relationships to 
expand opportunities for domestic transaction processing. In particular, the Single European Payment 
Area ("SEPA") initiative creates an open and competitive market in many European countries that were 
previously mandated to process domestic debit transactions with domestic processors. As a result, in 
addition to cross-harder transactions, MasterCard now processes some domestic debit card services in 
nearly every SEPA country. 

Extended Processing Capabilities. In addition to transaction switching, MasterCard continually 
evaluates and invests in ways to strategically extend our processing capabilities in the payment value 
chain by seeking to provide our customers with an expanded suite of payment processing solutions that 
meet the unique processing needs of their markets. Examples include: 

o MasterCard Integrated Processing Solutions™ (IPS). MasterCard Integrated Processing Solutions 
("IPS") is a debit and prepaid issuer processing platform designed to provide medium to large global 
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issuing customers with a complete processing solution to help create differentiated products and 
services and al10w quick deployment of payments portfolios across banking channels. Through a 
single processing platfonn, IPS can, among other things, authorize debit and prepaid transactions, 
assist issuers in managing risk using fraud detection tools, manage an issuer's card base, and 
manage and monitor an issuer's ATMs. The proprietary MasterCard Total Portfolio Viewer™ 
provides a user-friendly customer interface to IPS, delivering aggregate cardholder intelligence 
across accounts and product lines to provide our customers with a view of information that can help 
them customize their products and programs. We continue to develop opportunities to fruther 
enhance Qur IPS offerings and global presence. 

o Internet Payment Gateways. MasterCard provides e-Commerce processing solutions through 
intemet payment gateways, which are interfaces between the merchant and its acquirer as a 
transaction moves to a payments network. Our gateways include our MasterCard Internet Gateway 
Service (MiGS), which provides gateway infrastructure in Asia Pacific, and DataCash, a European 
payment service provider which MasterCard acquired in October 2010. DataCash offers a single 
interface that provides e-Commerce merchants with the ability to process secure payments across 
the world, and develops and provides outsourced electronic payments solutions, fraud prevention, 
alternative payment options, and other solutions. 

o Strategic Alliances. We have 'invested in strategic alliances to pursue opportunities in prepaid and 
acquirer and third-party processing both through joint ventures and minority investments. These 
alliances include: (1) Prepay Solutions, a joint venture witl, Edenred (previously named Accor 
Services) which supports prepaid processing in Europe, (2) Strategic Payment, Services, which 
provides acquirer processing in Asia Pacific, (3) ElectraCard Services. which provides third-party 
processing services and software. as well as switching solutions, in Asia Pacific, the Middle East 
and Africa and (4) Trevica. which provides third-party issuer processing services in Poland and 
other central and eastern European markets. 

MasterCard Programs and Solutions 

Our principal payment programs and solutions. which are facilitated through our brands. include consumer 
credit and charge, debit and prepaid programs, commercial payment solutions and emerging payments solutions. 
Our issuer customers detennine the competitive features for the cards issued under our programs, including 
interest rates and fees. We determine other aspects of our card programs-such as required services and the 
marketing strategy-in order to ensure consistency in connection with these programs. 

Consumer Credit and Charge. MasterCard offers a number of COnsumer credit and charge programs that 
are designed to meet the needs of our customers. For the year ended December 31, 2010, our consumer credit and 
charge programs generated approximately $\.6 trillion in GDV globally, representing 57% of our total GDV for 
this period. As of December 31, 2010, the MasterCard brand mark appeared on approximately 648 million 
consumer credit and charge cards worldwide. representing a 2.4% decline from December 31, 2009. 

• United States. We offer customized programs to customers in the United States to address specific 
consumer segments. Our consumer credit programs include Standard (general purpose cards targeted to 
consumers with basic credit card needs), Gold and Platinum (cards featuring higher credit lines and 
spending limits and a varying level of enhanced services) and World and World Elite MasterCard® 
(cards offered to affluent consumers which feature a wider range of enhanced services). 

• Regions Outside of the United States. MasterCard makes available to customers outside of the United 
States a variety of consumer card programs in selected markets throughout the world. Examples of such 
programs include MasterCard Electronic™ cards (which offer additional control and risk management 
features designed to curb fraud and control exposure in high risk markets) and cards targeted to affluent 
consumers (such as Platinum MasterCard® and MasterCard Black™ cards in Latin America, World and 
World Signia MasterCard® cards in Europe, World and World Elite MasterCard® cards in Canada and 
Platinum and World MasterCard® cards in AsiaIPacific, Middle East and Africa ("APMEA")). 
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General Sen'ices. All MasterCard credit cards include services, such as lost/stolen card reporting, 
emergency card replacement and emergency cash advance, which are generally alTallged by MasterCard 
and are provided through third-party service providers. 

Consumer Debit. MasterCard supports a range of payment solutions that allow OUI customers to provide 
consumers with convenient access to funds on deposit in demand deposit and other accounts. Our debit and 
deposit access programs may be branded with the MasterCard, Maestro andlor Cirrus logos, and can be used to 
obtain cash in bank branches or at ATMs. In addition, MasterCard and Maestro-branded debit cards may be used 
to make purchases or obtain cash back at the point of sale. Debit programs we offer include Maestro and Gold 
Maestro, as well as Standard, Gold, Platinum, Premium and World Debit MasterCard® programs. 

MasterCard-branded Debit Card. MasterCard-branded debit programs issue cards which include 
functionality for signature authenticated transactions, as well as PIN-based functionality, giving 
consumers a choice at the point of sale. For the year ended December 31, 2010, our MasterCard-branded 
debit programs generated approximately $957 billion in GDV globally, representing 35% of our total 
GDV for this period. As of December 31, 2010, the MasterCard brand mark appeared on approximately 
297 million debit cards worldwide, representing 15.8% growth from December 31, 2009. MasterCard
branded debit card programs are offered in the United States, and are also increasingly being introduced 
in Europe; Asia Pacific and Latin America as a complement to existing Maestro-branded debit 
programs. 

• Maestro-branded Debit Card. Maestro is our global PIN-based debit program, and is the only 
PIN-based solution that operates globally. As of December 31, 2010, tile Maestro brand mark appeared 
on approximately 666 million cards worldwide, representing 2.2% growth from December 31.2009. As 
of December 31, 2010, Maestro was accepted for pW'chases at more than 13.1 million merchant 
locations globally. Our Maestro brand has a leading position among PIN-based debit brands in many 
markets throughout the world, particularly in Europe. The strong presence of Maestro in Europe 
positions us well as the SEPA initiative creates a more open and competitive payment market in many 
European countries that had been previously mandated to process domestic debit transactions with 
domestic processors. The global acceptance of Maestro contributes to the growth of our debit business 
and adds value to the services that we provide to our customers. 

MasterCard Global ATM Solutions. Cirrus is our primary global cash access brand. Any debit, credit 
or ATM-accessible prepaid card bearing the MasterCard, Maestro or Cirrus logos had access to cash and 
account information at approximately 1.8 million participating A TMs around the world as of 
December 31, 2010. MasterCard Global ATM Solutions provides domestic (in-country) and cross
border access to cards a1lowing for varied types of transactions, including cash withdrawal (deposit 
accounts), cash advance (credit accounts), cash dxawdown (prepaid accounts), balance inquiries. account 
transfers and deposits at ATMs that participate in the MasterCard Worldwide Network. 

Prepaid. Prepaid programs involve a balance that is funded with monetary value prior to use. Holders 
access funds via a traditional magnetic stripe or chip-enabled payment card which may leverage the PayPass 
functionality or other payment devices, such as mobile devices. MasterCard customers may implement prepaid 
payment programs using any of our brands. MasterCard provides processing services (including transaction 
switching) in support of either magnetic stripe or chip-enabled prepaid card programs. MasterCard has 
capabilities to provide and customize programs to meet unique commercial and consumer needs in all prepaid 
segments, including programs such as gift. employee benefit, general purpose, payroll, travel, incentive and 
government disbursement programs. In particular, our strategy focuses on three categories: 

• public sector, which includes programs targeted to achieve cost savings and efficiencies by moving 
traditional paper disbursement methods to electronic solutions in government programs such as Social 
Security payments, unemployment compensation and others; 

corporate, which includes programs targeted to achieve cost savings and efficiencies by moving 
traditional paper disbursement methods to electronic solutions in business applications such as payra)], 
health savings accounts and others; and 
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• consumer reloadable, which includes programs to address the payment needs of individuals without 
fonnal banking relationships. individuals who are not traditional users of credit or debit cards or 
individuals who want to compartmentalize funds for security or convenience purposes. such as travel. 

On December 9, 2010, MasterCard announced its intention to acquire the prepaid card program management 
operations of Travelex Holdings Ltd. during the fITst half of 2011. MasterCard will acquire the Travelex 
operations that manage and deliver consumer and corporate prepaid travel cards to business partners around the 
world, inc1uding financial institutions, retailers, travel agents and foreign exchange bureaus. The acquisition of 
these operations from Travelex is an expansion for MasterCard into program management services. Combined 
with MasterCard's existing processing assets (such as IPS) and other strategic alliances, the asset will augment 
and support partners and issuers of prepaid cards around the world, with a focus outside of the United States. The 
acquisition is intended to enable MasterCard to offer end-to-end prepaid solutions encompassing branded 
switching. issuing processing and program management services, initially focused on the travel sector. 

Conm1ercial Payment Solutions. MasterCard offers commercial payment solutions that help large 
corporations, mid-sized companies, small businesses and public sector organizations to streamline their payment 
processes, manage information and reduce administrative costs. In the year ended December 31, 2010, our 
commercial credit and charge programs generated approximately $211 billion in GDV globally, representing 
approximately 8% of our total GDV for this period. As of December 31, 2010, the MasterCard brand mark 
appeared on approximately 30 million commercial credit and charge cards worldwide, representing a 5.0% 
increase from December 31, 2009. We offer various corporate payment programs and value-added services, 
inc1uding corporate cards. corporate premium cards, corporate purchasing cards and fleet cards (as well as the 
MasterCard Corporate Multi Card®, which combines the functionality of one or more of these cards) tllat allow 
corporations to manage travel and entertainment expenses and provide corporations with additional transactional 
detail. We also offer public sector entities a variety of payment programs that are similar to the travel. 
purchasing, fleet and Multi Card programs offered to corporations. The MasterCard BusinessCard®, the Debit 
MasterCard BusinessCard™, the World MasterCard for Business®, the World Elite MasterCard for Business®, 
SmaU Business Controller and Professional Debit and Credit Cards are targeted at the small-business segment, 
offering business owners the ability to gain access to working capital. to extend payments and to separate 
business expenses from personal expenses. 

Emerging Payments Solutions. MasterCard focuses on innovation to enhance our current programs and 
extend our products and services to new customers and into new geographies. OUf focus includes: 

E-Commerce. E-Commerce involves the secure purchase and sale of goods over the Internet. Our 
initiatives focus on: 

o the development of e-Commerce capability through internet payment gateways (including 
DataCash. which was acquired in October 2010. and MiGS) to support growth in the e-Commerce 
area, 

o the development of programs and services intended to drive GDV and improve the consumer 
experience (such as MasterCard Marketplace™, an internet-based program which provides eligible 
MasterCard cardholders with individually tailored discount offers), and 

o the development of tools to help customers prevent fraud over the Internet. 

Mobile. MasterCard works with customers and leading technology companies to develop products and 
solutions in the area of mobile commerce and wireless payments. These initiatives generally focus on: 

o contactless payment solutions (including MasterCard PayPass), which utilize radio frequency 
technology to securely transmit payment details wirelessly through payment devices (including 
Mobile PayPass tags that adhere to the back of a mobile device. as well as other devices described 
below under "Acceptance Initiatives") to contactless-enabled payment card terminals for processing 
through the MasterCard Worldwide Network. 

12 

58 (full document)



o mobile payments gateways (such as the MasterCard Mobile Payments Gateway introduced by 
MasterCard in Brazil in 2009), which are tumkey mobile payment processing platforms that 
facilitate transaction routing and prepaid processing for mobile-initiated transactions, and 

o person-ta-person transfers (including MasterCard's money transfer solution, MasterCard 
MoneySend®) on behalf of MasterCard's customers using various channels, including mobile 
devices. 

Value-Added Services. MasterCard develops services designed to SUppOlt and enhance its products and 
solutions. MasterCard inControl® is an innovative platform featuring an array of advanced 
authorization, transaction routing and alert controls that uses the functionality of the MasterCard 
Wor1dwide Network and is designed to assist financial institutions in creating new and enhanced 
payment offerings. MasterCard offers several fraud detection and prevention solutions, including 
MasterCard Expert Monitoring System™ ("EMS"), a comprehensive suite of services designed to help 
its customers detect and prevent fraudulent activity. 

MasterCard Labs. MasterCard Labs is a global innovation group created in 2010 and dedicated to 
developing new innovative products and solutions for MasterCard. our customers and our cardholders. 
MasterCard Labs enables us to take a portfolio approach to research and development by incubating 
new product concepts. buiJding prototypes and running pilots. MasterCard Labs is designed for a rapid 
evaluation process. through which innovations either rapidly advance into MasterCard's new product 
process or are quickly disregarded. 

• Smart Card and Other Development. MasterCard continues to pursue smart card development, which 
enables MasterCard to work with our customers to help them replace traditional payment cards relying 
solely on magnetic stripe technology with chip-enabled payment cards that offer additional point-of-sale 
functiona1ity and the ability to provide va1ue-added services to the cardholder. We are also involved in a 
number of organizations that facilitate the development and use of smart cards globally. This includes a 
smart cards standards organization with other participants in the industry that maintains standards and 
specifications designed to ensure interoperability and acceptance of chip-based payment applications on 
a worldwide basis. MasterCard is also working to develop standards and programs that will allow 
consumers to conduct their financial transactions using a variety of new point-of-interaction devices. 

Acceptance Initiatives 

Overview. We estimate that, as of December 31, 2010, cards carrying the MasterCard brand were accepted 
at 31.7 million acceptance locations worldwide. including 1.8 million ATMs and 0.6 million other locations 
where cash may be obtained. Information on A TM and manual cash access locations is reported by our 
customers and is partly based on publicly-available reports of payment industry associations. government 
agencies and independent market analysts. Cards bearing the Maestro brand mark are accepted at many of these 
same locations. 

Initiatives. We seek to maintain unsurpassed acceptance of MasterCard-branded programs by focusing on 
three core initiatives. First, we seek to increase the categories of merchants that accept cards carrying our brands. 
In addition to our focus on expanding acceptance in e-Commerce and mobile commerce environments, we are 
also focused on using the functionality of the MasterCard Worldwide Network to expand acceptance in quick 
service businesses (such as fast food restaurants), transportation (such as commuter train systems, buses and 
taxis), and public sector payments (such as those involving taxes, fees, fines and tolls), among other categories. 
Second, we seek to increase the number of payment channels in which MasterCard programs are accepted, such 
as by introducing MasterCard acceptance in connection with bill payment applications. We are working with 
customers to encourage consumers to make bill payments in a variety of categories-including rent, utilities and 
insurance-with their MasterCard-branded cards. Third, we seek to increase usage of our programs at selected 
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merchants by sponsoring a wide range of promotional programs on a global basis. We also enter into 
arrangements with selected merchants under which these merchants receive petiormance incentives for the 
increased use of MasterCard-branded programs or indicating a preference for MasterCard-branded programs 
when accepting payments from consumers. 

Contactless Payment Solutions. Our acceptance initiatives include MasterCard PayPass, a "contactless" 
payment solution that utilizes wireless technology to enable consumers simply to tap their payment card or other 
payment device, such as a phone, key fob, wristband or Mobile PayPass tag that adheres to the back of a mobile 
device on a PayPass-enabled terminal to complete a transaction. Our PayPass program primarily targets low 
value purchases and is designed to help our customers further expand their businesses by capturing a portion of 
transactions that were previously cash-based, resulting in increased card activity. PayPass reduces transaction 
times, which appeals to merchants in quick service businesses (Le., ballparks, fast food restaurants and gas 
stations) and allows us to expand the number of locations that accept our cards. We have also developed an 
innovative transit platform solution to address the needs of various transit acceptance environments and 
cardholders. PayPass programs expanded in 2010 to include customers and merchants in 36 countries as of 
December 31, 2010, an increase from 33 countries as of December 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2010, 
approximateJy 88 million PayPass cards and devices were issued globally with acceptance at approximately 
276,000 merchant locations worldwide. 

Additional Services. In addition. we provide research, marketing support and financial assistance to our 
customers and their marketing partners in connection with the launch and marketing of co-branded and affinity 
card programs. Co-branded cards are payment cards bearing the logos or other insignia of an issuer and a 
marketing partner, such as an airline or retail merchant. Affinity cards are similar to co-branded cards except that 
the issuer's marketing prutner is typically a charitable, educational or other non-profit organization. 

Merchants. Merchants are an important constituency in the MasterCard payment system and we are 
working to further develop our relationships with them. We believe that consolidation in the retail industry is 
producing a set of larger merchants with increasingly global scope. These merchants are having a significant 
impact on all participants in the global payments industry, induding MasterCard. We believe that the growing 
role of merchants in the payments system represents both an opportunity and a challenge for MasterCard. In 
particular, large merchants are supporting many of the litigation, legislative and regulatory challenges related to 
interchange fees that MasterCard is now defending against, since interchange fees can represent a significant 
component of the costs that merchants pay to accept payment cards. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory 
Risks'" and "Risk Factors-Business Risks-Merchants are increasingly focused on the costs of accepting card
based fonns of payment, which may lead to additional litigation and regulatory proceedings and may increase the 
costs of our incentive programs, which could materially and adversely affect our profitability" in Part I, Item lA. 
Nevertheless, we believe many opportunities exist to enhance our relationships with merchants and to continue to 
expand acceptance of our cards. Over the years, for example, we have made available directly to merchants our 
standards that apply to card acceptance and related activities. thereby increasing the level of transparency and 
predictability of our payment system for merchants. We have also recently introduced a suite of information 
products, data analytics and marketing services which can help merchants wlderstand specific activity in their 
industry, evaluate their sales perfonnance against competitors and focus direct marketing efforts to target 
desirable prospects and hard to reach segments. 

Customer Relationship Management 

We are committed to providing our customers with coordinated services in a manner that allows us to take 
advantage of our expertise in payment programs, product development, technology, operations, processing, 
consulting and information services and marketing. We manage Ollr relationships with our customers on a global 
and regional basis to ensure that their priorities are consistently identified and incorporated into our product, 
brand, processing, technology and related strategies. 
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We enter into business agreements pursuant to which we offer customers fmancial incentives and other 
support benefits to issue and promote our branded cards and other payment programs. Financial incentives may 
be based on GDV or other performance-based criteria, such as issuance of new cards, launch of new programs or 
execution of marketing initiatives. We believe that our business agreements with customers have contributed to 
our volume and revenue growth in recent years. In addition, we have standard licensing arrangements with all of 
our customers that permit them to use our trademarks and subject tllem to the standards governing our payment 
programs. 

MasterCard Advisors 

MasterCard Advisors is our global professional services group which is focused exclusively on the 
payments industry. It differentiates us from otIC competitors by providing our customers and other clients with 
services through three business lines: Consulting Services, Information Services, and Managed 
Services. Consulting Services delivers professional problem-solving skills with payments expertise to address the 
challenges and opportunities of customers with respect to their payments business. Infonnation Services provides 
a suite of data analytics and products to a diversified customer base, enabling them to make better business 
decisions. Managed Services provides executional and turnkey solutions via data-driven acquisition and 
customer management services. MasterCard Advisors charges customers and other clients fees for its 
professional services or may offer these services as incentives under business agreements with certain 
customers. 

Marketing 

We manage and promote our brands through brand advertising, promotional and interactive programs and 
sponsorship initiatives. Our brand is supported by our corporate vision statement-The Heart of Commerce®, 
which represents our strategic vision of advancing commerce globally. Our corporate brand, MasterCard 
Wor1dwide®, is consistent with our role as franchisor, processor and advisor. Our marketing activities combine 
advertising, sponsorships, promotions, customer marketing, interactive media and public relations as part of an 
integrated program designed to increase consumer awareness of the MasterCard brand and usage of MasterCard 
cards. We also seek to tailor our global marketing messages by customizing them in individual countries, while 
maintaining a common global theme. Our initiatives are designed to build the value of the MasterCard brand and 
drive shareholder value. 

Our advertising plays an important role in building brand visibility, usage and overall card preference 
among cardholders globally. Our award-winning "Priceless®" adveltising campaign has run in 52 languages in 
112 countries worldwide. The "Priceless" campaign promotes MasterCard usage benefits and acceptance that 
permit cardholders to pay for what they need, when they need it as well as marketing MasterCard credit, debit, 
prepaid and commercial products and solutions. It also provides MasterCard with a consistent, recognizable 
message that supports our brand positioning. We continue to support our brand by utilizing digital channels to 
allow us to engage more direct1y with our stakeholders and allow consumers and customers to engage directly in 
brand programs, promotions and merchant offers, as well as provide relevant information on MasterCard 
products, services and tools. MasterCard has also introduced global and regional specific smart phone 
applications. including MasterCard's ATM Huntel.@, Priceless Picks® and MasterCard Marketplace 
Overwhelming Offers, that provide consumers with on-the-go utility. MasterCard intends to continue to use 
digital channels and a variety of social media efforts to develop preference and usage with consumers and more 
effectively partner with customers and merchants to help them drive their respective businesses. 

We also seek to deHver value to our customers through sponsorship of a variety of sporting and 
entertainment properties. Our presence in sports aligns with consumer segments important to MasterCard and our 
customers. Our worldwide partnerships in golf and rugby with tile PGA TOUR, PGA European Tour, 2010 
Ryder Cup and Rugby World Cup 201 1 are intended to help create business building oppornmities among a more 
affluent demographic. We have a long-standing relationship with international soccer and have continued this 
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relationship by sponsoring premiere events. including the Union of European Football Associations Champions 
League in Europe and the Copa America 2011 tournament in Argentina, as well as two leading Argentinean club 
teams. MasterCard is also the exclusive payments sponsor to Major League Baseball and a number of its 
professional teams. We also sponsor individual teams in the National Football League and National Hockey 
League, as well as a leading cricket team in the Indian Premier League. In China, MasterCard sponsors the 
Beijing Wukesong Culture and Sports Arena. one of the prominent Olympic stadiums, which was recently 
renamed the MasterCard Center. In addition to our sports portfolio. we align ourselves with diverse properties 
aimed at multiple target audiences, including a fashion platform in our Asia Pacific region, with the intention of 
raising our brand awareness with affluent consumers. We target a broad audience by providing access to music 
artists and live performances through well-known entertainment properties such as The GRAMMY Awards®, 
Jazz at Lincoln Center in New York, the Brit Awards and partnerships with Cirque du Soleil in Russia. 
MasterCard is the official payment services partner of the Walt Disney Company in Europe. including with 
respect to Disney stores, motion pictures and Disneyland Paris. 

MasterCard Revenue Sources 

MasterCard generates revenues by charging fees to our customers for providing transaction processing and 
other payment-related services and assessing our customers based on GDV on the cards that cany our brands. 
Accordingly. our revenues are impacted both by the number of transactions that we process and by the use of 
cards carrying our brands. Our net revenues are classified into the following five categories: 

Domestic assessments: Domestic assessments are fees charged to issuers and acquirers based 
primarily on the volume of activity on cards that carry our brands where the merchant country and the 
cardholder country are the same. 

Cross-border volume fees: Cross-border volume fees are charged to issuers and acquirers based on the 
volume of activity on cards that carry our brands where the merchant country and cardholder country 
are different. 

Transaction processing fees: Transaction processing fees are charged for both domestic and cross
border transactions and are primarily based on the number of transactions. 

• Other revenues: Other revenues for other payment-related services include fees associated with fraud 
products and services, cardholder service fees, consulting and research fees, compliance and penalty 
fees, account and transaction enhancement services, holograms and publications. 

• Rebates and incentives (contra-revenue): Rebates and incentives are provided to certain MasterCard 
customers and are recorded as contra-revenue in the same period that performance occurs. 

Our pricing is complex and is dependent on the nature of the volumes. types of transactions and other 
products and services we offer to our customers. A combination of the following factors detennines the pricing: 

• Domestic or cross-border 

• Signature-based or PIN-based 

Tiered pricing, with rates decreasing as customers meet incremental volume/transaction hurdles 

Geographic region or country 

Retail purchase Of cash withdrawal 

Cross-border transactions generate greater fevenue than do domestic transactions. We review our pricing 
and implement pricing changes on an ongoing basis and expect pricing to continue to be a component of revenue 
growth in the future. In addition, standard pricing varies among our regional businesses, and such pricing can be 
customized further for our customers through incentive and rebate agreements. Revenues from processing cross~ 
border transactions fluctuate with cross-border activities. See "Risk Factors-Business Risks-A decline in 
cross-border travel could adversely affect oW" revenues and profitability> as a significant portion of our revenue is 
generated from cross-border transactions" in Part I, Item 1A. 
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In 2010, net revenues from our five largest customers accounted for approximately $1.5 billion, or 28% of 
our total revenue. No single customer generated greater than 10% of total revenue. 

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Revenues" 
in Pan II, Item 7 for more detail. 

GDVand Processed Transactions 

The tables below provide some information regarding two key drivers of our revenue: (1) GDV, which 
forms the basis of volume-based revenues, and (2) processed transactions. 

GDV. The GDV table below provides information regarding the GDV for all MasterCard-branded cards 
(excluding Cirrus and Maestro) and for both MastelCard credit and charge card programs and MasterCard debit 
programs in the United States and in all of our other regions for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
Growth rates are provided on both a U.S. dollar and loea] currency basis for the periods indicated. GDV 
represents the aggregate dollar amount of purchases made and cash disbursements obtained with MasterCard
branded cards and includes the impact of balance transfers and convenience checks. 

MasterCard Branded GDVl 
All MasterCard Branded Programs 
AsialPacificlMiddle East/Africa ................ . 
Canada .................................... . 
Europe .................................... . 
Latin America .............................. . 
United States ............................... . 

Worldwide ................................. . 

All MasterCard Credit and Charge Programs 
United States ............................... . 
Worldwide less United States .................. . 

Worldwide ................................. . 

All MasterCard Debit Programs 
United States ............................... . 
Worldwide less United States .................. . 

Worldwide ................................. . 

Year·over-year growth 
Year ended Local Year ended 

December 31, 2010 U.s. $ Currencyl December 31, 2009 

$ 619 
107 
809 
221 
972 

$2,727 

$ 515 
1,255 

$1,770 

$ 457 
500 

$ 957 

(in billions, except percentages) 

27.3% 18.8% 
14.9% 4.2% 
10.8% 13.5% 
23.1% 17.4% 
(0.3)% (0.3)% 

10.7% 9.1% 

(2.0)% (2.0)% 
12.9% 10.0% 

8.1% 6.2% 

1.7% 1.7% 
32.8% 30.4% 

15.9% 14.9% 

$ 486 
93 

730 
179 
975 --

$2,463 

$ 526 
1,112 

$1,637 
--

$ 450 
377 --

$ 826 
--

* Note that figures in the above table may not sum due to rounding. 
GDV generated by Maestro and Cirrus cards is not included. The data for GDV is provided by MasterCard 
customers and includes information with respect to MasterCard-branded transactions that are not processed 
by MasterCard and for which MasterCard does not earn significant revenues. All data is subject to revision 
and amendment by MasterCard's customers subsequent to the date of its release, which revisions and 
amendments may be material. 

2 Local currency growth eliminates the impact of currency fluctuations and represents local market 
perfonnance. 
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Processed Transactions. The processed transaction table below provides information regarding all 
transactions processed by MasterCard, regardless of brand, for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

Year ended Year-O\'er- year Year ended 
December 31. 2010 growth December 31, 2009 

(in millions, except percentages) 
Processed transactions! 23,052 2.9% 22,401 

Data represents all transactions processed by MasterCard, inc1uding PIN-based online debit transactions, 
regardless of brand. The numbers were updated in 2009 to exclude a small number of certain processed 
transactions initiated with cards that do not bear our brands. All prior period data has been revised to be 
consistent with this revised methodology. Revenue was not impacted by these changes. 

Membership Standards 

We establish and enforce our standards surrounding membership in MasterCard International and the use 
and acceptance of cards carrying our brands. 

Rulemaking and Enforcement 

Membership in MasterCard International and its affiliates is generally open to financial institutions and 
other entities that are our customers. Applicants for membership must generally meet specified membership 
eligibility requirements. 

In general, MasterCard grants licenses by territory to applicants able to perform all obligations required of 
members. Licenses provide members with certain rights, including access to the network and usage of our 
brands. Anti-money laundering due diligence reviews and customer risk management reviews are conducted on 
all new members prior to admission, as well as on existing members. All app1icants and members must meet the 
requirements of MasterCard's anti-money laundering program, and MasterCard can block authorization of 
transactions and ultimately terminate membership for non-compliance with the program. As a condition of our 
licenses, members agree to compJy with our standards, which include our certificate of incorporation, byJaws. 
policies, rules and operating regulations and procedures. MasterCard Intel11ational and certain of its affiliates are 
the governing bodies that establish and enforce our standards, which relate to such matters as membership 
eligibility and financial soundness criteria; the standards, design and features of cards and card programs; the use 
of 11al)terCard trademarks; merchant acquiring activities (including acceptance standards applicable to 
merchants); and guaranteed settlement and member failures. To help ensure that members conform to the 
standards, we review card programs proposed by members. 

Customer Risk Management 

As a guarantor of certain card obligations of principal members, we are exposed to member credit risk 
arising from the potential financial failure of any of our approximately 2,500 principal members of MasterCard, 
Maestro and Cirrus, and approximately 3,400 affiliate debit licensees. Our estimated gross settlement risk 
exposure for MasterCard-branded transactions, which is calculated using the average daily card charges made 
during the quarter multiplied by the estimated number of days to settle, was approximately $28.5 billion as of 
December 31, 2010. Principal members participate directly in MasterCard programs and are responsible forthe 
settlement and other activities of their sponsored affiliate memhers (approximately 19,400). 

To minimize the contingent risk to MasterCard of a failure. we monitor the fmancial health of. economic 
and political operating environments of, and compliance with our standards by, our principal members, affiliate 
debit licensees and other entities to which we grant licenses. If the financial condition of a member or the state of 
the economy in which it operates indicates that it may not be able to satisfy its obligations to us or to other 
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MasterCard members or its payment obligations to MasterCard merchants, we may require the member to post 
collateral, typically in the form of standby letters of credit, bank guarantees or secured cash accounts. As of 
December 31,2010, we had members who had posted approximately $3.0 billion in collateral held for settlement 
exposure for MasterCard-branded transactions. If a member becomes unable or unwilling to meet its obligations 
to us or other members, we are able to draw upon such member's collateral, if provided, in order to minimize any 
potential loss to our members or ourselves. In addition to obtaining collateral from members, in situations where 
a member is potentially unable to meet its obligations to us or other members, we can block authorization and 
settlement of transactions and ultimately terminate membership. Additionally, and to further preserve payment 
system integrity, MasterCard reserves the right to terminate a member's right to participate in MasterCard's 
payment card network if, for example, the member fails or refuses to make payments in the ordinary course of 
business, or if a liquidating agent, conservator or receiver is appointed for the member. In addition to these 
measures, we have also established a $2.75 billion committed credit facility to provide liquidity for general 
corporate purposes, including to provide liquidity in the event of member settlement failure. See "Risk Factors
Business Risks-As a guarantor of certain obligations of principal members and affiliate debit licensees, we are 
exposed to risk of loss or illiquidity if any of our customers default on their MasterCard. Cirrus or Maestro 
settlement obligations" in Part I, Item lA. See also "Risk Factors-Business Risks-Unprecedented global 
economic events in financial markets around the world have directly and adversely affected, and may continue to 
affect, many of our customers. merchants that accept our brands and cardholders who use our brands, which 
could result in a material and adverse impact on our prospects. growth, profitability, revenue and overall 
business" in Part I. Item IA. 

Payment System Integrity 

The integrity of our payment system can be affected by fraudulent activity and illegal uses of cards and our 
system. Fraud is most often committed in connection with lost, stolen or counterreit cards or stolen account 
information, often resulting from security breaches of third party systems that inappropriately store cardholder 
account data. See "Risk Factors-Business Risks-Account data breaches involving card data stored by us or 
third parties could adversely affect our reputation and revenue" in Part I, Item lA. Fraud is also more likely to 
occur in transactions where the card is not present, such as e-Commerce, mail order and telephone order 
transactions. Security and cardholder authentication for these remote channels are particularly critical issues 
facing our customers and merchants who engage in these forms of commerce, where a signed cardholder sales 
receipt or the presence of the card or merchant agent is unavailable. 

We monitor areas of risk exposure and enforce our standards to combat fraudulent activity. We ruso operate 
several compliance programs to help ensure that the integrity of our payment system is maintained by our 
customers and their agents. Key compliance programs include merchant audits (for high fraud, excessive 
chargebacks and processing of illegal transactions) and security compliance (including our MasterCard Site Data 
Protection Service®, which assists customers and merchants in protecting commercial sites from hacker 
intrusions and subsequent account data compromises) by requiring proper adherence to the Payment Card 
Industry Data Security Standards (pCl DDS). Our customers are also required to report instances of fraud to us in 
a timely manner so we can monitor trends and initiate action where appropriate. 

Our customers generally are responsible for fraud losses associated with the cards they issue and the 
merchants from which they acquire transactions. However. we have implemented a series of programs and 
systems to aid them in detecting and preventing the fraudulent use of MasterCard cards. We provide education 
programs and various risk management tools to help prevent fraud, induding MasterCard SecureCode®, a global 
Internet authentication solution that permits cardholders to authenticate themselves to their issuer using a unique, 
personal code, and our Site Data Protection program. We also provide fraud detection and prevention solutions, 
including EMS and DataCash fraud prevention tools. 
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Enterprise Risk Management 

MasterCard faces a number of risks in operating its business (for a description of material risks, see "Risk 
Factors" in Part I, Item IA). Managing risk is an integral component of our business activities and the degree to 
which we manage risk is vital to our financial condition and profitability. We have an Enterprise Risk 
Management ("ERM") program which is integrated with the business and designed to ensure appropriate and 
comprehensive oversight and management of risk. The ERM program leverages our business processes to, 
among other things. ensure: allocation of resources to appropriately address risk; establishment of clear 
accountability for risk management; and provision of transparency of risks to senior management, the Board of 
Directors and appropriate Board committees. Our ERM program seeks to accomplish these goals by: identifying, 
prioritizing and monitoring key risks; providing an independent view of our risk profile; and strengthening 
business operations by integrating ERM principles and continuing to create a risk aware culture within 
MasterCard. MasterCard's integrated risk management structure balances risk and return by having business 
units and central functions (such as fmance and law) identify, own and manage risks, our executive officers set 
policy and accountability and the Board and committees provide oversight of the process. 

Intellectual Property 

We own a number of valuable trademarks that are essential to our business, including MasterCard®, 
Maestro® and Cirrus®, through one or more affiliates. We also own numerous other trademarks covering various 
brands, programs and services offered by MasterCard to support our payment programs. Trademark and service 
mark registrations are generally valid indefinitely as long as they are used and/or properly maintained. Through 
license agreements with our customers, we authorize the use of our trademarks in connection with our customers' 
card issuing and merchant acquiring businesses. In addition, we own a number of patents and patent appJications 
relating to payments solutions, transaction processing, smart cards, contactless, mobile, electronic commerce, 
security systems and other matters, some of which may be impOltant to our business operations. Patents are of 
varying duration depending on the jurisdiction and filing date, and will typically expire at the end of their natural 
term. 

Competition 

General. MasterCard programs compete against a11 forms of payment, including paper-based transactions 
(principally cash and checks); card-based payment systems. including credit, charge, debit, prepaid, private-label 
and other types of general pwpose and limited use cards; and electronic transactions such as wire transfers and 
Automated Clearing House payments. As a result of a global trend, electronic forms of payment such as payment 
cards are increasingly displacing paper forms of payment, and card brands such as MasterCard, Visa, American 
Express and Discover are benefiting from this displacement. However, cash and checks still capture the largest 
overall percentage of worldwide payment volume. 

Payment Card, Processing and Alternative Competitors. 

General Purpose Payment Card Industry. Within the general purpose payment card industry, we face 
substantial and increasingly intense competition worldwide from systems such as Visa (including Plus®, 
Electron and Interlink), American Express and Discover, among others. Within the global general 
purpose card industry, Visa has significantly greater volume than we do. Outside of the United States, 
some of our competitors such as JCB in Japan and China Union Pay® have leading positions in their 
domestic markets. Regulation can also play a role in determining competitive market advantages for 
competitors. For example, China Union Pay is the sale domestic processor designated by the Chinese 
government and operates the sole national cross-bank bankcard information switch network in China 
due to local regulation. Some governments, such as India and Russia, are promoting local networks for 
domestic processing and there are similar developments in other countries. See "Risk Factors-Legal 
and Regulatory Risks-Govemment actions may prevent us from competing effectively against 
providers of domestic payments services in certain countries, which could adversely affect our ability to 
maintain or increase our revenues" in Part I, Item lA. 
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Particular Segments. We face competition with respect to particu1ar segments of the payment card 
industry, including: 

o Debit. In the debit card sector, we also encounter substantial and increasingly intense competition 
from A TM and point-of-sale debit networks in various countries, such as Interlink™, Plus and Visa 
Electron (owned by Visa Inc.), Star" (owned by First Data Coxporation), NYCE® (owned by FIS), 
and Pulse™ (owned by Discover), in the United States; Inter.c in Canada; EFTPOS in Australia; 
and Bankserv in South AfriCa. In addition, in many countries outside of the United States, local 
debit brands serve as the main brands while our brands are used mostly to enable cross~border 
transactions, which typically represent a small pOltion of overall transaction volume. 

o PIN-Based Debit Transactions. In the United States, some of our competitors process a greater 
number of online, PIN-based debit transactions at the point of sale than we do. In addition, our 
business and revenues could be impacted adversely by the tendency among U.S. merchants to 
migrate from offline, signature-based debit transactions to online, PIN-based debit transactions 
because we generally eam less revenue from the latter types of transactions. This tendency may be 
accelerated as a result of the Federal Reserve's implementation of rules associated with the \Vall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (as defined and described below under "Government 
Regulation"). In addition, online, PIN~based transactions are more likely to be processed by other 
domestic ATMldebit point·of-sale networks rather than by us. See "Risk Factors-Business Risks
If we are unable to grow our debit business. particularly in the United States, we may fail to 
maintain and increase our revenue growth" in Part I, Item lA. 

o Private-Label. Private-label cards, which can generally be used to make pm-chases solely at the 
sponsoring retail store, gasoline retailer or other types of merchants, also serve as another form of 
competition. 

• End-ta-End Payment Networks. Our competitors include operators of proprietary end-to-end payment 
networks that have direct acquiring relationships with merchants and direct issuing relationships with 
cardholders. such as American Express and Discover. These competitors have certain advantages that 
we do not enjoy. Among other things, these competitors do not require formal interchange fees to 
balance payment system costs among issuers and acquirers, because they typically have direct 
relationships with both merchants and cardholders. Interchange fees. which are a characteristic of foul'
party payments systems such as ours, are subject to increased regulatory and legislative scrutiny 
worldwide. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks-Interchange fees and related practices 
have been receiving significant and increasingly intense legal, regulatory and legislative scrutiny 
worldwide, and the resulting decisions, regulations and legislation may have a material adverse impact 
on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results 
of operations" in Part I, Item lA. To date, operators of end-to·end payment networks have generally 
avoided the same regulatory and legislative sClutiny and litigation challenges we face because they do 
not utilize fonnal interchange fees. Accordingly, these operators may enjoy a competitive advantage 
over four-party payments systems. 

Competition/or Customer Business. We compete intensely with other card networks. principally Visa, 
for the loyalty of our customers. Globally, financial institutions typically issue both MasterCard and 
Visa-branded payment cards, and we compete with Visa for business on the basis of individual card 
portfolios or programs. Some of our customers also do business with American Express or Discover in 
the United States, and a number of our large customers now issue American Express andlor Discover
branded cards. We also compete for new business partners with whom we seek to work. such as 
merchants, government agencies and telecommunication companies. See "Risk Factors-Business 
Risks-Our operating results may suffer because of substantial and increasingly intense competition 
worldwide in the global payments industry" in Part I, Item I A. Our ability to compete in tlle global 
payments industry for customer business can be affected by the outcome of litigation, regulatory 
proceedings and legislative activity. For example, in July 2010, the United States enacted into law the 
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Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the ''Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act"), which requires the Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve System to 
issue regulations prohibiting arrangements under which a debit card can be processed only by one 
network (or only by a group of affiliated networks). The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act also prohibits any restrictions on a merchant's ability to route a transaction over anyone of the 
networks that could process the transaction. These events have resulted in challenges. as well as 
potential opportunities to compete for business in this area. 

• Transaction Processors. We face competition from transaction processors throughout the world, such 
as First Data Corporation and Total System Services, Inc., some of which are seeking to enhance their 
networks that link issuers directly with point-of-sale devices for payment card transaction authorization 
and processing services. Certain of these transaction processors could potentially displace MasterCard 
as the provider of these payment processing services. 

• New Entrants and Alternative Payment Systemv. We also compete against relatively new entrants and 
alternative payment providers, such as PayPa1® (a business segment of eEay), which have developed 
payment systems in e-Commerce and across mobile devices. Whi1e PayPal is an established and 
important player in Internet payments, this is an increasingly competitive area, as evidenced by the 
proliferation of new online competitors. Among other services, these competitors provide Internet 
payment services that can be used to buy and sell goods online, and services that support payments to 
and from deposit accounts or proprietary accounts for Internet, mobile commerce and other applications. 
A number of these new entrants rely principally on the Internet and potential wireless communication 
networks to support their services, and may enjoy lower costs than we do. The payment card industry is 
also facing changes in services and technology related to mobile payments and emerging competition 
from mobile operators and handset manufactUl'ers. Micro-payments on social networks such as 
Facebook® are relatively small today but have the potential to grow rapidly, representing the potential 
for competition from a new payment form. 

Financial Institution Customers. 

Pricing. We face increasingly intense competitive pressure on the prices we charge our customers. We 
seek to enter into business agreements with customers through which we offer incentives and other 
support to issue and promote our cards. In order to stay competitive, we may have to increase the 
amount of rehates and incentives we provide to our customers and merchants, as we have in the last 
several years. See "Risk Factors-Business Risks-We face increasingly intense competitive pressure 
on the prices we charge our customers, which may materially and adversely affect our revenue and 
profitability" in Part I, Item lAo 

• Banking IndustlY Consolidation. The banking industry has undergone substantial accelerated 
consolidation over the last several years, and we expect some consolidation to continue in the future. 
Recent consolidations have included customers with a substantial MasterCard portfolio being acquired 
by institutions with a strong relationship with a 'comp~titor. Significant ongoing' consolidation in the 
banking industry may result in a substantial loss of business for MasterCard. The continued 
consolidation in the banking industry, whether as a result of an acquisition of a substantial MasterCard 
portfolio by an institution with a strong relationship with a competitor or the combination of two 
institutions with which MasterCard has a strong relationship, would also produce a smaller number of 
large customers, which generally have a greater ability to negotiate pricing discounts with MasterCard. 
Consolidations could prompt our customers to renegotiate our business agreements to obtain more 
favorable terms. This pressure on the prices we charge our customers could materially and adversely 
affect our revenue and profitability. See "Risk Factors-Business Risks-Additional consolidation or 
other changes in or affecting the banking industry could result in a loss of business for MasterCard and 
create pressure on the fees we charge our customers, resulting in lower prices and/or more favorable 
tenns for our customers, which may materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability" in 
Part I, Item lAo 
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Competitive Position. We believe that the principal factors influencing our competitive position in the 
global payments industry are: 

pricing; 

customer relationships; 

the impact of existing and future litigation, legislation and government regulation; 

the impact of globalization and consoHdation of financial institutions and merchants; 

the acceptance base, reputation and brand recognition of payment cards; 

the success and scope of marketing and promotional campaigns; 

the quality, security and integrity of transaction processing; 

the relative value of services and products offered; 

new market entrants; and 

the ability to develop and implement competitive new card programs. systems and technologies in both 
physical and virtual environments. 

Government Regulation 

General. Government regulation impacts key aspects of our business. We are subject to regulations that 
affect the payment industry in the many countries in which aUf cards are used. Regulation of the payments 
industry has increased significantly in the last several years, including in the United States. Regulators in several 
countries outside of the United States have also become increasingly interested in payment issues, a number of 
which have launched official proceedings related to payment industry issues. See "Risk Factors-Legal and 
Regulatory Risks" in Part I, Item IA. 

Interchange Fees. Interchange fees associated with four-party payment systems like ours are being 
reviewed or challenged in various jurisdictions. Such challenges include regulatory proceedings in the European 
Union (by the European Commission, as well as by individual European Union member states) and elsewhere. 
Interchange fees have also become the subject of legislative action. In particular, the Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act enacted into law in July 2010 provides for, among other things, the regulation of debit 
and prepaid "interchange transaction fees" directly and through an implementing rulemaking process undertaken 
by the Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve System. See "Risk Factors-Legal and 
Regulatory Risks-Interchange fees and related practices have been receiving significant and increasingly 
intense legal, regulatory and legislative scrutiny worldwide, and the resulting decisions. regulations and 
legislation may have a material adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall 
business, financial condition and results of operations" and "The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act may have a material, adverse effect on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, 
financial condition and results of operations" in Part I, Item IA and in Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory 
Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part TI, Item 8. 

Data Protection and InJornzation Security. Aspects of our operations or business are subject to privacy 
regulation in the United States, the European Union and elsewhere, as weU as regulations imposed by the U.S. 
Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC"). For example, in the United States, we and our customers 
are respectively subject to Federal Trade Commission and federal banking agency information safeguarding 
requirements under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. The Federal Trade Commission's information safeguarding 
rules require us to develop, implement and maintain a written, comprehensive infonnation security program 
containing safeguards that are appropriate for our size and complexity, the nature and scope of our activities, and 
the sensitivity of any customer information at issue. Our customers in the United States are subject to similar 
requirements under the guidelines issued by the federal banking agencies. As part of their compliance with the 
requirements. each of our U.S. customers is expected to have a program in place for responding to unauthorized 
access to, or use of, customer information that could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to customers. 
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In the United States, during the past several years, a number of bills have been considered by Congress and 
there have been several congressional hearings to address information safeguarding and data breach issues. 
Congress continues to consider these issues, which could result in legislation that would have an adverse impact 
on us and our customers. For example, the House of Representatives has again passed comprehensive data 
security and data breach notification legislation that could impose additional regulatory burdens on us and our 
customers. Similar legislation has not yet passed the Senate in this Congress, and it is not clear whether 
legislation of this type will be signed into law. In addition, a large number of U.S. states have enacted security 
breach legislation, requiring varying levels of consumer notification in the event of a security breach. In Europe, 
the European Parliament and Council passed the European Directive 95146IEC (the "Directive") on the 
protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, 
which obligates the controller of an individual's personal data to take the necessary technical and organizational 
measures to protect personal data. The Directive has been implemented through local laws regulating data 
protection in European Union member states to which we and our customers are subject. The Directive 
establishes general principles with regard to the processing of personal data, including the legal grounds for 
processing. the rights of individuals with regard to their personal data, restrictions on transfers of the personal 
data outside the European Economic Area, and the obligation of the controller of that information to take the 
necessary technical and organizational measures to protect personal data. In addition to the United States and 
Europe, other jurisdictions around the world are enacting similar pJivacy. data protection and information 
security regulations which have similar impacts to our businesses in these jurisdictions. See "Risk Factors
Legal and Regulatory Risks-Regulation in the areas of consumer privacy, data use and! or security could 
decrease the number of payment cards issued and could increase our costs" in Part I. Item 1 A. 

Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorism. MasterCard and other participants in the payment industry 
are also subject to the regulatory requirements of Section 352 of the USA PATRIOT Act, which applies to 
celtain types of financial institutions, including operators of credit card systems. Section 352 of the USA 
PATRIOT Act requires MasterCard to maintain a comprehensive anti-money laundering program and imposes 
similar requirements on some of our customers. Our anti-money laundering program must be reasonably 
designed to prevent our system from being used to facilitate money laundering and the financing of terrorist 
activities. The program must, at a minimum, include the designation of a compliance officer, provide for the 
training of appropriate personnel regarding anti-money laundering responsibilities, as well as incorporate 
policies, procedures, and controls to mitigate money laundering ris~s, and be independently audited. 

We are also subject to regulations imposed by OFAC restricting financial transactions with Cuba, Burma! 
Myanmar, Iran and Sudan and with persons and entities included in OFAC's list of Specially Designated 
Nationals and Blocked Persons (the "SDN Lis!"). Cuba, Iran, Sudan and Syria also have been identified by the 
U.S. State Department as terrorist-sponsoring states. While MasterCard has no business operations, subsidiaries 
or affiliated entities in these countries, there are financial institutions licensed by MasterCard to issue cards or 
acquire merchant transactions in celtain of these countries. MasterCard takes measures to avoid transactions with 
persons and entities on the SDN List; however, it is possible that transactions involving persons or entities on the 
SDN List may be processed through our payment system. It is possible that our reputation may suffer due to our 
customer fmancial institutions' association with these countries or the existence of any such transactions, which 
in twn could have a material adverse effect on the value of our stock. Further, certain U.S. states have enacted 
legislation regarding investments by pension funds and other retirement systems in companies that have business 
activities or contacts with countries that have been identified as terrorist-sponsoring states and similar legislation 
may be pending in other states. As a result, pension funds and other retirement systems may be subject to 
reporting requirements with respect to investments in companies such as ours or may be subject to limits or 
prohibitions with respect to those investments that may materially and adversely affect our stock price. 

Financial Industry Regulation. MasterCard customers are subject to numerous regulations applicable to 
banks and other financial institutions in the United States and elsewhere, and as a consequence MasterCard is 
impacted by such regulations. Certain of our operations are periodically reviewed by the U.S. Federal Financial 
Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") under its authority to examine financial institutions' technology 
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service providers. Examinations by the FFIEC cover areas such as data integrity and data security. In recent 
years, the U.S. federal banking regulators have adopted a series of regulatory measures affecting credit card 
payment tenns and requiting more conservative accounting, greater risk management and in some cases higher 
capital requirements for bank credit card activities, particuJarly in the case of banks that focus on subprime 
cardholders. In addition, MasterCard Europe operates a retail payment system in Eur~pe and is subject to 
oversight by the National Bank of Belgium pursuant to standards published by the European Central Bank that 
are principally targeted at managing financial. legal and operations risk. 

In July 2010, as part of the Wali Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the Bureau of Consumer 
Financial Protection (the ''Bureau'') was created. The Bureau will have significant authority to regulate consumer 
financial products. including consumer credit, deposit, payment. and similar products, although it is not clear 
whether andior to what extent the Bureau will be authorized to regulate broader aspects of payment card network 
operations. In addition, the Financial Reform Act created the Financial Stability Oversight Council (the 
"Council") in order to identify lisks to the financial stability of the United States that could arise from the 
material financial distress or failure of. or ongoing activities by, large, interconnected bank holding companies or 
nonbank financial companies. Among other responsibilities, the Council is tasked with identifying payment, 
clearing and settlement systems that are "systemically impOitant" under the applicable statutory standard. Under 
the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, such systems will be subject to new regulation, 
supervision and examination requirements. It is not c1ear whether MasterCard would be deemed "systemically 
important." However, the imposition of any additional regulatory or other obligations on MasterCard could result 
in costly new compliance burdens that could negatively impact our business. See "Risk Factors-Legal and 
Regulatory Risks-The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act may have a material adverse impact on 
our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results of 
operations" in Part I, Item lA. 

Issuer Practice Legislation and Regulation.. The Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve 
System is continuing the process of issuing regulations to implement the Credit CARD Act, which was signed 
into law in May 2009. The Credit CARD Act, and its implementing regulations, are having a significant impact 
on the disclosures made by our customers and on our customers' account terms and business practices. The 
Credit CARD Act, and its implementing regulations, are making it more difficult for credit card issuers to price 
credit cards for future credit risk and will have a significant effect on the pricing, credit allocation, and business 
models of most major credit card issuers. The new Jaw could reduce credit availability, or increase the cost of 
credit to cardholders, possibly affecting MasterCard transaction volume and revenues. 

The Credit CARD Act also includes provisions that impose limits and restrictions on certain prepaid card 
products, including on fees. The Board of Govemors of the United States Federal Reserve System has issued 
implementing regulations, with respect to these provisions. The statutory provisions and implementing 
regulations may diminish the attractiveness of these products to our customers and may consequently adversely 
affect transaction volumes and revenues. 

The Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve System has also recently adopted regulations 
regulating overdraft fees imposed in connection with ATM and debit card transactions. These regulations will 
have the effect of significantly reducing overdraft fees our customers may charge in connection with debit card 
programs. This may diminish the attractiveness of debit card programs to our customers and may adversely affect 
transaction volumes and revenues. 

Regulation of Internet Transactions. In October 2006, the U.S. Congress enacted legislation requiring the 
coding and blocking of payments for certain types of Internet gambling transactions. The legislation applies to 
payment system participants, including MasterCard and our U.S. customers, and is implemented through a 
federal regulation. Compliance was required no later than June 1, 2010, although Congress may consider 
additional legislation to legalize and regulate Internet gambling. The federal regulation requires us and our 
customers to implement compliance programs that would increase our costs and/or could decrease our 
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transaction volumes. In addition, the U.S. Congress continues its consideration of regulatory initiatives in the 
areas of Intemet prescription drug purchases, copyright and trademark infringement, and privacy, among others, 
that could impose additional compliance burdens on us and/or our customers. Some U.S. states are considering a 
variety of similar legislation. If implemented, these initiatives could require us or our customers to monitor, 
filter, restrict, or otherwise oversee various categories of payment card transactions, thereby increasing our costs 
or decreasing our transaction volumes. Various regulatory agencies also continue to examine a wide variety of 
issues, including identity theft, account management guidelines, privacy, disclosure rules, security and marketing 
that would impact our customers directly. These new requirements and developments may affect our customers' 
ability to extend credit through the use of payment cards, which could decrease our transaction volumes. In some 
circumstances, new regulations could have the effect of limiting our customers' ability to offer new types of 
payment programs or restricting their ability to offer our existing programs such as prepaid cards, which could 
materially and adversely reduce our revenue and revenue growth. 

Seasonality 

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Seasonality" in Part n, Item 7 for a discussion of the impact of seasonality on our business. 

Financial Information About Geographic Areas 

See Note 25 (Segment Reporting) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for 
certain geographic financial information. 

Employees 

As of December 3 I, 2010, we employed approximately 5,600 persons, of which approximately 2,200 were 
employed outside of the United States. We consider our relationship with employees to be good. 

Website and SEC Reports 

The Company's internet address is www.mastercard.com. Our annual report on Form lO-K, quarterly 
reports on Form lO-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports are available, without 
charge, for review on our investor relations page, accessible through our corporate website, as soon as reasonably 
practicable after they are filed with, or furnished to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). 
The infonnation contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Report. 

Item IA. Risk Factors 

Legal and Regulatory Risks 

interchange fees and related practices have been receiving significant and increasingly intense legal, 
regulatory and legislative scrutiny worldwide, and the resulting decisions, regulations and legislation may 
have a material adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Interchange fees, which represent a sharing of payment system costs among the financial institutions 
participating in a four-party payment card system such as ours, are generally the largest component of the costs 
that acquirers charge merchants in connection with the acceptance of payment cards. Typically, interchange fees 
are paid by the merchant financial institution (the acquirer) to the cardholder financial institution (the issuer) in 
connection with transactions initiated on our payment system. 

We do not earn revenues from interchange fees. They are, however, a key factor in balancing the costs 
consumers pay and the costs merchants pay in our payment system. They are also a factor on which we compete 
with other payment providers and therefore an important determinant of the volume of transactions we process 
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over our network. Although we have historically set default interchange fees in the United States and other 
countries, in certain jurisdictions, our interchange rates and related practices, including our default interchange 
fees, are subject to increased Htigation and government regulation as card-based forms of payment have become 
relatively more important to local economies. Regulators and legislative bodies in a number of countries, as well 
as merchants, are seeking to reduce these fees through litigation, regulatory action and/or legis1ative action. 

Increased legislative scrutiny in the United States is resulting in limitations on our ability to estab1ish default 
interchange rates for debit transactions. In July 2010, the United States enacted into law the Wall Street Refonn 
and Consumer Protection Act that, among other things, requires debit and prepaid «interchange transaction fees" 
to be "reasonable and proportional to the cost incurred by the issuer with respect to the transaction." See "Risk 
Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks-The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act may have a 
material adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial 
condition and results of operations" in this Part I, Item lA for more detail. Interchange fees also have been the 
subject of legislative activity elsewhere, including: 

• In France, in May 2009, the French Parliament began considering a bill that would have regulated 
merchant discount fees. In October 2010, a substantially modified version of the bill was adopted, and 
was subsequently struck down by the French Constitutional Court in January 201 I. 

In Canada, in June 2009. the Canadian Senate issued a report with the non-binding recommendations 
that debit interchange be set at zero for three years, merchant surcharging be permitted in Canada and 
"honor all cards" rules be modified. In response, the Canadian Department of Finance implemented a 
voluntary "Code of Conduct" on related issues for payment card industry participants in Canada, to 
which MasterCard has agreed to abide. Private member bills have also been introduced in the Canadian 
Senate that would attempt to establish legislative or regulatory controls over interchange and related 
practices 

• In Hungary, in December 2009, the Hungarian Parliament began considering a bill dlat would have 
regulated interchange fees and merchant discount rates. In February 2010, a modified bill was adopted 
which only regulated merchant discount rate, and the bill was subsequently effectively repealed in 
January 2011. 

• In Brazil, in May 2010, the Central Bank of Brazil (together with competition agencies in Brazil) issued 
a final report detailing their findings with respect to the retail payment system in Brazil, including a 
finding that greater transparency was required in the setting of domestic interchange rates. 

In addition, regulatory authorities and central banks in a number of jurisdictions around the world have 
commenced proceedings or inquiries into interchange fees and related practices. Examples include: 

In the European Union, in December 2007, the European Commission issued a negative decision (which 
we have appealed to the General Court of the European Union) with respect to our cross-border 
interchange fees for consumer credit and debit cards under European Union competition rules. 

In Australia. the Reserve Bank of Australia enacted regulations in 2002 (which have been subsequently 
reviewed and not withdrawn) controUing the costs that can be considered in setting interchange fees for 
four-party payment card systems such as ours. 

• In the United Kingdom, in February 2007. the Office of Fair Trading commenced a new investigation 
(which has been suspended pending the outcome of our appeal of the European Commission decision) 
of our current U.K. credit card interchange fees and so~called "immediate debit" cards to detennine 
whether such fees contravene U.K. and European Union competition law. 

In Poland, in January 2007, the Polish Office for Protection of Competition and Consumers issued a 
decision that our domestic interchange fees are unlawful under Polish competition law, and imposed 
fines on our licensed financial institutions-the decision is currently being appealed. 
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• In Hungary, in addition to the legislative activity described above, MasterCard Europe is appealing the 
Hungarian Competition Office December 2009 decision (which has been stayed) ruling that MasterCard 
Europe's historic domestic interchange fees violate Hungarian competition law and fining MasterCard 
Europe approximately U.S. $3 million. 

• In Italy, MasterCard Europe is appealing the November 2010 decision of the Italian Competition 
Authority ruling that MasterCard Europe's domestic interchange fees violate European Union 
competition law and fining MasterCard 2.7 million eUID. 

In Canada, in addition to the legislative activity described above, in December 2010 the Canadian 
Competition Bureau filed an application with the Canadian Competition Tribunal to strike down rules 
related to MasterCard's interchange fees, including its "honor all cards" and "no surcharge" rules. 

In South Africa, in September 2010, MasterCard was informed by the South African Reserve Bank that 
it intended to appoint an independent consultant to make a recommendation on a simplified interchange 
structure for all payment systems in South Africa. 

See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, 
Item 8 for a detailed description of regulatory proceedings and inquiries into interchange fees. We believe that 
regulators are increasingly cooperating on interchange matters and, as a result, developments in anyone 
jurisdiction may influence regulators' approach to interchange fees in other jurisdictions. See "Risk Factors~ 
Legal and Regulatory Risks~New regulations in one jurisdiction or of one product may lead to new regulations 
in other jurisdictions or of other products" in this Part I, Item lAo 

Additionally, merchants are seeking to reduce interchange fees through litigation. In the United States, 
merchants have filed approximately 50 class action or individual suits alleging that MasterCard's interchange 
fees and acceptance rules violate federal antitrust laws. These suits allege, among other things, that our purported 
setting of interchange fees constitutes horizontal price-fixing between and among MasterCard and its member 
banks, and MasterCard, Visa and their member banks in violation of Section I of the Sherman Act, which 
prohibits contracts, combinations or conspiracies that unreasonably resb:ain trade. The suits seek treble damages, 
attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated 
financial statements included in Part n, Item 8 for more details regarding the allegations contained in these 
complaints and the status of these proceedings. 

If issuers cannot collect, or we are forced to reduce, interchange fees, issuers may be unable to recoup a 
portion of the costs incurred for their services. This could reduce the number of financial instihltions willing to 
participate in our four-patty payment card system, lower overall transaction volumes, andlor make proprietary 
end-to-end networks or other fonns of payment more attractive. Issuers also could charge higher fees to 
consumers, thereby making our card programs less desirable to consumers and reducing our transaction volumes 
and profitability, or attempt to decrease the expense of their card programs by seeking a reduction in the fees that 
we charge. This could also result in less innovation and product offerings. We are devoting substantial 
management and financial resources to the defense of interchange fees in regulatory proceedings, litigation and 
legislative activity. The potential outcome of any legislative, regulatory or litigation action could have a more 
positive or negative impact on MasterCard relative to its competitors. If we are ultimately unsuccessful in our 
defense of interchange fees, any such legis1ation. regulation and/or litigation may have a material adverse impact 
on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In addition, regulatory proceedings and litigation could result in MasterCard being fined andlor 
having to pay civil damages. 

The Wall Street Refonn and Consumer Protection Act may have a material adverse impact 011 OUT 

revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act recently enacted in the United States establishes 
regulation and oversight by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board of debit interchange rates and celtain other network 
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industry practices. Among other things, it requires debit and prepaid "interchange transaction fees" (referred to in 
the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act as fees established, charged or received by a payment card 
network for the purpose of compensating an issuer for its involvement in an electronic debit transaction) to be 
"reasonable and proportional to the cost incurred by the issuer with respect to the transaction." Proposed 
regulations by the Federal Reserve provide two alternative proposals for determining whether a debit interchange 
fee complies with the "reasonable and proportional" standard. One alternative would impose a range for a 
per-transaction interchange fee and the other would impose a simple cap. In each case, the Federal Reserve's 
proposed debit interchange limits are significantly below the interchange fees card issuers currently receive. 
Provided certain conditions are met, the proposed regulations exempt from the proposed interchange fee 
restrictions the following: (1) issuers with assets of less than $10 billion; (2) debit cards issued pursuant to a 
government-administered program; and (3) general use prepaid cards not marketed or labeled as gift cards. Also, 
while the proposed regulations do not directly regulate network fees, they make clear that network fees cannot be 
used to circumvent the debit interchange fee restrictions. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks
Interchange fees and related practices have been receiving significant and increasingly intense legal, regulatory 
and legislative scrutiny worldwide, and the resulting decisions, regulations and legislation may have a material 
adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and 
results of operations" in this Part I, Item IA. 

Additionally, the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act provides that neither an issuer nor a 
payment card network may establish exclusive debit network arrangements or inhibit the ability of a merchant to 
choose among different networks for routing debit transactions. Under alternative rules proposed by the Federal 
Reserve, either (1) a debit card would meet the requirements of the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act as long as it could be used in at least two l.maffiliated networks, or (2) each debit card would be required to 
function in at least two unaffiliated networks for each method of authorization that the cardholder could use for 
transactions (i.e., two signature and/or two PIN" networks). 

The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act also created two new independent regulatory bodies 
in the Financial Reserve System. The Bureau will have significant authority to regulate, consumer financial 
products, including consumer credit, deposit, payment, and similar products, although it is not clear whether and! 
or to what extent the Bureau will be authorized to regulate broader aspects of payment card network operations. 
The Council is tasked. among other responsibilities, with identifying 'isystemically important" payment, clearing 
and settlement systems that will be subject to new regulation, supervision and examination requirements, 
although it is not clear whether MasterCard would be deemed "systemically important" under the applicable 
statutory standard. If MasterCard were deemed "systemically impOltant," it could be subject to new risk 
management regulations relating to its payment, clearing, and settlement activities. New regulations could 
address areas such as risk management policies and procedures; collateral requirements; participant default 
policies and procedures; the ability to complete timely clearing and settlement of financial transactions; and 
capital and financial resource requirements. Also, a "systemically importrult" payment system could be required 
to obtain prior approval from the U.S. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or another federal 
agency for changes to its system rules, procedures or operations that could materially affect the level of risk 
presented by that payment system. These developments or actions could increase the cost of operating our 
business and may make payment card transactions less attractive to card issuers, as well as consumers. This 
could result in a reduction in our payments volume and revenues. 

If issuers, acquirers andlor merchants modify their business operations or otherwise take actions in response 
to this legislation which have the result of reducing the number of debit transactions we process or the network 
fees we collect. the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act could have a material adverse impact on 
our revenue, om' prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Failure by our customers or by us to adjust our strategies successfully to compete in the new 
environment would increase this impact. 
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New regulations in one jurisdiction or of one product may lead to new regulntions in other jurisdictions 
or of other products. 

Regulators around the world increasingly look at each other's approaches to the regulation of the payments 
and other industries. Consequently, a development in anyone country, state or region may influence regulatory 
approaches in other countries, states or regions. This includes the interpretation of the recent Wall Street Reform 
and Consumer Protection Act and other regulatory and legislative activity relating to interchange. SimiJarly, new 
laws and regulations in a country, state or region involving one product may cause lawmakers there to extend the 
regulations to another product. For example, regulations like those affecting debit payments could lead to 
regulations affecting credit and general use prepaid cards. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks
Government actions may prevent us from competing effectively against providers of domestic payments services 
in certain countries which could adversely affect our ability to maintain or increase our revenues" in this Part I, 
Item lAo 

As a result, the risks created by anyone new law or regulation are magnified by the potential they have to be 
replicated, affecting our business in another place or involving another product. These include matters like 
interchange rates, network standards and network exclusivity and routing agreements. Conversely, if widely 
varying regulations come into existence worldwide, we may have difficulty adjusting Qur products, services, fees 
and other important aspects of our business, with the same effect. Either of these eventualities could materially 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Government actions may prevent llS from competing effectively against providers of domestic paymellts 
services in certain countries, which could adversely affect our ability to maintain or increase our revenues. 

Governments in certain countries, such as Russia, Ukraine and India, have acted, or could act, to provide 
resources or protection to selected national payment card and processing providers. These governments may take 
this action to support these providers. They may also take this action to displace us from, prevent us from 
entering into, or substantially restrict us from participating in, particular geographies. As an example, 
governments in certain countries are considering, or may consider, regulatory requirements that mandate 
processing of domestic payments either entirely in that country or by only domestic companies. Such a 
development would prevent us from utilizing our global processing capabilities for customers. Ow' efforts to 
effect change in these countries may not succeed. This could adversely affect our ability to maintain or increase 
our revenues and extend our global brand. 

The payments industry is the subject of increasing global regulatory foclls, which may result ill the 
imposition of costly new compliance burdens on us and our customers and may lead to increased costs alld 
decreased transaction volumes and revenues. 

We are subject to regulations that affect the payment industry in the many countries in which our cards are 
used. In particular. many of our customers are subject to regulations applicable to banks and other financial 
institutions in the United States and abroad, and, consequently, MasterCard is at times affected by such 
regulations. Regulation of the payments industry, including regulations applicable to us and our customers, has 
increased significantly in the last several years. See "Business-Government Regulation" in Part I, Item 1 for a 
detailed description of such regulation and related legislation. In addition to the Wall Street Refonn and 
Consumer Protection Act, examples include: 

• Anti-money laundering regulation, such as Section 352(a) of the USA PATRIOr Act in the United 
States and an anti-money laundering law enacted in India (which imposes requirements on payment 
systems, such as MasterCard's, and their customers). 

• Payment systems regulation, such as the Indian Payments and Settlement Systems Act 2007, under 
which payment system operators, such as MasterCard, operate under the authority and broad oversight 
of the Reserve Bank of India. Increased regulatory focus in this area could result in additional 
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obligations or restrictions with respect to the types of products that we may offer to consumers, the 
countries in which our cards may be used and the types of cardholders and merchants who can obtain or 
accept our cards. 

Regulations imposed by OFAC, which impose restrictions on financial transactions with certain 
countries and with persons and entities included on the SDN List. It is possible that transactions 
involving persons or entities on the SDN List may be processed through our payment system, and that 
our reputation may suffer due to some of our financial institutions' association with these countries or 
the existence of any such transactions, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the value of 
our stock. 

• Legislation, such as that enacted by certain U.S. states, regarding investments by pension funds and 
other retirement systems in companies that have business activities or contacts with countries that have 
been identified as terrorist-sponsoring states. As a result of such legislation, pension funds and other 
retirement systems may be subject to reporting requirements with respect to investments in companies 
such as ours or may be subject to limits or prohibitions with respect to those investments that may 
materially and adversely affect our stock price. 

Issuer practices legislation and regulation, including the Credit CARD Act (which is being implemented 
through regulations issued by tlle Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve System), 
which are having a significant impact on the disclosures made by our customers and on our customers' 
account terms and business practices by. among other things, making it more difficult for credit card 
issuers to price credit cards for future credit risk and significantly affecting the pricing, credit allocation, 
and business models of most major credit card issuers. Additional regulations include regulations by the 
Board of Governors regulating overdraft fees imposed in connection with A TIll and debit card 
transactions. 

• Regulation of Internet transactions, including legislation enacted by the U.S. Congress (and applicable 
to payment system participants, including MasterCard and our customers in the United States) requiring 
the coding and blocking of payments for certain types of Illtemet gambling transactions, as well as 
various additional legislative and regulatory activities with respect to Internet transactions which are 
being considered in the United States. 

Increased regulatory focus on us, such as in connection with the matters discussed above, may result in 
costly compliance burdens and/or may otherwise increase our costs, which could materially and adversely impact 
our financial performance. Similarly, increased regulatory focus on our customers may cause such customers to 
reduce the volume of transactions processed through our systems, which could reduce our revenues materially 
and adversely impact our financial performance. FinaBy. failure to comply with the laws and regulations 
discussed above to which we are subject could result in fines, sanctions or other penalties. which could materiaIly 
and adversely affect our results of operations and overall business, as well as have an impact on our reputation. 

Regulation in the areas of cOllsumer privacy, data use and/or security could decrease the number of 
payment cards issued and could increase our costs. 

We and our customers are also subject to regulations related to privacy and data protection and information 
security in the jurisdictions in which we do business, and we and our customers could be negatively impacted by 
these regulations. Recently, these topics have received heightened legislative and regulatory focus in the United 
States (at both the federal and state level), in Europe and in other jurisdictions around the world. Regulation of 
privacy and data protection and information security in these and other jurisdictions may increase the costs of our 
customers to issue payment cards, which may, in turn, decrease the number of our cards that they issue. Any 
additional regUlations in these areas may also increase our costs to comply with such regulations, which could 
materially and adversely affect OUf profitability. Finally. failure to comply with the privacy and data protection 
and security laws and regulations to which we are subject could result in fines, sanctions or other penalties, 
which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and overall business, as well as have an 
impact on our reputation. 
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If the approval of the settlements of our currency conversion cases is undermined by an appeal and we 
are unsuccessful in any of our various lawsuits relating to our currency conversion practices, ollr business 
may be materially and adversely affected. 

We generate significant revenue from processing cross-border currency transactions for customers. 
However. we are defendants in several state and federal lawsuits alleging that our currency conversion practices 
are deceptive, anti-competitive or otherwise unlawful. In July 2006, MasterCard and other defendants in federal 
class actions related to these matters entered into agreements to settle or otherwise dispose of such matters. 
Pursuant to the settlement agreements, MasterCard has paid $72 million to be used for the defendants' settlement 
fund to settle the federal actions and $13 million to settle state cases. While the federal comt has granted flnal 
approval of the settlement agreements, the settlements are subject to appeals. If an appeal is filed and we are 
unsuccessful in that appellate proceeding, the settlement agreements will terminate. If that occurs, and we are 
unsuccessful in defending against these lawsuits or the state currency conversion cases, we may have to pay 
restitution to cardholders who make claims that they used their cards in another country, or may be required to 
modify our currency conversion practices. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated 
fmandal statements included in Part n, Item 8. 

If we determine in the futllre that we are required to establish reserves or we incur liabilities for any 
litigation that has been or may be brought against us, our results 0/ operations, cash flow alld financial 
condition could be materially alld adversely affected. 

Except as discussed in Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated flnancial statements 
included in Part n, Item 8, we have not established reserves for any of the material legal proceedings in which we 
are currently involved and we are unable to estimate at this time the amount of charges, if any, that may be 
required to provide reserves for these matters in the future. We may detennine in the future that a charge for all 
or a portion of any of our legal proceedings is required, including charges related to legal fees. In addition, we 
may be required to record an additional charge if we incur liabilities in excess of reserves that we have 
previously recorded. Such charges, particularly in the event we may be found liable in a large class-action 
lawsuit or on the basis of an antitrust claim entitling the plaintiff to treble damages or under which we were 
jointly and severally liable, could be significant and could material1y and adversely affect our results of 
operations, cash flow and financial condition, or, in certain circumstances, even cause us to become insolvent. 
See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part n, 
Item 8. 

Limitations 011 our business and other penalties resulting from litigation or litigation settlements may 
materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability. 

As a result of the settlement agreement in connection with tlle U.S. merchant lawsuit in 2003, merchants 
have the right to reject our debit cards in the United States while stin accepting other MasterCard-branded cards, 
and vice versa. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part II, Item 8. These limitations and any future limitations on our business resulting from litigation 
or litigation settlements could reduce the volume of business that we do with our customers, which may 
materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability. 

Potential changes ill the tax laws applicable to us could materially increase our tax payments. 

Potential changes in existing tax laws, such as recent proposals for fundamental tax refonn in the United 
States, including the treatment of earnings of controlled foreign corporations, may impact our effective tax rate. 
See also Note 21 (Income Tax) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part n, Item 8. 
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Business Risks 

Our revenues, operating results, prospects for /llhlre growth and overall business may suffer because of 
substantial and increasingly intense competition worldwide ill the global payments industry. 

The global payments industry is highly competitive. Our payment programs compete against all forms of 
payment, including paper-based transactions (principally cash and checks), card-based systems, including credit, 
charge, debit, prepaid, private-label and other types of general purpose and limited use cards, and electronic 
transactions such as wire transfers and Automated Clearing House payments. Within the global general purpose 
payment card industry, we face substantial and increasingly intense competition worldwide from systems such as 
Visa, American Express, Discover and JCB, among others. Visa has significantly greater volQ.I1le than we do, and 
has greater scale and market share, as well as strong brand recognition, which provides significant competitive 
advantages. Moreover, some of our traditional competitors, as well as alternative payment service providers, may 
have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have, may offer a wider range of programs and 
services than we offer or may use more effective advertising and marketing strategies to achieve broader brand 
recognition or merchant acceptance than we have. Our ability to compete may also be affected by the outcomes 
of litigation, regulatory proceedings and legislative activity. 

Celtain of our competitors. including American Express, Discover. private-label card networks and certain 
alternative payments systems, operate end-to-end payments systems with direct connections to both merchants 
and consumers, without involving intermediades. These competitors seek to derive competitive advantages from 
their business models. For example. operators of end-to-end payments systems tend to have greater control over 
consumer and merchant customer service than operators of four party payments systems such as ours, in which 
we must rely on our issuing and acquiring financial institution customers. In addition, tllese competitors have not 
attracted the same level of legal or regulatory scrutiny of their pricing and business practices as have operators of 
four-party payments systems such as OUIS. Certain competitors may also hold competitive advantages as a result 
of their organizational structures. See "Business-Competition" in Part I, Item 1. 

If we are not able to differentiate ourselves from our competitors, drive value for our customers andlor 
effectively align our resources with our goals and objectives, we may not be able to compete effectively against 
these threats. Our competitors may also more effectively introduce their own innovative programs and services 
that adversely impact our growth. Our customers can also develop their own competitive services. As a result, 
our revenue or profitability could decline. We also compete against new entrants that have developed alternative 
payment systems, e-Cammerce payment systems and payment systems for mobile devices. A number of these 
new entrants rely principally on the Internet to support their services and may enjoy lower costs than we do, 
which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. 

We also expect that there may be other changes in the competitive landscape in the future, including: 

Parties that process our transactions in certain countries may try to eliminate our position as an 
intermediary in the payment process. For example, merchants could process transactions directly with 
issuers, or processors could process transactions directly between issuers and acquirers. Large scale 
consolidation within processors could result in these processors developing bilateral agreements or in 
some cases processing the entire transaction on their own network, thereby dis-intermediating 
MasterCard. 

Rapid and significant technological changes could occur, resulting in new and innovative payment 
programs that could place us at a competitive disadvantage and that could reduce the use of MasterCard
branded cards. 

Competitors, customers and other industry participants may develop products that compete with or 
replace value-added services we currently provide to support our transaction processing which could, if 
significant numbers of cardholders choose to use them, replace our own processing services or could 
force us to change our pricing or practices for these services. 
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• Participants in the payments industry may merge, create Jomt ventures or fonn other business 
combinations that may strengthen their existing business services or create new payment services that 
compete with our services. 

Our failure to compete effectively against any of the foregoing competitive threats could materially and 
adversely affect our revenues, operating results, prospects for future growth and overall business. 

We face increasingly intense competitive pressure on the prices we cllarge our customers, which may 
materially and adversely affect our business, revenue and profitability. 

We generate revenue from the fees that we charge our customers for providing transaction processing and 
other payment-related services and from assessments on the dollar volume of activity on cards carrying ow· 
brands. In order to increase transaction volumes, enter new markets and expand our card base, we seek to enter 
into business agreements with customers through which we offer incentives, pricing discounts and other support 
to customers that issue and promote our cards. In order to stay competitive, we may have to increase the amount 
of these incentives and pricing discounts. Over the past several years, we have experienced continued pricing 
pressure. The demand from our customers for better pricing arrangements and greater rebates and incentives 
moderates our growth. We may not be able to continue our expansion strategy to process additional transaction 
volumes or to provide additional services to our customers at levels sufficient to compensate for such lower fees 
or increased costs in the future, which could materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability. In 
addition, increased pressure on prices enhances the importance of cost containment and productivity initiatives in 
areas other than those relating to customer incentives. We may not succeed in these efforts. 

In the future, we may not be able to enter into agreements with our customers on tenns that we consider 
favorable, and we may be required to modify existing agreements in order to maintain relationships and to 
compete with others in the industry. Some of our competitors are larger and have greater financial resources than 
we do and accordingly may be able to charge lower prices to our customers. In addition, to the extent that we 
offer discounts or incentives under such agreements, we will need to further increase transaction volumes or the 
amount of services provided thereunder in order to benefit incrementally from such agreements and to increase 
revenue and profit, and we may not be successful in doing so, particularly in the current regulatory environment. 
Our customers also may implement cost reduction initiatives that reduce or eliminate payment card marketing or 
increase requests for greater incentives or greater cost stability. Furthelmore, a number of customers from which 
we eam substantial revenue are principally aligned with one of our competitors. A significant loss of our existing 
revenue or transaction volumes from these customers could have a materiai adverse impact on our business. 

Additional consolidation or other changes in or affecting tile ballking industry could result in a loss of 
business for MasterCard alld create pressure 011 the fees we charge ollr customers~ resulting in lower prices 
QJuJ/or more favorable terms for Ollr customers, which may materially and adversely affect Ollr revenue and 
profitability. 

Over the last several years, the banking industry has undergone substantial, accelerated consolidation, and 
we expect some consolidation to continue in the future. Recent consolidations have included customers with a 
substantial MasterCard portfolio being acquired by institutions with a strong relationship with a competitor. 
Significant ongoing consolidation in the banking industry may result in the substantial loss of business for 
MasterCard, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and prospects. In addition, one or more 
of our customers could seek to merge with, or acquire, one of our competitors, and any such transaction could 
also have a material adverse impact on our business and prospects. 

The continued consolidation in the banking industry, whether as a result of an acquisition of a substantial 
MasterCard portfolio by an institution with a strong relationship with a competitor 'or the combination of two 
institutions with which MasterCard has a strong relationship, would also produce a smaller number of large 
customers, which could increase the bargaining power of our customers. This consolidation could lead to lower 
prices and/or more favorable terms for our customers. Any such lower prices and/or more favorable terms could 
materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability. 
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Our revenue couldfluctuate and decrease significantly in the longer term if we lose a signifICant portion 
of bllsiness from one or more of our largest significant customers, which could have a material adverse Iongw 

term impact on our business. 

Most of our customer relationships are not exc1usive and in certain circumstances may be telIDinated by our 
customers. Our customers can reassess their commitments to us at any time in the future and/or develop their 
own competitive services. Accordingly, our business agreements with customers may not reduce the risk inherent 
in our business that customers may terminate their relationships with us in favor of relationships with our 
competitors, or for other reasons, or might not meet their contractual obligations to us. 

In addition, a significant portion of our revenue is concentrated among our five largest customers. In 2010, 
the net revenues from these customers represented an aggregate of approximately $1.5 billion, or 28%, of total 
revenue. Loss of business from any of our large customers could have a material adverse impact on our business. 

Merchants are increasingly focused on the costs of accepting card~based forms of payment, which may 
lead to additional litigation and regulatory proceedings and may illcrease the costs of our illcelltive programs, 
which could materially and adversely affect our profitability. 

We rely on merchants and their relationships with our customers to expand the acceptance of our cards. 
Consolidation in the retail industry is producing a set of larger merchants with increasingly global scope. We 
believe that these merchants are having a significant impact on all participants in the global payments industry, 
including MasterCard. Some large merchants are supporting many of the legal, regulatory and legislative 
chalIenges to interchange fees that MasterCard is now defending, since interchange fees represent a significant 
component of the costs that merchants pay to accept payment cards. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory 
Risks-Interchange fees and related practices have been receiving significant and increasingly intense legal, 
regulatory and legislative scrutiny wor1dwide, and the resulting decisions, regulations and legislation may have a 
material adverse impact on aUf revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business, financial 
condition and results of operations." Also see "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks-The Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act may have a material adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for 
future growth and our overall business, financial condition and results of operations." The increasing focus of 
merchants on the costs of accepting various forms of payment may lead to additional litigation and regulatory 
proceedings. 

Merchants are also able to negotiate incentives from us and pricing concessions from our customers as a 
condition to accepting our payment cards. As merchants consolidate and become even larger, we may have to 
increase the amount of incentives that we provide to certain merchants, which could materially and adversely 
affect our revenues and profitability. Competitive and regulatory pressures on pricing could make it difficult to 
offset the costs of these incentives. 

Certaill customers have exclusive, or nearly exclusive, relationships with our competitors to issue 
payment cards, and these relationships may adversely affect our ability to maintain or increase our revenUes 
and may have a material adverse impact on our business. 

Certain customers have exclusive, or nearly-exclusive, relationships with our competitors to issue payment 
cards, and these relationships may make it difficult or cost-prohibitive for us to do significant amounts of 
business with them to increase our revenues. In addition, these customers may be more successful and may grow 
faster than the customers that primarily issue aUf cards, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. 
Furthennore, we eam substantial revenue from customers with exclusive or nearly-exclusive relationships with 
our competitors. Such r~lationships could provide advantages to the customers to shift business from MasterCard 
to the competitors with which they are principally aligned. A significant loss of our existing revenue or 
transaction volumes from these customers could have a material adverse impact on our business. 
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We depend significantly on our relationships with our customers to manage our payment system. If we 
are unable to maintain those relationships, or if our customers are unable to maintain their relationships with 
cardholders or merchants that accept our cards for payment, our business may be materially and adversely 
affected. 

We are, and will continue to be, significantly dependent on our relationships with our issuers and acquirers 
and their further relationships with cardholders and merchants to support our programs and services. We do not 
issue cards, extend credit to cardholders or determine the interest rates (if applicable) or other fees charged to 
cardholders using cards that carry our brands. Each issuer determines these and most other competitive card 
features. In addition, we do not establish the discount rate that merchants are charged for card acceptance, which 
is the responsibility of our acquiring customers. As a result, our business significantly depends on the continued 
success and competitiveness of our issuing and acquiring customers and the strength of our relationships with 
them. In turn, our customers' success depends on a variety of factors over which we have little or no influence. If 
our customers become financially unstable, we may lose revenue or we may be exposed to settlement risk as 
described below. 

With the exception of the United States and a select number of other jurisdictions, most in-country (as 
opposed to cross-border) transactions conducted using MasterCard, Maestro and Cirrus cards are autll.orized, 
cleared and settled by our customers or other processors without involving our central processing systems. 
Because we do not provide domestic processing services in these countries and do not, as described above, have 
direct relationships with cardholders or merchants, we depend on our close working relationships with our 
customers to effectively manage our brands~ and tll.e perception of our payment system among regulators, 
merchants and consumers in these countries. From time to time, our customers may take actions that we do not 
believe to be in the best interests of our payment system overall, which may materially and adversely impact our 
business. If our customers' actions cause significant negative perception of the global payments industry or our 
brands, cardholders may reduce the usage of our programs, which could reduce our reveilUes and profitability. 

In addition, our competitors may process a greater percentage of domestic transactions in jurisdictions 
outside the United States than we do. As a result, our inability to control the end-to-end processing on cards 
carrying our brands in many markets may put us at a competitive disadvantage by limiting our ability to maintain 
transaction integrity or introduce value-added programs and services that are dependent upon us processing the 
underlying transactions. 

We rely on the continuing expansion of merchant acceptance of our brands and programs. Although our 
business strategy is to invest in strengthening our brands and expanding our acceptance network, there can be no 
guarantee that our efforts in these areas will continue to be successful. If the rate of merchant acceptance growth 
slows or reverses itself, our business could suffer. 

Our business may be materially and adversely affected by the marketplace's perception of our brands and 
reputatio1l. 

Our brands and their attributes are key assets of our business. The ability to attract and retain cardholders to 
our branded products depends highly upon the external perception of our company and industry. Our business 
may be affected by actions taken by our customers that impact the perception of our brands. From time to time, 
our customers may take actions that we do not believe to be in the best interests of our brands, such as creditor 
practices that may be viewed as "predatory." Moreover, adverse developments with respect to our industry or the 
industries of our customers may also, by association, impair our reputation, or result in greater regulatory or 
legislative scrutiny. Social media channels can also cause rapid, widespread reputational harm to our brands. 
Such perception and damage to our reputation could have a material and adverse effect to our business. 
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Ifwe are unable to grow our debit business, particularly in the United States, we may fail to maintain and 
increase our revenue growth. 

In recent years, industry-wide signature-based and PIN-based debit transactions have grown more rapidly 
than credit or charge transactions. However, in the United States, transactions involving our brands account for a 
smaller share of all signature-based debit transactions than they do credit or charge transactions. In addition, 
many of our competitors process a greater number of PIN-based debit transactions at the point of sale than we do, 
since our Maestro brand has relatively low penetration in the United States. We may not be able to increase our 
penetration for debit transactions in the United States since many of our competitors have long-standing and 
strong positions (although this could be impacted by the Federal Reserve's implementation of network 
exclusivity rules under the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act). We may also be impacted 
adversely by the tendency among U.S. consumers and merchants to migrate from signature-based debit 
transactions to PIN-based transactions because we generally earn less revenue from the latter types of 
transactions. In addition, PIN-based transactions are more likely to be processed by other ATM/debit 
point-of-sale networks than by us. Any of these factors may inhibit the growth of our debit business, which could 
materially and adversely affect our revenues and overall prospects for future growth. 

Unprecedented global economic events in financial markets around the world have directly and adversely 
affected, and may conmllle to affect, many of Ollr customers, merchants that accept our brands alld 
cardholders who use our brands, which could result in a material and adverse impact on Ollr prospects, 
growth, profitability, revenue and overall business. 

The competitive and evolving nature of the global payments indusuy provides both challenges to and 
opportunities for the continued growth of our business. Unprecedented events which began during 2008 impacted 
the fmancial markets around the world, including continued distress in the credit environment, continued equity 
market volatility and additional government intervention. In particular. the economies of the United States and 
the United Kingdom were significantly impacted by this economic turmoi1, and it has also impacted other 
economies around the world. More recently, European countries including Ponugal, Ireland, Greece and Spain 
have experienced downgrades in sovereign credit ratings by rating agencies, driven by fiscal cha1lenges. Some 
existing customers have been placed in receivership or administration or have a significant amount of their stock 
owned by their governments. Many financial institutions are facing increased regulatory and governmental 
influence) including potential further changes in laws and regulations. Many of our customers) merchants that 
accept our brands and cardholders who use our brands have been directly and adversely impacted. 

MasterCard's financial results may be negatively impacted by actions taken by individual financial 
institutions or by governmental or regulatory bodies in response to the economic crisis and the state of economic 
environments. The severity of the economic environment may accelerate the timing of or increase the impact of 
risks to our financial performance that have historically been present. As a result, our revenue growth has been 
and may be negatively impacted, or we may be impacted, in several ways. See "Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Business Environment" in Part n, Item 7 for a full 
discussion. 

Any of these developments could have a material adverse impact on our prospects, growth, revenue, 
profitability and overall business. 

A decline ill cross-border travel could adversely affect our revenues alld profitability, as a significant 
portion of our revenue is generated from cross-border transactions. 

We process substantially all cross-border transactions using MasterCard, Maestro and Cirrus-branded cards 
and generate a significant amount of revenue from cross-border volume fees and transaction processing fees. 
Revenue from processing cross-border and cUlTency conversion transactions for our customers fluctuates with 
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cross-border travel and our customers' need for transactions to be converted into their base currency. Cross
border travel may be adversely affected by world geopolitical, economic, weather and other conditions. These 
include the threat of terrorism and outbreaks of flu (such as HINl), viruses (such as SARS) and other diseases. 
Any such decline in cross-border trave] could adversely affect ow' revenues and profitability. 

General economic and global political conditions may adversely affect trends ilz conSllmer spending, 
which may materially and adversely impact our revenue alld profitability. 

The global payments industry depends heavily upon the overaIllevel of consumer, business and government 
spending. General economic conditions (such as unemployment, housing and changes in interest rates) and other 
political conditions (such as devaluation of currencies and government restrictions on consumer spending) in key 
countries in which we operate may adversely affect our financial perrormance by reducing the number or average 
purchase amount of transactions involving payment cards carrying our brands. Also, as we are principally based 
in the United States, a negative perception of the United States could impact the perception of our company, 
which could adversely affect our business prospects and growth. 

As a guarantor of certain obligations o/principal members alld affiliate debit licensees, we are exposed to 
risk of loss or illiquidity if any of ollr customers default on their MasterCard, Cirrus or Maestro settlemellt 
obligations. 

We may incur liability in connection with transaction settlements if an issuer or acquirer fails to fund its 
daily settlement obligations due to technical problems, liquidity shortfalls, insolvency or other reasons. If a 
principal member or affiliate debit licensee of MasterCard International is unable to fulfill its settlement 
obligations to other customers, we may bear the loss even if we do not process the transaction. In addition, 
although we are not obligated to do so, we may elect to keep merchants whole if an acquirer defaults on its 
merchant payment obligations. Our estimated MasterCard-branded gross legal settlement exposure, which is 
calculated using the average daily card charges made during the quarter multipJied by the estimated number of 
days to settle, was approximately $28.5 billion as of December 31, 2010. We have a revolving credit facility in 
the amount of $2.75 billion which could be used for general corporate purposes, including to provide liquidity in 
the event of one or more settlement failures by our customers. In the event that MasterCard International effects a 
payment on behalf of a failed member, MasterCard International may seek an assignment of the underlying 
receivables from its members. Subject to approval by Ollr Board of Directors, members may be charged for the 
amount of any settlement loss incurred during these ordinary course activities of MasterCard. While we believe 
that we have sufficient liquidity to cover a settlement failure by any of OUf largest customers on their peak day, 
concurrent settlement failures of more than one of our largest customers or of several of our smaller customers 
may exceed our available resources and could materially and adversely affect our business and financial 
condition. In addition, even if we have sufficient liquidity to cover a settlement failure, we may not be able to 
recover the cost of such a payment and may therefore be exposed to significant losses, which could materially 
and adversely affect our results of operations. cash flow and financial condition. Moreover, during 2010, many of 
our financial institution customers continued to be directly and adversely impacted by the unprecedented events 
in the financial markets which began during 2008 and the economic turmoil that has ensued around the world. 
These events present increased risk that we may have to perform under aUf settlement guarantees. For more 
information on our settlement exposure as of December 31, 2010, see Note 23 (Settlement and Other Risk 
Management) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8. 

If our transaction processing systems are disrupted or we are ullable to process transactions efficiently or 
at all, our revenue or profitability would he materially reduced. 

Our transaction processing systems may experience service interruptions as a result of process or other 
technology malfunction, fire, natural or man-made disasters, power loss, disruptions in long distance or local 
telecommunications access, fraud, terrorism, accident or other catastrophic events. A disaster or other problem at 
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our primary and/or back-up facilities or our other owned or leased facilities could interrupt our services. Our 
visibility in the global payments industry may also attract terrorists, activists or hackers to attack our facilities or 
systems. leading to service interruptions. increased costs or data security compromises. Additionally, we rely on 
third-party service providers for the timely transmission of information across our global data transportation 
network. Inadequate infrastrucrnre in lesser developed markets could also result in service disruptions, which 
could impact our ability to do business in those markets. If one of our service providers fails to provide the 
communications capacity or services we require. as a result of natural disaster, operational disruption, terrorism 
or any other reason, the failure could interrupt our services. adversely affect the perception of our brands' 
reliability and materially reduce our revenue or profitability. 

Account data breaches involving card data stored by us or third parties could adversely affect our 
reputation and revenue. 

We, our customers, merchants, and other third parties store cardholder account and other infonnation in 
connection with payment cards bearing our brands. In addition, our customers may sponsor third-party 
processors to process transactions generated by cards carrying our brands and merchants may use third parties to 
provide services related to card \!Se. A breach of the systems on which sensitive cardholder data and account 
information are stored could lead to fraudulent activity involving cards carrying our brands, damage the 
reputation of our brands and lead to claims against us. In recent years, there have been several high-profile 
account data compromise events involving merchants and third party payment processors that process, store or 
transmit payment card data, which affected millions of MasterCard, Visa, Discover and American Express 
cardholders. As a result of such data security breaches, we may be subject to lawsuits involving payment cards 
canying our brands. While most of these lawsuits do not involve direct claims against us, in certain 
circumstances, we could be exposed to damage claims, which, if upheld, could material1y and adversely affect 
our profitability. Any damage to our reputation or that of our brands resulting from an account data breach could 
decrease the use and acceptance of our cards, which in tum could have a material adverse impact on our 
transaction volumes, revenue and prospects for future growth, or increase our costs by leading to additional 
regulatory burdens being imposed upon us. 

An increase in fraudulent activity using our cards could lead to reputational damage to our brands and 
could reduce the use and acceptance of our cards. 

Criminrus are using increasingly sophisticated methods to capture cardholder account information to engage 
in illegal activities such as counterfeit or other fraud. As outsourcing and specialization become a more 
acceptable way of doing business in the payments industry, there are more third parties involved in processing 
transactions using our cards. Increased fraud levels involving our cards could lead to regulatory intervention, 
such as mandatory card re-issuance, adoption of new technologies or enhanced security requirements, as well as 
damage to our reputation and financial damage, which could reduce the use and acceptance of our cards or 
increase our compliance costs, and thereby have a material adverse impact on our business. 

If we are not able to keep pace with the rapid technological developments ill our industry to provide 
cllstomers, merchants alld cardholders with new alld innovative payme1lt programs alld services, the llse of 
our cards could decline, which could reduce our revenue and income or limit our future growtlt. 

The payment card industry is subject to rapid and significant technological changes. including continuing 
developments of technologies in the areas of smart cards, radio frequency and proximity payment devices (such 
as contactJess cards), electronic commerce and mobile commerce, among otllers. We cannot predict the effect of 
technological changes on our business. We rely in part on third parties, including some of our competitors and 
potential competitors, for the development of and access to new technologies. We expect that new services and 
teclmologies applicable to the payments industry will continue to emerge, and these new services and 
technologies may be superior to, or render obsolete, the technologies we currently use in our card programs and 
services. In addition, our abiHty to adopt new services and teclmologies that we develop may be inhibited by a 
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need for industry-wide standards, by resistance from customers or merchants to such changes by the complexity 
of our systems or by intellectual property rights of third parties. We have received. and we may in the future 
receive, notices or inquiries from other companies suggesting that we may be infringing a pre-existing patent or 
that we need to license use of their patents to avoid infringement. Such notices may, among other things, threaten 
litigation against us. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to develop or adapt to technological 
changes and evolving industry standards. 

Adverse currency fiuchlations and foreign exchange controls could decrease revenue we receive from our 
operations outside of the United States. • 

During 2010, approximately 58.4% of our revenue was generated from activities outside the United States. 
Some of the revenue we generate outside the United States is subject to unpredictab1e currency fluctuations 
(including devaluations of cun·encies) where the values of other q.llTencies change relative to the U.S. dollar. 
Resulting exchange gains and Josses are included in our net income. Our risk management activities provide 
protection with respect to adverse changes in the value of only a limited number of currencies and are based on 
estimates of exposures to these currencies. Furthermore, we may become subject to exchange control regulations 
that might restrict or prohibit the conversion of our other revenue currencies into U.S. dollars. The occurrence of 
any of these factors could decrease the value of revenues we receive from our international operations and have a 
material adverse impact on our business. 

If we do not adequately manage the changes necessary to implement our strategy, our results of 
operations may suffer. 

MasterCard continues to experience a significant amount of changes associated with items related to our 
strategy, including changes in technology, the marketplace, our customers and our products. In particular, our 
expansion into new businesses could result in unanticipated or unfamiliar issues which may be difficult to 
manage. If not adequately managed, these changes could result in missed opportunities for the business or could 
impact the effectiveness of our organization's execution of its strategy. As we manage these changes, any 
difficulty in retaining or attracting key management and employees could result in inadequate depth of 
institutional knowledge or skill sets necessary for the organization's effective execution of its strategy. 

Acquisitions or strategic investments could disrupt our business and harm our financial condition or 
reputation. 

Although we may continue to make strategic acquisitions of. or acquire interests in joint ventures or other 
entities related to, complementary businesses, products or technologies, we may not be able to successfully 
partner with or integrate any such acquired businesses, products or technologies. In addition, the integration of 
any acquisition or investment (including efforts related to an acquisition of an interest in a joint venture or other 
entity) may divert management's time and resources from our core business and disrupt our operations. 
Moreover. we may spend time and money on projects that do not increase our revenue. To the extent we pay the 
purchase price of any acquisition in cash, it would reduce our cash reserves available to us for other uses, and to 
the extent the purchase price is paid with our stock, it could be dilutive to our stockholders. Furthermore, we may 
not be able to successfully finance the business fonowing the acquisition as a result of costs of operations, 
including any litigation risk which may be inherited from the acquisition. Any of these acquisitions could also 
result in control issues which could negatively affect our reputation. Althougb we periodically evaluate potential 
acquisitions of businesses, products and technologies and anticipate continuing to make these evaluations, we 
cannot guarantee that we will be able to execute and integrate any such acquisitions. 
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Risks Related to our Class A Common Stock and Governance Structure 

Future sales of our shares of Class A commoll stock could depress the market price of our Class A 
COIlUllon stock. 

The market price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares 
in the market or the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may 
occur, also might make it more difficult for us or our stockholders to sell equity securities in the future. As of 
February 16, 2011, we bad 123,656,120 outstanding shares of Class A common stock, of which 13,108,364 
sbares were owned by The MasterCard Foundation (the ''Foundation''). Under the terms of tbe donation, the 
Foundation became able to sen its shares of our Class A common stock commencing on the fourth anniversary of 
the consummation of the IPO in May 2006 to the extent necessary to comply with charitable disbursement 
requirements. Under Canadian tax law, the Foundation is generally required each year to disburse at least 3.5% 
of its assets not used in administration of the Foundation in qualified charitable disbursements. 'However, the 
Foundation has obtained permission from the Canadian tax authorities to defer its annual disbursement 
requirement for up to ten years and meet its total deferred disbursement obligations at the end of the ten-year 
period. Despite this permission to defer annual disbursements, the Foundation may decide to meet its 
disbursement obligations on an annual basis or to settle previously accumulated obligations during any given 
year. In addition, the FOlmdation will be permitted to sell all of the remaining shares held by it starting twenty 
years and eleven months after the consummation of the IPO. 

Th,e market price of OIlr common stock could be volatile. 

Securities markets wor1dwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations and have experienced 
increased volatility in connection with recent unpredictable economic events around the world. This market 
volatility, as well as the factors listed below, among others, could affect the market price of our common stock: 

the continuation of unprecedented economic events around the world in financial markets as well as 
political conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating 
perfonnance of our competitors; 

. qU811erly variations in our results of operations or the results of operations of our competitors; 

changes in earning estimates, investors' perceptions, recommendations by securities analysts or our 
failure to achieve analysts' earning estimates; 

the announcement of new products or service enhancements by us or our competitors; 

announcements related to litigation, regulation or legislative activity; 

• potential acquisitions by us of other companies; and 

developments in our industry. 

There are terms in Ollr charter documellts and under Delaware law that could be considered anti
takeover provisions or could have an impact 011 a change ill controL 

Provisions contained in our amended and restated celtificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law 
could delay or prevent entirely a merger or acquisition that our stockholders consider favorable. These provisions 
may also discourage acquisition proposals or have the effect of delaying or preventing entirely a change in 
control, which could hann our stock price. For example, subject to limited exceptions, our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation prohibits any person from beneficially owning more than 15% of any of the Class A 
common stock or any other dass or series of our stock with general voting power, or more than 15% of our total 
voting power. Further, except in limited circumstances, no member or former member of MasterCard 
International, or any operator, member or licensee of any competing general purpose payment card system, or 
any affiliate of any such person, may beneficially own any share of Class A common stock or any other class or 
series of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. In addition, 

our stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors; 
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• holders of our Class A common stock are not entitled to act by written consent; 

our stockholders must provide timely notice for any stockholder proposals and director nominations; 

• a vote of 80% or more of all of the outstanding shares of our stock then entitled to vote is required for 
stockholders to amend any provision of our bylaws; 

• our board of directors is divided into three classes, with approximately one~third of our directors elected 
each year (although pursuant to our amended certificate of incorporation, classes will be phased out 
through 2013, when each director will be elected each year); 

any representative of a competitor of MasterCard or of the Foundation is disqualified from service on 
our board of directors; 

• prior to OUI 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, our directors may be removed only upon the 
affIrmative vote of at least 80% in voting power of all the shares of stock then entitled to vote at an 
election of directors, voting together as a single class. 

A substantial portion of our voting power is /zeld by the FOllndation, which is restricted from selling 
shares for all extellded period of time and therefore may not have the same incentive to approve a corporate 
action that may be favorable to the other public stockholders. In addition, tlte ownership of Class A common 
stock by the Foundation and the restrictions on transfer could discourage or make more difficult acquisition 
proposals favored by the other holders of the Class A common stock. 

As of February 16, 2011 the Foundation owns 13,108,364 shares of Class A common stock, representing 
approximately 10.6% of our general voting power. The Foundation may not sell or otherwise transfer its shares 
of Class A common stock prior to the date which is twenty years and eleven months following the IPO, except to 
the extent necessary to satisfy its charitable disbursement requirements. The directors of the Foundation are 
required to be independent of us and our members. The ownership of Class A common stock by the Foundation, 
together with the restrictions on transfer, could discourage or make more difficult acquisition proposals favored 
by the other holders of the Class A common stock. In addition, because the Foundation is restricted from seIling 
its shares for an extended period of time, it may not have the same interest in short or medium~term movements 
in our stock price as, or incentive to approve a corporate action that may be favorable to, our other stockholders. 

Our ability to pay regular dividends to Ollr holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock 
is subject to the discretion of our board of directors and will be limited by our ability to generate sufficient 
eanluzgs and cash flows. 

MasterCard intends to pay cash dividends on a quarterly basis on our shares of Class A common stock and 
Class B common stock. Our board of directors may, in its discretion, decrease the level of dividends or 
discontinue the payment of dividends entirely. The payment of dividends is dependent upon our ability to 
generate earnings and cash flows so that we may pay our obligations and expenses and pay dividends to our 
stockholders. However, sufficient cash may not be available to pay such dividends. Payment of future dividends, 
if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our 
financial condition, settlement guarantees, operating results, available cash and current and anticipated cash 
needs. If, as a consequence of these various factors, we are unable to generate sufficient earnings and cash flows 
from our business, we may not be able to make or may have to reduce or eliminate the payment of dividends on 
our shares of Class A COmmon stock and Class B common stock. 

Item lB, Ullresolved Sfilf! Commellts 

Not applicable. 
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Item 2. Properties 

As of December 31, 2010, MasterCard and its subsidiaries owned or leased 104 commercial properties. We 
own our corporate headquarters, a 472,600 square foot building located in Purchase, New York. There is no 
outstanding debt on this building, Our principal technology and operations center is a 528,000 square foot leased 
facility located in O'Fallon, Missouri, known as "Winghaven", The term of the lease on this facility is 10 years, 
which commenced on March I, 2009. For more infonnation on Winghaven, see Note 16 (Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entity) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part n, Item 8. Our leased properties 
in the United States are located in 10 states, Puerto Rico and in the District of Columbia. We also lease and own 
properties in 51 other countries. These facilities primarily consist of corporate and regional offices, as well as our 
operations centers. 

We believe that our facilities are suitable and adequate for the business that we currently conduct. However, 
we periodically review our space requirements and may acquire or lease new space to meet the needs of our 
business, or consolidate and dispose of facilities that are no longer required. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

Refer to Notes 20 (Obligations Under Litigation Settlements) and 22 (Legal and RegulatOlY Proceedings) to 
the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8. 

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved) 
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PART II 

Item 5. Marketfor Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters alld Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities 

Price Range of Common Stock ' 

Our Class A common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "MA". The 
following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sale prices for our Class A common stock for the four 
quarterly periods in each of2010 and 2009, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange. At February 16,2011, 
the Company had 46 stockholders of record for its Class A common stock. We believe that the number of 
beneficial owners is substantially greater than the number of record holders, because a large portion of our 
Class A common stock is held in "street name" by brokers. 

2010 ~ Low 

First Quarter ............................................ . $269.88 $216.43 
Second Quarter .......................................... . 269.22 193.76 
Third Quarter ............................................ . 226.30 191.00 
Fourth Quarter ........................................... . 260.72 21S.00 

2009 High Low 

First Quarter ............................................ . $171.41 $117.06 
Second Quarter .......................................... . 188.77 149.34 
Third Quarter ............................................ . 22S.83 IS8.S7 
Fourth Quarter ........................................... . 2S9.00 196.9S 

There is currently no established public trading market for our Class B common stock. There were 
approximately S35 holders of record of our Class B common stock as of February 16, 2011. 

Dividend Declaration and Policy 

During the years ended December 31, 20!O and 2009, we paid the following quarterly cash dividends per 
share on our Class A common stock and Class B Common stock: 

2010 

First Quarter ................................................... . 
Second Quarter ................................................. . 
Third Quarter .................................................. .. 
Fourth Quarter .................................................. . 

2009 

First Quarter ................................................... . 
Second Quarter ................................................. . 
Third Quarter ................................................... . 
Fourth Quarter .................................................. . 

Dividend per 
Sbare 

$O.IS 
O.1S 
O.1S 
O.1S 

Dividend per 
Share 

$O.IS 
O.lS 
O.1S 
O.1S 

In addition, on February 9, 2011, we paid quarterly cash dividends of $O.1S per share on our Class A 
common stock and Class B common stock for the first quarter of the year ending December 31, 2011. Also, on 
February 8, 2011, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $O.IS per share, payable on 
May 9, 2011 to holders of record on April 8, 2011, of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock for 
the second quarter of the year ending December 31, 2011. 
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Subject to legally available funds. we intend to pay a quarterly cash dividend on our outstanding Class A 
common stock and Class B common stock. However, the declaration and payment of future dividends is at the 
sale discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account various factors. including our financial 
condition, settlement guarantees, operating results, available cash and current and anticipated cash needs. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

In September 2010, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a plan for the Company to repurchase up 
to $1 billion of its Class A common stock in open market transactions. The Company did not repurchase any 
shares under this plan during 2010. As of February 16,2011, the Company had completed the repurchase of 
approximately 0.3 million shares of its Class A common stock at a cost of approximately $75 million. The timing 
and actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors. including legal requirements, price 
and economic and market conditions. 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

The statement of operations data presented below for the years ended December 31. 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, were derived from the audited consolidated 
financial statements of MasterCard Incorporated included in Part IT. Item 8. The statement of operations data 
presented below for the years ended December 31,2007 and 2006, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, were derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Report. 
The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by reference to. "Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial 
statements and Notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8. 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues, net ....... .............................. . 
Total operating expenses ............................ . 
Operating income (loss) .............................. '. 
Net income (loss) attributable to MasterCard ............ . 
Basic eannings (loss) per share ........................ . 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ...................... . 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Total assets ..... ................................... 
Long-term debt . .................................... 
Obligations under litigation settlements, long-tenn ...... ... 
Equity ............................................ 
Cash dividends declared per share ...................... 

2010 

$5,539 
2,787 
2,752 
1,846 

14.10 
14.05 

$8,837 

4 
5,216 

0.60 

Years Ended December 31, 
2009 2008 2007 

(in millions, except per share data) 

$5,099 
2,839 
2,260 
1,463 
1l.19 
1l.16 

$7,470 
22 

263 
3,512 

0.60 

$4,992 $4,068 
5,526 2,959 
(534) 1,108 
(254) 1,086 

(1.94)1 7.981 

(1.94)1 7.961 

$6,476 $6,260 
19 150 

1,023 297 
1,9322 3,0322 

0.60 0.60 

2006 

$3,326 
3,097 

229 
50 

0.371 

0.371 

$5,082 
230 
360 

2,3692 

0.18 

As more fully described in Note 3 (Earnings Per Share) to the consolidated financial statements included in 
Part II, Item 8, on January 1,2009, a new accounting standard was adopted related to EPS which required 
reu'ospective adjustment of EPS for the years ended December 31,2008 and prior. 

2 On January 1, 2009, a new accounting standard was adopted related to non-controlling interests, previously 
referred to as minority interests, which required retrospective adjustment to Equity for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and prior. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis 0/ Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Thefollowing discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidatedfinancial statements and notes 
of MasterCard Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, including MasterCard International Inc01porated 
("MasterCard International») and MasterCard Europe sprl ("MasterCard Europe") (together, "MasterCard" 
or the "Company") included elsewhere in this Report. Percentage changes provided throughout this 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" were calculated on 
amounts rounded 10 the nearest thousand. 

Non-GAAP Financial Information 

Non-GAAP financial information is defined as a numerical measure of a company's performance that 
excludes or includes amounts so as to be different than the most comparable measure calculated and presented in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States C"GAAP"). Pursuant to the 
requirements of Regulation S-K, portions of this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations" include a comparison of certain non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly 
comparable GAAP financial measures. The presentation of non-GAAP financial measures should not be 
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the Company's related financial results prepared in accordance with 
GAAP. 

MasterCard presents non-GAAP financial measures to enhance an investor's evaluation of MasterCard's 
ongoing operating results and to aid in forecasting future peJ.iods. MasterCard's management uses these 
non-GAAP financial measures to, among other things, evaluate its ongoing operations in relation to historical 
results, for internal planning and forecasting purposes and in the calculation of performance-based compensation. 
More specifically, with respect to the non-GAAP financial measures presented in this discussion: 

Operating expenses-Selected litigation settlements from 2009 and 2008 (the "Litigation Settlements") 
have been excluded since MasterCard monitors some litigation settlements separately from ongoing 
operations and evaluates ongoing operating perfonnance without these settlements. See "-Operating 
Expenses" for a table which provides a reconciliation of operating expenses excluding the Litigation 
Settlements to the most directly comparable GAAP measure to allow for a more meaningful comparison 
of results between prior periods. 

Effective income tax rate-The income tax impacts associated with the Litigation Settlements have been 
excluded to provide a comparison of the effective income tax rate associated with ongoing operations of 
the business. See "-Income Taxes" for a table which provides a reconciliation of the effective income 
tax rate excluding the Litigation Settlements to the most directly comparable GAAP measure to allow 
for a more meaningful compruison of results between periods. 
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Overview 

MasterCard is a leading global payments company that provides a critical economic link among financial 
institutions, businesses, merchants, cardholders and governments worldwide, enabling them to use electronic 
forms of payment instead of cash and checks. We provide a variety of services in support of the credit, debit, 
prepaid and related payment programs of approximately 22,000 financial institutions and other entities that are 
our customers. We primarily: 

offer a wide range of payment solutions, which enable our customers to develop and implement credit, 
debit, prepaid and related payment programs for their customers (which include cardholders, businesses 
and government entities), 

manage a family of well-known, widely accepted payment card brands, including MasterCard. Maestro 
and Cirrus. which we license to our customers for use in their payment programs. 

process payment transactions over the MasterCard Worldwide Network, 

provide support services to our customers and. depending upon the service. merchants and other clients. 
and 

as part of managing our brands and our franchise, establish and enforce a common set of standards for 
adherence by our customers for the efficient and secure use of our payment card network. 

We generate revenues from the fees that we charge our customers for providing transaction processing and 
other payment-related services and by assessing our customers based primarily on the donar volume of activity 
on the cards that carry our brands. Cardholder and merchant relationships are managed principally by our 
customers. We do not issue cards. extend credit to cardholders. determine the interest rates (if applicable) or 
other fees charged to cardholders by issuers. or establish the merchant discount charged by acquirers in 
connection with the acceptance of cards that carry our brands. 

We believe the trend within the global payments industry from paper-based forms of payment, such as cash 
and checks, toward electronic forms of payment, such as payment card transactions, creates significant 
opportunities for the growth of our business over the longer term. Our focus is on continuing to: 

grow our offerings by extending our strength in our core businesses globally. including credit, debit, 
prepaid and processing payment transactions over the MasterCard Worldwide Network, 

diversify our business by seeking new areas of growth in markets around the world, expanding points of 
acceptance for our brands in new geographies, seeking to maintain unsurpassed acceptance, and 
working with new business partners such as merchants, govemment agencies and telecommunications 
companies, and 

• build new businesses through continued strategic efforts with respect to innovative payment methods 
such as electronic commerce (e-Commerce) and mobile capabilities. 

See "-Business Environment" for a discussion of environmental considerations related to our long-term 
strategic objectives. 

We recorded net income of $1.8 billion, or $14.05 per diluted share, in 2010 versus net income of $1.5 
billion, or $11.16 per diluted share, in 2009 and a net loss of $0.3 billion, or ($1.94) per diluted share, in 2008. 
As of December 31, 2010, our liquidity and capital positions remained strong, with $3.9 billion in cash and cash 
equivalents and current available-far-sale securities and $5.2 billion in equity. In addition, we generated cash 
flows from operations of $1.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2010. 

Our net revenues increased 8.6% in 2010, primarily due to the increased dollar volume of activity on cards 
carrying our brands. pricing changes and increased transactions. The net foreign currency impact of changes in 
the U.S. dollar average exchange rates against the euro and Brazilian real reduced net revenue growth by 
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approximately 1 percentage point in 2010. Our net revenues increased 2.1 % in 2009, primarily due to increased 
transactions, pricing changes and increases in the volume of activity on cards carrying our brands, partially offset 
by approximately 2 percentage points relating to the U.S. dollar average exchange rates strengthening versus the 
euro and Brazilian real. Historically, we experienced greater growth in net revenues than the revenue growth in 
2009. The lower growth rate reflected the impact of the global economic environment in 2009, which negatively 
affected our customers and their cardholders. 

Our revenues depend heavily upon the overall level of consumer, business and government spending. 
Changes in cardholder spending behavior. influenced by economic environments, have impacted and may 
continue to impact our abHity to grow our revenues. Our revenues are primarily based on transactions and 
volumes, which are impacted by the number of transactions and the dollar amount of each transaction. In 2010, 
our processed transactions increased 2.9% and our volumes increased 9.1% on a local currency basis. In 2009, 
while our processed transactions increased 6.9%, our volumes only increased 1.7% on a local currency basis, 
reflecting a decline in th~ average amount per transaction. Our growth in processed transactions in 201 0 was 
lower than in 2009 primarily due to debit portfolio losses in the U.S. and U.K. 

During 2010, net pricing actions contributed approximately 5 percentage points to our net revenue growth. 
These net pricing actions included the effects of price increases during 2009 and 2010, which were partial1y 
offset by an increase in cross-border rebates and the repeal of pricing relating to our interim arrangement with the 
European Commission. During 2009, net pricing actions contributed approximately 6 percentage points to our 
net revenue growth. These net pricing actions included price increases in 2009 partially offset by an increase in 
cross-border rebates and the repeal of pricing relating to our interim arrangement with the European 
Commission. Overall, net revenue growth in 2010 and 2009 was moderated by an increase in rebates and 
incentives relating to customer and merchant agreement activity. Rebates and incentives as a percentage of gross 
revenues were 26.7%. 24.1 % and 22.7% in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

Our operating expenses decreased 1.8% in 2010 compared to 2009, primarily due to lower general and 
administrative expenses. partially offset by increased adveltising and marketing expenses. The dec1ine in general 
and administrative expenses was primarily due to lower personnel expenses. partially offset by increased 
professional fees. The net foreign currency impact of changes in the U.S. dollar average exchange rates against 
the eUrO and the Brazilian real reduced expenses by approximately I percentage point in 2010. 

Operating expenses decreased 48.6% in 2009 compared to 2008, primarily due to lower litigation 
settlements. Excluding the impact of the Litigation Settlements identified in the reconciliation table included in 
"-Operating Expenses," operating expenses declined 6.9% in 2009 compared to 2008. In 2009, we realigned 
our resources and implemented contingency plans in response to the global economic and business environment 
at that time. 

Our ratios of operating income (loss) as a percentage of net revenues, or operating margins, were 49.7% in 
2010 versus 44.3% in 2009 and (10.7%) in 2008. In 2008, excluding the impact of the Litigation Settlements, the 
operating margin was 39.0%. 

Other income (expense) varies depending on activities not core to our operations. Other income (expense) 
increased in 2010 from 2009, including the effects of decreased interest expense on litigation settlements and 
uncertain tax positions. In 2009, we did not have significant activity comparable to gains realized in 2008. As to 
income tax expense (benefit), effective income tax rates were 33.0%. 34.1 % and 33.7% for the years ended 
December 31.2010,2009 and 2008, respectively. 

On August 19. 2010. MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire all the outstanding shares of 
DataCash Group pIc ("DataCash"'), a European payment service provider. Pursuant to the telms of the acquisition 
agreement, the Company acquired DataCash in cash on October 22,2010 at a purchase price of 334 million U.K. 
pound sterling, or $534 million. DataCash provides e-Commerce merchants with the ability to process secure 
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payments across the world. DataCash develops and provides outsourced electronic payments solutions, fraud 
prevention, alternative payment options. back-office reconciliation and solutions for merchants selling via 
multiple channels. DataCash also has a fraud solutions and technology platfonn. MasterCard believes the 
acquisition of DataCash will create a long-term growth platform in the e-Commerce category while enhancing 
existing MasterCard payment products and expanding its global presence in the internet gateway business. 

On December 9, 2010, MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire the prepaid card program 
management operations of Travelex Holdings Ltd. ("Travelex CPM") for 290 million U.K. pound sterling, or 
approximately $458 miI1ion, with contingent consideration (an "earn-out") of up to an additional 35 million U.K. 
pound sterling, or approximately $55 miI1ion, if certain: perfonnance targets are met. We will acquire the 
operations that manage and deliver consumer and corporate prepaid travel cards to business partners around the 
world, including financial institutions, retailers, travel agents and foreign exchange bureaus. The acquisition of 
Travelex CPM is an expansion of MasterCard into program management services. Combined with our existing 
processing assets and other strategic alliances, the asset will augment and support partners and issuers of prepaid 
cards around the world, with a focus outside of the United States. The acquisition is intended to enable us to offer 
end-to-end prepaid solutions encompassing branded switching. issuing. processing and program management 
services, initially focused on the travel sector. We expect to consummate the acquisition in the first half of 2011. 

Business Environment 

We process transactions from more than 210 countries and tenitories and in more than 150 currencies. 
Revenue generated in the United States was approximately 41.6%, 42.4% and 44.1 % of total revenues in 2010, 
2009 and 2008, respectively. No individual country, other than the United States, generated more than 10% of 
total revenues in any period, but differences in market maturity, economic health, price changes ·and foreign 
exchange fluctuations in certain countries have increased the proportion of revenues generated outside the United 
States over time. While the global nature of our business helps protect our operating results from adverse 
economic conditions in a single or a few countries, the significant concentration of our revenues generated in the 
United States makes our business particularly susceptible to adverse economic conditions in the United States. 

The competitive and evolving nature of the global payments industry provides both challenges to and 
OPPOltunities for the continued growth of our business. Unprecedented events which began during 2008 impacted 
the financial markets around the world, including continued distress in the credit environment, continued equity 
market volatility and additional government intervention. In particular, the economies of the United States and 
the United Kingdom were significantly impacted by this economic tunnoil, and it has also impacted other 
economies around the world. More recently, European countries induding Portugal, Ireland, Greece and Spain 
have experienced downgrades in sovereign credit ratings by ratings agencies, driven by fiscal challenges. Some 
existing customers have been placed in receivership or administration or have a significant amount of their stock 
owned by their governments. Many financial institutions are facing increased regulatory and governmental 
influence, including potential further changes in laws and regulations. Many of our financial institution 
customers, merchants that accept our brands and cardholders who use our brands have been directly and 
adversely impacted. 

MasterCard's financial results may be negatively impacted by actions taken by individual financial 
institutions or by governmental or regulatory bodies in response to the economic crisis and the state of economic 
environments. The severity of the economic environments may accelerate the timing of or increase the impact of 
risks to our financial performance that have historically been present. As a result, oUI revenue growth has been 
and may be negatively impacted, or the Company may be impacted in several ways, including but not limited to 
the following: 

Declining economies. foreign currency fluctuations and the pace of economic recovery can change 
consumer spending behaviors; for example, a significant portion of our revenues is dependent on cross
border travel patterns, which may continue to change. 
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Constriction of consumer and business confidence, such as in recessionary environments and those 
markets experiencing relatively high unemployment, may continue to cause decreased spending by 
cardholders. 

Our customers may restrict credit lines to cardholders or limit the issuance of new cards to mitigate 
increasing cardholder defaults. 

Uncertainty and volatility in the perfonnance of our customers' businesses may make estimates of our 
revenues, rebates, incentives and realization of prepaid assets less predictable. 

Our customers may implement cost reduction initiatives that reduce or eliminate payment card 
marketing or increase requests for greater incentives or greater cost stability. 

• Our customers may decrease spending for optional or enhanced services. 

Govemment intervention, including the effect of laws, regulations and/or government investments in 
our customers. may have potential negative effects on our business and our relationships with customers 
or otherwise alter their strategic direction away from our products. 

Tightening of credit availability could impact the ability of participating financial institutions to lend to 
us under the terms of our credit facility. 

Our customers may default on their settlement obligations. See Note 23 (Settlement and Other Risk 
Management) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IT, Item 8 for further discussion 
of our settlement exposure. 

Our business and prospects, as well as our revenue and profitability. could be materially and adversely 
affected by consolidation of our customers. See "Additional consolidation or other changes in or 
affecting the banking industry could result in a loss of business for MasterCard and create pressure on 
the fees we charge our customers, resulting in lower prices andlor more favorable terms for our 
customers, which may materially and adversely affect our revenues and profitabi1ity" in Part I. Item IA 
(Risk Factors) for further discussion. 

In addition, our business and our customers' businesses are subject to regulation in many countries. 
Regulatory bodies may seek to impose rules and price controls on certain aspects of our business and the 
payments industry. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part II, Item 8 and Part I, Item lA (Risk Factors) for further discussion. In particular, in July 2010, 
the United States enacted into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refonn and Consumer Protection Act. See "Risk 
Factors-Legal and RegulatOlY Risks-The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act may have a 
material adverse impact on our revenue, our prospects for future growth and our overall business. financial 
condition and results of operations'.' in Part I, Item 1 A for further discussion, including with respect [0: 

(1) regulation providing for limitations on debit and prepaid "interchange transaction fees", (2) regulation 
prohibiting exclusive debit network arrangements and routing restrictions for debit and (3) the creation of 
independent regulatory bodies with the authority to regulate consumer financial products and, potentially. 
broader aspects of payment card network operations (e.g., the ability to deem MasterCard "systematically 
important"). See also «Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks-New regulations in one jurisdiction or of one 
product may lead to new regulations in other jurisdictions or of other products" in Part I, Item lA. 

MasterCard continues to monitor the extent and pace of economic recovery around the world to identify 
opportunities for the continued growth of our business and to evaluate the evolution of the global payments 
industry. For example, in our AsialPacific and Latin American regions, we have now experienced several 
quarters of significant increases in dollar volume of activity on cards carrying Ollr brands in those regions while 
in the U.S. we have observed mixed economic indicators, including retail spending and unemployment rates. 
Notwithstanding some encouraging trends, the extent and pace of economic recovery in various regions remains 
uncertain and the overall business environment may present challenges for MasterCard to grow its business. 
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Financial Results 

During 2009, the Company: (1) modified its presentation of details of the Company's major revenue 
categories included within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations (the .''MD&A'') and (2) reclassified certain cardholder-related enhancement expenses. The 
modifications to the presentation withjn this MD&A of the detail of the Company's revenue categories did not 
result in any changes to the Company' 5 histOllcal financial statements and had no effect on the overall 
calculation of net revenue presented in the financial statements. The reclassification of certain cardholder-related 
enhancement expenses did not result in any impact to the Company's overall operating expenses. 

Onr operating results for the years ended December 31,2010,2009 and 2008, were as follows: 

For the Years Ended December 31, Percent Increase (Decrease) 

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 --- ---
(in millions, except per share, percentages and GDV amounts) 

Revenues, net ................ .......... . 
General and administrative ............... . 
Advertising and marketing ................ . 
Litigation settlements .................... . 
Depreciation and amortization ............. . 

Total operating expenses ............. . 

Operating income (loss) ................ '.' . 
Total other income (expense) .............. . 

Income (loss) before income taxes ......... . 
Income tax expense (benefit) .............. . 

Net income Ooss) ....................... . 
Income attributable to non-controlling 

interests ............................ . 

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to 

$ 5,539 
1,852 

782 
5 

148 

2,787 

2,752 
5 

2,757 
910 

1,847 

__ (I) 

$ 5,099 
1,935 

756 
7 

141 

2,839 ---
2,260 

~ 
2,218 

755 

1,463 

MasterCard. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 1,846 $ 1,463 

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share ........... . 
Basic Weighted Average Shares 

Outstanding ......................... . 
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share .......... . 
Diluted Weighted Average Shares 

Outstanding ......................... . 
Effective income tax. rate ................. . 
Gross dollar volume ("GDV") on a U.S. dollar 

converted basis (in billions)' ............ . 
Processed transactions3 .................. . 

** Not meaningful. 

== 
$ 14.10 

131 
$ 14.05 

131 
33.0% 

$ 11.19 

130 
$ 11.16 

130 
34.1% 

$ 2,727 $ 2,463 
23,052 22,401 

$ 4,992 
1,996 

935 
2,483 

112 

5,526 ---
(534) 
151 ---

(383) 

~) 
(254) 

$ (254) 

$ (1.94)1 

130 
$ (1.94)1 

130 
33.7% 

$ 2,540 
20,951 

8.6% 
(4.3)% 
3.5% 

(26.2)% 
4.8% 

(\.8)% 

21.8% 
113.2% 

24.3% 
20.5% 

26.3% 

** 

26.2% 

26.0% 

0.7% 
25.9% 

0.8% 

** 

10.7% 
2.9% 

2.1% 
(3.1)% 

(19.2)% 
(99.7)% 
26.2% 

(48.6)% 

522.8% 
(127.8)% 

678.8% 
684.3% 

676.0% 

** 

676.0% 

676.8% 

(0.2)% 
675.3% 

0.1% 

** 
(3.0)% 
6.9% 

As more fully described in Note 3 (Earnings Per Share) to the consolidated fmancial statements included in 
Part II, Item 8, on January 1,2009, a new accounting standard was adopted related to EPS which required 
retrospective adjustment of EPS for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

2 GDV generated by Maestro and Cirrus cards is not included. The data for GDV is provided by MasterCard 
customers and inc1udes infornlation with respect to MasterCard-branded transactions that are not processed 
by MasterCard and for which MasterCard does not earn significant revenues. All data is subject to revision 
and amendment by MasterCard's customers subsequent to the date of its release, which revisions and 
amendments may be material. 
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3 Data represents all transactions processed by MasterCard, including PIN-based online debit transactions. 
regardless of brand. The numbers were updated in 2009 to exclude a small number of certain processed 
transactions initiated with cards that do not bear our brands, and in 2010 to exclude a small number of 
transactions that were processed by both of MasterCard's processing systems. All prior peliod data have 
been revised to be consistent with this revised methodology. Revenue was not impacted by these changes. 

Impact of Foreign Currency Rates 

Our overall operating results are impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, especially the 
strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar versus the euro and Brazilian real. The functional currency of 
MasterCard Europe, our principal European operating subsidiary, is the euro, and the functional currency of our 
Brazilian subsidiary is the Brazilian real. Accordingly, the strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar versus 
the euro and Brazilian real impacts the translation of our European and Brazilian subsidiaries' operating results 
into the U.S. dollnr. For 2010 as compnred to 2009, the U.S. dollnr average exchange rates strengthened against 
the euro and weakened against the Brazilian real. The net foreign currency impact of these changes unfavorably 
impacted net revenue growth by approximately 1 percentage point and favorably impacted expenses by 
approximately I percentage point in 20] O. For 2009 as compared to 2008, the U.S. dollar average exchange rates 
strengthened against the euro and Brazilian real, which resulted in lower revenues and expenses. 

In addition, changes in foreign currency exchange rates directly impact the calculation of gross dollar 
volume and gross euro volume ("GEV"), which are used in the calculation of our domestic assessments, cross
border volume fees and volume related rebates and incentives. In most non-European regions, GDV is calculated 
based on local currency spending volume converted to U.S. dol1ars using average exchange rates for the period. 
In Europe, GEV is calculated based on local currency spending volume converted to euros using average 
exchange rates for tlle period. As a result, our domestic assessments, cross-border volume fees and volume 
related rebates and incentives are impacted by the strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar versus most 
non-European local currencies and the strengthening or weakening of the euro versus European local currencies. 
The strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar is evident when GOV on a U.S. dollar converted basis is 
compared to GOVon a local currency basis. In 2010, GOV on a U.S. dollar converted basis increased 10.7%, 
versus GOV growth on a local currency basis of 9.1 %. In 2009, GOV on a U.S. dollar converted basis declined 
3.0%, versus GDV growth on a local currency basis of 1.7%. 

Revenues 

Revellue Descriptions 

MasterCard's business model involves four participants in addition to us: cardholders, merchants, issuers 
(the cardholders' banks) and acquirers (the merchants' banks). Our gross revenues are typically based on the 
volume of activity on cards that carry our brands, the number of transactions we process for our customers or the 
nature of other payment-related services we provide to our customers. Our revenues are based upon transactional 
information accumulated by our systems or reported by our customers. Our primary revenue billing currencies 
are the U.S. dollar, euro and Brazilian real. 

We process transactions denominated in more than 150 currencies through our global system, providing 
cardholders with the ability to utilize, and merchants to accept, MasterCard cards across multiple country.' 
borders. We process most of the cross-border transactions using MasterCard. Maestro and Cimls~branded cards 
and, among our largest markets, process the majority of MasterCard-branded domestic transactions in the United 
States, United Kingdom, Canada and Brazil. 

Our pricing is complex and is dependent on the nature of the volumes. types of transactions and other 
products and services we offer to our customers. A combination of the following factors detennines the pricing: 

• Domestic or cross-border 
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Signature-based (credit and off-line debit) or PIN-based (on-line debit, including automated teller 
machine ("ATM") cash withdrawals and retail purchases) 

Tiered pricing, with rates decreasing as customers meet incremental volume/transaction hurdles 

Geographic region or country 

Retail purchase or cash withdrawal 

Cross-border transactions generate greater revenue than do domestic transactions since cross-border fees are 
higher than domestic fees. We review our pricing and implement pricing changes on an ongoing basis and expect 
pricing to continue to be a component of revenue growth in the future. In addition, standard pricing varies among 
our regional businesses, and such pricing can be customized further for our customers through incentive and 
rebate agreements. 

The Company classifies its net revenues into the following five categories: 

1. Domestic assessments: Domestic assessments are fees charged to issuers and acquirers based 
primarily on the volume of activity on cards that carry our brands where the merchant country and the 
cardholder country are the same. A portion of these assessments is estimated based on aggregate 
transaction information collected from our systems and projected customer perfonnance and is 
calculated by converting the aggregate volume of usage (purchases, cash disbursements, balance 
transfers and convenience checks) from local currency to the billing currency and then mUltiplying by 
the specific price. In addition, domestic assessments include items such as card assessments, which are 
fees charged on the number of cards issued or assessments for specific purposes, such as acceptance 
development or market development programs. Acceptance development fees are charged primarily to 
U.S. issuers based on components of volume, and support our focus on developing merchant 
relationships and promoting acceptance at the point of sale. 

2. Cross-border volume fees: Cross-border volume fees are charged to issuers and acquirers based on 
the volume of activity on cards that carry our brands where the merchant country and the cardholder 
country are different. Cross-border volume fees are calculated by converting the aggregate volume of 
usage (purchases and cash disbursements) from local currency to the billing currency and then 
mUltiplying by the specific price. Cross-border volume fees also inc1ude fees, charged to issuers, for 
performing currency conversion services. 

3. Transaction processing fees: Transaction processing fees are charged for both domestic and cross
border transactions and are primarily based on the number of transactions. These fees are calculated by 
mUltiplying the number and type of transactions by the specific price for each service. Transaction 
processing fees include charges for the foHowing: 

Transaction Switching-Authorization, Clea1'ing and Settlement. 

a. Authorization refers to a process in which a transaction is approved by the issuer or, in 
certain circumstances such as when the issuer's systems are unavailable or cannot be 
contacted, by MasterCard or others on behalf of the issuer in accordance with either the 
issuer's instructions or applicable rules. MasterCard's rules, which vary across regions, 
establish the 'circumstances under which merchants and acquirers must seek authorization of 
transactions. Fees for authorization are primariJy paid by issuers. 

b. Clearing refers to the exchange of financial transaction information between issuers and 
acquirers after a transaction has been completed. Fees for clearing are primarily paid by 
issuers. 

c. Settlement refers to facilitating the exchange of funds between parties. Fees for settlement are 
primarily paid by issuers. 
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• Connectivity fees are charged to issuers and acquirers for network access, equipment and the 
transmission of authorization and settlement messages. These fees are based on the size of the data 
being transmitted through and the number of connections to the Company's network. 

4. Other revenues: Other revenues for other payment-related services are primarily dependent on the 
nature of the products or services provided to our customers but are also impacted by other factors, 
such as contractual agreements. Examples of other revenues are fees associated with the fonowing: 

Fraud products and services used to prevent or detect fraudulent transactions. This includes warning 
bulIetin fees which are charged to issuers and acquirers for listing invalid or fraudulent accounts 
either electronically or in paper form and for distributing this listing to merchants. 

Cardholder services fees are for benefits provided with MasterCard-branded cards, such as 
insurance, telecommunications assistance for lost cards and locating automated teller machines. 

Consulting and research fees are primarily generated by MasterCard Advisors, the Company's 
professional advisory services group. The Company's business agreements with certain customers 
and merchants may include consulting services as an incentive. The contra-revenue associated with 
these incentives is inc1uded in rebates and incentives. 

The Company also charges for a variety of other payment-related services. including compliance 
and penalty fees, account and transaction enhancement services, holograms and publications. 

5. Rebates and incentives (contra-revenue): Rebates and incentives are provided to certain 
MasterCard customers and are recorded as contra-revenue in the same period that performance occurs. 
Performance periods vary depending on the type of rebate or incentive, including commitments to the 
agreement term, hurdles for volumes, transactions or issuance of new cards and the launch of new 
programs or the execution of marketing programs. Rebates and incentives are calculated based on 
estimated performance. the timing of new and renewed agreements and the terms of the related 
business agreements. 

Revenue Allalysis 

In 2010 and 2009, gross revenues grew 12.5% and 4.0%, respectively. Revenue growth in 2010 was 
primarily due to increased dollar volume of activity on cards carrying our brands, higher pricing and increased 
transactions. The net foreign currency impact of changes in the U.S. dollar average ex.change rates against the 
euro and the Brazilian real reduced revenue growth by approximately 1 percentage point in 2010. Revenue 
growth in 2009 was primarily due to changes in pricing, increased transactions and increases in the volume of 
activity on cards carrying our brands, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency exchange impacts. Rebates 
and incentives as a percentage of gross revenues were 26.7%, 24.1% and 22.7% in 2010, 2009 and 200S, 
respectively. Our net revenues in 2010 and 2009 increased S.6% and 2.1 % versus 2009 and 200S, respectively. 

Our revenues are primarily based on transactions and volumes, which are impacted by the number of 
transactions and the dollar amount of each transaction. In 2010. our processed transactions increased 2.9% and 
our volumes increased 9.1 % on a local currency basis. In 2009. while our processed transactions increased 6.9%, 
our volumes only increased 1.7% on a local currency basis, reflecting a decline in the average amount per 
transaction. Our growth in processed transactions in 2010 was lower than in 2009 primarily due to debit pOltfolio 
losses in the U.S. and U.K. 

Pricing changes increased net revenues by approximately 5 percentage points in 2010. These net pricing 
changes primarily related to increases in cross-border volume fees in October 2009 partially offset by 
approximately 3 percentage points attributable to increased cross-border rebates. increases in domestic 
assessments in APIil 2010, and increases in transaction processing fees in April 2009. The net pricing change 
also included an approximately 1 percentage point decrease relating to the October 2008 pricing changes which 
were repealed at the end of June 2009 as part of our interim arrangement with the European Commission. See 
Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item S 
for more information. 
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The pricing structure for our acquirer revenues from cross-border transactions was simplified in the fourth 
quarter of 2010. Pursuant to the previous structure, MasterCard cbarged a cross-border volume fee but provided a 
rebate if MasterCard was allowed to perform the currency conversion. Beginning in October 2010. if MasterCard 
performs the currency conversion, the cross border volume fee charged is lower and no rebate is provided. This 
prospective change has no impact to net revenues. 

Pricing changes increased net revenues by approximately 6 percentage points in 2009. The price increases 
primarily related to increases to transaction processing fees in April 2009 and cross-border volume fees in 
October 2009. The net pricing change included an approximately I percentage point decrease relating to an 
increase in cross-border rebates to encourage certain behaviors of customers and an approximately I percentage 
point decrease relating to the October 2008 pricing changes which were repealed at the end of June 2009 as part 
of our interim arrangement with the European Commission. 

A significant portion of Ollr revenue is concentrated among our five largest customers. In 2010. the net 
revenues from these customers were approximately $1.5 billion, or 28%. of total net revenues. The loss of any of 
these customers or their significant card programs could adversely impact our revenues and net income. See 
"Risk Factors-Business Risks-Additional consolidation or other changes in or affecting the banking industry 
could result in a loss of business for MasterCard and create pressure on the fees we charge our customers. 
resulting in lower prices andlor more favorable terms for our customers, which may materially and adversely 
affect our revenue and profitability" in Part I, Item 1A. In addition, as part of our business strategy. MasterCard, 
among other efforts, enters into business agreements with customers. These agreements can be terminated in a 
variety of circumstances. See «Risk Factors-Business Risks-We face increasingly intense competitive 
pressure on tlIe prices we charge our customers, which may materially and adversely affect our revenue and 
profitability" in Part I, Item IA. 

The significant components of our net revenues were as follows: 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2010 2009 2008 

Dollar Increase 
(Decrease) 

2010 2009 

(in millions, except percentages) 

Domestic assessments ......... $ 2,642 $ 2,382 $ 2,386 $ 260 $ (4) 
Cross-border volume fees ...... 1,927 1,509 1,547 418 (38) 
Transaction processing fees ..... 2,198 2,042 1,777 156 265 
Other revenues ............... 791 784 751 7 33 ---
Gross revenues ............... 7,558 6,717 6,461 841 256 
Rebates and incentives (contra-

revenues) ................. (2,019) (1,618) (1,469) (401) (149) 

Net revenues ................ $ 5,539 $ 5,099 $ 4,992 $440 $ 107 

Percent Increase (Decrease) 

2010 2009 

10.9% (0.2)% 
27.7% (2.5)% 

7.6% 14.9% 
1.0% 4.4% 

12.5% 4.0% 

24.8% 10.1% 

8.6% 2.1% 

Domestic assessments-There was an increase in domestic assessments of 10.9% in 2010, as compared to a 
0.2% decrease in 2009, due to: 

GDV increased 9.1% during 2010, when measured in local currency terms, and increased 10.7% when 
measured on a U.S. dollar-converted basis, versus 2009. In 2009, GDV increased 1.7% when measured 
in local cWTency terms, and declined 3.0% when measw·ed on a U.S. dollar-converted basis. versus 
2008. 

• The net impact of pricing changes increased domestic assessments growth by approximately 4 
percentage points in 2010 which included dle April 2010 price increase. The October 2008 pricing 
changes which were repealed at the end of June 2009 as part of our interim arrangement with the 
European Commission had an approximate 1 percentage point unfavorable impact on domestic 
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assessments growth in 2010. In 2009, the effect of pricing changes increased domestic assessments 
growth by approximately 4 percentage points, of which approximately 1 percentage point was 
associated with the October 2008 pricing changes which were repealed at the end of June 2009. See 
Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, 
Item 8 for more infonnation. 

The net impact of foreign currency relating to the translation of domestic assessments from the euro and 
Brazilian real to U.S. dollars unfavorably impacted revenue growth by a minimal amount in 2010 and 
by approximately 2 percentage points in 2009. 

Cross-border volume fees-There was an increase in cross-border volume fees of 27.7% in 2010, as 
compared to a 2.5% decrease in 2009, due to: 

Cross-border volumes increased 15.2% in 2010, when measured in local currency terms, and increased 
15.1 %, when measured on a U.S. dollar-converted basis. In 2009, cross-border volumes increased 0.2%, 
when measured in local currency terms, and decreased 6.2%, when measured on a U.S. dollar-converted 
basis. 

Pricing changes represented approximately a net 13 percentage points of cross-border revenue growth in 
2010. This increase included approximately 18 percentage points related to pricing changes 
implemented in October 2009, partially offset by a decrease due to the pricing structure change in 
October 2010. Furthemore, the October 2008 pricing changes which were repealed at the end of June 
2009 as part of our interim arrangement with the European Commission had an approximate 2 
percentage point negative impact on 2010 cross-border revenue growth. 

The decrease in 2009 cross-border volume fees was partially offset by approximately 7 percentage 
points relating to pricing changes. During 2009, the cross-border pricing actions also included an 
increase to cross-border rebates as discussed in the rebates and incentives discussion below. In addition, 
approximately 1 percentage point of the 7 percentage point pricing increase was associated with certain 
pricing changes implemented in October 2008 and repealed at the end of June 2009 as part of our 
interim arrangement with the European Commission. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) 
to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for more infonnation. 

• The net impact of foreign currency relating to the translation of cross-border volume fees from the euro 
and Brazilian real to U.S. dollars unfavorably impacted cross-border revenue growth by approximately 2 
percentage points in both 2010 and 2009. 

Transactioll processing fees-The increases in transaction processing fees of 7.6% and 14.9% during 2010 
and 2009, respectively, were due to: 

• Pricing changes implemented in April 2009 represented approximately 3 percentage points of the 
increase in 2010 and approximately 8 percentage points of the increase in 2009. 

Processed transactions increased 2.9% and 6.9% during 2010 and 2009, respectively. Our growth in 
processed transactions in 2010 was lower than in 2009 due to the continuing effects of prior debit 
portfolio losses in the U.S. and U.K. Those debit portfolio losses impacted revenues to a lesser extent 
than the percentage decrease in the number of transactions due to the pricing of those products and 
portfolios. 

Growth in revenues was partially offset by the effects of transaction processing activities for which 
revenues are not driven by the number of transactions. Furthermore. the net impact of foreign currency 
relating to the translation of transaction processing fees from the euro and Brazilian real to U.S. dollars 
unfavorably impacted growth by approximately I percentage point in 2010 and by approximately 2 
percentage points in 2009. 
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Other revenues-The increases in 2010 and 2009 of 1.0% and 4.4%, respectively, were due to: 

In 2010, there was a slight increase in consulting and cardholder services fees, partially offset by a 
decrease in fees from the excessive chargeback program and walning bulletins. 

In 2009 compared to 2008, there were increased compliance and penalty fees, implementation and 
cardholder services fees and fees for fraud products and services, partially offset by a decline in 
consulting and research fees. 

The net impact of foreign currency relating to the translation of other revenues from the euro and 
Brazilian real to U.S. dollars unfavorably impacted growth by approximately I percentage point in both 
2010 and 2009. 

Rebates and incentives-Rebates and incentives increased 24.8% and 10.1 % in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
Rebates and incentives as a percentage of gross revenues were 26.7%, 24.1 % and 22.7% in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. The amount of rebates and incentives increased due to the following: 

The 2010 increase was primarily due to higher rebates and incentives for certain new and renewed 
agreements as well as increased volumes. The Company intends to continue to enter into and maintain 
-business agreements that provide rebates and incentives to certain customers and merchants. The 2009 
growth in rebates and incentives was primarily driven by certain new and renewed agreements, some of 
which included shorter performance periods for specific customers. This was partially offset by reduced 
estimates for rebates and incentives for certain customers which did not achieve contractual 
peifonnance hurdles, lower cross-border rebates due to a decline in cross-border volume growth and 
less marketing activity with merchants. 

• Cross-border pricing actions in October 2009 as discussed above under "- Cross-border volume fees", 
inc1uded an increase to cross-border rebates to encourage ceItain behaviors of our customers. In 2010, 
the increase in cross-border rebates contributed approximately 10 percentage points to the increase in 
rebates and incentives, partially offset by the effects of the pricing structure change in October 2010. 
The pricing actions in October 2009 contributed approximately 3 percentage points to the increase in 
rebates and incentives in 2009. 

There was a minimal net impact of foreign currency relating to the translation of rebates and incentives 
from the euro and Brazilian real to U.S. doBars in 2010. In 2009, the net impact of foreign currency 
relating to the translation of rebates and incentives from the eure and Brazilian real to U.S. dollal's 
decreased rebates and incentives by approximately 1 percentage point. 

Operating Expenses 

Our operating expenses are comprised of general and administrative, advertising and marketing, litigation 
settlements and depreciation and amortization expenses. During 2009, the Company reclassified certain 
cardholder-related enhancement expenses, which were previously classified as advertising and marketing 
expenses, to general and administrative expenses. These cardholder benefit programs, such as insurance and card 
replacements, were previously deemed promotional features of the cards and over time have become standard 
product offerings in certain card categories. Approximately $83 million of these expenses have been reclassified 
in 2008, to conform to the 2009 presentation. 
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The major components of our operating expenses were as follows: 

For the Years Ended 
December 31, 

2010 2009 2008 

DoJJar Increase 
(Decrease) 

2010 2009 --- ---(in millions, except percentages) 
General and administrative .......... $1,852 $1,935 $1,996 $(83) $ (61) 
Advertising and marketing .......... 782 756 935 26 (179) 
Litigation settlements ............. , 5 7 2,483 (2) (2,476) 
Depreciation and amortization . ....... 148 141 112 7 29 -- -- -- -- ---
Total operating expenses ............ $2,787 $2,839 $5,526 $(52) $(2,687) 

Total operating expenses as a 
percentage of net revenues ........ 50.3% 55.7% 110.7% 

Percent 
Increase (Decrease) 

2010 2009 --- ---
(4.3)% (3.1)% 
3.5% (19.2)% 

(26.2)% (99.7)% 
4.8% 26.2% 

(1.8)% (48.6)% 

Operating expenses decreased $52 million, or 1.8%, in 2010, compared to 2009, primarily due to lower 
general and administrative expenses, partially offset by increased advertising and marketing expenses. The 
impact of foreign currency relating to translation from the euro and Brazilian real to U.S. dollars reduced 
operating expenses by approximately] percentage point in 2010. 

Operating expenses decreased approximately $2.7 billion in 2009, compared to 2008. These changes in 
operating expenses were primarily due to decreased litigation settlements in 2009. In addition, in 2009, 
MasterCard initiated resource realignment programs. which increased personnel costs due to severance-related 
expenses, and implemented contingency plans. which reduced certain other operating expenses. The following 
table compares and reconciles operating expenses, excluding the Litigation Settlements, which is a non-GAAP 
financial measure, to the operating expenses including the Litigation Settlements, which is the most directly 
comparable GAAP measurement. Management believes this analysis may be helpful in evaluating ongoing 
operating expenses and allows for a more meaningful comparison between periods. 

For the year ended For the year ended Percent Percent December 31, 2009 December 31. 2008 Increase Increase 
Special Special (Decrease) (Decrease) 

Actual Items Non-GAAP Actual Items Non-GAAP Actual Non-GAAP -----
(in millions. except percentages) 

General and administrative . ... . $1,935 $-- $1,935 $1,996 $ - $1,996 (3.1)% (3.1)% 
Advertising and marketing .... . 756 756 935 935 (19.2)% (19.2)% 
Litigation settlements ........ . 7 (7) 2,483 (2,483) (99.7) ** 
Depreciation and amortization .. 141 141 112 112 26.2% 26.2% --
Tota1 operating expenses ..... . $2,839 $ (7) $2,832 $5,526 $(2,483) $3,Q43 (48.6)% (6.9)% 

Total operating expenses as a 
percentage of net revenues ... 55.7% 55.5% 110.7% 61.0% 

'" Note that figures in the above table may not sum due to rounding. 
"'* Not meaningful, see "-Litigation Settlements" for more infonnation. 
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General and Administrative 

The major components of general and administrative expenses were as follows: 

For the Years Ended Dollar Percent 
December 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease) 

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2010 2009 --- --- --- ---(in millions, except percentages) 

Personnel ........................ $1,219 $1,365 $1,290 $(146) $ 75 (10.7)% 5.8% 
Professional fees .................. 204 158 218 46 (60) 28.9% (27.5)% 
Telecommunications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57 69 78 (12) (9) (16.6)% (11.5)% 
Data processing ................... 90 86 78 4 8 4.8% 10.3% 
Travel and entertainment ............ 58 44 87 14 (43) 31.7% (48.9)% 
Other ........................... 224 213 245 11 (32) 4.7% (13.5)% --- --- --
General and administrative expenses .. $1,852 $1,935 $1,996 $ (83) $(61) (4.3)% (3.1)% 

Personnel expense decreased 10.7% in 2010 compared to 2009. The decline was primarily due to lower 
severance expense due to a realignment of resources in 2009, lower pension and other retirement-related 
expenses, and lower share'-based compensation expense. partially offset by higher short-term incentive 
compensation expense. Personnel expense increased 5.8% in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to 
higher costs for severance and pension. Personnel expense included $39 million, $139 million and $33 
million for severance-related charges in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The increased severance 
costs in 2009 were the result of realignment of our resources and were partially offset by lower 
contractor costs and reduced payroll costs due to reduced staffing levels. The increased pension costs 
were primmily due to lower investment returns in 2008. 

Professional fees consist primarily of legal costs to defend our outstanding litigation and third-party 
consulting services related to strategic initiatives. Professional fees increased. 28.9% in 2010 versus 
2009 driven by costs including the evaluation and execution of acquisition, e-Commerce and other 
strategic opportunities. ~rofessional fees decreased 27.5% in 2009 versus 2008 due to lower legal fees 
associated with the Litigation Settlements during 2008 and decreased usage of third-party consulting 
services; 

Telecommunications expense consists of expenses to support our global payments system infrastructure 
as well as our other telecommunication needs. These expenses vary with business volume growth, 
system upgrades and usage. 

Data processing consists of expenses to operate and maintain MasterCard's computer systems. These 
expenses vary with business volume growth, system upgrades and llsage. 

Travel and entertainment expenses are incurred primarily for travel to customer and regional meetfngs. 
In 2010, these expenses increased reflecting business development efforts. Cost containment measures 
resulted in lower travel and entertainment expenses in 2009 versus 2008. 

Other expenses include rental expense for our facilities, foreign exchange gains and losses, charges for 
impairment of assets and other miscellaneous administrative expenses. The increase in 2010 includes 
increased expenses from foreign currency remeasurement and foreign exchange lisk management 
related to tl,e DataCash acquisition and the write-off of an uncollectible receivable, partially offset by 
the 2009 asset impairment which was not repeated in 2010. The decrease in 2009 was primarily driven 
by favorable fluctuations in foreign exchange rates partially offset by charges for impairment of assets. 

The impact of foreign currency relating to the translation of amounts from the euro and the Brazilian 
real to U.S. dollars reduced general and administrative expenses by approximately I percentage point in 
2010 and had a minimal impact in 2009. 
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Advertising and Marketing 

Our brands, principally MasterCard, are valuable strategic assets that drive card acceptance and usage and 
facilitate our ability to successfully introduce new service offerings and access new markets globally. Our 
advertising and marketing strategy is to increase global MasterCard brand awareness, preference and usage 
through integrated advertising, sponsorship, promotional. interactive media and public relations programs on a 
global scale. We will also continue to invest in marketing programs at the regional and local levels and sponsor 
diverse events aimed at multiple target audiences. 

Advertising and marketing expenses increased $26 million, or 3.5%, in 201 0 mainly due to customer
specific initiatives and sponsorships. In 2009, advertising and marketing expenses decreased $179 million, or 
19.2%, primarily due to cost management initiatives 'and market realities. Additionally, the impact of foreign 
currency relating to the translation of amounts from the euro and the Brazilian real to U.S. dollars reduced 
advenising and marketing expenses by approximately 1 percentage point and 2 percentage points in 2010 and 
2009, respectively. 

Litigatioll Settlements 

Expense for litigation settlements was $5.0 million, $7.0 million and $2.5 billion for the years ended 
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for infonnation on litigation settlements. 

In 2008, MasterCard and Visa Inc. ("Visa") entered into a settlement agreement with Discover (the 
"Discover Settlement") relating to the U.S. federal antitrust litigation amongst the parties. The Discover 
Settlement ended all litigation among the parties for a total of $2.8 billion. Previously, MasterCard and Visa 
entered into a judgment sharing agreement. In accordance with the terms of the judgment sharing agreement, 
MasterCard's share of the Discover Settlement was $863 million, which was paid to Discover in November 
2008. Additionally, in connection with the Discover Settlement, Morgan Stanley, Discover's former parent 
company, paid MasterCard $35 million in November 2008, pursuant to a separate agreement. The net pre-tax 
expense of $828 mi1lion was recorded in litigation settlements in 2008. 

Also in 2008, MasterCard entered into a settlement agreement with American Express which ended all 
existing litigation between American Express and MasterCard (tIle "American Express Settlement"). Under tIle 
terms of the American Express Settlement, beginning on September 15, 2008, MasterCard is required to pay 
American Express up to $150 million each quarter for 12 quarters, payable in cash on the 15th day of the last 
month of each quaner, for a maximum amount of $1.8 billion. The charge is based on MasterCard's assumption 
that American Express will achieve certain financial peIfonnance hurdles. The quarterly payments will be in an 
amount equal to 15% of American Express' United States Global Network Services billings during the quarter, 
up to a maximum of $150 million per quarter. If, however, the payment for any quarter is less than $150 million, 
the maximum payment for subsequent quarters will be increased by the difference between $150 million and the 
lesser amount that was paid in any quruter in which there was a shortfall. MasterCard recorded the present value 
of $1.8 billion, at a 5.75% discount rate, or $1.6 billion, pre-taic, in 2008. 

In 2003, MasterCard entered into a settlement agreement (the "U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement") related 
to the U.S. merchant lawsuit described under the caption "U.S. Metchant and Consumer Litigations" in Note 22 
(Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 and 
recorded a pre-tax charge of $721 million consisting of (i) the monetary amount of the U.S. Merchant Lawsuit 
Settlement (discounted at 8 percent over the payment term), (ii) certain additional costs in connection with, and 
in order to comply with, other requirements of the U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement, and (iii) costs to address 
the merchants who opted not to participate in the plaintiff class in the U.S. merchant lawsuit. The $721 million 
pre-tax charge amount was an estimate, which was subsequently revised based on the approval of the U.S. 
Merchant Lawsuit Settlement agreement by the court and other factors. On July 1,2009, MasterCard entered into 
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an agreement (the "Prepayment Agreement") with plaintiffs of the U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement whereby 
MasterCard agreed to make a prepayment of its remaining $400 million in payment obligations at a discOlmted 
amount of $335 million. The Company paid $335 million on September 30, 2009, in accordance with the 
Prepayment Agreement. 

We recorded liabilities for these and certain other litigation settlements in 2010 and prior years. Total 
liabilities for litigation settlements changed from December 31, 2008. as follows: 

Balance as of December 31,2008 ........................................... . 
Interest accretion on U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement .......................... . 
Interest accretion on American Express Settlement .............................. . 
Payments on American Express Settlement .................................... . 
Payment on U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement ................................. . 
Gain on prepayment of U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement ........................ . 
Other payments, accruals and accretion, net .................................... . 

Balance as of December 31,2009 ........................................... . 
Interest accretion on American Express Settlement .............................. . 
Payments on American Express Settlement .................................... . 
Other payments, accruals and accretion, net .................................... . 

Balance as of December 31,2010 ........................................... . 

Depreciation alld Amortization 

(in millions) 

$1,736 
21 
66 

(600) 
(335) 

(14) 

--.i±l 
870 
35 

(600) 

~ 
$ 302 

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $7 million, or 4.8%, and $29 million, or 26.2%, in 2010 
and 2009, respectively. The net increases in depreciation and amortization expense in both years reflected 
increased investments in data center equipment, capitalized software and leasehold and building improvements. 
Additionally, in 2010, the increase included the amortization of intangible assets from the DataCash acquisition. 
See Note 2 (Acquisition of DataCash Group pIc) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, 
Item 8. In 2009, the increase included depreciation on the Company's global technology and operations center, 
which was acquired under a capital lease an'angement in 2009. We expect that depreciation and amortization will 
continue to increase as we continue to invest in propelty, plant and equipment and software. 

Other Income (Expense) 

Other income (expense) is comprised primarily of investment income, interest expense and other gains and 
losses. The components of other income (expense) for tl,e years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were 
as shown below: 

For the Years Ended Dollar Percent 
December 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease) 

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2010 2009 --- --- --- ---(in millions, except percentages) 

Investment income, net ............. $ 57 $ 58 $ 183 $ (I) $(125) (0.7)% (68.5)% 
Interest expense ................... (52) (115) (104) (63) 11 (55.1)% 11.J % 
Other income (expense), net ......... 15 72 (15) ~) (100.1)% (78.7)% -- --
Total other income (expense) ........ $ 5 $ (42) $ 151 $ 47 $(193) 113.2% (127.8)% 

-- = -- --
• Investment income decreased $1 million in 2010, reflecting lower interest rates offset by increased cash 

balances and realized gains on sales of investments. In 2009, investment income decreased $125 million 
primarily due to lower interest income as a result of lower interest rates compared to 2008, and a 
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realized gain from the sale of the Company's RedeCard S.A. investment in 2008. The Company sold the 
remaining 22% of its shares of common stock in RedeCard S.A., and realized gains of $86 million in 
2008. 

Interest expenses decreased $63 million in 2010 due to a decrease in interest on litigation settlements 
and on uncertain tax. positions. Interest expense increased $11 million in 2009 due to interest accretion 
associated with the American Express Settlement partially offset by lower interest accretion on the U.S. 
Merchant Lawsuit Settlement. Additionally, in 2008 there was higher interest expense on uncertain tax 
positions. 

• Other income decreased $15 million in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to a gain in 2009 of 
approximately $14 mi1lion on the prepayment of the Company's remaining obligation on the U.S. 
Merchant Lawsuit Settlement, with no comparable events in 2010. Other income decreased in 2009 due 
to a $75 million gain related to the termination of a customer business agreement that was recognized in 
2008. See Note 26 (Other Income) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for 
additional discussion. 

Income Taxes 

The effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31,2010,2009 and 2008 were 33.0%, 34.1%, 
and 33.7%, respectively. The tax rate for 2010 was lower than the tax rate for 2009 due primarily to the 2010 
impact of actual and anticipated repatriations from foreign subsidiaries. partially offset by discrete adjustments in 
2010 and 2009. The tax rate for 2009 was higher than the tax rate for 2008 due primarily to litigation settlement 
charges recorded in 2008, which resulted in a pretax loss in a higher tax rate jurisdiction and pretax income in 
lower tax jurisdictions. In addition, deferred tax assets were rerneasured and reduced by $15 million and $21 
million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. due to changes in our state effective tax rate. As a result of the 
remeasurements, our income tax expense was increased for the same amounts. 

The components impacting the effective income tax rates as compared to the U.S. federal statutory tax rate 
of 35.0% are as follows: 

For the years ended December 31, 
2010 2009 2008 

Dollar DoJlae Dollar 
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent 

(in millions. except percentages) 
Income (loss) before income tax expense ............. $2,757 $2,218 $(383) 
Federal statutory tax .............................. 965 35.0% 776 35.0% (134) 35.0% 
State tax effect, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 0.7 25 J.l 11 (2.9) 
Foreign tax effect, net of federal benefit .............. (24) (0.9) (22) (1.0) 2 (0.5) 
Non-deductible expenses and other differences ...... ... 23 0.9 (18) (0.7) 2 (0.7) 
Tax exempt income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5) (0.2) (6) (0.3) (10) 2.8 
Foreign repatriation .............................. (68) (2.5) 

Income tax expense (benefit) ....................... $ 910 33.0% $ 755 34.1% $(129) 33.7% 
-- -- -- -- --
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The Company's GAAP effective income tax rate for 2008 was significantly affected by the tax benefits 
related to the charges for the Litigation Settlements. Due to the non-recurring nature of these items, the Company 
beHeves that the calculation of the 2009 and 2008 effective tax rates, excluding the impacts of the Litigation 
Settlements, which are non-GAAP fmancial measures, will be helpful in comparing effective tax rates for 2009 
and 2008, which are the most directly comparable GAAP measures. 

GAAP effective tax rate calculation 
2010 2009 2008 

(in millions, except percentages) 

Income (loss) before income taxes ............... ................... . $2,757 $2,218 $(383) 
Income tax expense (benefit)l ..................................... . 910 755 (129) 

Net income (loss) ............................................... . 

Effective tax rate 

$1,847 

33.0% 

GAAP income (loss) before income taxes ....................................... . 
Litigation settlements ....................................................... . 

Non-GAAP income before income taxes ........................................ . 

Income tax expense (benefit)l ................................................. . 
Impact of litigation settlements on income tax expense (benefit) ...................... . 

Non-GAAP income tax expense ............................................... . 

Non-GAAP net income .. .................................................... . 

Non-GAAP effective tax rate ................................................. . 

* Note that figures in the above table may not sum due to rounding. 

$1,463 $(254) 

34.1% 33.7% 

Non·GAAP effective 
tax rate ca1culation 
2009 2008 

(in millions, except 
percentages) 

$2,218 $ (383) 
7 2,483 

$2,225 $2,100 

755 (129) 
(2) (941) 

758 

$1,467 

34.1% 

812 

$1,288 

38.7% 

The Litigation Settlements win be deductible in future periods as payments are made and are therefore 
considered in the calculation of nOI1-GAAP income tax expense. 

During 2010, the Company's unrecognized tax benefits related to tax positions taken during the current and 
prior periods increased by $19 million. The increase in the Company's unrecognized tax benefits for 2010 is 
primarily due to judgments related to current year tax positions. As of December 31, 2010, the Company's 
unrecognized tax benefits related to positions taken during the current and prior periods were $165 million, all of 
which would reduce the Company's effective tax rate if recognized. 

The Company's operations are conducted in various geographies with different tax rates. As the Company's 
operations evolve, this may impact the Company's future effective tax rate. As a result of the Company's 
expansion in its business activities in Asia Pacific (with its regional headquarters in Singapore), it received a tax 
incentive grant from the Singapore Ministry of Finance. The incentive is effective as of january I, 2010, and 
provides for a 5% income tax rate based on annual taxable income in excess of a base amount for a lO-year 
period. The Company did not recognize significant tax benefits in 2010 as a result of the incentive as its 
expansion commenced in November 2010. The Company continues to explore additional opportunities in this 
region which may result in a tax rate potentially lower than 5%. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We need liquidity and access to capital to fund our global operations; to provide for credit and settlement 
risk; to finance capital expenditures; to make continued investments in our business and to service our 
obligations related to litigation settlements. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had $3.9 billion and $2.9 
billion, respectively, of cash and cash equivalents and current available-far-sale securities to lise for our 
operations. Our equity was $5.2 billion and $3.5 billion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
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On August 19. 201 0, MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire all the outstanding shares of 
DataCash Group pIc. a European payment service provider. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement, 
the Company acquired DataCash on October 22, 2010 at a purchase price of 334 million U.K. pound sterling, or 
$534 million. 

On December 9, 2010, MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire Travelex CPM. Pursuant to the 
terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company is expected to acquire TraveJex CPM at a 'purchase price of 
approximately 290 million U.K. pound sterling, or approximately $458 million, with contingent consideration 
(an "earn-out") of up to an additional 35 million U.K. pound sterling, or approximately $55 million, if certain 
perfOlmance targets are met. The acquisition is expected to be consummated in the first half of 20 11. 

In September 2010, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a plan for the Company to repurchase up 
to $1 billion of its Class A common stock in open market transactions. The Company did not repurchase any 
shares under this plan during 2010. As of February 16,2011, the Company had completed the repurchase of 
approximately 0.3 million shares of its Class A common stock at a cost of approximately $75 million. The timing 
and actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price 
and economic and market conditions. 

We beHeve that the cash generated from operations, our borrowing capacity and our access to capital 
resources are sufficient to meet our future operating capital needs and litigation settlement obligations. Our 
liquidity and access to capital could be negatively impacted by the adverse outcome of any of the legal or 
regulatory proceedings to which we are still a party. See "Risk Factors-Legal and Regulatory Risks" in Part I, 
Item 1A; Note 20 (Obligations Under Litigation Settlements) and Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) to 
the consolidated financial statements included in Part n, Item 8; and "-Business Environment" in P31t II, Item 7 
for additional discussion of these and other risks facing our business. 

Cash Flow 

The table below shows a summary of the cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities: 

Percent Increase (Decrease) 
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 

(in millions, except percentages) 
Cash Flow Data: 
Net cash provided by operating activities ............. . $1,697 $1,378 $ 413 23.1% 233.5% 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ...... . (641) (664) 202 (3.5)% (429.4)% 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ...... . 19 (185) (751) 110.9% (75.4)% 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Current assets ................................... . $6,454 $5,003 $4,312 29.0% 16.0% 
Current liabilities ................................ . 3,143 3,167 2,990 (0.7)% 5.9% 
Long-term liabilities .............................. . 478 791 1,553 (39.8)% (49.1)% 
Equity ......................................... . 5,216 3,512 1,932 48.6% 81.8% 

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $1.7 billion, compared 
to $1.4 billion and $413 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. In 2010, cash from operations was primarily due 
to operating income, an increase in settlements due to customers, and an increase in accrued expenses, partially 
offset by litigation settlement payments, an increase in accounts receivable and income taxes receivable and the 
effect of stock units withheld for taxes. In 2009, cash from operations was primarily due to operating income, 
collections of accounts receivable and income taxes receivable and increases in accrued expenses for personnel 
and advertising costs, partially offset by approximately $946 million in litigation settlement payments. In 2008, 
cash from operations resulted from an increase of $2.5 billion in litigation settlement obligations, p31tially offset 
by $1.3 billion in payments for litigation settlements and increases in accounts receivable and income taxes 
receivable. 
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Net cash used in investing activities in 2010 primarily related to the DataCash acquisition and expenditures 
for our global network, partially offset by net cash inflows from investment security activities. Net cash used in 
investing activities in 2009 primarily related to net purchases of investment securities and expenditures for our 
global network. Net cash provided by investing activities in 2008 primarily related to net sales of investment 
securities, partially offset by expenditures for our payment card network and an acquisition of a business. 

The auction rate securities ("ARS") market was illiquid as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and therefore 
our ARS are classified as long-term available-for-sale securities. We had $118 million and $212 million of ARS, 
at amortized cost, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Although the ARS market is illiquid, issuer 
call and redemption activity at par occurred periodically during 2010 and 2009. See Note 6 (Investment 
Securities) to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II. Item 8 for more infonnation. 

Net cash used in fmancing activities in 2010 and 2009 included the payment of dividends offset by cash 
provided by the tax benefit from share based compensation. The repayment of debt in 2009 and 2008 utilized 
cash of $149 million and $80 million, respectively. In addition, the acquisition of 2.8 million shares of our 
Class A common stock in 2008 ,mder share repurchase programs utilized approximately $650 million. See 
Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity), Note IS (Debt) and Note 17 (Stockholders' Equity) to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for more information on our debt repayments of 
$149 million and $80 million and the stock repurchases, respectively. 

Dividends 

On December 7, 2010, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 pershare payable 
on February 9, 2011 to holders of record on January 10,2011 of our Class A common stock and Class B common 
stock. The aggregate amount payable for this dividend was $20 million as of December 31,2010. 

On February 8, 2011, our Board of DirectOl~ declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share payable 
on May 9, 2011 to holders of record on April 8, 2011 of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock. 
The aggregate amount needed for this dividend is estimated to be $20 million. The declaration and payment of 
future dividends will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account variOllS factors, 
including our financial condition, settlement guarantees, operating results, available cash and anticipated cash 
needs. 

Credit Availability 

On November 22, 2010, the Company entered into a committed three-year unsecured $2.75 billion 
revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility") with certain financial institutions. The Credit Facility, which 
expires on November 22, 2013, replaced the Company's prior credit facility which was to expire on April 26, 
2011 (the "Prior Credit Facility"). The available funding under the Prior Credit Facility was $2.5 billion from 
April 28, 2006 through April 27, 2010 and then decreased to $2 billion for the remaining period of the Prior 
Credit Facility agreement. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are available to provide liquidity for general 
corporate ptuposes, including providing liquidity in the event of one or more settlement failures by our 
customers. The facility fee and borrowing cost under the Credit Facility are contingent upon our credit rating. At 
Decemper 31, 2010, the applicable facility fee was 20 basis points on the average daily commitment (whether or 
not utilized). In addition to the facility fee. interest on borrowings under the Credit Facility would be charged at 
the London Interbank Offered Rate (LmOR) plus an applicable margin of 130 basis points or an alternate base 
rate plus 30 basis points. 

The Credit Facility contains customary representations. warranties and affIrmative and negative covenants, 
including a maximum level of consolidated debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) financial covenant and events of default. MasterCard was in compliance with the covenants of the 
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Credit Facility and had no borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2010. MasterCard was in 
compliance with the covenants of the Prior Credit Facility and had no borrowings under the Prior Credit Facility 
at December 31, 2009. The majority of Credit Facility lenders are members or affiliates of members of 
MasterCard International. 

On November 4, 2009, the Company filed a universal shelf registration statement to provide additional 
access to capital. if needed. Pursuant to the shelf registration statement, the Company may from time to time 
offer to sell debt securities, preferred stock or Class A common stock in one or more offerings. 

On January 5, 2009, HSBC Bank pIc C"HSBC") notified the Company that, effective December 31, 2008, it 
had terminated an uncommitted credit agreement totaling 100 million eures between HSBC and MasterCard 
Europe. There was no borrowing under this facility at December 31,2008. 

Future Obligations 

In addition to the $458 milJioD commitment to purchase Travelex CPM, the following table summarizes our 
obligations as of December 31,2010 that are expected to impact liquidity and cash flow in future periods. We 
believe we will be able to fund these obligations through cash generated from operations and our existing 
balances of cash and cash equivalents. 

Capita11eases1 •..•. •.•. " •.•••••••..•.•.••.•••...•.••. 

Operating leases2 ... ........•.......•.. " ............. . 

Sponsorship, licensing and other3A .. .................... . 

Litigation settlementsS ••••••••.•.•.•••..•••..•••...••. 

Debt' ............................................. . 

Total 

Note that totals in above table may not sum due to rounding. 

Payments Due by Period 

2016 and 
Total 2011 2012~2013 2014·2015 thereafter 

$ 50 $ 7 
97 26 

534 330 
308 304 

20 20 --- --
$1,009 $687 

--

(in millions) 

$ 43 $-
36 19 

182 21 
4 

$265 $ 40 

$-
16 
I 

$ l7 

Mostly related to certain property, plant and equipment. The capital lease for onr global technology and 
operations center located in O'Pallon, Missouri has been excluded from this table; see Note 9 (property, 
Plant and Equipment) to the consolidated financial statements included in PaIt II, Item 8 for further 
discussion. There is a capital lease for the Kansas City, Missouri co~processing data center. 

2 We enter into operating leases in the normal course of business. Substantia1ly all lease agreements have 
fixed payment terms based on the passage of time. Some lease agreements provide us with the option to 
renew the lease or purchase the leased property. Our future operating lease obligations would change if we 
exercised these renewal options and if we entered into additional lease agreements. 

3 Amounts primarily relate to sponsorships with certain organizations to promote the MasterCard brand. The 
amounts included are fixed and non~cancelable. In addition, these amounts include amounts due in 
accordance with merchant agreements for futw'e marketing, computer hardware maintenance, software 
licenses and other service agreements. Future cash payments that will become due to our customers under 
agreements which provide pricing rebates on our standard fees and other incentives in exchange for 
transaction volumes are not included in the table because the amounts due are indeterminable and 
contingent until such time as performance has occurred. MasterCard has accrued $666 million as of 
December 31, 2010 related to customer and merchant agreements. 

4 Inc1udes CUlTent liability of $4 million relating to the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Due to the 
high degree of uncertainty regarding the timing of the non~current liabilities for uncertainties in income 
taxes, we are unable to make reasonable estimates of the period of cash settlements with the respective 
taxing authority. 
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S Represents amounts due in accordance with the American Express Settlement and other litigation 
settlements. The American Express Settlement requires two remaining quarterly payments in the first half of 
2011 of$150 million each. 

6 Debt primarily represents amounts due for the acquisition of MasterCard France. We also have various 
credit facilities for which there were no outstanding balances at December 31, 2010 that, among other 
things, would provide liquidity in the event of settlement failures by our members. Our debt obligations 
would change if one or more of our members failed and we borrowed under these credit facilities to settle on 
our members' behalf or for other reasons. 

Seasonality 

Historically, our quarterJy gross revenues have been positively impacted in the fourth quarter by increases in 
purchase volume related to the holiday shopping period, with corresponding higher rebates and incentives to our 
customers. Also, operating expenses have historically been higher in the fourth quarter due to additional 
advertising and promotions related to the holiday period. The economic crisis in 2008 caused our operating 
results to diverge from t11ese histOlical trends as gross revenues in the fourth quarter of 2008 were negatively 
impacted by lower purchase volumes and transactions. In response, MasterCard accelerated its cost savings 
initiatives in the quarter, with particular focus on advertising, personnel and travel expenses. The results for the 
fourth quarters of 2009 and 2010 were more consistent with the historical trends. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our accounting policies are integral to understanding our results of operations and financial condition. We 
are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the fmancial statements. and the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. We have established detailed policies and control procedures 
to ensure that the methods used to make estimates and assumptions are well controlled and are applied 
consistently from period to period. The following is a brief description of our CUlTent accounting policies 
involving significant management judgments. 

Financial Statement Caption! 
Critical Accounting Estimate 

Revenue Recognition 

Domestic assessments require an 
estimate of our customers' quarterly 
GDV or GEV to recognize quarterly 
domestic assessments. 

Domestic assessments included an 
estimate representing 13% of total 
domestic assessments in each of 
2010, 2009 and 2008 and 6% of 
total net revenues in 2010,2009 and 
2008. 

Our revenue recognition policies are 
fully desclibed in Note 1 (Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies) 
to the consolidated financial 
statements in Part II. Item 8 of this 
Report. 

Assumptions/Approach Used 

Customers' GDV and GEV are 
estimated by using historical 
performance. transactional 
information accumulated from our 
systems and discussions with our 
customers. 

Such estimates are subsequently 
validated against the GDV or 
GEV reported by our customers. 
Differences are adjusted in the 
period the customer reports. 
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Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

If customers' actual perfonnance is 
not consistent with our estilJlates of 
their perfonnance, realized 
revenues may be materially 
different than initially estimated. 
Historically, our estimates have 
differed from the actual 
performance by less tban 5% of the 
estimates on a quarterly basis. 
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Financial Statement Caption! 
Critical Accounting Estimate 

Rebates and incentives are generally 
recorded as contra-revenue based on 
our estimate of each customer's 
performance in a given period and 
according to the terms of the related 
customer agreements. Examples of 
the customer performance items 
requiring estimation include GDV 
or GEV, transactions. issuance of 
new cards, launch of new programs 
or the execution of marketing 
programs. 

In addition, certain customer 
agreements include prepayment of 
rebates and incentives. Amortization 
of prepayments and other assets 
may be on straight-line basis over 
the life of the agreement or based on 
customer perfonnance depending on 
the terms of the related customer 
agreements. 

Legal and Regulatory Matters 

We are party to legal and regulatory 
proceedings with respect to a 
variety of matters. Except as 
described in Note 20 (Obligations 
Under Litigation Settlements) and 
Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory 
Proceedings) to the consolidated 
financial statements in Part IT, 
[tern 8 of this Report, MasterCard 
does not believe that any legal or 
regulatory proceedings to which it is 
a party would have a material 
adverse impact on its business or 
prospects. 

Assumptions/Approach Used 

Our estimates of each customer's 
peLformance are based on 
historical customer perfonnance, 
transactional information 
accumulated from our systems and 
discussions with our customers. 

Such estimates are subsequently 
validated by information reported 
by our customers. Differences are 
adjusted in the period the 
customer reports. 

We evaluate the likelihood of an 
unfavorable outcome of the legal 
or regulatory proceedings to 
which we are party. Our 
judgments are subjective based on 
the status of the legal or regulatory 
proceedings, the merits of our 
defenses and ,consultation with in
house and outside legal counsel. 
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Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

If customers' actual performance is 
not consistent with our estimates of 
their performance, contra-revenues 
may be materially different than 
initially estimated. 

Due to tile inherent uncertainties of 
the legal and regulatory process in 
the multiple jurisdictions in which 
we operate, our judgments may be 
materially different than the actual 
outcomes. 
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Financial Statement Caption! 
erit'ica] Accounting Estimate 

Income Taxes 

In calculating our effective tax rate, 
we need to make estimates 
regarding the timing and amount of 
taxable and deductible items which 
will adjust the pretax income earned 
in various tax jurisdictions. 

We record a valuation allowance to 
reduce QUf deferred tax assets to' the 
amount that is more likely than not 
to be realized. 

We record tax liabilities for uncertain 
tax positions taken, or expected to be 
taken, which may not be sustained or 
may only be partially sustained, upon 
examination by the relevant taxing 
authorities. 

We do not record U.S. income tax 
expense for foreign eamings which 
we intend to reinvest indefinitely to 
expand our international operations. 

Asset Impairment Analyses 

Prepaid Customer alld Merchallt 
Incentives 

Assumptions/Approach Used 

Through our interpretation of local 
tax regulations, adjustments to 
pretax income for income earned 
in various tax jurisdictions are 
reflected within various tax filings. 

We considered projected future 
taxable income and ongoing tax 
planning strategies in assessing the 
need for the valuation allowance. 

We considered all relevant facts 
and current authorities in the tax 
law in assessing whether any 
benefit resulting from an uncertain 
tax position was more likely than 
not to be sustained and, if so, how 
current law impacts the amount 
reflected within these financial 
statements. 

We considered business plans, 
planning opportunities, and 
expected future outcomes in 
assessing the needs for future 
expansion and support of our 
international operations. 

We prepay certain customer and Our estimates of customer 
merchant business incentives. In the performance are based on 
event of customer or merchant historical customer performance, 
business failure, these incentives discussions with our customer and 
may not have future economic our expectations for the future. 
benefits for our business. 

hnpairment analysis is performed 
quarterly or whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. The impainnent 
analysis for each customer requires 
an estimation of our customer's 
future performance and an 
assessment of the agreement tenns 
to determine the future net cash 
flows expected from the customer 
agreement. 
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Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

AlulOugh we believe that our 
estimates and judgments discussed 
herein are reasonable, actual results 
may differ by a material amount. 

If it is detennined that we are able 
to realize deferred tax assets in 
excess of the net carrying value or 
to the extent we are unable to 
realize a deferred tax asset, we 
would adjust the valuation 
allowance ,with a corresponding 
increase or decrease to earnings. 

If upon examination, we realize a 
tax benefit which is not fully 
sustained or is more favorably 
sustained, this would decrease or 
increase earnings in the period. In 
certain situations, the Company will 
have offsetting tax credits or taxes 
in other jurisdictions. 

If our business plans change or our 
future outcomes differ from our 
expectations, U.S. income tax 
expense and our effective tax. rate 
could increase or decrease in that 
period. 

If events or changes in 
circumstances occur, additional 
impairment charges related to our 
prepaid customer and merchant 
incentives may be incurred. The 
carrying value of prepaid customer 
and merchant incentives was $497 
million at December 31. 2010. 
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Financial Statement Caption! 
Critical Accounting Estimate 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
(excluding Capitalized Software) 

We perform analyses of goodwill 
and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets on an annual basis or sooner 
if indicators of impairment exist. 
We review intangible assets with 
finite lives for impairment based on 
undiscounted cash flows when 
events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. 

Goodwill and intangible assets are 
assigned to our reporting units. The 
fair value of each reporting unit is 
compared to the carrying value of 
the respective reporting unit. Our 
goodwill policies are fully described 
in Note 1 (Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies) to the 
consolidated financial statements in 
Part II, Item 8 of this report. 

We determined that the majority of 
our customer relationships, which 
are intangible assets, have indefinite 
lives. In addition to the impairment 
testing noted above. we assess the 
appropriateness of that indefinite 
life annually. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Assumptions! Approach Used 

We utilized a weighted income 
and market approach for 
detennining the fair values of our 
reporting units. Our significant 
valuation-related judgments 
related to goodwill and intangible 
asset impairment tests include, as 
applicable, forecasting cash 
flows, selection of discount rates 
and selection of comparable 
companies. We used both internal 
and external data to make these 
judgments. 

We used internal data and 
estimates regarding changes in 
our customer relationships and 
future cash flows to assess the 
indefinite life and assess fair 
value. 

Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

If market conditions or business 
conditions change in the future, we 
may be exposed to impainnent 
charges associated with goodwill and! 
or intangible assets. The net carrying 
value of goodwill and intangible 
assets, excluding capitalized software, 
was $971 million, including $194 
million of unamortizable customer 
relationships, as of December 31, 
2010. 

If a definite life is deemed to be 
more appropriate, it would require 
amortization of the customer 
relationships which would result in 
a decline in future net income. 

Transfers offinancial assets-In June 2009, the accounting standard for transfers and servicing of financial 
assets and extinguishments of liabilities was amended. The change eHminates the qualifying special purpose 
entity concept, establishes a new unit of account definition that must be met for the transfer of portions of 
financial assets to be eligible for sale accounting, clarifies and changes the derecognition criteria for a transfer to 
be accounted for as a sale. changes the amount of gain or loss on a transfer of fmaneial assets accounted for as a 
sale when beneficial interests are received by the transferor, and requires additional new disclosures. The 
Company adopted the new standard upon its effective date of January 1,2010. The adoption did not have an 
impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Variable interest entities-In June 2009, there was a revision to the accounting standard for the 
consolidation of variable interest entities. The revision eliminates the exemption for qualifying special purpose 
enti ties, requires a new qualitative approach for detennining whether a reporting entity should consolidate a 
variable interest entity, and changes the requirement of when to reassess whether a reporting entity should 
consolidate a variable interest entity. During February 2010, the scope of the revised standard was modified to 
indefinitely exclude certain entities from the requirement to be assessed for consolidation. The Company adopted 
the new standard upon its effective date of Januroy I, 2010. The adoption did not have an impact on the 
Company's financial position or results of operations. 

71 

117 (full document)



Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables-In September 2009, the accounting standard for the 
allocation of revenue in arrangements involving multiple deliverables was amended. Current accounting 
standards require companies to allocate revenue based on the fair value of each deliverable, even though such 
deliverables may not be sold separately either by the company itself or other vendors. The new accounting 
standard eliminates (i) the residual method of revenue allocation and (ii) the requirement that all undelivered 
elements must have objective and reliable evidence of fair value before a company can recognize the portion of 
the overall arrangement fee that is attributable to items that already have been delivered. The Company will 
adopt the revised accounting standard effective January 1,2011 via prospective adoption. The Company does not 
expect the adoption to have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Fair value disclosures-In January 2010. fair value disclosure requirements were amended to require 
detailed disclosures about transfers to and from Levelland 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy effective January I, 
2010 and disclosures regarding purchases. sales, issuances, and settlements on a "gross" basis within the Level 3 
(of the Valuation Hierarchy) reconciliation effective January 1,2011. The Company adopted the new guidance 
for disclosures about transfers to and from Levell and 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy effective January 1,2010. 
The adoption did not have an impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. The Company 
will adopt the guidance that requires disclosrne of a reconciliation of purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements 
on a "gross" basis within Level 3 (of the Valuation Hierarchy) effective January 1,2011, as required, and the 
adoption will have no impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Disclosure about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses-In July 
2010, a: new accounting standard was issued. This standard provides new disclosure guidance that will require 
companies to provide more information about the credit quality of their financing receivables in the disc1osw'es 
to financial statements including, but not limited to, significant purchases and sales of financing receivables. 
aging infonnation and credit quality indicators. The Company adopted this accounting standard upon its effective 
date, periods ending on or after December 15, 2010, and the adoption had no impact on the Company's financial 
position or results of operations. 

impainnent testing for goodwill-In December 2010, a new accounting standard was issued. This standard 
requires Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test to be perfonned for reporting units with zero or negative carrying 
amounts if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. The 
provisions for this pronouncement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15. 2010, with no early 
adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this accounting standard on January I, 2011, and does not 
anticipate that this adoption will have an impact on the Company's financial positio~ or results of operations. 

Business combinations-In December 2010, a new accounting standard was issued. This standard requires a 
company to disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination that 
occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting 
period, only when comparative financial statements are presented. The disclosure provisions are effective 
prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010, with early adoption permitted. The Company 
will adopt this accounting standard on January 1,2011, and the adoption will have no impact on the Company's 
financial position or results of operations. 

Item 7 A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Market risk is the potential for economic losses to be incurred on market risk sensitive instlUments arising 
from adverse changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity price 
risk. We have limited exposure to market risk from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity 
price risk. Management establishes and oversees the implementation of policies governing our funding, 
investments and use of derivative financial instruments. We monitor risk exposures on an ongoing basis. There 
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were no material changes in our market risk exposures at December 31. 2010 as compared to December 3], 
2009. The Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act includes provisions related to derivative financial 
instruments and the Company is detennining what impact, if any. such provisions will have on the Company's 
financial position or results of operations. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

We enter into forward contracts to manage foreign exchange risk associated with anticipated receipts and 
disbursements which are either transacted in a non-functional currency or valued based on a currency other than 
our functional currencies. We also enter into forward contracts to offset possible changes in value due to foreign 
exchange fluctuations of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The objective of this activity is 
to reduce our exposure to transaction gains and losses resulting from fluctuations of foreign currencies against 
our functional currencies, principally the U.S. dollar and eum. The tenns of the forward contracts are generally 
less than 18 months. 

The table below shows a summary of derivative contracts classified by functional currency: 

u.s. Dollar Functional Currency 
(in millions) 

Commitments to purchase foreign clliTency .................... . 
Commitments to sell foreign currency ......................... . 

Euro Functional Currency 
(in millions) 

Commitments to purchase foreign currency .................... . 
Commitments to sell foreign currency ......................... . 

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009 

Estimated Estimated 
Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value 

$ 36 
129 

$ I 
(2) 

December 31, 2010 

$38 
50 

$
(I) 

December 31, 2009 

Estimated Estimated 
Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value 

$ 2 
14 

$- $16 
45 

$-

U.K. Pound Sterling Functional Currency 
(in millions) 

Commitments to purchase foreign currency .................... . 
Commitments to sell foreign currency ......................... . 

December 31, 2010 December 31. 2009 

Estimated Estimated 
Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value 

$-
5 

$- $- $-

Our settlement activities are subject to foreign exchange risk resulting from foreign exchange rate 
fluctuations. This risk is limited to the typical one business day timeframe between setting the foreign exchange 
rates and clearing the financial transactions and by confining the supported settlement currencies to the U.S. 
dollar or one of 16 other transaction currencies. The remaining 134 transaction currencies are settled in one of the 
supported settlement currencies or require local settlement netting arrangements that minimize our foreign 
exchange exposure. 
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Interest Rate Risk 

Our interest rate sensitive assets are our investments in debt securities, which we generally hold as 
available-for-sale investments. OUf general policy is to invest in high quality securities, while providing adequate 
liquidity and maintaining diversification to avoid significant exposure. The fair value and maturity distribution of 
the Company's available for sale investments as of December 31 was as follows: 

Maturity 
(in millions) 

Fair Market 
Value at No 

December 31. Contractual 2016 and 
Financial Instrument Summary Tenns 21110 Maturity 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 thereafter 

Municipal 
bonds ......... flxed interest $315 $- $ 8 $ 33 $ 93 $ 69 $ 55 $ 57 

Short-term bond fixed/variable 
funds ......... interest 516 516 

Auction rate 
securities ...... variable interest 106 106 -- --

Total .......... . $937 $516 $ 8 $ 33 $ 93 $ 69 $ 55 $163 
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

Maturity 

(in miUions) 
Fair Market 

Value at No 
December 31, Contractual 2015 and 

Financial Instrument Summary Terms 2009 Maturity 2010 wn 2012 21113 2014 thereafter 

Municipal 
bonds ......... fixed interest $ 514 $- $ 28 $ 97 $ 96 $120 $ 80 $ 93 

Short-term bond fixed/variable 
funds ......... interest 310 310 

Auction rate 
securities . ..... variable interest 180 180 --

Total ... " ..... " . $1,004 $310 $ 28 $ 97 $ 96 $120 $ 80 $273 
-- -- -- -- -- -- --

At December 31) 2010, we have a credit facility which provides liquidity for general corporate purposes, 
including providing liquidity in the event of one or more settlement failures by the Company's customers. This 
credit facility has variable rates, which are applied to the bon"owing based on terms and conditions set forth in the 
agreement. We had no borrowings under this facility at December 31, 2010 or 2009. See Note 15 (Debt) to the 
consolidated financial statements in Part TIt Item 8 for additional infonnatioD. 

Equity Price Risk 

The Company did not have significant equity price risk as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The management of MastetCard Incorporated ("MasterCard") is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over ftnancial reporting. Internal control m'er financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002, management has assessed the effectiveness of MasterCard' 5 internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2010. In making its assessment, management has utilized the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in its report entitled Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework. Management has concluded that, based on its assessment, MasterCard's 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010. The effectiveness of 
MasterCard's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting finn, as stated in their report which 
appears on the next page. 
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[PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS letterhead] 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To tbe Board of Du-ectors and Shareholders 
of MasterCard Incorporated: 

In our opinion. the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of MasterCard Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 
and December 31, 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in tbe United 
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects. effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 3J, 2010, based on criteria established in lntemal Contro/
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective 
internal control over fmancial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, and on the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of 
material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial repOlting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included perfOIming such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinions. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the mainrenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
acctu'ately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and d~rectors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition. use, or disposition of the 
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

NewYork,NewYork 
February 24, 2011 
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Cash and cac;h equivalents 

MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

ASSETS 

Investment securities available-for-sale, at fair value 
Investment securities held-ta-maturity 
Accounts receivable 
Settlement due from customers 
Restricted security deposits held for customers 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income taxes 
Other current assets 

Total Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Goodwill 
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 
Auction rate securities available-for-sale. at fair value 
Investment securities held-ta-maturity 
Prepaid expenses 
Other assets 
Total Assets 

Accounts payable 
Settlement due to customers 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Restricted security deposito; held for customers 
Obligations under litigation settlements 
Accrued expenses 
Other current liabilities 
Total Current Liabilities 
Deferred income taxes 
Obligations under litigation settlemenl'i 
Long-term debt 
Other liabilities 
Total Liabilities 
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 19, 20 and 22) 
Stockholders' Equity 
Class A common stock, $.0001 par value; authorized 3,000,000,000 shares, 129,436,818 and 

116,534,029 shares issued and 122,696,228 and 109,793,439 outstanding, respectively 
Class B common stock, $.0001 par value; authorized 1,200,000,000 shares, 8,202,380 and 

19,977,657 issued and outstanding, respectively 
Class M common stock, $.0001 par value; authorized 0 and 1,000,000 shares, 0 and 1,812 shares 

issued and outstanding, respectively 
Additional paid-in-capital 
Class A treasury stock, at cost, 6,740,590 shares, respectively 
Retained earnings 
Accumulated other comprehensive income: 

Cumulative foreign currency translation adjusonents 
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans, net of tax 
Investment securities available-far-sale, net of tax 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 
Total Stockholders' Equity 
Non-controlling interests 
Total Equity 

Total Liabilities and Equity 

December 31, December 31, 
2010 2009 

(in millions, except share data) 

$ 3,067 $ 2,055 
831 824 
300 
650 536 
497 459 
493 446 
315 313 
216 244 

85 126 

6,454 5,003 
439 449 

5 264 
677 309 
530 415 
106 180 
36 338 

365 328 
225 184 

$ 8,837 $ 7,470 

$ 272 $ 290 
636 478 
493 446 
298 607 

1,315 1,225 
129 121 

3,143 3,167 
74 80 

4 263 
22 

400 426 ---
3,621 3,958 

3,445 3,412 
(1,250) (1,250) 
2,915 1,148 

105 212 
(12) (15) 

2 __ (3) ---
95 194 

5,205 3,504 
II 8 

5,216 3,512 

$ 8,837 $ 7,470 
---

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions, except per share data) 

Revenues, net $5,539 $5,099 $4,992 
Operating Expenses 
General and administrative 1,852 1,935 1,996 
Advertising and marketing 782 756 935 
Litigation settlements 5 7 2,483 
Depreciation and amortization 148 141 112 

Total operating expenses 2,787 2,839 5,526 

Operating income (loss) 2,752 2,260 (534) 
Other Income (Expense) 
Investment income, net 57 58 183 
Interest expense (52) (ll5) (104) 
Other income (expense), net 15 72 --

Total other income (expense) 5 ~ 151 --
Income (loss) before income taxes 2,757 2,218 (383) 
Income tax expense (benefit) 910 755 (129) 

Net income (loss) 1,847 1,463 (254) 
Income attributable to non-controlling interests --(I) 

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to MasterCard $1,846 $1,463 $ (254) 

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share (Note 3) $14.10 $11.19 $ (1.94) 
-- --

Basic Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Note 3) 131 130 130 
-- -- --

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share (Note 3) $14.05 $11.16 $ (1.94) 
-- --

Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Note 3) 131 130 130 
-- --

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Operating Acth,ities 
Net income (loss) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating 

activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Gain on sale of Redecard S.A. available-for-sale securities 
Share based payments 
Stock units withheld for taxes 
Tax benefit for share based compensation 
Impairment of assets 
Accretion of imputed interest on litigation settlements 
Deferred income taxes 
Other 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 
Income taxes receivable 
Settlement due from customers 
Prepaid expenses 
Obligations under litigation settlement 
Accounts payable 
Settlement due to customers 
Accrued expenses 
Net change in other assets and liabilities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Investing Activities 
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired 
Purchases of property, plant and eqUipment 
Capitalized software 
Purchases of investment securities available~for~sale 
Purchases of investment securities held~to-maturity 
Proceeds from sales of investment securities, available-for-sale 
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 
Invesunent in nonmarketable equity investments 
Other investing activities 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 

Financing Activities 
Tax benefit for share based compensation 
Exercise of stock options 
Dividends paid 
Investment in (redemption of) non~controlling interest 
Purchase of treasury stock 
Payment of debt 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents-beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents-end of period 

2010 2009 2008 

(in millions) 

$1,847 $1,463 $ (254) 

148 141 112 
(86) 

63 88 61 
(126) (28) (67) 
(85) (39) (48) 

4 16 13 
35 86 77 

248 337 (484) 
2 (11) 15 

(115) 122 (116) 
(50) 190 (198) 
(61) 54 183 
(48) (113) (101) 

(603) (939) 1,255 
(19) 34 8 
186 (66) (53) 
265 82 51 

6 ~ 45 

1,697 1,378 413 

(498) (3) (82) 
(61) (57) (76) 
(90) (83) (95) 

(329) (333) (520) 
(300) 

297 98 965 
110 36 12 
(67) (18) 

__ (3) ~ ~ 
(641) (664) 202 

85 39 48 
11 9 9 

(79) (79) (79) 
2 (5) 

(649) 
(149) ~ 

19 ~) ~) --
~) 21 ~) --

1,012 550 (154) 
2,055 1,505 1,659 

$3,067 $2,055 $1,505 
--

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Accumulated 
Retained Other 
Earnings Comprehensive Additional Non-

(Accumulated Incom~ Common Shares Paid-In Treasury Controlling 
Total Deficit) net of tax Class A Class B Capital Stock Interests 

(in millions, except per share data) 
Balance at December 31, 2007 $3,032 $ 38 $278 $- $- $3,312 $ (601) $ 5 

Net loss (254) (254) 
Otber comprehensive loss, net of tax (169) (169) 
Ca.<;h dividends declared on Class A and 

Class B COnunOIl stock, $0.60 per share (79) (20) (59) 
Share based payments 61 61 
Stock units withheld for taxes (67) (67) 
Tax benefit for share based compensation 48 48 
Purchases of treasury stock (649) (649) 
Conversion of Class B to Class A common 

stock 
Exercise of stock options 9 9 

Balance at December 31, 2008 1,932 (236) 109 3,304 (1,250) 5 
Redemption of non-controlling interest (5) (5) 
Investment in majority o'Wlled entity 8 8 
Net income 1,463 1,463 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 85 85 
Cash dividends declared on Class A and 

Class B common stock, $0.60 per share (79) (79) 
Share based payments 88 88 
Stock units withheld for taxes (28) (28) 
Tax benefit for share based compensation 39 39 
Conversion of C1ac;s B to Cla .. s A common 

stock 
Exercise of stock options 9 9 

Balance at December 31, 2009 3,512 1,148 194 3,412 (1,250) 8 
Investment in majority owned entity 2 2 
Netillcome 1,847 1,846 1 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (99) (99) 
Cash dividends declared on Class A and 

Class B common stock, $0.60 per share (79) (79) 
Share based payment.;; 63 63 
Stock units withheld for taxes (126) (126) 
Tax benefit for share based compensation 85 85 
Conversion of Class B to Cla .. s A common 

stock 
Exercise of stock options 11 II --

Balance at December 31, 2010 $5,216 $2,915 $ 95 $- $- $3,445 $(1,250) $ 11 -- -- -- -- -- -- --

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Net Income (Loss) 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 
Defined benefit pension and postretirement plans 
Income tax effect 

Investment securities available-for-sale 
Income tax effect 

Reclassification adjustment for investment securities available-for-sale 
Income tax effect 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
Income attributable to non-controlling interests 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to MasterCard 

2010 

$1,847 

(107) 
5 

----.£) 
3 

17 
(6) 

II 
(9) 
3 

(6) 

~ 
1,748 
__ (1) 

$1,747 

2009 
(in millions) 

$1,463 

37 
45 

~ 
28 
33 

~) 

21 
(2) 
I 

(1 ) 
85 

1,548 

$1,548 
--

The accompanying notes are an integral prut of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2008 

$(254) 

(41) 
(63) 
23 --

(40) 
(52) 
18 --

(34) 
(84) 
30 --

(54) 
(169) 

(423) 

$(423) 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accountillg Policies 

Organization-MasterCard Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, including MasterCard 
International Incorporated ("MasterCard International") and MasterCard Europe sprJ ("MasterCard Europe") 
(together, "MasterCard" or the "Company"), provide payment solutions, including transaction processing and 
related services to customers principally in support of their credit, deposit access (debit), prepaid, electronic cash 
and Automated Teller Machine ("ATM") payment card programs, and travelers cheque programs. Our financial 
institution customers are generally either principal members ("principal members") of MasterCard International, 
which participate directly in MasterCard International's business, or affiliate members ("affiliate members") of 
MasterCard International, which participate indirectly in MasterCard International's business through a principal 
member. 

Consolidation and basis of presentation-The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 
MasterCard and its majority-owned and controlled entities, including any vadable interest entities for which the 
Company is the primary beneficiary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidatiqn. 
The Company fol1ows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). 

The Company is a variable interest holder in certain entities that do not have sufficient equity at risk to 
fmance their activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties or whose equity 
investors lack the ability to control the entity's activities (referred to as VIEs). These variable interests arise from 
contractual, ownership or other monetary interests in the entities. The Company consolidates a VIE jf it is the 
primary beneficiary, defined as the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly 
impact the VIE's economic performance and a variable interest that could potentially be significant to the VIE. 
To determine whether or not a variable interest the Company holds could potentially be significant to the VIE, 
the Company considers both qualitative and ~ quantitative factors regarding the nature, size and form of the 
Company's involvement with the VIE. The Company assesses whether or not it is the primary beneficiary of a 
VIE on an on-going basis. Investments in variable interest entities for which the Company is not considered the 
primary beneficiary are not consolidated and are accounted for as equity method or cost method investments. See 
Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity) for further discussion. 

Non-controlling interest represents the equity interest not owned by the Company and is recorded for 
consolidated entities in which the Company owns less than 100% of the interests. Non-controlling interests are 
reported as a component of equity. In addition, changes in a parent's ownership interest while the parent retains 
its controlling interest are accounted for as equity transactions, and upon a gain or loss of control, retained 
ownership interests are remeasured at fair value, with any gain or loss recognized in earnings. 

The Company accounts for investments in common stock or in-substance common stock under the equity 
method of accounting when it has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee, generally when it 
holds 20% or more of the common stock in the entity. MasterCard's share of net earnings or losses of entities 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting is included in other income (expense) on the consolidated 
statement of operations. The Company accounts for investments lmder the historical cost method of accounting 
when it does not exercise significant influence, generally when it holds less than 20% ownership in the common 
stock of the entity. Investments for which the equity method or historical cost method of accounting are used are 
recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. 

Reclassification of prior period amounts-Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform 
to the 2010 presentation. Additionally, in 2009, the Company reclassified amounts that primarily related to the 
adoption of certain accounting standards and the reclassification of celtain cardholder-related enhancement 
expenses, which were previously classified as advertising and marketing expenses, to general and administrative 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

expenses. These cardholder benefit program expenses. such as insurance and card replacements, were previously 
deemed promotional featmes of the cards and over time have become standard product offerings in certain card 
categories. Approximately $83 million of these expenses were reclassified for the year ended December 31, 2008 
to conform to the 2009 presentation. 

Use of estimates-The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting periods. Management has established detailed policies and control.procedures to 
ensure the methods used to make estimates are well controlled and applied consistently from period to period. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Fair value-The Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis 
by estimating the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When valuing liabilities, the Company also 
considers the Company's creditworthiness. The Company classifies these recurring fair value measurements into 
a three-level hierarchy ("Valuation Hierarchy") and discloses the significant assumptions utilized in measuring 
all of its assets and liabilities at fair value. 

The Valuation Hierarchy is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as 
of the measurement date. A financial instrument's categorization within the Valuation Hierarchy is based upon 
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the Valuation 
Hierarchy are as follows: 

Level I-inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets. 

Level 2-inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in 
active markets. quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in inactive markets and inputs that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full tenn of the 
fmandaI instrument. 

Level 3-inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The Company's non 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a llonrecuning basis include property. plant and 
equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets. These assets are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis; 
however. they are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence of 
impairment. 

The va1uation methods for goodwill and other intangible assets involve assumptions concerning comparable 
company multiples. discount rates, growth projections and other assumptions of future business conditions. As 
the assumptions employed to measure these assets and liabilities on a nonrecurring basis are based on 
management's judgment using internal and external data, these fau' value detenninations are classified in Level 3 
of the Valuation Hierarchy. See Note 5 (Fair Value) for infonnation about methods and assumptions. The 
Company has not elected to apply the fair value option to its eligible fmancial assets and liabilities. 

Cash and cash equivalents-Cash and cash equivalents include certain liquid investments with a maturity of 
three months or less from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair 
value. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

Restricted Cash-The Company classifies cash as restricted when the cash is unavailable for withdrawal or 
usage. Restrictions may include legally restricted deposits, contracts entered into with others, or the Company's 
statements of intention with regard to particular deposits. 

Investment securities-The Company classifies investments in debt secunues as held-ta-maturity or 
available-for-sale and classifies investments in equity securities as available-for-sale or trading. 
Available-for-sale securities that are available to meet the Company's cun'ent operational needs are classified as 
current assets. Available-for-sale securities that are not available to meet the Company's current operational 
needs are classified as non-current assets. 

Investments in debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the intent and ability 
to hold the debt securities to maturity and are stated at amortized cost. Investments in debt securities not 
classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, with unrealized 
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income (loss) 
on the consoHdated statement of comprehensive income Ooss). Net realized gains and losses on debt securities 
are recognized in investment income on the consolidated statement of operations. 

The fair values of the Company's short-term bond funds are based on quoted prices for identical 
investments in active markets and are therefore included in Level I of the Valuation Hierarchy. The fair values of 
the Company's available-for-sale municipal bonds are based on quoted prices for similar assets in active markets 
and are therefore included in Level 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy. The fair value determination for the Company's 
Auction Rate Securities ("ARS") is based primarily on an income approach and is therefore included in Level 3 
of the Valuation Hierarchy. See Note 5 (Fair Value) and Note 6 (Investment Securities) for additional disclosures 
related to the fair value standard. 

The Company has incorporated the considerations of guidance pertaining to determining the fair value of 
financial assets in inactive markets in its assessment of the fair value of its ARS as of December 31) 2010 and 
2009. The guidance provides consideration of how management's internal cash flow and discount rate 
assumptions should be considered when measuring fair value when relevant observable data does not exist, how 
observable market information in a market that is not active should be considered when measuring fair value and 
how the use of market quotes should be considered when assessing the relevance of observable and unobservable 
data available to measure fair value. See Note 5 (Fair Value) for further detail. 

Investments in equity securities classified as available-for-sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized 
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income Ooss) 
on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (1oss). Net realized gains and losses on available-for-sale 
equity securities are recognized in investment income on the consolidated statement of operations. The specific 
identification method is used to detennine realized gains and losses. 

Available-for-sale debt and equity securities are evaluated for other than temporary impairment on an 
ongoing basis. If an investment is determined to be other than temporarily impaired, realized losses are 
recognized in investment income on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Settlement due from/due to customers-The Company operates systems for clearing and settling payment 
transactions among MasterCard International members. Net settlements are generally cleared daily among 
members through settlement cash accounts by wire transfer or other bank clearing means. However. some 
transactions may not settle until subsequent business days, resulting in amounts due from and due to MasterCard 
International members. 
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MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

Restricted security deposits held for MasterCard International members-MasterCard requires and holds 
cash deposits and certificates of deposit from certain members of MasterCard International as collateral for 
settlement of their transactions. These assets are fully offset by corresponding liabilities included on the 
consolidated balance sheet. However, the majority of collateral for settlement is typically in the form of standby 
letters of credit and bank guarantees which are not recorded on the balance sheet. 

Property, plant and equipment-Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of equipment and furniture and fixtures is computed using the 
straight-line method over the related estimated useful lives of the assets, generally ranging from two to five 
years. Amortization of leasehold improvements is generally computed using the straight-line method over the 
lesser of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the terms of the related leases. Capital leases are 
amortized using the straight-line method over the lives of the leases. Depreciation on buildings is calculated 
using the straight-line method over an estimated useful life of 30 years. Amortization of leasehold improvements 
and capital leases is included in depreciation expense. 

The Company evaluates the recoverability of all long-lived assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of the asset 
cannot be recovered from estimated future cash flows, undiscounted and without interest, the fair value of the 
asset is calculated using the present value of estimated net future cash flows. If the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its fair value, an impairment is recorded. 

Leases-The Company enters into operating and capital leases for the use' of premises, software and 
equipment. Rent expense related to lease agreements which contain lease incentives is recorded 011 a straight-line 
basis. 

Business combinations-The Company accounts for businesses acquired in business combinations under the 
acquisition method of accounting. The Company measures the tangible and intangible identifiable assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrol1ing interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date, at their fair 
values as of that date. Acquisition-related costs are expensed separately from the business combination and are 
included in general and administrative expenses. Any excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets 
acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, is recorded as goodwill. 

Goodwill-Goodwill represents the excess of cost over net assets acquired in connection with the 
acquisition of businesses accounted for as business combinations. The Company tests its goodwill for 
impairment annually as of October I, or sooner if indicators of impairment exist. The impairment evaluation 
utilizes a two step approach. The first step is to determine if the carrying value of the reporting unit including its 
goodwill exceeds its fair value. If so, the second step measures the amount of the impairment loss. Impainnent 
charges, if any, are recorded in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. 
See Note 10 (Goodwill) for additional information on the Company's goodwill. 

Intangible assets-Intangible assets consist of capitalized software costs, trademarks, tradenames, customer 
relationships and other intangible assets, which have finite lives, and customer relationships related to the 
acquisition of Europay International S.A. in 2002, which have indefinite lives. Intangible assets with finite useful 
lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from I to 10 years, under the straight-line 
method. For capitalized software, MasterCard capitalizes average internal costs incurred for payroll and payroll 
related expenses by department for the employees who directly devote time to the design, development and 
testing phases of each capitalized software project. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

The Company reviews intangible assets with fInite lives for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized 
when the expected undiscounted cash flows of an asset group are less than the carrying value. Impairment 
charges are recorded in general and administrative expense on the consolidated statement of operations. 
Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment annually as of October 1, or sooner if indicators 
of impairment exist. Impainnent exists if the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than 
carrying value. See Note 11 (Other Intangible Assets) for further detail on impainnent charges and other 
information regarding intangible assets. 

Treasury stock-The Company records the repurchase of shares of common stock at cost based on the 
settlement date of the transaction. These shares are classified as treasury stock, which is a reduction to 
stockholders' equity. Treasury stock is induded in authorized and issued shares but excluded from outstanding 
shares. 

Litigation-The Company is a party to certain legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to a variety of 
matters. Except as described in Note 20 (Obligations Under Litigation Settlements) and Note 22 (Legal and 
Regulatory Proceedings), MasterCard does not believe that any legal or regulatory proceedings to which it is a 
party would have a material adverse impact on its business or prospects. The Company evaluates the likelihood 
of an unfavorable outcome of all legal or regulatOlY proceedings to which it is a party and accrues a loss 
contingency when the loss is probable and reasonably estimable. These judgments are subjective based on the 
status of the legal or regulatory proceedings, the merits of its defenses and consultation with in-house and 
external legal counsel. The actual outcomes of these proceedings may materially differ from the Company's 
judgments. Legal costs are expensed as incurred and recorded in general and administrative expenses. 

Settlement and other risk management-MasterCard has global risk management poJicies and procedures, 
which include risk standards to provide a framework for managing the Company's settlement exposure. 
Settlement risk is the legal exposure due to the difference in timing between the payment transaction date and 
subsequent settlement. MasterCard International's rules generally guarantee the payment of certain MasterCard, 
Cirrus and Maestro-branded transactions between its principal members. The term and amount of the guarantee 
are unlimited. Settlement exposure under the guarantee is short term and typically limited to a few days. In the 
event that MasterCard International effects a payment on behalf of a failed member, MasterCard International 
may seek an assignment of the underlying receivables. Subject to approval by the Company's Board of Directors, 
members may be charged for the amount of any settlement losses incurred during the ordinary activities of the 
Company. MasterCard has also guaranteed the payment of MasterCard-branded travelers cheques in the event of 
issuer default. The term of the guarantee is unlimited, while the amount is limited to cheques issued but not yet 
cashed. The Company may also have other guarantee obligations in the course of its business. The Company 
accounts for each of its guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, the adoption date of the relevant 
accounting standard. by recording the guarantee at its fair value at the inception or modification of the guarantee 
through earnings. To the extent that a guarantee is modified subsequent to the inception of the guarantee, the 
Company remeasures the fair value of the guarantee at the date of modification through earnings. 

The Company enters into business agreements in the ordinary course of business under which the Company 
agrees to indemnify third parties against damages, losses and expenses incm-red in connection with legal and 
other proceedings arising from relationships or transactions with the Company. As the extent of the Company's 
obligations under these agreements depends entirely upon the occurrence of future events, the Company's 
potential future liability under these agreements is not detenninable. See Note 5 (Fair Value) and Note 23 
(Settlement and Other Risk Management). 

Derivativefinancial instruments-The Company accounts for all derivatives, whether designated in hedging 
relationships or not, by recording them on the balance sheet at fair value in other assets and other liabilities. 
regardless of the purpose or intent for holding them. The Company's foreign exchange forward contracts are 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

included in level 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy as the fair value of these contracts are based on broker quotes for 
the same or similar instmments. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are reported in current-period 
earnings. The Company did not have any derivative contracts accounted for under hedge accounting as of 
December 31,2010 and 2009. 

Income taxes-The Company follows an asset and liability based approach in accounting for income taxes 
as required under GAAP. Defen-ed income tax assets and liabilities are recorded to reflect the tax consequences 
on future years of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and income tax bases 
of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are displayed as separate line items or are included in other 
current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Valuation allowances are provided against assets which are 
not more likely than not to be realized. The Company recognizes all material tax positions, including all 
significant uncertain tax positions in which it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained based on 
its technical merits and if challenged by the relevant taxing authorities. At each balance sheet date, unresolved 
uncertain tax positions are reassessed to determine whether subsequent developments require a change in the 
amount of recognized tax benefit. The allowance for uncertain tax positions is recorded in other current and 
noncurrent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. 

The Company records interest expense related to income tax matters as interest expense in its statement of 
operations. The company includes penalties related to income tax matters in the income tax provision. 

The Company does not provide for U.S. federal income tax and foreign withholding taxes on undistributed 
earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries when such earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitely outside of the 
U.S. 

Revenue recognition-Revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered. the price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is 
reasonably assured. Revenues are generally based upon transactional information accumulated by our systems or 
reported by our customers. The Company's revenues are based on the volume of activity on cards that carry the 
Company's brands, the number of transactions processed or the nature of other payment-related services. 

Volume-based revenues (domestic assessments and cross-border volume fees) are recorded as revenue in the 
period they are earned. which is when the related volume is generated on the cards. Certain quarterly revenues 
are estimated based upon aggregate transaction information and historical and projected customer quarterly 
volumes. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Transaction-based revenues (transaction processing 
fees) are calculated by multiplying the number and type of transactions by the specific price for each service. 
Transaction~based fees are recognized as revenue in the same period as the related transactions occur. Other 
payment-related services are dependent on the nature of the products or services provided to our customers and 
are recognized as revenue in the same period as the related transactions occur or services are rendered. 

MasterCard has business agreements with certain customers that provide for fee rebates when the customers 
meet certain volume hurdles as well as other support incentives such as marketing, which are tied to 
performance. Rebates and incentives are recorded as a reduction of revenue in the same period as the revenue is 
earned or performance has occurred. Rebates and incentives are calculated on a monthly basis based upon 
estimated performance and the terms of the related business agreements. In addition, MasterCard may incur costs 
directly related to the acquisition of the contract, which are deferred and amortized over the life of the contract. 

Pension and other postretirement plans-Compensation cost of an employee's pension benefit is 
recognized in general and administrative expenses on the projected unit credit method over the employee's 
approximate service period. The unit credit cost method is utilized for funding purposes. 

The Company recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of its single-employer defined benefit plan 
or postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its balance sheet and recognizes changes in the funded status in 
the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. The Company also measures the funded 
status of a plan as of the date of its year-end balance sheet. 
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Share based payments-The Company recognizes the fair value of all share-based payments to employees 
in its financial statements. The Company uses the straight-line method of attribution for expensing equity awards. 
Compensation expense is recorded net of estimated forfeitures. Estimates are adjusted as appropriate. The 
Company recognizes a realized tax benefit associated with dividends on certain equity shares and options as an 
increase to additional paid-in capital. The benefit is included in the pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb 
potential future tax liabilities on share based payment awards. 

Advertising expense-The cost of media advertising is expensed when the advertising takes place. 
Advertising production costs are expensed as incurred. Promotional items are expensed at the time the 
promotional event occurs. Sponsorship costs are recognized over the period of benefit based on the estimated 
value of certain events. 

Foreign currenc,y translation-The Company's functional currencies include the U.S. dollar. the euro, the 
Brazilian real, the Australian dollar, and the U.K. pound sterling. For foreign currency remeasurement from each 
local currency into the appropriate functional currency, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to U.S. 
dollars using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are 
recorded at historical exchange rates, and revenue and expense accounts are remeasured at a weighted average 
exchange rate for the period. Resulting exchange gains and losses related to remeasurement are included in 
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. 

Where a non-U.S. currency is the functional currency, translation from that functional currency to U.S. 
dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date 
and for revenue and expense accounts using a weighted average exchange rate for the period. Resulting 
translation adjustments are reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). 

Earnings (loss) per share-A new accounting standard related to instruments granted in share-based 
payment transactions became effective for the Company on January 1, 2009, resulting in the retrospective 
adjusttnent of earnings per share ("EPS") for prior periods. See Note 3 (Earnings (Loss) Per Share) for further 
detail. 

Recent accounting pronoullcements 

Transfers o/financial assets-In June 2009, the accounting standard for transfers and servicing of financial 
assets and extinguishments of liabi1ities was amended. The change eliminates the qualifying special purpose 
entity concept, establishes a new unit of account definition that must be met for the transfer of portions of 
financial assets to be eligible for sale accounting, clarifies and changes the derecognition criteria for a transfer to 
be accounted for as a sale, changes the amount of gain or loss on a transfer of financial assets accounted for as a 
sale when beneficial interests are received by the transferor, and requires additional new disclosures. The 
Company adopted the new standard upon its effective date of January I, 2010. The adoption did not have an 
impact on the Company's fmancial position or results of operations. 

Van'able interest entities-In June 2009, there was a revision to the accounting standard for the 
consoHdation of variable interest entities. The revision eliminates the exemption for qualifying special purpose 
entities, requires a new qualitative approach for determining whether a reporting entity should consolidate a 
variable interest entity, and changes the requirement of when to reassess whether a reporting entity should 
consolidate a variable interest entity. During February 2010, the scope of the revised standard was modified to 
indefinitely exclude certain entities from the requirement to be assessed for consolidation. The Company adopted 
the new standard upon its effective date of January 1, 2010. The adoption did not have an impact on the 
Company's financial position or results of operations. 
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Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables-In September 2009, the accounting standard for the 
allocation of revenue in arrangements involving multiple deliverables was amended. Current accounting 
standards require companies to allocate revenue based on the fair value of each deliverable. even though such 
deliverables may not be sold separately either by the company itself or other vendors. The new accounting 
standard eliminates (i) the residual method of revenue allocation and (ii) the requirement that all undelivered 
elements must have objective and reliable evidence of fair value hefore a company can recognize the portion of 
the overall arrangement fee that is attributable to items that already have heen delivered. The Company will 
adopt the revised accounting standard effective January 1, 2011 via prospective adoption. The Company does not 
expect the adoption to have a material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Fair value disclosures-In January 2010, fair value disclosure requirements were amended to require 
detailed disclosures about transfers to and from Le,'el 1 and 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy effective January 1. 
2010 and disclosures regarding purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a "gross" basis within the Level 3 
(of the Valuation Hierarchy) reconciliation effective January 1,2011. The Company adopted the new guidance 
for disclosures about transfers to and from Levell and 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy effective January 1.2010. 
The adoption did not have an impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. The Company 
will adopt the guidance that requires disclosure of a reconciliation of purchases. sales, issuances, and settlements 
on a "gross" basis within Level 3 (of the Valuation Hierarchy) effective January I, 2011. as required, and the 
adoption will have no impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Disclosure about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses-In July 
2010, a new accounting standard was issued. This standard provides new disclosure' guidance that will require 
companies to provide more information about the credit quality of their financing receivables in the disclosures 
to financial statements including, but not limited to, significant purchases and sales of financing receivables. 
aging information and credit quaJity indicators. The Company adopted this accounting standard upon its effective 
date, periods ending on or after December 15, 2010. and the adoption had no impact on the Company's financial 
position or results of operations. 

Impairmen.t testing for goodwill-In December 2010, a new accounting standard was issued. This standard 
requires Step 2 of the goodwill impainnent test to be performed for reporting units with zero or negative carrying 
amounts if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. The 
provisions for this pronouncement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, with no early 
adoption permitted. The Company wi11 adopt this accounting standard on January I, 2011, and does not 
anticipate that this adoption will have an impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 

Business combinations-In December 2010, a new accounting standard was issued. This standard requires a 
company to disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination that 
occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting 
period, only when comparative financial statements are presented. The disclosure provisions are effective 
prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period beginning on or after December IS, 2010, with early adoption permitted. The Company 
will adopt this accounting standard on January I, 2011, and the adoptipn will have no impact on the Company's 
financial position or results of operations. 

Note 2. Acquisition of DataCaslt Group pic 

On August 19, 2010, MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire all the outstanding shares of 
DataCash Group pic ("DataCash"), a European payment service provider. Pursuant to the terms of the acquisition 
agreement, the Company acquired DataCash on October 22,2010 at a purchase price of 334 million U.K. pound 
sterling, or $534 million. There was no contingent consideration related to the acquisition. 
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DataCash provides e-Commerce merchants with the ability to process secure payments across the world. 
DataCash develops and provides outsourced electronic payments solutions, fraud prevention, alternative payment 
options, back-office reconciliation and solutions for merchants selling via multiple channels. DataCash also has a 
fraud solutions and technology platform. MasterCard believes the acquisition of DataCash will create a long-term 
growth platfonn in the e-Comrnerce category while enhancing existing MasterCard payment products and 
expanding its global presence in the internet gateway business. 

MasterCard had exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations related to the DataCash acquisition price. As 
a result, the Company purchased foreign currency option contracts to limit the risk. See Note 24 (Foreign 
Exchange Risk Management) for further details. 

The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation for the DataCash acquisition: 

Current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Goodwill 
Other assets 

Total assets acquired 

Current liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities assumed 

Net assets acquired 

Fair Value at 
October 22, 

2010 
(in millions) 

$ 48 
3 

129 
402 

7 

589 

(24) 

~) 

(55) 

$534 

Purchase consideration has been allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets and to liabilities 
assumed based on their respective fair values on October 22, 2010, the acquisition date. The excess of purchase 
consideration over net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill. The Company expects value from expanding 
the Company's e-Commerce payment and related electronic payments solutions, fraud prevention, alternative 
payment options, back-office reconciliation and solutions for merchants selling via multiple channels, and other 
synergies. None of the $402 million of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

Intangible assets consist of developed technologies, customer relationships, tradenames and non-compete 
agreements, which have useful lives ranging from 1 to 10 years. See Note 11 (Othe[ Intangible Assets). The 
fonowing table summarizes the fair value of the acquired intangible assets: 

Customer relationships 
Developed technologies 
Tradenames 
Non-compete agreements 

Total intangible assets 

91 

Fair Value at 
October 22, Weighted-Average 

2010 UsefuJ Life 

(in millions) 

$ 74 
42 
11 
2 

$129 

(in years) 

7 
5 
5 
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In connection with the acquisition, the Company recognized $7 million of acquisition-related expenses 
during the year ended December 31,2010, which consisted plimarily of professional fees related to closing the 
transaction. These amounts were included in genera1 and administrative expenses. The consolidated financial 
statements include the operating results of DataCash from the date of the acquisition. 

Note 3. Earnings (Loss) Per Share ("EPS") 

On January I, 2009, an accouoting standard related to tl,e BPS effects of instruments granted in share·based 
payment transactions became effective for the Company resulting in the retrospective adjustment of EPS for 
prior periods. In accordance with this accounting standard, unvested share-based payment awards which receive 
nOll-fOlfeitable dividend rights, or dividend equivalents. are considered participating securities and are required 
to be included in computing EPS under the two-class method. The Company declared non-forfeitable dividends 
on unvested restricted stock units and contingently issuable performance stock units ("Unvested Units") which 
were granted prior to 2009. The Company has therefore calculated EPS under the two-class method pursuant to 
this accounting standard. 

The components of basic and diluted BPS for common shares under the two-class method for each of the 
years ended December 31 were as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions, except per share data) 

Numerator: 
Net income (loss) attributable to MasterCard $1,846 $1,463 $ (254) 
Less: Net income (loss) allocated to Unvested Units 3 9 ---.J!l 
Net income (loss) attributable to MasterCard allocated to 

common shares $1,843 $1,454 $ (253) 

Denominator: 
Basic EPS weighted average shares outstanding 131 130 130 
Dilutive stock options and restricted stock units 

Diluted EPS weighted-average shares outstanding 131 130 130 

Earnings (Loss) per Share: 
Basic $14.10 $11.19 $(1.94) 

-- --
Diluted $14.05 $11.16 $(1.94) 

-- --

The calculation of diluted EPS excluded the following share-based payment awards because the effect 
would be antidilutive for each of the years ended December 31: 

Stock options 
Restricted stock units 
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2010 2009 2008 
(in thousands) 

204 251 705 
11 
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Note 4. Supplemental Cash Flaws 

The folJowing table includes supplemental cash flow disclosures for each of the years ended December 31: 

Cash paid for income taxes 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for legal settlements (Notes 20 and 22) 
Non-cash investing and fmancing activities: 

Dividend declared but not yet paid 
Municipal bonds cancelled 
Revenue bonds received 
Building. and land assets recorded pursuant to capital lease 
Capital lease obligation 
Fair value of assets acquired, net of original investment, cash paid and cash 

acquired 
Fair value of liabilities assumed related to investments in affiliates 
Fair va1ue of non-control1ing interest acquired 

21)10 --
$540 

3 
607 

20 

553' 
55' 
2 

2009 2008 -- --(in millions) 

$ 457 $ 493' 
II 14 

946 1,263 

20 20 
154' 

(154)' 
(154)' 
154' 

17 124 
15' 43' 
8 

$198 million of these payments were recorded as an income tax receivable as of December 31, 2008. 
2 See Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity) for further details. 
, See Note 9 (property, Plant, and Equipment) for further details. 
, See Note 2 (Acquisition of DataCash Group pIc) for further details. 
5 Includes $9 million to be extinguished in 2013 and 2016 for future benefits to be provided by MasterCard in 

the establishment of a joint venture. 
6 Includes $20 million due in 2011 relating to the MasterCard France acquisition. 

Nole S. Fair Value 

In accordance with accounting requirements for fair value, the Company is disclosing the estimated fair 
values as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 of the assets and liabilities that are within the scope of the accounting 
guidance, as wen as the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of those financial 
instruments. Furthennore, the Company classifies its fair value measurements in the Valuation Hierarchy. No 
transfers were made among the three levels in the Valuation Hierarchy during the year ended December 31, 
2010. 
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Fbzancial Instruments-Recurring Measu.rements 

The distribution of the fair values of the Company's fmancial instruments which are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis within the Valuation Hierarchy is as follows: 

Municipal bondsl 

Taxable short-term bond funds 
Auction rate securities 
Foreign currency derivative contracts 

Total 

Municipal bondsl 

Taxable sholt-term bond funds 
Auction rate securities 
Foreign currency derivative contracts 

Total 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 
Markets 
(Levell) 

$-
516 

$516 
--

Quoted Prices 
inActive 
Markets 
(LeVell) 

$-
310 

$310 
--

December 31. 2010 
Significant 

Other Significant 
Observable Unobservable 

Inputs Inputs FiliI" 
(Level 2) (Level 3) Value 

(in millions) 

$315 $- $ 315 
516 

106 106 

~ --(I) 
$314 $106 $ 936 
-- -- ---

December 31, 2009 
Significant 

Other Significant 
Observable Unobservable 

Inputs Inputs Fair 
(Levell) (Level 3) Value 

(in millions) 

$514 $- $ 514 
310 

180 180 
~) __ (1) 

$513 $180 $1,003 
-- -- = 

A vailable-for-sale municipal bonds are carried at fair value and are included in the above tables. However, 
held-to-maturity municipal bonds are carried at amortized cost and excluded from the above tables. 

The fair values of the Company's available-far-sale municipal bonds are based on quoted prices for similar 
assets in active markets and are therefore included in Level 2 of the Valuation Hierarchy. 

The fair va1ues of the Company's short-term bond funds are based on quoted prices for identical 
investments in active markets and are therefore included in Level 1 of the Valuation Hierarchy. 

The Company's auction rate securities ("ARS") investments have been c1assified within Level 3 of the 
Valuation Hierarchy as their valuation requires substantial judgment and estimation of factors that are not 
currently observable in the market due to the lack of trading in the securities. This valuation may be revised in 
future periods as market conditions evolve. The Company has considered the lack of liquidity in the ARS market 
and the lack of comparable, orderly transactions when estimating the fair value of its ARS portfolio. Therefore, 
the Company used the income approach, which included a discounted cash flow analysis of the estimated future 
cash flows adjusted by a risk premium, to estimate the fair value of its ARS portfolio. The Company estimated 
the fair value of its ARS portfolio to be 10% and 15% discoWlts to the par value as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively. When a determination is made to classify a financial instrument within Level 3, the 
determination is based upon the significance of the unobservable inputs to the overall fair value measurement. 
However, the fair value determination for Level 3 financial instruments may include observable components. 
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The Company's foreign currency derivative contracts have been c1assified within Level 2 of the valuation 
hierarchy, as the fair value is based on broker quotes for the same or similar derivative instruments. See Note 24 
(Foreign Exchange Risk Management) for further details. 

FinalZciallnstrumellts-Non-Recurring Measurements 

Certain financial instruments are calTied on the' consolidated balance sheet at cost, which approximates fair 
value due to their short-term, highly liquid nature. These instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, settlement due from customers, restricted security deposits held for customers, prepaid expenses, 
accounts payable, settlement due to customers and accrued expenses. 

Investment Securities Held~toMMaturity 

The Company utilizes quoted prices for identical or similar securities from active markets to estimate the 
fair value of its held~toMrnaturity securities. See Note 6 (Investment Securities) for fair value disclosure. 

Debt 

The Company estimates the fair value of its debt by applying a current discount rate to the remaining cash 
flows under the teons of the debt. As of December 31, 2010, the carrying value on the consolidated balance sheet 
and the fair value each totaled $20 million. As of December 31, 2009, the carrying value on the consolidated 
balance sheet and the fair value each totaled $22 million. As of December 31, 20 I 0, the carrying value of the 
current portion of the Company's debt is included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. 
During 2009, the Company repaid $149 million of notes payable classified as short-tenn debt at December 31, 
2008 related to its variable interest entity. See Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity) for further 
discussion. 

Obligations Under Litigation Settlements 

The Company estimates the fair values of its obligations under litigation settlements by applying a current 
discount rate to the remaining cash flows under the terms of the litigation settlements. At December 31, 2010 and 
2009, the carrying values on the consolidated balance sheet totaled $302 million and $870 million, respectively, 
and the fair values totaled $307 million and $895 million, respectively, for these obligations. For additional 
information regarding the Company's obligations under litigation settlements, see Note 20 (Obligations Under 
Litigation Settlements). 

Settlement and Other Guarantee Liabilities 

The Company estimates the fair values of its settlement and other guarantees by applying market 
assumptions for relevant though not directly comparable undertakings. as the latter are not observable in the 
market given the proprietary nature of such guarantees. Additionally, loss probability and severity profiles 
against the Company's gross and net settlement exposures are considered. At December 3], 2010 and 2009, the 
carrying value of settlement and other guarantee liabilities were de minimis The estimated fair value of 
settlement and other guarantee liabilities as of December 31. 2010 was approximately $45 million. The estimated 
fair value of settlement and other guarantee liabilities as of December 31. 2009 was de minimis. For additional 
information regarding the Company's settlement and other guarantee liabilities, see Note 23 (Settlement and 
Other Risk Management). 

Refunding Revenue Bonds 

The Company holds refunding revenue bonds with the same payment terms, and which contain the right of 
set-off with, a capital lease obligation related. to the Company's global technology and operations center located 
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in O'Pallon, Missouri, called Winghaven. The Company has netted the refunding revenue bonds and the 
corresponding capital lease obligation in the consolidated balance sheet and estimates that the carrying value 
approximates the fair value for these bonds. See Note 9 (Property, Plant and Equipment) for further details. 

NOIl~Financial Instruments 

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The Company's 
nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include property, plant and 
equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets. These assets are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis; 
however, they are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence of 
impainnent. 

The valuation methods for goodwill and other intangible assets involve assumptions concerning comparable 
company multiples. discount rates. growth projections and other assumptions of future business conditions. The 
Company uses a weighted income and market approach for estimating the fair values of its reporting units. As 
the assumptions employed to measure these assets on a nonrecurring basis are based on management's judgment 
using internal and external data. these fair value determinations are classified in Level 3 of the Valuation 
Hierarchy. 

Note 6. Investment Securities 

Amortized Costs and Fair Values-A vailable-for~Sale Investment Securities: 

The major classes of the Company's available-for-sale investment securities, for which unrealized gains and 
losses are recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income (loss), and their respective cost bases and fair values as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009 were as follows: 

Municipal bonds 
Taxable short-teon bond funds 
Auction rate securities 

Total 

Municipal bonds 
Taxable short-teon bond funds 
Auction rate securities 

Total 

Amortized 
Cost 

$ 305 
5]] 
118 ---

$ 934 
---

Amortized 
Cost 

$ 492 
306 
212 

$1,010 

December 31, 2010 

Gross Gross 
Unrealized Unrealized Fair 

Gain LOSSI Value 

(in millions) 

$ 10 $- $ 315 
5 516 

(12) 106 ---
$ 15 $(12) $ 937 
-- ---

December 31, 2009 

Gross Gross 
Unrealized Unrea1ized Fair 

Gain LOSSl Value 

(in milfions) 

$ 22 $- $ 514 
4 310 

(32) 180 

$ 26 $(32) $1,004 
--

The unrealized losses relate to ARS, which have been in an unrealized loss position longer than 12 months 
but have not been deemed other-than-temporarily impaired. 
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The municipal bond portfolio is comprised of tax exempt bonds and is diversified across states and sectors. 
The portfolio has an average credit quality of double-A. 

The short-term bond funds invest in fixed income securities, including corporate bonds, mortgage-backed 
securities and asset-backed securities. 

The Company holds investments in ARS. Interest on these securities is exempt from U.S. federal income tax 
and the interest rate on the securities typically resets every 35 days. The securities are fully collateralized by 
student loans with guarantees, ranging from approximately 95% to 98% of principal and interest, by the U.S. 
government via the Department of Education. 

Beginning on February II, 2008, the auction mechanism that normally provided liquidity to the ARS 
investments began to fail. Since mid-February 2008, all investment positions in the Company's ARS investment 
portfolio have experienced failed auctions. The securities for which auctions have failed have continued to pay 
interest in accordance with the contractual terms of such instruments and will continue to accrue interest and be 
auctioned at each respective reset date until the auction succeeds, the issuer redeems the securities or they 
mature. During 2008, ARS were reclassified as Level 3 from Level 2. As of December 31, 2010, the ARS market 
remained illiquid. but issuer call and redemption activity in the ARS student loan sector has occurred periodically 
since the auctions began to fail. During 2010 and 2009. the Company did not sell any ARS in the auction market, 
but there were caUs at par. 

The table below includes a roll-forward of the Company's ARS investments from January I, 2009 to 
December 31,2010. 

Fair value, December 31, 2008 
Calls, at par 
Recovery of unrealized losses due to issuer calls 
Increase in fair value 

Fair value, December 31, 2009 
Calls, at par 
Recovery of unrealized losses due to issuer calls 
Increase in fair value 

Fair value, December 31, 2010 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

(in millions) 

$192 
(28) 

5 
11 

180 
(94) 
13 
7 

$106 

The Company evaluated the estimated impaiIment of its ARS pOltfolio to detennine if it was other-than
temporary. The Company considered several factors including. but not limited to, the following: (1) the reasons 
for the decline in value (changes in interest rates, credit event, or market fluctuations); (2) assessments as to 
whether it is more likely than not that it will hold and not be required to sell the investments for a sufficient 
period of time to allow for recovery of the cost basis; (3) whether the decline is substantial; and (4) the historical 
and anticipated duration of the events causing the decline in value. The evaluation for other-than-temporary 
impairments is a quantitative and qualitative process, which is subject to various risks and uncertainties. The 
risks and uncertainties include changes in credit quality. market liquidity, timing and amounts of issuer calls and 
interest rates. As of December 31, 2010, the Company believed that the unrealized losses on the ARS were not 
related to credit quality but rather due to the lack of liquidity in the market. The Company believes that it is more 
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likely than not that the Company will hold and not be required to sell its ARS investments until recovery of their 
cost bases which may be at maturity or ear1ier if caIled. Therefore MasterCard does not consider the unrealized 
losses to be other-than-temporary. The Company estimated 10% and 15% price discounts to the par value of the 
ARS portfolio at December 31,2010 and 2009, respectively. The pre-tax impainnent included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income related to the Company's ARS was $12 mil1ion and $32 million as of December 31. 
2010 and 2009, respectively. A hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in the discount rate used in the 
discounted cash flow analysis would have increased the impairment by $2 million and $23 million as of 
December 31,2010 and 2009, respectively. 

Carrying and Fair Values-Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities: 

As of December 31, 2010, the Company also owned held-to-maturity investment securities, which consisted 
of U.S. Treasury notes and a municipal bond yielding interest at 5.0% per annum. The municipal bond relates to 
the Company's back-up processing center in Kansas City, Missouri. The Company cancelled $154 million of 
short-term municipal bonds related to its global technology and operations center located in O'Fallon, Missouri. 
called Winghaven, on March 1, 2009, as further discussed in Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity). 
The carrying value, gross unrecorded gains and fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities were as 
follows at December 31: 

2010 2009 

(in millions) 
Carrying value $336 $338 
Gross unrecorded gains 2 2 -- --
Fair value $338 $340 

Investment Maturities: 

The maturity distribution based on the contractual terms of the Company's investment securities at 
December 31,2010 was as follows: 

Due within 1 year 
Due after 1 year through 5 years 
Due after 5 years through 10 years 
Due after 10 years 
No contractual maturity 

Total 

A vailable-For-Sale Held-To-Maturity 

Amortized Fair Carrying Fair 
Cost Value Value Value 

$ 8 
242 

59 
114 
511 

$934 

(in millions) 

$ 8 $300 
251 36 

60 
102 
516 

$937 $336 

$300 
38 

$338 

All securities due after ten years are ARS. Taxable short-term bond funds have been included in the table 
above in the no contractual maturity category, as these investments do not have a stated maturity date; however, 
the short-term bond funds have daily liquidity. 
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The table below summarizes the maturity ranges of the ARS portfolio, based on relative par value, as of 
December 31, 2010: 

Due within 10 years 
Due year 11 through year 20 
Due year 21 through year 30 
Due after year 30 

Total 

Investment Income: 

Components of net investment income were as follows: 

Interest income 
Dividend income 
Investment securities available-for-sale: 

Gross realized gains 
Gross realized losses 
Other than temporary impairment on short-term bond fund 

Total investment income, net 

2010 

$ 48 

9 

$ 57 

Par % of 
Amount Total 

(in millions) 

$ 4 3% 
II 9% 
81 69% 
22 19% 

$118 100% 

2009 2008 
(in millions) 

$ 56 $109 
I 

2 88 
(4) 
~ 

$ 58 $183 
-- --

Interest income is generated from cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale investment securities and 
held-ta-maturity investment securities. Dividend income primarily consists of dividends received on the 
Company's cost method investments. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company held investments in short-term bond funds, with underlying holdings 
in structured products such as mortgage-backed securities and asset-backed securities. During 2008, certain of 
these investments were deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired and an impairment Joss of $11 million was 
recorded. Due to the high credit quality of the Company's other investment securities, no other investment 
securities were considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired in 2008. 

During 2008, MasterCard sold all of its remaining shares of Redecard S.A. and realized a pre-tax gain, net 
of commissions, of $86 million. This gain was included in investment income within the consolidated statements 
of operations. 
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Note 7. Prepaid Expenses 

Prepaid expenses consisted of the following at December 31: 

Customer and merchant incentives 
Advertising 
Income taxes 
Data processing 
Other 

Total prepaid expenses 
Prepaid expenses, current 

Prepaid expenses, long-term 

2010 2009 

(in millions) 

$ 497 $ 445 
69 56 
50 93 
31 29 
33 18 

680 
(315) 

$ 365 

641 
(313) 

$ 328 

Prepaid customer and merchant incentives represent payments made to customers and merchants under 
business agreements. 

Note 8. Other Assets 

Other assets consisted of the following at December 31: 

Nonmarketable equity investments 
Customer and merchant incentives 
Income tax receivable 
Cash surrender value of keyman life insurance 
Other 

Total other assets 
Other assets, current 

Other assets, long-term 

2010 2009 -- ---
(in millions) 

$107 $ 35 
104 216 
50 
24 
25 

310 
(85) 

23 
36 

310 
(126) 

$225 $ 184 

Certain customer and merchant business agreements provide incentives upon entering into the agreement. 
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, other assets included amounts to be paid for these incentives and the related 
liability was included in accrued expenses and other liabilities. Once the payment is made, the liability is relieved 
and the other asset is reclassified to a prepaid expense. 

The Company accounts for investments in common stock or in-substance common stock under the equity 
method of accounting when it has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee, generally when it 
holds 20% or more of the common stock in the entity. MasterCard's share of net earnings or losses of entities 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting is included in other income (expense) on the consolidated 
statement of operations. The Company accounts for investments under the historical cost method of accounting 
when it does not exercise significant influence, generally when it h01ds less than 20% ownership in the common 
stock of the entity. Investments for which the equity method or historical cost method of accounting are used are 
recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

Note 9. Property, Plallt alld Equipmellt 

Property. plant and equipment consist of the following at December 31: 

Building and land 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Leasehold improvements 

Property, plant and equipment 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Property, plant and equipment, net 

2010 2009 

(in millions) 

$ 402 $ 392 
265 255 

50 52 
54 54 

771 
(332) 

$ 439 

753 
(304) 

$ 449 

Effective March I, 2009, MasterCard executed a new ten-year lease between MasterCard, as tenant, and the 
Missouri Development Finance Board ("MDFB"), as landlord, for MasterCard's global technology and 
operations center located in O'Fallon, Missouri, called Winghaven. See Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable 
Interest Entity) for further discllssion. The lease includes a bargain purchase option and is thus classified as a 
capital lease. The building and land assets and capital lease obligation were recorded at $154 million, which 
represented the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the building and 
land assets. The Company received refunding revenue bonds issued by MDFB in the exact amount, $154 million, 
and with the same payment terms as the capita] lease and which contain the legal right of setoff with the capital 
lease. The Company has netted its investment in the MDFB refunding revenue bonds and the corresponding 
capital lease obligation in the consolidated balance sheet. The related leasehold improvements for Winghaven 
will continue to be amortized over the economic life of the improvements. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, capital leases of $13 million and $14 million, respectively, were 
included in equipment. Accumulated amortization of capital leases was $7 million and $6 million as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

Depreciation expense for the above propelty. plant and equipment, including amortization for capital leases, 
was $70 million, $76 million and $59 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

Note 10. Goodwill 

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 3 I, 2010 and 2009 were as 
follows: 

Beginning balance 
Goodwill acquired during the year 
Foreign currency translation 
Impairment losses 

Ending balance 

2010 2009 -- --(in millions) 

$309 $298 
402 13 
(34) 9 

-.i!.D 
$677 $309 

During 2010, the Company recognized $402 million of goodwill in connection witl, its acquisition of 
DataCash. See Note 2 (Acquisition of DataCash Group pIc) for further details. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

The Company had no accumulated impairment losses for goodwill at December 31, 2010 or 2009. Based on 
annual impairment testing, no reporting units are at significant risk of future material goodwill impairment. 

Note 11. Other Illtallgible Assets 

The following table sets forth net intangible assets, other than goodwill, at December 31: 

2010 2009 
(in millions) 

Gross Net Gross Net 
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying 
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount 

AmOitized intangible assets: 
Capitalized software $ 683 $(447) $236 $582 $(397) $185 
Trademarks and tradenames 33 (22) 11 22 (22) 
Customer relationships 91 (5) 86 22 (2) 20 
Other 4 _(1) 3 2 _(1) 1 

Total 811 (475) 336 628 (422) 206 
UnamOltized intangible assets: 

Customer relationships 194 194 209 209 -- --
Total $1,005 $(475) $530 $837 $(422) $415 

-- = 

Additions to capitalized software in 2010 primarily related to internally developed software and tlle 
acquisition of DataCash. See Note 2 (Acquisition of DataCash Group pIc) for further details. Amortizable 
cllstomer relationships were added in 2010 due to the acquisition of DataCash. Certain intangible assets, 
including amortizable and unamortizable customer relationships and trademarks and tradenames, are 
denominated in foreign currencies. As such, the change in intangible assets inc1udes a component attributable to 
foreign currency translation. 

Amortization and impairment expense on the assets above amounted to the fol1owing for the years ended 
December 31: 

2010 2009 2008 

(in mi1lions) 

Amortization $78 $65 $53 
Capitalized software impairments $2 $ 3 $1 
Intangible asset impairments (other than capitalized software) $- $ 2 $-

The following table sets forth the estimated future amortization expense on aniortizable intangible assets for 
the years ending December 31: 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 and thereafter 
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(in millions) 

$ 92 
77 
53 
33 
81 

$336 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

Note 12. Accreted Expenses 

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at December 31 : 

Customer and merchant incentives 
Personnel costs 
Advertising 
Income taxes 
Other 

Total accrued expenses 

Note 13. Pensioll, Savings Plall and Other Benefits 

2010 2009 

(in millions) 

$ 666 $ 598 
307 367 
162 131 
79 32 

101 97 

$1,315 $1,225 

The Company maintains a non-contributory, qualified, defined benefit pension plan (the "Qualified Plan") 
with a cash balance feature covering substantially all of its U.S. employees hired before July I, 2007. In 
September 2010, the Company amended the Qualified Plan to phase out participant pay credit percentages in the 
years 2011 and 2012 and eliminate the pay credit beginning January 1,2013. Plan participants will continue to 
eam interest credits. As a result of the amendment, the Company recognized a curtailment gain of $6 million in 
the third quarter of 2010 and a reduction in pension liability of $17 million. The Company also recognized 
corresponding effects in accumulated other comprehensive income and deferred taxes. 

In 2008, tile Qualified Plan experienced a steep decline in the fair value of plan assets which resulted in 
significant increases in the Company's pension liability and contributed to other comprehensive loss as of 
December 31, 2008 and increased net periodic pension cost in 2009. During 2010 and 2009, Company 
contributions and favorable investment returns increased the Qualified Plan's fair value of assets and resulted in 
significant decreases in the Company's pension liability and contributed to other comprehensive income as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

The Company also has an unfunded non-qualified supplemental executive retirement plan (the uNon_ 
qualified Plan") that provides certain key employees with supplemental retirement benefits in excess of limits 
imposed on qualified plans by U.S. tax laws. The Non-qualified Plan had settlement gains in 2009 and 2008 
resulting from payments to participants. The term "Pension Plans" includes both the Qualified Plan and the 
Non-qualified Plan. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-continued 

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its Pension Plans. The following table sets forth 
the Pension Plans' funded status, key assumptions and amounts recognized in the Company's consolidated 
balance sheet at December 31: 

Change in benefit obligation 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 
Service cost 
Interest cost 
Voluntary plan participants' contributions 
Actuarial (gain)/loss 
Benefits paid 
Curtailment 

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 

Change in plan assets 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 
Actual return on plan assets 
Employer contribution 
Voluntary plan participants' contributions 
Benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Funded status 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 

Funded status at end of year 

Amounts recognized on the consolidated balance sheet consist of: 
Prepaid expenses, long term 
Accrued expenses 
Other Jiabilities, long term 

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprebensive income consist of: 
Net actuarial loss 
Prior service credit 

Weighted~average assumptions used to determine end of year benefit 
obligations 

Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase-Qualified Plan/Non-Qualified Plan 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

.2010 2009 
(in millions) 

235 $ 217 
16 18 
12 14 
1 

19 (1) 
(26) (13) 
(17) 

240 $ 235 

214 $ 149 
27 44 
20 34 

I 
(26) (13) 

236 $ 214 

236 $ 214 
240 235 

(4) $ (21) 

4 $ 
(5) 
(3) (21) 

(4) $ (21) 

37 $ 48 
(4) (12) 

33 $ 36 

5.00% 5.50% 
5.37%15.00% 5.37%15.00% 

The accumulated benefit obligation of the Pension Plans was $239 million and $216 million at 
December 31,2010 and 2009, respectively. 
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At December 31, 2010 only the Non-qualified Plan had benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, while at 
December 31, 2009 both of the Pension Plans had benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. The benefit 
obligations and plan assets of the Non-qua1ified Plan were as follows at December 31, 2010: 

Projected benefit obligation 
Accumulated benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

(in millions) 

$ 9 
8 

The benefit obligations and plan assets of both the Qualified Plan and the Non-qualified Plan were as 
follows at December 31, 2009: 

Projected benefit obligation 
Accumulated benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 

(in millions) 

$235 
216 
214 

Components of net periodic pension costs recorded in general and administrative expenses were as follows 
for each of the years ended December 31: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions) 

Service cost $ 16 $ 18 $ 20 
Interest cost 12 14 13 
Expected return on plan assets (17) (13) (16) 
Curtailment gain (6) 
Settlement gain (I) (I) 
Amortization: 

Actuarial loss 3 8 2 
Prior service credit (2) (2) ~) 

Net periodic pension cost $ 6 $ 24 $ 16 
-- -- --

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income for the years 
ended December 31 were as follows: 

Curtailment gain 
Settlement gain 
Current year actuarial (gain) loss 
Amortization of actuarial loss 
Amortization of prior service credit 

Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) 

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive 
income 0055) 

105 

2010 

$(10) 

8 
(3) 
2 --

$ (3) 

$ 3 
--

2009 2008 
(in millions) 

$- $--
1 I 

(32) 56 
(8) (2) 
2 2 -- --

$(37) $ 57 
--

$(13) $ 73 
--
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The estimated amounts that are expected to be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income 
into net periodic benefit cost in 2011 are as follows: 

Actuarial loss 
Prior service credit 

Total 

(jnmillions) 

$ 2 

~ 
$-

Weighted-average assumptions used to detennine net periodic pension cost were as follows for the years 
ended December 31: 

2010 2009 2008 

Discount rate 5.50% 6.00% 6.00% 
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 
Rate of compensation increase-Qualified Plan! 

Non-Qualified Plan 5.37%15.00% 5.37%/5.00% 5.37%/5.00% 

The Company's discount rate assumption is based on a yield curve derived from high quality corporate 
bonds. which is matched to the Pension Plans' expected cash flows. 

For the Qualified Plan, the Company utilized an acn .. rial practice referred to as a building block method to 
determine the assumption for the expected weighted average return on plan assets. This method includes the 
fcHowing components: (1) compiling historical return data for both the equity and fixed income markets over the 
past ten, twenty and thirty year periods; (2) weighting the assets within our portfolio at December 31, 2010 by 
class; and (3) identifying expected rate of return on assets utilizing both current and historical market experience. 

Plan assets are managed with a long-term perspective intended to ensure that there is an adequate level of 
assets to support benefit payments to participants over the life of the Qualified Plan. The Company periodically 
conducts asset-liability studies to establish the preferred target asset allocation. Plan assets are managed within 
established asset allocation ranges, toward targets of 40% large/medium cap U.S. equity, 15% small cap U.S. 
equity, 15% non-U.S. equity and 30% fixed income, with periodic rebalancing to maintain plan assets within the 
target asset alJocation ranges. Plan assets are managed by external investment managers. The majority of 
investment risk is primarily related to equity exposure, but this investment allocation is diversified across several 
external investment managers. Investment manager performance is measured against benchmarks for each asset 
class and peer group on quarterly, one-, tbree- and five-year periods. An independent consultant assists 
management with investment manager selections and performance evaluations. The balance in cash and cash 
equivalents is available to pay expected benefit payments and expenses. 

The Valuation Hierarchy of the Qualified Plan's assets is determined using a consistent application of the 
categorization measurements for the Company's financial instruments. See Note 1 (Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies). 

Mutual funds (including small cap U.S. equity securities and non-U.S. equity securities) are public 
investment vehicles valued at quoted market prices~ which represent the net asset value of the shares held by the 
Qualified Plan and are therefore included in Level 1 of the Valuation Hierarchy. Commingled funds (including 
large/medium cap U.S. equity securities and fixed income securities) are valued at unit values provided by 
investment managers, which are based on the fair value of the underlying investments utilizing public 
information. independent external valuation from third-party services or third-party advisors, and are therefore 
included in Level2 of the Valuation Hierarchy. 
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The following table sets forth by level, within the Valuation Hierarchy, the Qualified Plan's assets at fair 
value as of December 31,2010 and 2009: 

Mutual funds: 
Money mnrket 
Domestic small cap equity 
International equity 

Common and collective funds: 
Domestic large cap equity 
Domestic core plus fixed income 

Total 

Mutual funds: 
Money market 
Domestic small cap equity 
International equity 

Common and collective funds: 
Domestic large cap equity 
Domestic core plus fixed income 

Total 

Quoted Prices 
in AcU'\'e 
Markets 
(Levell) 

$ 3 
36 
35 

$ 74 
--

Quoted Prices 
in Acti.ve 
Markets 
(Levell) 

$ 3 
29 
32 

$64 
--

Significant 
Other Significant 

Observable Unobservable Fair Value at 
Inputs Inputs December 31, 

(Lm] 2) (Level 3) 2010 
(in millions) 

$- $- $ 3 
36 
35 

94 94 
68 68 --

$162 $- $236 
-- -- --

Significant 
Other Significant 

Obsen'able Unobservable Fair Value at 
Inputs Inputs December 31, 

(Level 2) (Level 3) 2009 
(in millions) 

$- $- $ 3 
29 
32 

86 86 
64 64 --

$150 $- $214 
-- -- --

Pursuant to the requirements of the Pension Protection Act of 2006, the Company did not have a mandatory 
contribution to ti,e Qualified Plan in 2010, 2009 or 2008. However, the Company did make volunt"')' 
contributions of $20 million, $31 million and $22 million to the Qualified Plan in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. Although not required, the Company may voluntarily elect to contribute to the Qualified Plan in 
2011. The Company does not make any contributions to the Non-qualified Plan other than funding benefit 
payments. The Company currently estimates that it may contribute $20 million to the Qualified Plan in 2011. 

The following table summarizes expected benefit payments through 2020 for the Pension Plans, including 
those payments expected to be paid from the Company's general assets. Since the majority of the benefit 
payments are made in the form of lump-sum distributions, actual benefit payments may differ from expected 
benefit payments. 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016- 2020 
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$19 
15 
16 
15 
13 
63 
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Substantially all of tbe Company's U.S. employees are eligible to participate in a defmed contribution 
savings plan (the "Savings Plan") sponsored by the Company, The Savings Plan allows employees to contribute a 
portion of their base compensation on a pre-tax and after-tax basis in accordance with specified guidelines. The 
Company matches a percentage of employees' contributions up to certain limits. In addition, the Company has 
several defined contlibution plans outside of the United States. The Company's contribution expense related to 
all of its defined contribution plans was $33 million, $41 million and $35 million for 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

Note 14. Postemployment and Postretirement BelJefits 

The Company maintains a postretirement plan (the "Postretirement Plan") providing health coverage and 
life insurance benefits for substantially all of its U.S. employees hired before July 1,2007. 

In 2009, the Company recorded a $4 million expense as a result of enhanced postretirement medical benefits 
under the Postretirement Plan provided to employees that chose to participate in a voluntary transition program. 

The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its Postretirement Plan. The following table 
presents the status of the Company's Postretirement Plan recognized in the Company's consolidated balance 
sheet at December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

Change in benefit obligation 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 
Service cost 
Interest cost 
Plan participants' contributions 
Actuarial (gain) loss 
Gross benefits paid 
Enhanced tennination benefits 
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 

Change in plan assets 
Employer contributions 
Plan participants' contributions 
Net benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Funded status 
Projected benefit obligation 
Funded status at end of year 

Amoumts recognized on the consolidated balance sheet consist of: 
Accrued expenses 
Other liabilities, long-tenn 

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of: 
Net actuarial gain 
Transition obligation 

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine end of year benefit obJigation 
Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase 
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2010 2009 

(in millions) 

$ 60 $ 60 
I 2 
3 4 
1 

(2) (8) 
(3) (2) 

4 

$60 $60 

$ 2 $ 
1 

2 

(3) 

$-
-.0 
$-

$ (60) $ (60) 

$ (60) $ (60) 

$ (3) $ (3) 
(57) ---.!2!) 

$ (60) $ (60) 

$ (I5) $ (14) 
I 

$ (15) $ (13) 
== 

5.25% 5.75% 
5.37% 5.37% 
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The assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 for the Postretirement Plan were as follows: 

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 
Rate to which the cost trend rate is expected to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 

2010 2009 

7.50% 7.50% 
5.00% 5.00% 
2016 2015 

Components of net periodic benefit costs recorded in general and administrative expenses for each of the 
years ended December 31 for the Postretirement Plan were as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions) 

Service cost $ 1 $ 2 $ 2 
Interest cost 3 4 4 
Amortization of actuarial gain (I) (1) 
Enhanced tennination benefits 4 

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 3 $ !O $ 5 
-- -- --

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations for the Postretirement Plan that were recognized in 
other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 were as follows: 

Current year actuarial (gain) loss 
Amortization of actuarial gain 

Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) 

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income 
(loss) 

2010 

$(2) 
I -

$(1) 

$2 
-

2009 2008 
(in millions) 

$ (8) $ 4 
I -

$ (8) $ 5 
-

$ 2 $10 
-- -

The estimated aChlarial gain that is expected to be amortized for the Postretirement Plan from accumulated 
other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2011 is $1 million. 

The weighted-average assumptions for the Postretirement Plan which were used to determine net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31 were: 

Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase 

2010 2009 2008 

5.75% 6.00% 6.25% 
5.37% 5.37% 5.37% 

The assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the 
Postretirement Plan. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates for 2010 would have 
the following effects: 

1 % increase 1 % decrease 
(in millions) 

Effect on postretirement obligation $ 6 $ (5) 

The effect on total service and interest cost components would be less than $1 million. 
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The Company does not make any contributions to its Postretirement Plan other than funding benefit 
payments. The following table summarizes expected net benefit payments from the Company's general assets 
through 2020: 

Expected Net 
Benefit Subsidy Benefit 

Payments Receipts Payments 

(in millions) 

2011 $ 3 $- $ 3 
2012 4 4 
2013 4 4 
2014 4 4 
2015 4 4 
2016 -2020 21 20 

The Company provides limited pos!employment benefits to eligible former U.S. employees, primarily 
severance under a formal severance plan (the "Severance Plan"). The Company accounts for severance expense 
by accruing the expected cost of the severance benefits expected to be provided to former employees after 
employment over their relevant service periods. The Company updates the assumptions in determining the 
severance accrual by evaluating the actual severance activity and long-term trends underlying the assumptions. 
As a result of updating the assumptions. the Company recorded incremental severance expense related to the 
Severance Plan of $3 million in each of the years 2010, 2009 and 2008. These amounts were part of total 
severance expenses of $39 million, $135 million and $33 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, included 
in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. 

No!e 15. Debt 

On November 22, 2010, the Company entered into a committed three-year unsecured $2.75 billion 
revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility") with certain financial institutions. The Credit Facility. which 
expires on November 22, 2013, replaced the Company's prior credit facility which was to expire on April 26, 
2011 (the "Prior Credit Facility"). The available funding under the Prior Credit Facility was $2.5 billion from 
April 28, 2006 through April 27, 2010 and then decreased to $2 billion for the remaining period of the Prior 
Credit Facility agreement. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are avai1able to provide liquidity for general 
corporate purposes. including providing liquidity in the event of one or more settlement failures by the 
Company's customers. The facility fee and borrowing cost under the Credit Facility are contingent upon the 
Company's credit rating. At December 31, 2010, the applicable facility fee was 20 basis points on the average 
daily commitment (whether or not utilized), In addition to the facility fee, interest on borrowings under the Credit 
Facility would be charged at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus an applicable margin of 130 basis 
points or an alternate base rate plus 30 basis points. 

The Credit Facility contains customary representations. warranties and affmnative and negative covenants, 
including a maximum level of consolidated debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) financial covenant and events of default. MasterCard was in compliance with the covenants of the 
Credit Facility and had no borrowings under the Credit Facility at December 31, 2010. MasterCard was in 
compliance with the covenants of the Prior Credit Facility and had no borrowings under the Prior Credit Facility 
at December 31, 2009. The majodty of Credit Facility lenders are members or affiliates of members of 
MasterCard International. 

In June 1998, MasterCard International issued ten-year unsecured. subordinated notes (the "Notes") paying 
a fixed interest rate of 6.67% per annum. MasterCard repaid the entire principal amount of $80 million on 
June 30, 2008 pursuant to the terms of the Notes. 
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At December 31, 2008, the Company's consolidated balance sheet included $149 million in short-term debt 
relating to the Company's Variable Interest Entity. See Note 16 (Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity) for 
more information. On March 2, 2009, the Company repaid this short-term debt. 

On January 5, 2009, HSBC Bank pic ("HSBC") notified the Company that, effective December 31, 2008, it 
had terminated an uncommitted credit agreement totaling 100 million euros between HSBC and MasterCard 
Europe. There were no borrowings under this agreement at December 31, 2008. 

Note 16. Consolidation o/Variable Illterest Entity 

As discussed in Note 9 (Property. Plant and Equipment), the Company executed a new 1ease agreement for 
Winghaven, effective March I, 2009. In conjunction with entering into the new lease agreement, the Company 
terminated the original synthetic lease agreement for Winghaven, which included a ten-year term with Mel 
O'Fallon 1999 Trust (the ''Trust'') as the lessor. The Trust, which was a variable interest entity, was established 
for a single discrete purpose, was not an operating entity, had a limited life and had no employees. The Trust had 
financed Winghaven through a combination of a third party equity investment in the amount of $5 million and 
the issuance of 7.36 percent Series A Senior Secured Notes (the "Secured Notes") with an aggregate principal 
amount of $149 million and a maturity date of September It 2009. MasterCard International executed a guarantee 
of 85.15 percent of the aggregate principal aroount of the Secured Notes outstanding, for a total of $127 million. 
Additionally, upon the occurrence of specific events of default, MasterCard International guaranteed the 
repayment of the total outstanding principal and interest on the Secured Notes and agreed to take ownership of 
the facility. During 2004, MasterCard Incorporated became party to the guarantee and assumed certain covenant 
compliance obligations, including financiaJ reporting and maintenance of a certain level of consoHdated net 
worth. As the pIimary beneficiary of the Trust, the Company had consolidated the assets and liabilities of the 
Trust in its consolidated financial statements. 

Effective March 1,2009, the aggregate outstanding principal and accrued interest on the Secured Notes was 
repaid, the investor equity was redeemed, and the guarantee obJigations of MasterCard International and 
MasterCard Incorporated were terminated. The aggregate plincipal amount and interest plus a "make-whole" 
amount repaid to the holders of Secured Notes and the equity investor was $165 million. The "make-whole" 
amount of $5 million included in the repayment represented the discounted value of the remaining principal and 
interest on the Secured Notes, less the outstanding principal balance and an ,equity investor premium. Also as a 
result of the transaction, $154 million of short-term municipal bonds classified as held-to-maturity investments 
were cancelled. 

The Trust is no longer considered a variab1e interest entity and is no longer consolidated by the Company. 
During the period when the Trust was a consolidated entity within the years ended December 31,2009 and 2008, 
its operations had no impact on net income. However, interest income and interest expense were increased by $7 
million and $11 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. The Company did not provide any financial or other 
support that it was not contracnmlly required to provide during the years ended December 31, 2009 or 2008. 

The Company has additional investments in VIEs for which the Company is not the primary 
beneficiary. These investments are not consolidated and are accounted for under the equity method of accounting 
and recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. 
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Note 17. Stockholders' Equity 

Initial Public Offering (''!PO'') 

On May 31. 2006, MasterCard transitioned to a new ownership and governance structure upon the closing 
of its IPO and issuance of a new class of the Company's common stock. Prior to the IPO, the Company's capital 
stock was privately held by certain of its customers that were principal members of MasterCard Intemational. All 
stockholders held shares of Class A redeemable common stock. 

Immediately prior to the closing of the !PO, MasterCard Incorporated filed an amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation (the "certificate of incorporation"). The certificate of incorporation authorized 4.5 
billion shares, consisting of the following new classes of capital stock: 

Class Par Value 

A $.0001 per share 

B $.0001 per share 

M $.0001 per share 

Preferred $.0001 per share 

Authorized 
Shares 

(in millions) 

3,000 

1,200 

300 

Dividend and Voting Rights 

One vote per share 
• Dividend rights 

Non-voting 
Dividend rights 
Generally non-voting, but can elect up to three, but not more 
than one-quarter, of the members of the Company's Board of 
Directors and approve specified significant corporate actions 
(e.g., the sale of all of the assets of the Company) 
No dividend rights 
No shares issued or outstanding. Dividend and voting rights are 
to be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company 
upon issuance. 

The certificate of incorporation also provided for the immediate reclassification of all of the Company's 
100 million outstanding shares of existing Class A redeemable common stock, causing each of its existing 
stockholders to receive 1.35 shares of the Company's newly issued Class B common stock for each share of 
common stock that they held prior to the reclassification as well as a single share of Class M common stock. The 
Company paid stockholders an aggregate of $27 thousand in lieu of issuing fractional shares that resulted from 
the reclassification. This resulted in the issuance of 135 million shares of Class B common stock and 2 thousand 
shares of Class M common stock. 

The Company issued 66.1 million newly authorized shares of Class A common stock in the !PO, including 
4.6 million shares sold to the underwriters pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares, at a price of $39 
per share. The Company received net proceeds from the !PO of $2.4 billion. The Company issued and retired one 
share of Class M common stock at the inception or termination, respectively, of each principal membership of 
MasterCard International. All outstanding Class M common stock were to be transferred to the Company and 
retired and unavailable for issue or reissue on the day on which the outstanding shares of Class B common stock 
represented less than 15% of the total outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock. 
As further described below, all Class M common stock was retired daring 2010. 

The MasterCard Foundation 

In connection and simultaneously with the !PO, the Company issued and donated 13.5 million newly 
authorized shares of Class A common stock to The MasterCard Foundation (the "Foundation"). The Foundation 
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is a private charitable foundation incorporated in Canada that is controlled by directors who are independent of 
the Company and its principal members. Under the tenns of the donation, the Foundation became able to resell 
the donated shares in May 2010 beginning on the fourth anniversary of the !PO and to the extent necessary to 
meet charitable disbursement requirements dictated by Canadian tax law. Under Canadian tax law, the 
Foundation is generally required to disburse at least 3.5% of its assets not used in administration each year for 
qualified charitable disbursements. However, the Foundation obtained permission from the Canadian tax 
authorities to defer the giving requirements for up to ten years. The Foundation, at its discretion, may decide to 
meet its disbursement obligations on an annual basis or to settle previously accumulated obligations during any 
given year. The Foundation will be peITIlitted to sell all of its remaining shares beginning twenty years and 
eleven months after the consummation of the IPO. 

O\mersbip and Governance Structure 

Equity ownership and voting power of the Company's shares were allocated as follows as of December 31: 

Public Investors (Class A stockholders) 
Principal or Affiliate Members (Class B stockholders) 
Foundation (Class A stockholders) 

Class B Common Stock Conversions 

2010 

Equity 
Ownership 

83.5% 
6.3% 

10.2% 

General 
Voting 
Power 

89.1% 
0.0% 

10.9% 

2009 
General 

Equity Voting 
Ownership Power 

74.2% 87.7% 
15.4% 0.0% 
10.4% 12.3% 

At the annual meeting of stockholders of the Company on June 7, 2007, the Company's stockholders 
approved amendments to the Company's certificate of incorporation designed to facilitate an accelerated, orderly 
conversion of Class B common stock into Class A common stock for subsequent sale prior to May 201 O. 
Through "conversion transactions," in amounts and at times designated by the Company, CllITent holders of 
shares of Class B common stock who elected to participate were eligible to convert their shares, on a one-far-one 
basis, into shares of Class A common stock for subsequent sale or transfer to public investors, within a 30 day 
"transitory" ownership period. Holders of Class B common stock were not allowed to participate in any vote of 
holders of Class A common stock during this "transitory" ownership period. The number of shares of Class B 
common stock eligible for conversion transactions was limited to an annual aggregate number of up to 10% of. 
the total combined outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, based upon the total 
number of shares outstanding as of December 31 of the prior calendar year. In addition, prior to May 31, 2010, a 
conversion transaction was not pennitted that would have caused the number of shares of Class B common stock 
to represent less than 15% of the total number of outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B 
common stock outstanding. 

During 2007, the Company implemented and completed two separate conversion programs in which 
11.4 million shares, of an eligible 13.4 million shares, of Class B common stock were converted into an equal 
number of shares of Class A common stock and subsequently sold or transferred to public investors. 

In February 2008, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the conversion and sale or transfer of up to 
13.1 million shares of Class B common stock into Class A common stock in one or more conversion programs 
during 2008. In May 2008, the Company implemented and completed a conversion program in which all of the 
13.1 million authorized shares of Class B common stock were converted into an equal number of shares of 
Class A common stock and subsequently sold or transferred by participating holders of Class B common stock to 
public investors. 
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In February 2009, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the conversion and sale or transfer of up to 
II million shares of Class B common stock into Class A common stock. In May 2009, the Company 
implemented and completed a conversion program in which 10.9 million shares of Class B common stock were 
converted into an equal number of shares of Class A common stock and subsequently sold or transferred to 
public investors. 

Commencing on May 31, 2010, the fourth anniversary of the IPO, each share of Class B common stock 
became eligible for conversion, at tbe holder's option, into a share of Class A common stock on a one-for-one 
basis. In February 2010, the Company's Board of Directors authorized programs to facilitate conversions of 
shares of Class B common stock (without limits as to the number of shares) on a one-for-one basis into shares of 
Class A common stock for subsequent sale or transfer to public investors, beginning after May 31, 2010. The 
conversion programs followed the expiration on May 3], 2010 of a 4-year post-IPO restriction period with 
respect to the conversion of shares of Class B common stock. In June 2010, the Company implemented and 
completed the first 2010 conversion program which consisted of four one-week periods, during which 
approximately 8 million shares of Class B common stock were convelted on a one-far-one basis into shares of 
Class A common stock for subsequent sale or transfer to public investors in accordance with the terms of both 
the program and the Company's certificate of incorporation. In July 2010, the Company commenced a 
subsequent, continuous conversion program for the remaining shares of Class B common stock, featuring an 
"open window" for elections of any size. 

Retirement of Class M Conunon Stock 

Effective June I, 2010, shares of the Company's Class A common stock and Class B common stock 
represented approximately 90.4% and 9.6%, respectively, of the aggregate outstanding shares of the Class A 
common stock and Class B common stock. This level of Class B ownership represented the first time the 
outstanding shares of the Class B common stock represented less than 15% of the aggregate outstan.ding shares of 
the Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Accordingly, pursuant to the Company's amended and 
restated celtificate of incorporation in effect at that time, all outstanding shares of the Company's Class M 
common stock were automatically transferred to the Company and retired. and are no longer available for issue 
or reissue. Additionally. the Company no longer has authority to issue additional shares of Class M common 
stock. Although the Class M common stock was generally non-voting, the holders of Class M common stock had 
(prior to the retirement of such class) the right to elect up to three of the Company's directors (but not more than 
one-quarter of all directors) and approve specified significant corporate actions under the Company's certificate 
of incorporation. The retirement of the Class M common stock had no effect on the Company's financial position 
or basic or diluted EPS. As of December 31, 2010, approximately 8.2 million shares of Class B common stock 
had not been convelted into shares of Class A common stock and remained outstanding (representing 6.3% of the 
aggregate shares outstanding). 

Stock Repurchase Programs 

In April 2007, the Company's Board of DirectOl~ authorized a plan for the Company to repurchase up to 
$500 million of its Class A common stock in open market transactions during 2007. On October 29, 2007, the 
Company's Board of Directors amended the share repurchase plan to authorize the Company to repurchase an 
incremental $750 million (aggregate for the entire repurchase program of $1.25 billion) of its Class A common 
stock in open market transactions through June 30, 2008. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 3.9 million 
shares of Class A common stock had been repurchased at a cost of $60 I million. During 2008, the Company 
repurchased approximately 2.8 million shares of Class A common stock at a cost of $649 million, completing its 
aggregate authorized share repurchase program of $1.25 billion. 
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In September 2010, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a plan for the Company to repurchase up 
to $1 billion of its Class A common stock in open market transactions. The Company did not repurchase any 
shares under this plan during 2010. As of February 16, 201 I, the Company had completed the repurchase of 
approximately 0.3 million shares of its Class A common stock at a cost of approximately $75 million. 

Note 18. Share Based Payment and Other Bellefits 

In May 2006, the Company implemented the MasterCard Incorporated 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 
which was amended and restated as of October 13, 2008 (the "LTIP"). The LTIP is a shareholder-approved 
omnibus plan that pennits the grant of various types of equity awards to employees. 

The Company has granted restricted stock units ("RSUs"), non-qualified stock options ("options") and 
performance stock units ("PSUs") under the LTIP. The RSUs generally vest after three to four years. The 
options, which expire ten years from the date of grant, generally vest ratably over four years from the date of 
grant. The PSUs generally vest after three years. Additionally, the Company made a one-time grant to all 
non-executive management employees upon the lPO for a total of approximately 440 thousand RSUs (the 
"Founders' Grant"). The Founders' Grant RSUs vested three years from the date of grant. The Company uses the 
straight-line method of attribution for expensing equity awards. Compensation expense is recorded net of 
estimated forfeitures. Estimates are adjusted as appropriate. 

Upon termination of employment, excluding retirement, all of a participant's unvested awards are forfeited. 
However, when a participant terminates employment due to retirement, the participant generally retains all of 
their awards without providing additional service to the Company. Eligible retirement is dependent upon age and 
years of service, as follows: age 55 with ten years of service, age 60 with five years of service and age 65 with 
two years of service. Compensation expense is recognized over the shorter of the vesting periods stated in the 
LTIP, or the date the individual becomes eligible to retire. 

There are 11,550,000 shares of Class A common stock reserved for equity awards under the LTIP. Although 
the LTlP pennits the issuance of shares of Class B common stock. no such shares have been reserved for 
issuance. Shares issued as a result of option exercises and the conversions of RSUs and PSUs are expected to be 
ftmded primarily with the issuance of new shares of Class A common stock. 

Stock Options 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used in the valuation and the resulting weighted
average fair value per option granted for the years ended December 31: 

WI0 2009 2008 

Risk-free rate of return 2.7% 2.5% 3.2% 
Expected term (in years) 6.25 6.17 6.25 
Expected volatility 32.7% 41.7% 37.9% 
Expected dividend yield 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 
Weighted-average fair value per option granted $84.62 $71.03 $78.54 

The risk-free rate of return was based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect on the date of grant. The 
Company utilizes the simplified method for calculating the expected term of the option based on the vesting 
terms and the contractual life of the option. The expected volatility for options granted during 2010 and 2009 was 
based on the average of the implied volatility of MasterCard and a blend of the historical volatility of MasterCard 
and the historical volatility of a group of companies that management believes is generally comparable to 
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MasterCard. The expected volatility for options granted during 2008 was based on the average of the implied 
volatility of MasterCard and the historical volatility of a group of companies that management believes is 
generally comparable to MasterCard. The expected dividend yields were based on the Company's expected 
annual dividend rate on the date of grant. 

The following table summarizes the Company's option activity for the year ended December 31,2010: 

Weighted Average Aggregate 
Weighted-Average Remaining Intrinsic 

Options Exercise Price Contractual Term Value 
(in Otomands) (in years) (in millions) 

Outstanding at January 1, 2010 731 $120 
Granted 182 $232 
Exercised (152) $72 
Forfeited/expired (25) $163 

Outstanding at December 31, 2010 736 $156 7.4 $52 
-- -- -

Exercisable at December 31, 2010 305 $111 6.4 $35 
-- -- - -

Options vested and expected to vest at 
December 31,2010' 433 $122 6.7 $44 

-- -- - -
Includes options for participants that are eligible to retire and thus have fully earned their awards. 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31,2010,2009 and 2008 was 
$26 million, $22 million and $37 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, there was $12 million of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options. The cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 1.7 years. 

Restricted Stock Units 

The following table summarizes the Company's RSU activity for the year ended December 31,2010: 

Weighted-Average Weighted Average Aggregate 
Grant-Date Fair Remaining Intrinsic 

Units Value Contractual Term Value 
(in thousands) (in years) (in millions) 

Outstanding at January 1,2010 1,208 $ 71 
Granted 186 $231 
Converted (936) $44 
Forfeited/expired ~ $174 

Outstanding at December 31, 20 I 0 417 $193 1.7 $93 -- -- - -
RSUs vested at December 31, 2010' 31 $174 1.3 $ 7 

-- -- - -
Includes RSUs for participants that are eligible to retire and thus have fully earned tlleir awards. 

The fair value of each RSU is the closing stock price on the New York Stock Exchange of the Company's 
Class A common stock on the date of grant. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during 
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $231, $164 and $209, respectively. Upon vesting a 
portion of the RSU award may be withheld to satisfy the minimum statutory withholding taxes. The remaining 
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RSUs will be settled in shares of the Company's Class A common stock after the vesting period. The total 
intrinsic value of RSUs converted into shares of Class A common stock during the years ended December 31. 
2010,2009 and 2008 was $234 million, $91 million and $194 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, 
there was $40 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs. The cost is expected 
to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2 years. 

Performance Stock Units 

The following table summarizes the Company's PSU activity for the year ended December 31,2010: 

Weighted-Average Weighted Average Aggregate 
Grant-Date Fair Remaining Intrinsic 

Units Value Contractual Term Value 

(in thousands) (in years) (in millions) 

Outstanding at January I, 2010 1,027 $145 
Granted 57 $219 
Converted (550) $106 
Forfeited/expired (49) $187 

Outstanding at December 31, 2010 485 $192 0.5 $109 
-- -- - --

PSUs vested at December 31,20101 182 $189 0.5 $ 41 
-- -- - --

Includes PSUs for participants that are eligible to retire and thus have fully earned their awards. 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008 was $219, $184 and $192, respectively. 

With regard to the performance stock units granted in 2010, whether or not the performance stock units vest 
will be based upon MasterCard performance against a predetermined return on equity goal. with an average of 
return on equity over the three-year period commencing January 1,2010 yielding threshold, target or maximum 
perrormance, with a potential adjustment determined at the discretion of the MasterCard Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors using subjective quantitative and qualitative goals expected 
to be established at the beginning of each year in the performance period from 2010 through 2012. These goals 
are expected to include MasterCard perlormance against internal management metrics and external relative 
metrics. 

With regard to the perrorrnance stock units granted in 2009, whether or not the performance stock units vest 
will be based upon MasterCard performance against a predetermined return on equity goal, with an average of 
return on equity over the three-year period commencing January 1,2009 yielding threshold, target or maximum 
performance. with a potential adjustment detelmined at the discretion of the MasterCard Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors using subjective quantitative and qualitative goals expected 
to be established at the beginning of each year in the performance period from 2009 through 2011. These goals 
are expected to include MasterCard performance against internal management metrics and external relative 
metrics. 

These perfonnance stock units have been classified as equity awards, will be settled by delivering stock to 
the employees and contain service and performance conditions. The initial fair value of each PSU is the closing 
price on the New York Stock Exchange of the Company's Class A common stock on the date of grant. Given that 
the performance terms are subjective and not fixed on the date of grant, the performance units will be remeasured 
at the end of each reporting period, at fair value, until the time the performance conditions are fIxed and the 
ultimate number of shares to be issued is detennined. Estimates are adjusted as appropriate. Compensation 
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expense is calculated using the number of performance stock units expected to vest; mUltiplied by the period 
ending price of a share of MasterCard's Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange; less 
previously recorded compensation expense. 

With regard to the performance stock units granted in 2008, the ultimate number of shares to be received by 
the employee upon vesting will be detennined by the Company's performance against predetermined net income 
(two-thirds weighting) and operating margin (one-third weighting) goals for the three-year period commencing 
January I, 2008. 

With regard to the performance stock units granted in 2007, the Company awarded 200% of the original 
number of shares granted and not forfeited prior to vesting based upon the Company's perrormance against 
equally weighted predetermined net income and return on equity goals for the three-year period commencing 
January 1,2007 and ending December 31,2009. 

In 2010, 550 thousand PSUs were converted into shares of Class A common stock. The total intrinsic value 
of PSUs converted into shares of Class A common stock during the year ended December 31, 2010, was $123 
million. There were no PSUs converted into shares of Class A common stock during the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008. 

As of December 31, 2010, there was $8 million of total unrecogoized compensation cost related to 
non-vested PSUs. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years. 

Additional Information 

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Company recorded compensation expense for 
all equity awards of $62 million, $87 million and $60 million, respectively. The total income tax benefit 
recognized for the equity awards was $22 million, $30 million and $21 million for the years ended December 31, 
2010,2009 and 2008, respectively. The income tax benefit related to options exercised during 2010, 2009 and 
2008 was $8 million, $8 million and $13 million, respectively. The additional paid-in capital balance attributed to 
the equity awards was $156 million, $197 million and $136 million as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

On July 18,2006, the Company's stockholders approved the MasterCard Incorporated 2006 Non-Employee 
Director Equity Compensation Plan, which was amended and restated as of October 13, 2008 (the "Director 
Plan"). The Director Plan provides for awards of Deferred Stock Units ("DSUs") to each director of the 
Company who is not a current employee of the Company. There are 1 00 thousand shares of Class A common 
stock reserved for DSU awards under the Director Plan. During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, the Company granted 5 thousand, 7 thousand and 4 thousand DSUs, respectively. The fair value of the 
DSUs was based on the closing stock price on the New York Stock Exchange of the Company's Class A 
common stock on the date of grant. The weighted average grant-date fair value of DSUs granted during the years 
ended December 31, 20 I 0,2009 and 2008 was $217, $168 and $285, respectively. The DSUs vested immediately 
upon grant and will be settled in shares of the Company's Class A common stock on the fOllith anniversary of the 
date of grant. Accordingly, the Company recorded general and administrative expense of$1 million for the DSUs 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. The total income tax benefit recognized in the 
income statement for DSUs was less than $1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008. During the year ended December 31, 2010, there were approximately 25 thousand DSUs converted into 
shares of Class A common stock. The total intrinsic value of these DSUs converted into shares of C1ass A 
common stock was $5 million. There were no DSUs converted into shares of Class A Common stock during the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. 
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Note 19. Commitments 

On December 9, 2010, MasterCard entered into an agreement to acquire the prepaid card program 
management operations of Travelex Holdings Ltd. CTravelex CPMH

) for 290 million U.K. pound sterling, or 
approximately $458 million, with contingent consideration (an "earn-out") of up to an additiona135 million U.K. 
pound sterling, or approximately $55 million, if certain pelformance targets are met. The acquisition agreement 
is subject to conditions precedent to the consummation of the transaction, which is expected to occur during the 
fIrst half of 2011. 

In addition to the commitment to purchase Travelex CPM, at December 31, 20 I 0, the Company had the 
fol1owing future minimum payments due under non-cancelable agreements: 

Sponsorship. 
Capital Operating Licensing & 

Total Leases Leases Other 
(in minions) 

2011 $359 $ 7 $26 $326 
2012 173 5 23 145 
2013 88 38 13 37 
2014 26 10 16 
2015 14 9 5 
Thereafter 17 16 1 - --
Total $677 $ 50 $97 $530 

-- -- - --

Inc1uded in the table above are capital leases with imputed interest expense of $5 mimon and a net present 
value of minimum lease payments of $45 million. In addition, at December 31, 2010, $96 million of the future 
minimum payments in the table above for leases, sponsorship, licensing and other agreements was accrued. 
Consolidated rental expense for the Company's office space, which is recognized on a straight line basis over the 
life of the lease, was approximately $27 million, $40 million and $43 million for the years ended December 31, 
2010,2009 and 2008, respectively. Consolidated lease expense for automobiles, computer equipment and office 
equipment was $8 million, $9 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

In January 2003, MasterCard purchased a building in Kansas City, Missouri for approximately $24 million. 
The building is a co-processing data center which replaced a back-up data center in Lake Success, New York. 
During 2003, MasterCard entered into agreements with the City of Kansas City for (i) the sale-leaseback of the 
building and related equipment which totaled $36 million and (ii) the purchase of municipal bonds for the same 
amount which have been classified as investment securities he1d-to-maturity. The agreements enabled 
MasterCard to secure state and local financial benefits. No gain or loss was recorded in connection with the 
agreements. The leaseback has been accounted for as a capital lease as the agreement contains a bargain purchase 
option at the end of the ten-year lease tenn on April 1,2013. The building and related equipment are being 
depreciated over their estimated economic life in accordance with the Company's policy. Rent of $2 million is 
due annually and is equal to the interest due on the municipal bonds. The future minimum lease payments are 
$40 million and are included in the table above. A portion of the building was subleased to the original building 
owner for a five-year tenn with a renewal option. This sublease expires on June 30, 2011. As of December 31. 
2010. the future minimum sublease rental income is $1 million. 
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Note 20. Obligations Under Litigation Settlements 

On October 27,2008, MasterCard and Visa Inc. ("Visa") entered into a settlement agreement (the "Discover 
Settlement") with Discover Financial Services, Inc. ("Discover") relating to the U.S. federal antitrust litigation 
amongst the parties. The Discover Settlement ended all litigation among the parties for a total of $2.75 billion. In 
July 2008, MasterCard and Visa had entered into a judgment sharing agreement that allocated responsibility for 
any judgment or settlement of the Discover action among the parties. Accordingly, the MasterCard share of the 
Discover Settlement was $863 million, which was paid to Discover in November 2008. In addition, in connection 
with the Discover Settlement, Morgan Stanley, Discover's fOlmer parent company, paid MasterCard $35 million 
in November 2008, pursuant to a separate agreement. The net impact of $828 million is included in litigation 
settlements for the year ended December 31,2008. 

On June 24, 2008, MasterCard entered into a settlement agreement (the "American Express Settlement") 
with American Express Company ("American Express") relating to the U.S. federal antitlUst litigation between 
MasterCard and American Express. The American Express Settlement ended all existing litigation between 
MasterCard and American Express. Under the terms of the American Express Settlement, MasterCard is 
obligated to make 12 quarterly payments of up to $150 million per quarter beginning in the third quarter of 2008. 
MasterCard's maximum nominal payments will total $1.8 billion. The amount of each quarterly payment is 
contingent on the performance of American Express's U.S. Global Network Services business. The quarterly 
payments will be in an amount equal to 15% of American Express's U.S. Global Network Services billings 
during the quarter, up to a maximum of $150 million per quarter. If, however. the payment for any quarter is less 
than $150 million, the maximum payment for subsequent quarters will be increased by the difference between 
$150 mi1lion and the lesser amount that was paid in any quarter in which there was a shortfall. MasterCard 
assumes American Express will achieve these financial hurdles. MasterCard recorded the present value of $1.8 
billion, at a 5.75% discount rate, or $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 
2010, the Company has two quarterly payments for a total of $300 million remaining. 

In 2003, MasterCard entered into a settlement agreement (tlle "U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement") related 
to the U.S. merchant lawsuit described under the caption "U.S. Merchant and Consumer Litigations" in Note 22 
(Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) and contract disputes with certain customers. Under the terms of the U.S. 
Merchant Lawsuit SeUlement, the Company was required to pay $125 million in 2003 and $100 million annually 
each December from 2004 through 2012. On July I, 2009, MasterCard entered into an agreement (the 
"Prepayment Agreemenf') with plaintiffs of the U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement whereby MasterCard agreed 
to make a prepayment of its remaining $400 mil1ion in payment obligations at a discounted amount of $335 
million on September 30, 2009. The Company made the prepayment at the discounted amount of $335 million on 
September 30, 2009, after the Prepayment Agreement became final. In addition, in 2003, several other lawsuits 
were initiated by merchants who opted not to participate in the plaintiff class in the U.S. merchant lawsuit. The 
"opt-out" merchant lawsuits were not covered by the terms of the U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement and all have 
been individually settled. 
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We recorded liabilities for these and celtain litigation settlements in 2010 and prior years. Total1iabilities 
for litigation settlements changed from December 31, 2008, as follows: 

Balance as of December 31, 2008 
Interest accretion on U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement 
Interest accretion on American Express Settlement 
Payments on American Express Settlement 
Payment on U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement 
Gain on prepayment of U.S. Merchant Lawsuit Settlement 
Other payments, accruals and accretion, net 

Balance as of December 31, 2009 
Interest accretion on American Express Settlement 
Payments on American Express Settlement 
Other payments. accruals and accretion, net 

Balance as of December 31, 2010 

(in millions) 

$1,736 
21 
66 

(600) 
(335) 
(14) 

~) 

870 
35 

(600) 

~ 
$ 302 

See Note 22 (Legal and Regulatory Proceedings) for additional discussion regarding the Company's legal 
proceedings. 

Note 21. Income Tax 

The total income tax provision for the years ended December 31 is comprised of the fo11awing components: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions) 

Current 
Federal $379 $160 $ 119 
State and local 17 18 13 
Foreign 301 240 223 --

697 418 355 
Deferred 
Federal 225 308 (482) 
State and local 8 21 2 
Foreign (20) 8 ~) --

213 337 (484) 

Total income tax expense (benefit) $910 $755 $(129) 
-- --

The domestic and foreign components of earnings (loss) before income taxes for the years ended 
December 31 are as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions) 

United States $2,198 $1,482 $(986) 
Foreign 559 736 603 -- --

$2,757 $2,218 $(383) 
--
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MasterCard has not provided for U.S. federal inqome and foreign withholding taxes on approximately $1.5 
billion of undistributed earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 because such earnings are 
intended to be reinvested indefinitely outside of the United States. If these earnings were distributed. foreign tax 
credits may become available under current law to reduce the resulting U.S. income tax liability; however, the 
amount of the tax and credits is not practically deteITIlinable. 

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the 
appropriate statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to pretax income (loss) for the years ended December 31, as a 
result of the following: 

2010 2009 2008 
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent -- ----(in millions, except percentages) 

Income (loss) before income tax expense $2,757 $2,218 $(383) 
Federal statutory tax 965 35.0% 776 35.0% (134) 35.0% 
State tax effect, net of federal benefit 19 0.7% 25 1.1% 11 (2.9) 
Foreign tax effect, net of federal benefit (24) (0.9)% (22) (1.0)% 2 (0.5) 
Non-deductible expenses and other differences 23 0.9% (18) (0.7)% 2 (0.7) 
Tax exempt income (5) (0.2)% (6) (0.3)% (10) 2.8 
Foreign repatriation ~ (2.5)% -% 

Income tax expense (benefit) $ 910 33.0% $ 755 34.1% $(129) 33.7% 
-- -- -- -- --

Effective Income Tax Rate 

The effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were 33.0%, 34.1 % 
and 33.7%, respectively. The tax rate for 2010 was lower than the tax rate for 2009 due primarily to the impact of 
actual and anticipated repatriations from foreign subsidiaries, partially offset by discrete adjustments in 2010 and 
2009. The tax rate for 2009 was higher than the tax rate for 2008 due primarily to litigation settlement charges 
recorded in 2008, which resulted in a pretax loss in a higher tax rate jurisdiction and pretax income in lower tax 
rate jurisdictions. 

Deferred Taxes 

DefelTed tax assets and liabilities represent the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The net deferred tax asset at 
December 31 was comprised of the following: 

Accrued liabilities (including litigation settlements) 
Deferred compensation and benefits 
Stock based compensation 
Intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
State taxes and other credits 
Other items 
Valuation allowance 
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Assets (Liabilities) 

2010 2009 
Current Non-current CUlTent Non-current 

(in millions) 
$133 

34 
27 
(6) 

36 
(8) 

$216 
--

$ 4 
30 
26 

(92) 
(107) 

62 
26 

~) 
$ (69) 

$240 
20 

9 
(25) 

$114 
51 
59 

(52) 
(63) 
54 
33 

(12) 

$244 $184 
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The net increase in the valuation allowance during 2010 was $6 million. The 2010 and 2009 valuation 
allowances relate primarily to the Company's ability to recognize tax benefits associated with certain foreign net 
operating losses. The recognition of these benefits is dependent upon the future taxable income in such foreign 
jurisdictions and the ability under tax law in these jurisdictions to utilize net operating losses following a change 
in control. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance for the Company's unrecognized tax benefits for the 
years ended December 31, is as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 
(in millions) 

Beginning balance $146 $163 $135 
Additions: 
Current year tax positions 22 19 20 
Prior year tax positions 15 10 16 
Reductions: 
Prior year tax positions. due to changes in judgments (12) (I 8) (3) 
Settlements with tax authorities (6) (16) (I) 
Expired statute of limitations (12) ~) 

Ending balance $165 $146 $163 
-- -- --

The entire balance of $165 million of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would reduce the effective 
tax rate. There are no positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax 
benefits will increase or decrease significantly within the next twelve months. 

The Company is subject to tax in the United States, Belgium and various state and other foreign 
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to federal, state, local and foreign 
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2002. 

It is the Company's policy to account for interest expense related to income tax matters as interest expense 
in its statement of operations. and to include penalties related to income tax matters in the income tax provision. 
For the years ended December 31,2010,2009 and 2008, the Company recorded tax-related interest income of $5 
million and tax-related interest expense of $5 million and $8 million, respectively, in its consolidated statement 
of operations. At December 31,2010 and 2009, the Company had a net income tax-related interest payable of 
$17 million and $19 million, respectively, in its consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the 
amounts the Company had recognized for penalties payable in its consolidated balance sheet were not significant. 

Note 22. Legal and Regulatory Proceedings 

MasterCard is a party to legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to a variety of matters in the ordinary 
course of business. Some of these proceedings involve complex claims that are subject to substantial 
uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Therefore, the probability of loss and an estimation of damages are 
not possible to ascertain at present. While these types 'of contingencies are generally resolved over long periods 
of time, the probability of loss or an estimation of damages can change due to discrete or a combination of 
developments, which could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial 
condition. Except as discussed below, MasterCard has not established reserves for any of these proceedings. 
MasterCard has recorded liabilities for certain legal proceedings which have been settled through contractual 
agreements. Except as described below, MasterCard does not believe that any legal or regulatory proceedings to 
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which it is a party would have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. 
Although MasterCard believes that it has strong defenses for the pending litigations and regulatory proceedings 
described below. it could in the future incur judgments and/or fines, enter into settlements of claims or be 
required to change its business practices in ways that could have a material adverse' effect on its results of 
operations. financial position or cash flows. Notwithstanding MasterCard's belief, in the event it were found 
liable in a large class-action lawsuit or on the basis of a claim entitling the plaintiff to treble damages or under 
whlch it were jointly and severally liable, charges it may be required to record could be significant and could 
materially and adversely affect its results of operations, cash flow and financial condition, or, in certain 
circwnstances, even cause MasterCard to become insolvent. Moreover, an adverse outcome in a regulatory 
proceeding could result in fines and/or lead to the filing of civil damage claims and possibly result in damage 
awards in amounts that could be significant and could materially and adversely affect the Company's results of 
operations. cash flows and financial condition. 

Department of Justice Antitrust Litigation and Related Private Litigations 

In October 1998, the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOl") filed suit against MasterCard Intemational, Visa 
U.S.A., Inc. and Visa International Corp. in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York 
al1eging that both MasterCard's and Visa's governance structure and policies violated U.S. federal antitrust laws. 
First, the DOJ claimed that "dual governance"-the situation where a financial institution has a representati.ve on 
the Board of Directors of MasterCard or Visa while a portion of its card portfolio is issued under the brand of the 
other association-was anti-competitive and acted to limit innovation within the payment card industry. Second, 
the DOJ challenged MasterCard's Competitive Programs Policy ("CPP") and a Visa bylaw provision tl13t 
prohibited financial institutions participating in the respective associations from issuing competing proprietary 
payment cards (such as American Express or Discover). The DOJ alleged that MasterCard's CPP and Visa's 
bylaw provision acted to restrain competition. 

In October 2001, District Court Judge Barbara Jones issued an oplmon upholding the legality and 
pro-competitive nature of dual governance. However, the judge also held that MasterCard's CPP and the Visa 
bylaw constituted unlawful restraints of trade under the federal antitrust laws. In November 2001, the judge 
issued a final judgment that ordered MasterCard to repeal the CPP insofar as it applies to issuers and enjoined 
MasterCard from enacting or enforcing any bylaw, rule, policy or practice that prohibits its issuers from issuing 
general purpose credit or debit cards in the United States on any other general purpose card network. The Second 
Circuit upheld the final judgment and the Supreme Court denied certiorari. 

Shortly after the Supreme Court's denial of certiorari, both American Express and Discover Financial 
Services, Inc. filed complaints against MasterCard and Visa in which they alleged that the implementation and 
enforcement of MasterCard's CPP and Visa's bylaw provision violated U.S. federal antitrust laws. In June 2008, 
MasterCard entered into a settlement agreement with American Express to resolve all current litigation between 
American Express and MasterCard. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, MasterCard is obligated to 
make twelve quarterly payments of up to $150 million per quarter with the ftrst payment having been made in 
September 2008. See Note 20 (Obligations under Litigation Settlements) for additional discussion. III October 
2008, MasterCard and Visa entered into a settlement agreement with Discover (the ''Discover Settlement"), 
ending all litigation between the parties for a total of approximately $2.8 billion. The MasterCard share of the 
settlement, paid to Discover in November 2008, was approximately $863 million. In addition, in connection with 
the Discover Settlement and pursuant to a separate agreement, Morgan Stanley, Discover's former parent 
company, paid MasterCard $35 million in November 2008. 
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In April 2005, a complaint was filed in California state court on behalf of a putative class of consumers 
under California unfair competition law (Section 17200) and the Cartwright Act (the "Attridge action"). The 
claims in this action seek to piggyback on the portion of the DOI antitrust litigation discussed above with regard 
to the district comt's findings concerning MasterCard's CPP and Visa's related bylaw. MasterCard and Visa 
moved to dismiss the complaint and the court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' Cartwright 
Act claims but denied the defendants' motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' Section 17200 unfair competition claims. 
MasterCard filed an answer to the complaint in June 2006 and the parties have proceeded with discovery. In 
September 2009, MasterCard executed a settlement agreement that is subject to court approval in the California 
consumer litigations (see "-U.S. Merchant and Consumer Litigations"). The agreement includes a release that 
the parties believe encompasses the claims asserted in the Attridge action. On August 23, 2010, the court in the 
California consumer actions executed an order granting final approval to the settlement. The plaintiff from the 
Attridge action and three other objectors have filed a notice that they intend to appeal the settlement approval 
order. At this time, it is not possible to determine the outcome of, or estimate the liability related to, the Attridge 
action and no incremental provision for losses has been provided in connection with it. 

Currency Conversion Litigations 

MasterCard International, together with Visa U.S.A., Inc. and Visa International Corp., are defendants in a 
state cow't lawsuit in California. The lawsuit alleges that MasterCard and Visa wrongfuI1y imposed an asserted 
one percent currency conversion "fee" on every credit card transaction by U.S. MasterCard and Visa cardholders 
involving the purchase of goods or services in a foreign country, and that such alleged "fee" is Wllawful. This 
action, titled Schwartz v. Visa Int'l Corp., et a1. (the "Schwartz action"), was brought in the Superior Court of 
California in February 2000, purportedly on behalf of the general public. MasterCard International, Visa U.s.A., 
Inc., Visa International Corp., several member banks including Citibank (South Dakota), N.A., Chase Manhattan 
Bank USA, NA, Bank of America, NA (USA), MBNA, and Citicorp Diners Club Inc. are also defendants in a 
number of federal putative class actions that allege, among other things, violations of federal antitrust laws based 
on the asselted one percent currency conversion "fee." Pursuant to an order of the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict 
Litigation, the federal complaints have been consolidated in MDL No. 1409 (the "MDL action") before Judge 
William H. Pauley III in the U.s. District Court for the Southern District of New York. 

In July 2006, MasterCard and the other defendants in the MDL action entered into agreements settling the 
MDL action and related matters, as well as the Schwartz matter. Pursuant to the settlement agreements, 
MasterCard paid approximately $72 million to be used for the defendants' settlement fund to settle the MDL 
action and approximately $13 million to settle the Schwartz matter. In November 2006, Judge Pauley granted 
preliminary approval of the settlement agreements, which were subject to both final approval by Judge Pauley 
and resolution of all appeals. Subsequently in November 2006, the plaintiff in one of the New York state court 
cases appealed the preliminary approval of the settlement agreement to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second 
Circuit. In November 2009, Judge Pauley signed a Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal granting final 
approval to the settlement agreements, and subsequently the same plaintiff in the New York state cases filed 
notice of appeal of final settlement approval in the MDL action. Within the time period for appeal in the MDL 
action, twelve other such notices of appeal were filed. Subsequently, several plaintiffs have requested to 
withdraw their appeals. Briefing on the remaining appeals is ongoing. With regard to other state court currency 
conversion actions, MasterCard has reached agreements in principle with the plaintiffs for a total of 
approximately $4 million, which has been accrued. Settlement agreements have been executed with plaintiffs in 
the Ohio, Pennsylvania, Florida, Texas, Arkansas, Tennessee, Arizona, New York, Minnesota, Illinois and 
Missouri actions. At this time, it is not possible to predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of these matters. 
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u.s. :Merchant and Consumer Litigations 

Commencing in October 1996, several class action suits were brought by a number of U.S. merchants 
against MasterCard International and Visa U.S.A., Inc. challenging celtain aspects of the payment card industry 
under U.S. federal antitrust law. Those suits were later consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern 
District of New Yark. The plaintiffs claimed that MasterCard's "Honor All Cards" rule (and'a similar Visa rule), 
which required merchants who accept MasterCard cards to accept for payment every validly presented 
MasterCard card, constituted an illegal tying arrangement in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. Plaintiffs 
claimed that MasterCard and Visa unlawfully tied acceptance of debit cards to acceptance of credit cards. In June 
2003, MasterCard International signed a settlement agreement to settIe the claims brought by the plaintiffs in this 
matter, which the Court approved in December 2003. In January 2005, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 
issued an order affirming the District Court's approval of the settlement agreement thus making it final. In July 
2009) MasterCard International entered into an agreement with the plaintiffs to prepay MasterCard 
International's remaining payment obligations under the settlement agreement at a discount. In August 2009, the 
court entered a final order approving the prepayment agreement. The agreement became final pursuant to its 
terms In September 2009 as there were no appeals of the court's approval, and the prepayment was subsequently 
made in September 2009. 

In addition, individual or multiple complaints have been brought in nineteen different states and the District 
of Columbia alleging state unfair competition. consumer protection and common law claims against MasterCard 
International (and Visa) on behalf of putative classes of consumers. The claims in these actions largely mirror the 
allegations made in the U.S. merchant lawsuit and assert that merchants, faced with excessive merchant discount 
fees, have passed these overcharges to consumers in the form of higher prices on goods and services sold. 
MasterCard has been successful in dismissing cases in seventeen of the jurisdictions as courts have granted 
MasterCard's motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim or plaintiffs have voluntarily dismissed their 
complaints. However, there are outstanding cases in New Mexico and California. On June 9, 2010, the court 
issued an order granting MasterCard's motion to dismiss the complaint in the New Mexico action. The plaintiffs 
have filed a notice of appeal of that decision. With respect to the California state actions, and as discussed above 
under "Department of Justice Antitrust Litigation and Related Private Litigations," in September 2009. the 
parties to the California state court actions executed a settlement agreement which required a payment by 
MasterCard of $6 million, subject to approval by the California state court. On August 23, 2010, the court 
executed an order granting final approval of the settlement, subsequent to which MasterCard made the payment 
required by the settlement agreement. The plaintiff from the Attridge action described above tmder "Department 
of Justice Antitrust Litigation and Related Private Litigations" and three other objectors have filed a notice that 
they intend to appeal the settlement approval order. 

At this time, it is not possible to determine the outcome of. or. except as indicated above in the Califomia 
consumer action, estimate the liability related to, the remaining consumer cases and no provision for losses has 
been provided in connection with them. The consumer class actions are not covered by the tenns of the 
settlement agreement in the U.S. merchant lawsuit. 

Interchange Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 

Interchange fees represent a sharing of payment system costs among the financial institutions participating 
in a four-party payment card system such as MasterCard's. Typically, interchange fees are paid by the acquirer to 
the issuer in connection with purchase transactions initiated with the payment system's cards. These fees 
reimburse the issuer for a portion of the costs incurred by it in providing services which are of benefit to all 
participants in the system, including acquirers and merchants. MasterCard or its customer financial institutions 
establish default interchange fees in certain circumstances that apply when there is no other interchange fee 
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arrangement between the issuer and the acquirer. MasterCard establishes a variety of interchange rates depending 
on such considerations as the location and the type of transaction, and collects the interchange fee on behalf of 
the institutions entitled to receive it and remits the interchange fee to eligible institutions. As described more 
fully below, MasterCard's interchange fees are subject to regulatory and/or legal review and/or challenges in a 
number of jurisdictions. At this time, it is not possible to determine the ultimate resolution of. or estimate the 
liability related to, any of the interchange proceedings described below. Except as described below, no provision 
for losses has been provided in connection with them. 

United States. In June 2005, a purported class action lawsuit was filed by a group of merchants in the U.S. 
District Court of Connecticut against MasterCard International Incorporated, Visa U.S.A., Inc., Visa International 
Service Association and a number of member banks alleging, among other things, that MasterCard's and Visa's 
purported setting of interchange fees violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act, which prohibits contracts, 
combinations and conspiracies that unreasonably restrain trade. In addition, the complaint alleges MasterCard's 
and Visa's purported tying and bundling of transaction fees also constitutes a violation of Section 1 of the 
Sherman Act. The suit seeks treble damages in an unspecified amount, attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. Since 
the filing of this complaint, there have been approximately fifty similar complaints (the majority of which are 
styled as class actions, although a few complaints are on behalf of individual plaintiffs) filed on behalf of 
merchants against MasterCard and Visa (and in some cases, certain member banks) in federal courts in 
California, New York, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Ohio, Kentucky and Connecticut. In October 2005, 
the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order transferring these cases to Judge Gleeson of the U.S. 
Disuict Court for the Eastern District of New York for coordination of pre-trial proceedings in MDL No. 1720. 
In April 2006, the group of purported class plaintiffs filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint. Taken 
together, the claims in the First Amended Class Action Complaint and in the complaints brought on the behalf of 
the individual merchants are generally brought under both Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 2 of the 
Sherman Act, which prohibits monopolization and attempts or conspiracies to monopolize a particular industry. 
Specifically. the complaints contain some or all of the following claims: (1) that MasterCard's and Visa's setting 
of interchange fees (for both credit and off-line debit transactions) violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act; (2) that 
MasterCard and Visa have enacted and enforced various rules, including the no surcharge rule and pwported 
anti-steering rules, in vio1ation of Section 1 or 2 of the Shennan Act; (3) that MasterCard's and Visa's purported 
bWldling of the acceptance of premium credit cards to standard credit cards constitutes an unlawful tying 
arrangement; and (4) that MasterCard and Visa have unlawfully tied and bundled transaction fees. In addition to 
the claims brought under federal antitrust law, some of these complaints contain certain unfair competition law 
claims under state law based upon the same conduct described above. These interchange-related litigations seek 
treble damages, as well as attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. In June 2006, MasterCard answered the complaint 
and moved to dismiss or, alternatively, moved to strike the pre-2004 damage claims that were contained in the 
First Amended Class Action Complaint and moved to dismiss the Section 2 claims that were brought in the 
individual merchant complaints. In January 2008, the district court dismissed the plaintiffs' pre-2004 damage 
claims. In May 2008, the court denied MasterCard's motion to dismiss the Section 2 monopolization claims. Fact 
discovery has been proceeding and was generally completed by November 2008. Briefs have been submitted on 
plaintiffs' motion for class certification. The court heard oral argument on the plaintiffs' class certification 
motion in November 2009. The parties are awaiting a decision on the motion. 

In January 2009, the class plaintiffs filed a Second Consolidated Class Action Complaint. The allegations 
and claims in this complaint generally mirror those in the first amended class action complaint described above 
although plaintiffs have added additional claims brought under Sections I and 2 of the Shennan Act against 
MasterCard. Visa and a number of banks alleging, among other things, that the networks and banks have 
continued to fix interchange fees following each network's initial public offering. In March 2009, MasterCard 
and the other defendants in the action filed a motion to dismiss the Second Consolidated Class Action Complaint 
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in its entirety, or alternatively, to Darrow the claims in the complaint. The parties have fully briefed the motion 
and the court heard oral argument on the motion in November 2009. The parties are awaiting decisions on the 
motions. 

In July 2006, the group of purported class plaintiffs filed a supplemental complaint alleging that 
MasterCard's initial public offering of its Class A Common Stock in May 2006 (the "!PO") and certain purported 
agreements entered into between MasterCard and its member financial institutions in connection with the IPO: 
(1) violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act because their effect allegedly may be to substantially lessen competition, 
(2) violate Section 1 of the Sherman Act because they allegedly constitute an unlawful combination in restraint 
of trade and (3) constitute a fraudulent conveyance because the member banks are allegedly attempting to release 
without adequate consideration from the member banks MasterCard's right to assess the member banks for 
MasterCard's litigation liabilities in these interchange-related litigations and in other antitrust litigations pending 
against it. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages and an order reversing and unwinding the lPO. In September 
2006, MasterCard moved to dismiss all of the claims contained in the supplemental complaint. In November 
2008, the district court granted MasterCard's motion to dismiss the plaintiffs' supplemental complaint in its 
entirety with leave to file an amended complaint. In January 2009, the class plaintiffs repled their complaint 
directed at MasterCard's !PO by filing a First Amended Supplemental Class Action Complaint. The causes of 
action in the complaint generally mirror those in the plaintiffs' original IPO·related complaint although the 
plaintiffs have attempted to expand their factual allegations based upon discovery that has been garnered in the 
case. The class plaintiffs seek treble damages and injunctive relief including. but not limited to, an order 
reversing and unwinding the 1P0. In March 2009, MasterCard filed a motion to dismiss the First Amended 
Supplemental Class Action Complaint in its entirety. The parties have fully briefed the motion to dismiss and the 
court heard oral argument on the motion in November 2009. The parties are awaiting a decision on the motion. In 
July 2009, the class plaintiffs and individual plaintiffs served confidential expert reports detailing the plaintiffs' 
theories of liability and alleging damages in the tens of billions of dol1ars. The defendants served their expert 
reports in December 2009 countering the plaintiffs' assertions of liability and damages. In February 2011, both 
the defendants and the plaintiffs served a number of dispositive motions seeking summary judgment on all or 
portions of the claims in the complaints. Briefing on these motions is scheduled to be completed in June 2011. 
No trial date has been scheduled, however, the court has asked the parties to consider a trial date of 
September 12, 2012. The parties have also entered into court-recommended mediation and anticipate scheduling 
a number of mediation sessions in the coming months. It is not possible to predict whether the mediation will be 
successful or not. 

On February 7, 2011, MasterCard and MasterCard International Incorporated entered into each of: (1) an 
omnibus judgment sharing and settlement sharing agreement with Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. Inc. and Visa 
International Service Association and a number of member banks; and (2) a MasterCard settlement and judgment 
sharing agreement with a number of member banks. The agreements provide for the apPOltionment of certain 
costs and liabilities which MasterCard, the Visa parties and the member banks may incur, jointly andlor 
severally, in the event of an adverse judgment or settlement of one or all of the cases in the interchange merchant 
litigations. Among a number of scenarios addressed by the agreements, in the event of a global settlement 
involving the Visa patties. the member banks and MasterCard, MasterCard would pay 12% of the monetaty 
portion of the settlement. In the event of a settlement involving only MasterCard and the member banks with 
respect to their issuance of MasterCard cards, MasterCard would pay 36% of the monetary portion of such 
settlement. 

In October 2008, the Antitrust Division of the DOJ issued a civil investigative demand to MasterCard and 
other payment industry participants seeking information regarding certain rules relating to merchant point of 
acceptance rules. Subsequently, MasterCard received requests for similar information from ten State Attorneys 
General. On October I, 2010, MasterCard, the DOJ and seven of the State Attorneys General executed a 
stipulation and proposed final judgment, subject to court review and approval. pursuant to which MasterCard . 
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agreed to make certain modifications to its rules to conform to MasterCard's existing business practices, and 
therefore to specify, among other things, the ways in which merchants may steer customers to preferred payment 
forms. The proposed settlement would resolve the DOl's investigation, and all ten State Attorneys General have 
closed their investigations of MasterCard. The parties are currently awaiting court approval of the settlement. 

European Union. In September 2003, the European Commission issued a Statement of Objections 
challenging MasterCard Europe's cross-border default interchange fees. In June 2006, the European Commission 
issued a supplemental Statement of Objections covering credit, debit and commercial card fees. In November 
2006, the European Commission held hearings on MasterCard Europe's cross-border default interchange fees. In 
March 2007, the European Commission issued a Letter of Facts, also covering credit, debit and commercial card 
fees and discussing its views on the impact of the IPO on the case. MasterCard Europe responded to the 
Statements of Objections and Letter of Facts and made presentations on a variety of issues at the hearings. 

The European Commission announced its decision in December 2007. The decision applies to MasterCard's 
default cross-border interchange fees for MasterCard and Maestro branded consumer payment card transactions 
in the European Economic Area ("EEA") (the European Commission refers to these as "MasterCard's MIF'), but 
not to commercial card transactions (the European Commission stated publicly that it has not yet finished its 
investigation of commercial card interchange fees). The decision applies to MasterCard's MIF for cross-border 
consumer card payments and to any domestic consumer card transactions that default to MasterCard's MIF. of 
which clln-ently tbere are none. The decision required MasterCard to stop applying the MasterCard MIF, to 
refrain from repeating the conduct. and not apply its then recently adopted (but never implemented) Maestro 
SEPA and Intra-Eurozone default interchange fees to debit card payment transactions within the Eurozone. 
MasterCard understood that the decision gave MasterCard until June 21, 2008 to comply, with the possibility that 
the European Commission could have extended this time at its discretion. The decision also required MasterCard 
to issue certain specific notices to financial institutions and other entities that participate in its MasterCard and 
Maestro payment systems in the EEA and make certain specific public announcements regarding the steps it has 
taken to comply. The decision did not impose a fine on MasterCard, but provides for a daily penalty of up to 
3.5% of MasterCard's daily consolidated global twnover in the preceding business year (which MasterCard 
estimates to be approximately $0.5 million U.S. per day) in the event that MasterCard fails to comply. In March 
2008, MasterCard filed an application for annulment of the European Commission's decision with the General 
Court of the European Union. 

The December 2007 decision against MasterCard permits MasterCard to establish other default cross-harder 
interchange fees for MasterCard and Maestro branded consumer payment card transactions in the EEA if 
MasterCard can demonstrate by empirical proof to the European Commission's satisfaction that the new 
interchange fees create efficiencies that outweigh the restriction of competition alleged by the European 
Commission, that consumers get a fair share of the benefits of the new interchange fees. that there are no less 
restrictive means of achieving the efficiencies of MasterCard's payment systems, and that competition is not 
eliminated altogether. In March 2008, MasterCard entered into discussions with the European Commission 
about, among other things, the nature of tbe empirical proof it would require for MasterCard to establish other 
default cross-border interchange fees consistent with the decision ~d so as to understand more ful1y the 
European Commission's position as to how it may comply with the decision. MasterCard requested an extension 
of time to comply with the decision and, in April 2008, the European Commission infonned MasterCard that it 
had rejected such request. In June 2008, MasterCard announced that, effective June 21, 2008, MasterCard would 
temporarily repeal its then current default intra-EEA cross-border consumer card interchange fees in conformity 
with the decision. In October 2008, MasterCard received an information request from the European Commission 
in connection with the decision concerning certain pricing changes that MasterCard implemented as of 
October 1,2008. MasterCard submitted its response in November 2008. 

In March 2009, MasterCard gave certain undertakings to the European Commission and, in response. in 
April 2009, the Commissioner for competition policy and DG Competition informed MasterCard that, subject to 
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MasterCard's fulfilling its undertakings, they do not intend to pursue proceedings for non-compliance with or 
circumvention of the decision of December 2007 or for infringing the antitrust laws in relation to the October 
2008 pricing changes, the introduction of new cross-border consumer default interchange fees or any of the other 
MasterCard undertakings. MasterCard's undertakings include: (1) repealing the October 2008 pricing changes; 
(2) adopting a specific methodology for the setting of cross-border consumer default interchange fees; 
(3) establishing new default cross-border consumer interchange fees as of July 1, 2009 such that the weighted 
average interchange fee for credit card transactions does not exceed 30 basis points and for debit card 
transactions does not exceed 20 basis points; (4) introducing a new rule prohibiting its acquirers from requiring 
merchants to process all of their MasterCard and Maestro transactions with the acquirer; and (5) introducing a 
new rule requiring its aequirers to provide merchants with certain pricing infonnation in connection with 
MasterCard and Maestro transactions. The undertakings will be effective until a final decision by the General 
Court of the European Union regarding MasterCard's application for annulment of the European Commission's 
December 2007 decision. 

Although MasterCard believes that any other business practices it would implement in response to the 
decision would be in compliance with the December 2007 decision, the European Commission may deem any 
such practice not in compliance with the decision, or in violation of European competition law, in which case 
MasterCard may be assessed fines for the period that it is not in compliance. Furthermore, because a balancing 
mechanism like default cross-border interchange fees constitutes an essential element of MasterCard Europe's 
operations, the December 2007 decision could also significantly impact MasterCard International's European 
customers' and MasterCard Europe's business. The European Commission decision could also lead to additional 
competition authorities in European Union member states commencing investigations or proceedings regarding 
domestic interchange fees or, in certain jurisdictions, regulation. In addition, the European Commission's 
decision could lead to the filing of private actions against MasterCard Europe by merchants andlor consumers 
which, if MasterCard is unsuccessful in its application for annulment of the decision, could result in MasterCard 
owing substantial damages. 

United Kingdom. In September 2001, the Office of Fair Trading of the United Kingdom ("Off") issued a 
Rule 14 Notice under the U.K. Competition Act 1998 challenging the MasteICard default interchange rees and 
multilateral service fee ("MSF'), the fee paid by issuers t<? acquirers when a customer uses a MasterCard
branded card in the United Kingdom either at an ATM or over the counter to obtain a cash advance. Until 
November 2004, the interchange fees and MSF were established by MasteICard U.K. Members Forum Limited 
("MMF') (fonnerly MasteICard Europay U.K. Ltd.) for domestic credit card transactions in the United 
Kingdom. The notice contained preliminary conclusions to the effect that the MasterCard U.K. default 
interchange fees and MSF infringed U.K. competition law and did not qualify for an exemption in their present 
forms. In February 2003, the Off issued a . supplemental Rule 14 Notice, which also contained preliminary 
conclusions challenging MasterCard's U.K. interchange fees (but not the MSF) under the Competition Act. In 
November 2004, the Off issued a third notice (now called a Statement of Objections) claiming that the 
interchange fees infringed U.K. and European Union competition law. 

Subsequently in November 2004, MasterCard's board of directors adopted a resolution withdrawing the 
authority of the U.K. members to set domestic MasterCard interchange fees and MSFs and conferring such 
authority on MasterCard's President and Chief Executive Officer. 

In September 2005, the Off issued its decision, concluding that MasteICard's U.K. interchange fees that 
were established by MMF prior to November 18, 2004 contravene U.K. and European Union competition law. 
The OFT decided not to impose penalties on MasteICard or MMF. MMF and MasterCard appealed the OFT's 
d~cision to the U.K. Competition Appeals Tribunal. In June 2006, the U.K. Competition Appeals Tlibunal set 
aside the OFT's decision, foHowing the OFf's request to the Tribunal to withdraw the decision and end its case 
against MasteICard's U.K. default interchange fees in place prior to November 18,2004. 
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Shortly thereafter, the OFT commenced a new investigation of MasterCard's current U.K. default credit 
card interchange fees and announced in February 2007 that the investigation would also cover so~ca1led 
"immediate debit" cards. To date, the OFT has issued a number of requests for information to MasterCard 
Europe and financial institutions that participate in MasterCard's payment system in the United Kingdom. 
MasterCard understands that the OFf is considering whether to commence a fannal proceeding through the 
issuance of a Statement of Objections. The OFf has informed MasterCard that it does not intend to issue such a 
Statement of Objections prior to the judgment of the General Court of the European Union with respect to 
MasterCard's appeal of the December 2007 cross-border interchange fee decision of the European Commission. 
If the OFf ultimately determines that any of MasterCard's U.K. interchange fees contravene U.K. and European 
Vnion competition law, it may issue a new decision and possibly levy fines accruing from the date of its fIrst 
decision. MasterCard would likely appeal a negative decision by the Off in any futw·e proceeding to the 
Competition Appeals Tribunal. Such an Off decision could lead to the filing of private actions against 
MasterCard by merchants and/or consumers which, if its appeal of such an Off decision were to fail, could 
result in an award or awards of substantial damages and could have a significant adverse impact on the revenues 
of MasterCard International's V.K. customers and MasterCard's overall business in the U.K. 

Poland. In April 2001, in response to merchant complaints, the Polish Office for Protection of 
Competition and Consumers (the "PCA") initiated an investigation of MasterCard's domestic credit and debit 
card default interchange fees. MasterCard Europe filed several submissions and met with the peA in connection 
with the investigation. In January 2007, the peA issued a decision that MasterCard's interchange fees are 
unlawful under Polish competition law, and imposed fines on MasterCard's licensed financial institutions. As 
part of this decision, the PCA also decided that MasterCard had not violated the law. MasterCard and the 
financial institutions appealed the decision to the court of first instance. In November 2008, the court of first 
instance reversed the decision of the peA and also rejected MasterCard's appeal on the basis that MasterCard did 
not have a legal interest in the PCA's decision because its conduct was not found to be in breach of the relevant 
competition laws. MasterCard has appealed this part of the court of first instance's decision because it has 
significant interest in the outcome of the case. The PCA appealed the other parts of the decision. On April 22, 
2010, the court of appeals issued an oral decision (followed by a written decision on May 25, 2010) in which it 
reinstated MasterCard's appeal, reversed a specific finding of the court of first instance and sent the case back to 
the court of fIrst instance for further proceedings. If on appeal the peA's decision is ultimately allowed to stand, 
it could have a significant adverse impact on the revenues of MasterCard's Polish customers and on 
MasterCard's overall business in Poland. 

Hungary. In January 2008, U,e Hungarian Competition Authority ("HCA") notified MasterCard that it had 
commenced a formal investigation of MasterCard Europe's domestic interchange fees. This followed an informal 
investigation that the HCA had been conducting since the middle of 2007. In July 2009, the HCA issued to 
MasterCard a Preliminary Position that MasterCard Europe's historic domestic interchange fees violate 
Hungarian competition law. MasterCard responded to the Preliminary Position both in writing and at a hearing 
which was held in September 2009. Subsequently in September 2009, the HCA ruled that MasterCard's historic 
interchange fees violated the law and fined MasterCard Europe approximately $3 million, which was paid during 
the fourth quarter of 2009. In December 2009, the HCA issued its formal decision and MasterCard appealed the 
decision to the Hungarian courts. On September 24,2010, the HCA fIled its reply to MasterCard's appeal, while 
MasterCard fIled its response in October 2010. On October 29, 2010, the Hungarian appeals cowt stayed the 
proceeding until MasterCard's appeal to the General Court of the European Union of the European 
Commission's December 2007 cross-border interchange fee decision is finally decided. If the RCA's decision is 
not reversed on appeal, it could have a significant adverse impact on the revenues of MasterCard's Hungarian 
customers and on MasterCard's overall business in Hungary. 

Italy. In July 2009, the Italian Competition Authority nCA") commenced a proceeding against 
MasterCard and a number of its customers concerning MasterCard Europe's domestic interchange fees in Italy. 
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MasterCard, as well as each of the banks involved in the proceeding. offered to give certain undertakings to the 
rCA, which were rejected (which rejection MasterCard appealed to the Administrative Court). On May 28, 2010, 
the rCA issued a Statement of Objections to MasterCard and the banks. On November 3,2010, the rCA adopted a 
decision in which it determined that MasterCard Europe's domestic interchange fees violate European Union 
competition law. fined MasterCard €2.7 million and ordered MasterCard to refrain in the future from maintaining 
interchange fees that are not based on economic justifications linked to efficiency criteria and to eliminate any 
anticompetitive clauses from its licensing agreements. MasterCard has appealed the ICA's interchange fee 
decision to the Administrative Court. On November 16, 2010, the Administrative Court announced its judgment 
that the rCA had improperly rejected MasterCard's proposed undertakings and annulled the rCA's rejection 
decision (which decision the rCA has appealed to the Council of State). If the Administrative Court's judgment is 
overturned and the lCA's interchange fee decision is not reversed on appeal. the leA's decision could have a 
significant adverse impact on the revenues of MasterCard's Italian customers and on MasterCard's overall 
business in Italy_ 

Canada. On December 15,2010, the Canadian Competition Bureau (the "CCB") med an application with 
the Canadian Competition Tribunal to strike down MasterCard rules related to interchange fees, including the 
«honor all cards" and Hno surcharge" rules. Also in December 2010, MasterCard learned that a purported class 
action lawsuit had been commenced against it in Quebec on behalf of Canadian merchants and consumers. The 
suit essentially repeats the allegations and arguments of the CeB application to the Canadian Competition 
Tribunal and seeks compensatory and punitive damages in unspecified amounts, as well as injunctive relief. If 
the CCB's challenges andlor the class action law suit were ultimately successful, such negative decisions could 
have a significant adverse impact on the revenues of MasterCard's Canadian customers and on MasterCard's 
overall business in Canada. 

Australia. In 2002, the Reserve Bank of Australia ("RBA") announced regulations under the Payments 
Systems (Regulation) Act of 1998 applicable to four-pillty credit card payment systems in Australia, including 
MasterCard's. Those regulations, among other things, mandate the use of a fonnula for determining domestic 
interchange fees that effectively caps their weighted average at 50 basis points. Operators of three-party systems, 
such as American Express and Diners Club, were unaffected by the interchange fee regulation. In 2007, the RBA 
commenced a review of such regulations and, in September 2008, the REA released its final conclusions. These 
indicated that the RBA was willing to withdraw its regulations if MasterCard and Visa made certain undertakings 
regarding the future levels of their respective credit card interchange fees and other practices, including their 
"honor all cards" rules. If the undertakings were not made, the REA said it would consider imposing in 2009 
additional regulations that could fulther reduce the domestic interchange fees of MasterCard and Visa in 
Australia. rn August 2009, the RBA announced that it had decided not to withdraw its regulations and that it 
would maintain them in their current form pending further consideration of the regUlations. MasterCard plans to 
continue discussions with the RBA as to the nature of the undeltakings that MasterCard may be willing to 
provide. The effect of the undertakings or any such additional regulations could put MasterCard at an even 
greater competitive disadvantage relative to competitors in Australia that purportedly do not operate four-party 
systems or, in the case of the undertakings, possibly increase MasterCard's legal exposure under Australian 
competition laws, which could have a significant adverse impact on MasterCard's business in Australia 

South Africa. In August 2006, the South Africa Competition Commission created a special body, the Jali 
Enquiry (the "Enquiry"), to examine competition in the payments industry in South Africa, including interchange 
fees. After nearly two years of investigation, including several rounds of public hearings in which MasterCard 
participated, in June 2008, the Enquiry published an Executive Summary of its findings. The Enquiry's full 
report was made public in December 2008. The Enquiry recommends, among other things, that an independent 
authority be established to set payment card interchange fees in South Africa and that payment systems' 
(induding MasterCard's) respective "honor all cards" rules be modified. to give merchants greater freedom to 
choose which types of cards to accept. Following the issuance of the Enquiry's report, the South African Reserve 
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Bank ("SARB"), the South Mrican Treasury and the South Mrican Competition Commission informed 
MasterCard that they were actively considering what, if any, action they would take in response to the Enquiry's 
recommendations. In September 2010, the SARB informed MasterCard that it 'intended to appoint an 
independent consultant to make a recommendation on a simplified interchange structure for all payment systems 
in South Africa, including MasterCard's. Such an interchange structure, if adopted, could have a significant 
adverse impact on the revenues of MasterCard's South Aftican customers and on MasterCard's overall business 
in South Africa. 

Other Jurisdictions. In January 2006, a German retailers association filed a complaint with the Federal 
Cartel Office ("FCO") in Germany concerning MasterCard's domestic default interchange fees. The complaint 
alleges that MasterCard's Gennan domestic interchange fees are not transparent to merchants and include 
so-called "extraneous costs". In December 2009, the FCO sent MasterCard a questionnaire concerning its 
domestic interchange fees. 

MasterCard is aware that regulatory authorities and/or central banks in certain other jurisdictions including 
Belgium, Brazil, Colombia, Czech Republic. Estonia, France. Israel, Latvia, the Netherlands, Norway, Slovakia, 
Turkey and Venezuela are reviewing MasterCard's andlor its members' interchange fees and/or related practices 
(such as the "honor all cards" rule) and may seek to regulate the establishment of such fees andlor such practices. 

Other Regulatory Proceedings 

In addition to challenges to interchange fees, MasterCard's standards and operations are also subject to 
regulatory and/or legal review andlor challenges in a number of jurisdictions. At this time, it is not possible to 
detennine the ultimate resolution of, or estimate the liability related to, any of the proceedings described 
below. Except as described below, no provision for losses has been provided in connection with them. 

Switzerland. On July 2, 2010, MasterCard received a notice from the Swiss Competition Authority 
("WEKO") that, based upon complaints, WEKO had opened an investigation of MasterCard's domestic debit 
acquirer fees to determine whether to order MasterCard to discontinue charging the fees. In July 2010, 
MasterCard responded to the notice and filed additional comments. On September 1,2010, the WEKO issued a 
decision in which it rejected the complaints and declined to open proceedings on the matter. 

Ukraine. On June 5, 2010, the Ukrainian Competition Authority (the "UCA") issued MasterCard a 
comprehensive information request concerning its rules and domestic fees in response to a complaint filed by a 
Ukrainian banking association. MasterCard is cooperating with the UCA's investigation. 

Netherlands. On Febntary 11, 2011, the Netherlands Competition Authority issued MasterCard a Statement 
of Objections challenging MasterCard co-branding and co-residency rules and policies. The co-branding rules 
being challenged prohibit, in some cases, financial institutions licensed by MasterCard from placing other 
payment systems' brands on MasterCard cards. The co-residency rules being challenged prohibit, in some cases, 
licensed financial institutions from encoding other payment systems' applications on the electronic "chip" in 
MasterCard cards. MasterCard's response to the Statement of Objection is due by March 11, 201 1. 

Note 23. Settlement and Other Risk Management 

MasterCard International's rules generally guarantee the payment of certain MasterCard, Cirrus and 
Maestro branded transactions between its principal members. The term and amount of the guarantee are 
unlimited. Settlement risk is the exposure to members under MasterCard International's rules (,'Settlement 
Exposure"), due to the difference in timing between the payment transaction date and subsequent settlement. The 
duration of this exposure is short tenn and typically limited to a few days. Settlement Exposure is estimated 
using the average daily card volumes during the quarter multiplied by the estimated number of days to settle. The 
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Company has global risk management policies and procedures, which include risk standards, to provide a 
framework for managing the Company's settlement risk. Member-reported transaction data and the transaction 
clearing data underlying the settlement risk calculation may be revised in subsequent reporting periods. 

In the event that MasterCard International effects a payment on behalf of a failed member, MasterCard 
International may seek an assignment of the underlying receivables. Subject to approval by the Board of 
Directors, members may be charged for the amount of any settlement loss incurred during the ordinary activities 
of the Company. 

MasterCard requires certain members that are not in compliance with the Company's risk standards in effect 
at the time of review to post collateral, typically in the form of cash, letters of credit, or guarantees. This 
requirement is based on management review of the individual risk circumstances for each member that is out of 
compliance. In addition to these amounts, MasterCard holds collateral to cover variability and future growth· in 
member programs. The Company also holds collateral to pay merchants in the event of merchant bank/acquirer 
failure. Although it is not contractually obligated under MasterCard International's standards to effect such 
payments to merchants, the Company may elect to do so to protect brand integrity. MasterCard monitors its 
credit risk portfolio on a regular basis and the adequacy of collateral on hand. Additionally, from time to time, 
the Company reviews its risk management methodology and standards. As such, the amounts of estimated 
settlement risk are revised as necessary. 

Estimated Sett1ement Exposure, and the portion of the Company's uncollateralized Settlement Exposure for 
MasterCard-branded transactions that relates to members that are deemed not to be in compliance with, or that 
are under review in connection with, the Company's risk management standards, were as follows: 

MasterCardwbranded transactions: 
Gross Settlement Exposure 
Collateral held for Settlement Exposure 

Net uncol1ateralized Settlement Exposure 

Uncollateralized Settlement Exposure attributable to non-compliant 
members 

Cirrus and Maestro transactions: 
Gross Settlement Exposure 

2010 2009 --- ---(in millions) 

$28,509 
(2,993) 

$25,516 

$25,279 
(2,688) 

$22,591 

$ 273 $ 205 

$ 2,962 $ 3,830 

Although MasterCard holds collateral at the member level, the Cinus and Maestro estimated Settlement 
Exposures are calculated at the regional level. Therefore, these Settlement Exposures are reported on a gross 
basis, rather than net of collateral. 

Of the total estimated Settlement Exposure under the MasterCard brand, net of collateral, the U.S. accounted 
for approximately 35% and 37% at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. With the exception of Brazil, 
which was 12% at December 31, 2010, no individual country other than the United States accounted for more 
than 10% of total uncollateralized Settlement Exposure at either December 31, 2010 or 2009. Of the total 
uncoI1ateralized Settlement Exposure attributable to non-compliant members, five members represented 
approximately 66% and 57% at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

MasterCard guarantees the payment of MasterCard-branded travelers cheques in the event of issuer default. 
The guarantee estimate is based on all outstanding MasterCard-branded travelers cheques, reduced by an 
actuarial detennination of cheques that are not anticipated to be presented for payment. The tenn of the guarantee 
is unlimited, while the amount is limited to cheques issued but not yet cashed. MasterCard calculated its 
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MasterCard-branded travelers cheques exposure under this guarantee as $361 million and $401 million at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The reduction in travelers cheques exposure is attributable to 

. MasterCard branded travelers cheques no longer being issued. 

A significant portion of the Company's travelers cheques risk is concentrated in one MasterCard trave1ers 
cheques issuer. MasterCard obtained an unlimited guarantee estimated at $280 million and $313 million at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, from a financial institution that is a member, to cover al1 of the 
exposure of outstanding travelers cheques with respect to such issuer. In addition, MasterCard obtained a limited 
guarantee estimated at $13 million and $14 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, from a 
financial institution that is a member in order to cover the exposure of outstanding travelers cheques with respect 
to another issuer. These guarantee amounts have also been reduced by an actuarial determination of travelers 
cheques that are not anticipated to be presented for payment. 

Beginning in 2008, many of the Company's financial institution customers were directly and adversely 
impacted by the unprecedented events that occurred in the financial markets around the world. The ongoing 
economic turmoil presents increased risk tllat the Company may have to perform under its settlement and 
travelers cheque guarantees. General economic conditions and political conditions in countries in which 
MasterCard operates may also affect the Company's settlement risk. The Company's global risk management 
policies and ·procedures. which are revised and enhanced from time to time, continue to be effective as evidenced 
by the historically low level of losses that the Company has experienced from customer financial institution 
failures. 

MasterCard provides a guarantee to a financial institution that is also a principal member, indemnifying the 
financial institution from losses stemming from failures of Data Cash customers to perform duties. The amount of 
the gnamntee was estimated at 13 million U.K. pound sterling, or approximately $20 million, as of December 31, 
2010. 

The Company enters into business agreements in the ordinary course of business under which the Company 
agrees to indemnify third parties against damages, losses and expenses inctUTed in connection with legal and 
other proceedings arising from relationships or transactions with the Company. As the extent of the Company's 
obligations under these agreements depends entirely upon the occurrence of future events. the Company's 
potential future liability under these agreements is not determinable. See Note 5 (Fair Value). 

Note 24. Foreign Excizange Risk Management 

The Company enters into foreign cUlTency forward contracts to manage risk associated with anticipated 
receipts and disbursements which are either transacted in a non-functional currency or valued based on a 
currency other than its functional currencies. The Company also enters into foreign currency forward contracts to 
offset possible changes in value due to foreign exchange fluctuations of assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies. The objective of this activity is to reduce the Company's exposure to transaction gains and 
losses resulting from fluctuations of foreign currencies against its functional currencies. On January 1,2009, the 
Company adopted the new disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. This 
adoption had no impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations; it required additional 
financial statement disclosures. The Company has applied these disclosure requirements on a prospective basis. 
Accordingly, disclosures related to pedods prior to the date of adoption have not been presented. 

MasterCard purchased U.K. pound sterling option contracts to limit the foreign exchange risk related to the 
DataCash acquisition. The Company completed its acquisition of DataCash on October 22, 2010. See Note 2 
(Acquisition of Data Cash Group pic) for further details. 

The Company does not designate foreign currency derivatives as hedging instruments pursuant to the 
accounting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company records the change in the 
estimated fair value of the outstanding derivatives at the end of the reporting period to its consolidated balance 
sheet and consolidated statement of operations. 
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As of December 31, 2010, all contracts to purchase and sell foreign currency had been entered into with 
customers of MasterCard. MasterCard's derivative contracts are classified by functional currency as summarized 
below: 

U.S. Dollar Functional Currency 

Commitments to purchase foreign currency 
Commitments to sell foreign currency 
Balance Sheet Location: 

Accounts Receivable 
Other Current Liabilities 

Euro Functional Currency 

Commitments to purchase foreign currency 
Commitments to sell foreign currency 
Balance Sheet Location: 

Accounts Receivable 
Other Current Liabilities 

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009 

Notional 

$ 36 
129 

Estimated 
Fair Value I Notional 

(in millions) 

$ II $38 
(2)1 50 

$ I 
(2) 

Estimated 
FairValne 1 

$- I 

(1)1 

$ I 
(2) 

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009 
Estimated Estimated 

Notional Fair Value J Notional Fair Value I 

$ 2 
14 

(in millions) 
$- $16 

45 

$--

$-

$-

U.K. Pound Sterling Functional Currency 

Commitments to purchase foreign currency 
Commitments to sell foreign currency 
Balance Sheet Location: 

Accounts Receivable 
Other Current Liabilities 

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009 

Notional 

$-
5 

Estimated Estimated 
Fair Value I Notional Fair Value 1 

(in millions) 
$- $- $-

$- $-

Amount and Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income during the Year Ended December 31, 

Derivatives Not Designated As Hedging Instruments 
Foreign Currency Derivative Contracts 

General and administrative 
Revenues 

Total 

2010 2009 
(in milJions) 

Amounts represent gross fair value amounts while these amounts may be netted for actual balance sheet 
presentation. 
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The currencies underlying the foreign currency forward contracts consist primarily of the Australian dollar, 
Canadian dollar, Chinese renminbi. Mexican peso and U.K. pound sterling, The fair value of the foreign currency 
forward contracts and foreign currency option contracts generally reflects the estimated amounts that the 
Company would receive or (pay), on a pre-tax basis, to tenni1l3te the contracts 'at the reporting date based on 
broker quotes for the same or similar instruments. The terms of the foreign currency forward contracts are 
generally less than J 8 months. The Company had no deferred gains or losses in accumulated other 
comprehensive income as of December 31, 20 I 0 and 2009 as there were no derivative cQntracts accounted for 
under hedge accounting. 

The Company's derivative financial instruments are subject to both credit and market risk. Credit risk is the 
risk of loss due to failure of the counterparty to perfonn its obligations in accordance with contractual terms. 
Market risk is the risk of loss due to the potential change in an instrument's value caused by fluctuations in 
interest rates and other variables related to currency exchange rates. Credit and market risk related to derivative 
instruments were not material at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

Generally, the Company does not obtain collateral related to derivatives because of the high credit ratings of 
the counterparties. The amount of loss the Company would incur if the counterparties failed to perfonn according 
to the terms of the contracts is not considered material. 

Note 25. Segment Reporting 

MasterCard has one reportable segment, "Payment Solutions." All of the Company's actIvIties are 
interrelated, and each activity is dependent upon and supportive of the other. Accordingly, all significant 
operating decisions are based upon analyses of MasterCard as one operating segment. The President and Chief 
Executive Officer has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker. 

Revenue by geographic market is based on the location of the Company's customer that issued the cards 
which are generating the revenue. Revenue generated in the U.S. was approximately 41.6%, 42.4% and 44.1 % of 
net revenues in 2010. 2009 and 2008, respectively. No individual country, other than the U.S., generated more 
than 10% of total l'evenues in those periods. MasterCard does not maintain or measure long-lived assets by 
geographic location. 

MasterCard did not have anyone customer that generated greater than 10% of net revenues in 2010, 2009 or 
2008. 

Note 26. Other Income 

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company recognized a gain of $14 million on the 
prepayment of the Company's remaining ob1igation on a litigation settlement. During the year ended 
December 31, 2008. the Company recognized $75 million pre-tax, in other income. related to the termination of a 
customer business agreement for a customer exiting a specific line of business. 
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2010 Quarter Ended 

~ June 30 September 30 December 31 1 2010 Total 
(in millions, except per share amounts) 

Revenues, net 
Operating income 
Net income attributable to MasterCard 
Basic earnings per share 
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) 
Diluted earnings per share 
Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted) 

Revenues, net 
Operating income 
Net income attributable to MasterCard 
Basic earnings per share 
Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) 
Diluted earnings per share 
Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted) 

$1,308 
700 
455 

$ 3.47 
'130 

$ 3.46 
131 

March 31 ---
$1,156 

561 
367 

$ 2.81 
130 

$ 2.80 
130 

$1,365 $1,428 $1,438 $5,539 
717 766 569 2,752 
458 518 415 1,846 

$ 3.50 $ 3.96 $ 3.17 $14.10 
131 131 131 131 

$ 3.49 $ 3.94 $ 3.16 $14.05 
131 131 131 131 

2009 Quarter Ended 

June 30 September 30 December 31 1 2009 Total 
(in millions, except per share amounts) 

$1,280 $1,364 $1,299 $5,099 
557 673 469 2,260 
349 452 295 1,463 

$ 2.67 $ 3.46 $ 2.25 $11.19 
130 130 130 130 

$ 2.67 $ 3.45 $ 2.24 $11.16 
130 130 130 130 

Portions of OUf business can be seasonal. Our gross revenue has historically reflected progressively 
increased card purchasing volume throughout the year, particularly in the fourth quarter during the holiday 
shopping period. Similarly, customer and merchant incentives, which are recorded as contra-revenue, and 
advertising and marketing expenses have historically increased in the fourth quarter, generally causing our 
profitability to decline. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with ACcolllltants 011 Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

Not applicable. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

MasterCard Incorporated's management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer. carried out an evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defmed in 
Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by 
this Report. Any controls and procedures. no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Based on that evaluation, the Company's 
President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that MasterCard Incorporated's 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Report at the 
reasonable assurance level to accomplish their objectives of (i) recording, processing, summarizing and reporting 
information that is required to be disclosed in its reports wlder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms and (ii) ensuring 
that information required to be disclosed in such reports is accumulated and communicated to MasterCard 
Incorporated's management, including its President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. 

Internal Control over Financial Reponing 

In addition, MasterCard Incorporated's management assessed the effectiveness of MasterCard's internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. Management's report on internal control over financial 
reporting is included in Item 8. The attestation report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent 
registered public accounting fIrm, is also included in Part II, Item 8. 

There was no change in MasterCard's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three 
months ended December 31, 2010 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
MasterCard's internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information 

Not applicable. 
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PARTll 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The information required by this Item with respect to our directors and executive officers. code of ethics, 
procedures for recommending nominees, audit committee, audit committee fmancial experts, and compliance 
with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will appear in our defmitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC and 
delivered to stockholders in connection with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 7, 2011 (the 
"Proxy Statement"). 

The aforementioned information in the Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference into this Report. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this Item with respect to executive officer and director compensation will 
appear in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference into this Report. 

Item 12. Security Ownership o/Certain Beneficial OWllers and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters 

The infonnation required by this Item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and 
management equity and compensation plans will appear in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference 
into this Report. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactiolls, and Director Independence 

The infonnation required by this Item with respect to transactions with related persons, the review, approval 
or ratification of such transactions and diIector independence wi1l appear in the Proxy Statement and is 
incorporated by reference into this Report. 

Item 14. PrillcipalAccoulZting Fees alld Services 

The information required by this Item with respect to auditors' services and fees will appear in the Proxy 
Statement and is incorporated by reference into this Report. 

PARTlY 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report: 

1. Consolidated Financial Statements 

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Report. 

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules 

None. 

3. The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report or, where indicated, were previously filed and are 
hereby incorporated by reference: 

Refer to the Exhibit Index herein. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant 
has duly caused this Annual Report on Form IO-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 

Date: February 24, 20 II By: 

MASTERCARD INCORPORATED 
(Registrant) 

lsi AlA Y BANGA 

AjayBanga 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed 
below by the fonowing persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 

Date: February 24, 20 II 

Date: February 24, 20 II 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: Febmary 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 201 I 

Date: February 24, 2011 
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lsi AlA Y BANGA 

AjayBanga 
President and Chief Executive Officer; Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

lsi MARTINA HUND-MEIEAN 

Martina Hund-Mejean 
Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

lsi MELISSA J. BALLENGER 

Melissa J. Ballenger 
Corporate Controller 

(Principal Accounting Officer) 

lsi SlLVIO BARZI 

Silvio Barzi 
Director 

lsi DAVID R. CARLUCCI 

David R. Carlucci 
Director 

lsi STEVEN J. FREIBERG 

Steven J. Freiberg 
Director 

lsi RICHARD HA YTHORNTHWAITE 

Richard Haythomthwaite 
Chairman of the Board; Director 

lsi NANCY J. KARCH 

Nancy J. Karch 
Director 
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Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 2011 

Date: February 24, 20 11 
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lsI MARC OUVIE 

Marc Olivi6 
Director 

lsi JOSE OCTAVIa REyES LAGUNES 

Jose Octavio Reyes Lagunes 
Director 

lsI MARK SCHWARTZ 

Mark Schwartz 
Director 

lsI JACKSON TAl 

Jackson Tai 
Director 

lsI EDWARD SUNING TIAN 

Edward Suning Tian 
Dircclor 
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EXHIDIT INDEX 

3.1(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MasterCard Incorporated (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 23, 2010 
(File No. 001-32877)). 

3.1(b) Amended and Restated Bylaws of MasterCard Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 
to the Company's CnrrentReport on Form 8-K filed September 23, 2010 (File No. 001-32877)). 

3.2(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of MasterCard International Incorporated 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 (a) to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
August 2, 2006 (File No. 001-32877)). 

3.2(b) Amended and Restated Bylaws of MasterCard International Incorporated (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 3, 2009 (File No. 
001-32877)). 

10.1 $2,750,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22,2010, among MasterCard Incorporated, 
the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, Citibank, N.A., as managing administrative 
agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Cnrrent Report on Form 8-K filed November 23, 2010 (File No. 001-
32877)). 

10.2 Lease, dated as of April I, 2003, between MasterCard Intemational, LLC and City of Kansas City, 
Missouri relating to the Kansas City facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 
Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q filed August 8, 2003 (File No. 000-50250)). 

10.3+ Employment Agreement between MasterCard International Incorporated and Ajay Banga, dated as of 
July 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tl,e Company's Current Report on FOlID 8-
K filed July 8,2010 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.4+ Employment Agreement between Noah J. Hanft and MasterCard International dated December 30, 
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
January 2, 2009 (FileNo. 001-32877)). 

10.5+ Employment Agreement between Chris A. McWilton and MasterCard International dated December 
30,2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed January 2, 2009 (File No. 001 -32877)). 

10.6+ Employment Agreement between Martina Hund-Mejean and MasterCard International dated 
December 30, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Current RepOlt on 
Form 8-K filed January 2, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.7+ Description of Employment Arrangement with Gary Flood (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 I to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-Kfiled February 18,2010 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.8+ Employment Agreement between Robert W. Selander and MasterCard Intemational dated December 
31,2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1O.l to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed January 2, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.8.1+ Transition Letter between Robert W. Selander and MasterCard Incorporated dated April 12, 2010 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 
15,2010 (FileNo. 001-32877)). 
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10.9+ MasterCard International Incorporated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and 
restated effective January I, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 1O-Kfiled February 19,2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.10+ MasterCard International Senior Executive Annual Incentive Compensation Plan. as amended and 
restated effective September 21, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q filed November 2, 2010 (File No. 001 -32877)). . 

10.11 + MasterCard International Incorporated Restoration Program, as amended and restated January I, 2007 
unless otherwise provided (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form IO-K filed February 19,2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.12+ MasterCard Incorporated Deferral Plan, as amended and restated effective December I, 2008 for 
account balances established after December 31, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to 
the Company's Annual Report on Form IO-K filed February 19,2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.13+ MasterCard Incorporated 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan, amended and restated effective October 13, 
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed 
February 19, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.14+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for awards under 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q filed 
May 4, 2010 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.15+ Form of Stock Option Agreement for awards under 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly RepOlt on Form lO-Q filed May 4, 2010 (File 
No. 001-32877)). . 

10.16+ Form of Performance Unit Agreement for awards under 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 4, 2010 (File 
No. 001-32877)). 

10.17+ Form of MasterCard Incorporated Long Term Incentive Plan Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation 
Agreement for named executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 2, 2007 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.18+ MasterCard International Incorporated Executive Severance Plan, effective as of August 1, 2009 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's CWTent Report on Form 8-K filed July 
31,2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.19+ MasterCard International Incorporated Change in Control Severance Plan, effective as of August I, 
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed' 
July 31, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.20+ Schedule of Non-Employee Directors' Annual Compensation (effective as of January I, 2010) 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Annual Report on Form IO-K filed 
February 18, 2010 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.21+ 2006 Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of December 1, 
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to tlle Company's Annual Report on Form IO-K filed 
February 19, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 
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10.22+ Form of Deferred Stock Unit Agreement for awards under 2006 Non-Employee Director Equity 
Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to !he Company's Quarterly Report on 
Form IO-Q filed November I, 2006 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.23 FOlm of Indemnification Agreement between MasterCard Incorporated and its directors (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to !he Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q filed May 2, 2006 (File 
No. 000-50250)). 

10.24 Form of Indemnification Agreement between MasterCard Incorporated and its director nominees 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
May 2, 2006 (File No. 000-50250)). 

10.25 Deed of Gift between MasterCard Incorporated and The MasterCard Foundation (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 5 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-I filed May 3, 2006 (File No. 333-128337)). 

10.26 Settlement Agreement, dated as of June 4, 2003, between MasterCard International Incorporated and 
Plaintiffs in the class action litigation entitled In Re Visa CheckINIasterMoney Antitrust Litigation 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
August 8, 2003 (File No. 000-50250)). 

10.27 Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement, dated July 20, 2006, between MasterCard Incorporated, tl,e 
several defendants and the plaintiffs in the consolidated federal class action 1awsuit titled In re Foreign 
Currency Conversion Fee Antitrust Litigation (MDL 1409), and the CalifOlnia state court action titled 
Schwartz v. Visa Int'! Corp., et a!. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q filed November I, 2006 (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.28 Release and Settlement Agreement, dated June 24, 2008, by and among MasterCard Incorporated, 
MasterCard International Incorporated and American Express (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August I, 2008. (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.29* Judgment Sharing Agreement between MasterCard and Visa in the Discover Litigation, dated July 29, 
2008, by and among MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International Incorporated, Visa Inc., Visa 
U.S.A. Inc. and Visa International Service Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
the Company's Quarterly RepOlt on Form IO-Q filed August I, 2008. (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.30 Release and Settlement Agreement dated as of October 27,2008 by and among MasterCard, Discover 
and Visa (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q 
filed November 4, 2008. (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.31 Agreement dated as of October 27, 2008, by and among MasterCard International Incorporated, 
MasterCard Incorporated, Morgan Stanley, Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. Inc. and Visa International 
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 
i O-Q filed November 4, 2008. (File No. 001-32877)). 

10.32 Agreement to Prepay Future Payments at a Discount, dated as of July I, 2009, by and between 
MasterCard International incorporated and Co-lead Counsel, acting collectively as binding 
representative and agent of !he Plaintiffs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to !he Company's 
Current Report on Form 10-K filed July 2, 2009 (File No. 001-32877)). 
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10.33** Omnibus Agreement Regarding Interchange Litigation Judgment Sharing and Settlement Sharing, 
dated as of February 7, 2011, by and among MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International 
Incorporated, Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A. Inc., Visa International Service Association and MasterCard's 
customer banks that are parties thereto. 

10.34*' MasterCard Settlement and Judgment Sharing Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2011, by and 
among MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International Incorporated and MasterCard's 
customer banks that are parties thereto. 

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. 

21 List of Subsidiaries of MasterCard Incorporated. 

23.1 Consent of Price waterhouse Coopers LLP. 

31.1 Certification of Ajay Banga, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2 Certification of Martina Hund-Mejean, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/1Sd-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1 Certification of Ajay Bang., President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.2 Certification of Martina Hund-Mejean, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

10 I.INS XBRL Instance Document 

10 I.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme Document 

I01.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

IOJ.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

lOl.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

+ 

* 
Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements. 
Exhibit omits certain information that has been filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and has been granted confidential treatment. 

** The Company has applied for confidential treatment of portions of this exhibit. Accordingly, portions have 
been omitted and filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual infOimation or 
other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of tlle agreements or other documents themselves, and should not 
be relied upon for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by the Company in these 
agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document 
and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time. 
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Mast€rCard Board of Dire(tors 

Ajay Banga 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
MasterCard Incorporated 

Silvio Barzi 1. 2. 3 

Former Chairman 
UniCredit Family Financing 

David R. Carlucci 2 (Chair) 

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
IMS Health Incorporated 

Steven J. Freiberg 
Chief Executive Officer 
E*TRADE Financial Corporation 

Richard Haythornthwaite 1, 3 {ChaiQ 

Non-Executive Chairman 
Network Rail; 
Chairman of the Board 
MasterCard Incorporated 

Nancy J. Karch 1. 3 

Director Emeritus 
McKinsey & Company 

Marc OJivh~ 1. 2 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
W. C. Bradley Co. 

Jose Octavio Reyes Lagunes 2 

Pre~ident, Latin America Group 
The Coca-Cola Company 

Mark Schwartz 1 (Chair), 3 

Chairman 
MissionPoint Capital Partners LLC 

Jackson P. Tai 1 

Former Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
DBS Group and DBS Bank ltd. 

Edward Suning Tian 3 

Chairman 
China Broadband 
Capital Partners, L.P. 

(l) Audit Committee 
(2) Human ResourCES and Compsnsalion Committee 
(3) Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 

MasterCard Executive Committee 

Ajay Banga 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Gary J. Flood 
President, Global Products and Solutions 

Noah J. Hanft 
General Counsel, Corporate Setretary 
and Chief Franchise Integrity Officer 

Martina Hund~Mejean 
Chief Financial Officer 

Walt M. Macnee 
President, International Markets 

Chris A. McWilton 
President, U.5. Markets 

Robert Reeg 
President, tv1asterCard Technologies 

Stephanie E. Voquer 
Chief Human Resources Officer 
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MasterCard information \~nd I~e:)(j!jr(€s 

Major Offices 

Corporate Headquarters 
2000 Purchase Street 
Purchase, New York 10577 U.S.A. 
Telephone: 1.914.249.2000 

MasterCard Technologies 
Headquarters 
St. louis, Missouri, U.S.A. 

Shareholder Information 

Investor Relations 
1.914.249.4565 
investocrelations@mastercard.com 

Shareholder Information 
Copies of the company's Annual Report on 
Form lO-K and Fonn 10-Q reports as filed 

with the U.s. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) are available upon request 
from the company. 

Visit our website, 'N'Nw.mastercard.com, for 
updated news releases, stock performance. 
financial reports, recent investments, investment 
community presentations, SEC filings, corporate 
governance and other investor information. 

Stock Performance 

'The graph to the right and the table below 
compare the cumulative total stockholder return 
of MasterCard Incorporated Class A common stOCk, 
the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Financials 
for the period beginning on the dose of trading on 
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) on May 25. 
2006. and ending on the close of trading on the 
NYSE on December 31. 2010. The graph assumes 
a $100 investment in our (lass A common stock 
and each of the indices, and the reinvestment 
of dividends. MasterCard Incorporated's Class B 
common stock is not publidy traded or listed on 
any exchange or dealer Quotation system. 

Total Return to Shareholders 
(Indudes reinvestment of dividends) 

Base Period 
Company {Inde)( 5/25/06 

MasterCard Incorporated 100.00 

S&P 500 Index 100.00 

S&P 500 Financia!s 100.00 

Asia/Pacific. Middle East, and Africa 
Regional Headquarters 
Singapore 

Canada Regional Headquarters 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada 

Europe Regional Headquarters 
Waterloo. Belgium 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
The 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
of MasterCard Incorporated will be held 
on Tuesday, June 7, 8:30 a.m., at MasterCard 
Corporate Headquarters. 2000 Purchase 
Street. Purchase, New York. 

Stock listing and Symbol 
New York Stock Exchange 
Symbol: MA 

Transfer Agent 
BNY Menon Shareowner Services 
480 Washington Blvd .• 27th Floor 
Jersey City, New Jersey 07310-1900 

latin America and Caribbean 
Regional Headquarters 
Miami, Florida. U.s.A. 

U.S. Regional Headquarters 
Purchase, New York. U.s.A. 

For holders of Class A common stock: 
U.S. Telephone: 1.800.837.7579 
Non-U.s. Telephone: 1.201.680.6578 

For holders of Class B common stock: 
U.S. Telephone: 1.866.337.6318 
Non-U.S. Telephone: 1.201.680.6655 

Facsimile: 1.201.680.4568 

Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm 
pricewaterhouseCoopers LlP 
New York, New York 

comparison of Cumulative Total Return 

1213J/o7 

fJE MasterCard Incorporated .• sap SOD Index _ S&P SOD flnancials 

Indexed Returns 
Years Ending 

12131106 12131107 12/31/08 12131109 12/31/10 

214.37 470.21 313.20 562.83 494.01 
112,65 118.84 74.87 94.68 108.95 

'14.73 93.36 41.72 48.90 54.83 

J;;5 
FSC -

MIX ,--.... ,.,.,oIbI."'m>o. 
FSC" C101!537 

We ~re prcud 10;0 ~rinl pur an~ual nopcrt tn~relf on fore.t Stewardship CO\;ndl ('SCO)..(~rtiffoo P~JX!f • 
fSC cerltfoCilticn eMU,s thallht pap.r In OUr annual report contains fiber IrOn! well.man.!9cd ~d 
rospor,slbt; marveled tcrello thai meet stnet environmental and ",cioeroncm;t .t .... d.mis. 
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www.mastercard.com 

. . ' ,-Ii ••• • 

C 2011 MasterCard 
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This is Exhibit "B" referred to in the 
Witness Statement of KEVIN J. STANTON 
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Third Session 
Fortieth Parliament, 2010-11 

SENATE OF CANADA 

Proceedings of tlze Standing 
Senate COl'U1nittee on 

Banking, Trade and 
Commerce 

Chair: 

The Honourable MICHAEL A. MEIGHEN 

Wednesday, March 2, 2011 
Thursday, March 3, 2011 

Issue No. 19 

Sixth and seventh meetings on: 

Bill S-201, An Act to amend the Office of the 
Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act 

(credit and debit cards) 

48643·48653 

WITNESSES: 
(See back cover) 

Troisieme session de 1a 
quarantieme legislature, 2010-2011 

SENAT DU CANADA 

Deliberations du Comile 
senatorial permanent des 

Banques et du 
commerce 

Pl'eside11l : 
L'honorable MICHAEL A. MEIGHEN 

Le rnercredi 2 mars 2011 
Le jeudi 3 mars 2011 

Fascicule nO 19 

Sixieme et septieme reunions concernant: 
Le projet de loi S-201, Loi modifiant la Loi sur Ie 
Bureau du surintendant des institutions financieres 

(cartes de credit et de debit) 

TEMOINS: 
(Vo;r a ['endos) 
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STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON 
BANKING, TRADE AND COMMERCE 

The Honourable Michael A. Meighen. Chair 

The Honourable Celine Hervieux~Payette, P.C., Deputy Chair 

and 

The Honourable Senators: 

Banks 
* Cowan 

(or Tardif) 
Gerstein 
Greene 
Harh 
Kochhar 

* Ex officio members 

(Quorum 4) 

.. LeBreton, P.C. 
(or Comeau) 

Massicotte 
Mockler 
OJiver 
Ringuette 
Smith (SaureQ 

Changes in membership qf the committee: 

Pursuant to rule 85(4), membership of the committee was 
amended as follows: 

The Honourable Senator Banks replaced the Honourable Senator 
Moore (March 1, 20IJ). 

The Honourable Senator Oliver replaced the Honourable Senator 
Marshall (February 25, 2011). 

Published by the Senate of Canada 
Available on Ihe Internet; hnp:/iwww.par1.gc.ca 

COMITE SENATORIAL PERMANENT DES 
BANQUES ET DU COMMERCE 

President: L'honorable Michael A. Meighen 

Vice-pl'isidente : L'honorable Celine Hervieux-Payette, c.P. 

et 

Les honorables senateurs : 

Banks 
* Cowan 

(ou Tardif) 
Gerstein 
Greene 
Harb 
Kochhar 

,., Membres d'office 

(Quorum 4) 

* LeBreton. c.P. 
(ou Comeau) 

Massicotte 
Mockler 
Oliver 
Ringuette ~ 
Smith (SauTe!) 

Modijicalitms de la composilioll du comite : 

Conformement a l'article 85(4) du Reglement, 1a liste des 
membres du comite est modifiee, ainsi qu'il suit: 

L'boJ1orable senateur Banks a remplace l'honorabJe senateur 
Moore (Ie JCI" mars 2011), 

L'honorable senateur Oliver a remplace l'honorahle senateur 
Marshall (Ie 2S .tel'l"ier 201l). 

Public par Ie Senat du Canada 
Disponible sur inlemel: htlp:Il\\'WW.parl.gc.ca 
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19:4 Banking, Trade and Commerce 3-3-2011 

OTTAWA, Thursday, March 3, 2011 
(42) 

(English] 

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking~ Trade and 
Commerce met this day at 10:35 a.m., in room 9, Victoria 
Building, the chair, the Honourable Michael A. Meighen, 
presiding. 

Members of the committee pl'esem: The Honourable Senators 
Banks, Gerstein, Greene, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, P.e., Kochhar, 
Meighen: Mockler, ~liver, Ringuette and Smith (Sauref) (11). 

111 atTendance: John Bulmer and Adriane Yang, Analysts, 
Parliamentary Infonllation and research service. 

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate. 

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on 
Tuesday, March 30, 2010, the commiUee continued its 
examination of BiJI S-201, An Act to amend the Office of the 
Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act (credit and debit 
cards). (For complete lext oj the order o.freference. see pl'oceedhlgs 
of the committee. Issue No.9.) 

WITNESSES: 

Balik of Canada: 

Charles Spencer, Director, Business Knowledge and International 
Relations, Currency Department; 

Carlos Arango, Princlpal Researcher, Currency Department. 

It i,\'as agreed that the following letter be tabled by the 
Honourable Senator Ringuette as an exhibit: 

Letter addressed to the c1erk of the Standing Senate Committee 
on National Finance by Publi~ Works and Government Services 
Canada (PWGSC). The document provides infonnation requested 
by the Standing Senate Committee on National Finance during an 
appearance by Treasury Board Secretariat officials on 
February 15, 20Il. in relation to the review of the Supplementary 
Estimates (C) 2010-2011. (Exhibit 1120-04-02-3.40/BI-S-201-19-"I") 

Mr. Spencer made a statement and, with Mr. Arango, 
answered questions. 

At 11 :55 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call orthe chair. 

ATTEST: 

OTTAWA, Ie jeudi 3 mars 2011 
(42) 

[TraductioJl] 

Le Comite senatorial pennanent des banques et du commerce 
se reunit aujourd'hui, it 10 h 35, dans la salle 9 de J'edifice 
Victoria, sous la presidence de l'honorable Michael A. Meighen 
(pl'eside1ll). 

Membres du comite presents: Les honorables senateurs Banks, 
Gerstein. Greene, Harb, Hervieux-Payette, c.P., Kochhar, 
Meighen, Mockler, Oliver, Ringuette et Smith (Saure!) (11). 

Egalemenl presents .. John Bulmer et Adriane Yang, analystes, 
Service d'infonnation et de recherche parlementaires. 

Aussi presents,' Lcs stenographes officiels du Scnat. 

Conformement a l'ordre de renvoi adopte par Ie Seuat 
Ie mardi 30 mars 2010, Ie comite poursuit son exwnen du projct 
de loi 8-20], Loj modifiant la Loi sur Ie Bureau du surintendant 
des institutions financieres (cartes de credit et de debit). 
(Le texte integral de I'ordre de renvoi jigure au jascicule nO 9 des 
deliberations du comite.) 

TEMOINS: 

Banque du Canada .' 

Charles Spencer, directeur, Savair institutionnel et relations 
intemationaJes, Departement de Ia rnonnaie; 

Carlos Arango, chcrcheur principal. D6partcment de la monnaie. 

]] est COl1venu que l'honorable senateur Ringuette depose 1a 
lettre suivante devant Ie comite : 

Lcttrc adressee au greffier du Comite senatorial permanent des 
finances nationales par Travaux. publics et Services gouvernemcntaux 
Canad<t (TPSGC). Le document contient les informations 
demandees par Ie Comite senatorial pennanent des finances 
nationales. durant 1a comparution des representants du 
Secretariat du Conseil du Tresor Ie 15 [evrier 2011, au sujet de 
l'examen du Budget suppU:mentaire des depenses (C) 2010~2011. 
(Piece ll20-04-02-3.4D/BI-S-201-19-« I »). 

M. Spencer fait une declaration puis, aide de M. Arango, 
repond aux questions. 

A 11 h 55, Ie comite suspend ses travaux jusqu'il nouvelle 
convocation de 1a pn!sidence. 

ATTESTE: 

Le greffier du comite. 

Line Gravel, 

Clerk oj lite Commitlee 
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OTTAWA, Thursday, March 3, 2011 

The Standing Senate Committee on Banking, Trade and 
Commerce" to which was referred Bill S-201, An Act to amend 
the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act 
(credit and debit cards), met this day at 10:35 a.m. to give 
consideration to the bilL 

Senator Michael A. Meighen (Chair) in the chair. 

[EI/glish] 

The Chair: Honourable senators. good morning. My name is 
Michael Meighen. I am a senator from the province of Ontario 
and 1 have the honour to chair this committee. I will now 
introduce the senators who are present. On my right is Senator 
Percy Mockler from New Bruns\\>ick; next to him Senator Larry 
Smith, fro111 Quebec; Senator Vim Kochhar from Ontario; and 
Senator Oliver from Nova Scotia. To my left is Senator Ringuette 
from New Brunswick, and Senettor Banks from Alberta. Other 
senators will arrive and. if 1 have a chance, r will introduce them. 
However, they nonnally have their correct names in front of them 
on the name plates. 

Today we are resuming our examination of Bill S-201, An Act 
to amend the Office of the Superintendent of Finandal 
lnstitutions Act (credit and debit cards). Our colleague Senator 
Ringuette is the sponsor of this bill. 

[Tralls/ation] 

This bill amends the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions Act to confer new duties on the superintendent, 
namely to control the use of credit and debit cards and to make 
recommendations on the subject. It provides for the presentation 
of a report to the minister and a response by the minister to 
the superintendent. 

[EI/glish] 

The Banking Committee started its public examination of 
Bill S-201 on June 23 last year. Today will be our seventh meeting 
devoted to hearing the views of witnesses on this proposed 
legislation. 

For those who watch these proceedings from their homes on 
CPAC, transcripts of previous meetings and copies of committee 
reports are available online by going to the committee business 
link of the Parliament of Canada's website at www.parl.gc.ca. 

Before J introduce the witnesses, I ask your- permission to call 
on Senator Ringuette, who has a document she would like to table 
before we begin our session this morning. The floor is YOUfS, 

Senator Ringuette. 

Senator Ringuette: As a follow-up to our witness from the City 
of Ottawa and the cost of credit card use \vithin municipal 
governments, the week after, as a member of the Standing Senate 
Committee on National Finance, we had before us representatives 
from the Treasury Board Secretariat of the federal govermnent. I 

OTTAWA, lejeudi 3 mars 2011 

Le Comite senatorial pennanent des banques et du commerce, 
auque! a He renvoye Ie projet de loi S-201, Loi modifiant la Loi 
sur Ie Bureau du surintendant des institutions financieres (cartes 
de credit ct de debit), se reunit aujourd'hui, a 10 h 35, pour 
examiner Ie projet de loi. 

Le senatenr Michael A. Meighen (presidem) occl.lpe Ie fauteuil. 

[Traduction] 

Le president: Honorables senateurs1 bonjour. Je lu'appelJe 
Michael Meighen. Je suis un senateur de l'Ontario et j'ai 
I'honneur de presider Ie comite. Je vais maintcnant presenter les 
senateurs qui sont parmi nous. A rna droite, Ie senateur Percy 
Mockler, du Nouveau-Brunswick; it cote de lui, Ie senateur Larry 
Smith, du Quebec; ensuite, les senateurs Vim Kochhar, de 
l'Ontario, et Ie senateur Oliver, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse. A rna 
gauche, Ie senateur Ringuette, du Nouveau-Brunswick, ct Ie 
senateur Banks, de J'Alberta. D'autres senateurs se joindront Ii. 
nous et, si j'en ai roccasion, je les presenterai, mais nonnalement, 
leur nom figure sur la plaque disposee it leur place. 

Aujourd'hui, nous reprenons I'etude du projet de loi S-201, 
Loi modjfiant la Loi sur Ie Bureau du surintendant des 
institutions finallcieres (cartes de credit et de debit), qui est 
parraine par notre collegue, Ie senateur Ringuette. 

[Fram;ais] 

Ce projet de 10i modifie la Loi sur Ie Bureau du surintendant 
des institutions financieres afin de conrier au surintendant de 
nouvelles [onctions. it savoir contr6ler rutilisatioll des cartes de 
credit et de debit et forrnuler des recommand'ations a ce sujet-. II 
prevoit la presentation d'un rapport au ministre ainsi qu'une 
rcponse de ce dernier au surintendant. 

[Traduction] 

Le ComW! des banques a entame son etude publique du projet 
de loi S-201 Ie 23 juin demier. Ce sera aujourd'hui la septieme 
seance consacree a I'audition de temoins qui exposeront leur 
opinion sur Ie projet de loi propose. 

A ceux qui suivent ces deliberations chez eux, sur la chaine 
CPAC, je signale que la transcription des seances prccedentes et 
les rapports du comite sont disponibtes en Iigne. 11 suffit de suivre 
Ie Jien des travaux des comites sur Ie site web du Parlement du 
Canada. a }'adresse wv.'W.parl.gc.ca. 

Avant d'entendre les temoins, je vous demande la pennissioll 
de donner Ia parole au senateu! Ringuette, qui voudrait deposer 
un document avant que nous ne commen,cions la seance de ce 
matin. A vous la parole, senateur Ringuette. 

Le senatenf Ringuette: Pour donner suite aux propos de notre 
temoin de la Ville d'Ottawa, qui a parle du cout de l'utilisation des 
cartes de credit pour les administrations munieipaIes, la semaine 
suivante, comme membte du Comite senatorial pennanent des 
finances nationales, OU comparaissaient des representants du 
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asked them the following question: What is the cost to the federal 
government, its Crown corporation museum and parks, with 
regard to credit card acceptance fees and merchant fees? The 
answer that I received late yesterday afternoon is the foHowing: 

For fiscal year 2009/10, the Receiver General for Canada 
paid S12,956,176 to cover credit card merchant fees for 
federal government departments that accept payment for 
goods and services by Visa, MasterCard and American 
Express. This figure does not include Crown Corporations, 
who do their 0\\'11 credit card procurement. Merchant 
acceptance fees for Parks Canada totaled S799,370. 

I would like to table the document that 1 received in both 
French and English so that a11 the members of our committee can 
have this infomlauon. 

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Ringuette. OUf clerk will have 
that distributed to all members. It will fonn part of the record of 
our hearings. 

Colleagues, I \\-ill now return to the introduction of our 
witnesses. With us today, from the Bank of Canada, Currency 
Department, are Charles Spencer, Director, Business Knowledge 
and International Relations; and Carlos Arango, Principal 
Researcher. Our witnesses are the authors of a paper published 
in the Balik of Ca11ada Review Winter 2008~09 entitled: 
"'Merchants' Costs of Accepting Means of Payment: Is Cash the 
Least Costly?" 

I think all members have received a copy of that paper. 

Gentlemen, welcome to our committee. I should mention that, 
on my right, Senator Greene from Nova Scotia has just joined us, 
as has the deputy chair of the committee, Senator Hervieux
Payette from Quebec. Coming in right now is Senator Mac Harb 
from Ontario. 

I understand both of you have an opening statement. 
Mr. Spencer will begin. 

Charles Spencer, Director, Business Knowledge and International 
Relations, Currency Department, Bank of Canada: In the spirit of 
modesty and at1ribution. may I correct one aspect of your 
introduction? [ do not- have the honour of being a co-author of 
this report; it is Mr. Arango and his co~author, Varya Taylor, who 
is not here today. I work in the area that they work in,but [do not 
have their expertise in this field. Thank you for the thought, 
however. 

Good morning, Mr. Olair and honourable senators. As the 
chair explained, I am a director in the currency department at the 
Bank of Canada. I am joined by Mr. Arango, who is the co·author 
of the, Bank of Canada Rel'iew article on our merchant survey. 
which attracted the committee's attention to our work. We are 

Secretariat du Conseil du Trcsor, j'ai pose la question suivante : 
combien les frais de traitement des transactions par carte de crooit 
coutent-lls au gouvernement federal et a ses societes d'Etat, 
rnusees et pares? Voici la reponse quej'ai relYtie hier apres-midi : 

Le receveur general du Canada a verse 12956176 Satin 
de couvrir les frais de traitement des transactions par carte 
de credit qui ont ete engages en 2009-2010, pour Ie compte 
des ministeres federaux qui acceptent que leurs produits et 
leurs services soient payes par Visa, MasterCard ou 
American Express. Ce ehiffre exc1ut toutefois les societes 
d'Etat, qui acquierent elles~memes leurs propres services de 
cartes de credit. En cc qui concerne, Parcs Canada, les frais 
de traitement des transactions par cartes de credit ant 
totalise 799 370 $, 

Je voudrais deposer ce document que j'ai reITu en franyais et en 
anglais pour que tous les membres du comite aient cctte 
infonnation. 

Le president: Merci, senateur Ringuette. La greffiere fera 
distribuer Ie document a tous les membres du comite, et iI fera 
partie du compte rendu de nos audiences. 

Chers collegues, je reviens a la presentation des temoins. Nous 
accueillons aujourd'hui, du departement de la monnaie de la 
Banque du Canada, Charles Spencer, directeur de Savoir 
institutionnel et relations internationales, et Carlos Arango, 
chcrcheur principal. Les temoins sont les auteurs d'un article 
public dans Ia Rel'ue de III Bal1que du Canada a l'hiver 2008~2009, 
« Couts des divers modes de paiement: l'argcnt comptant est~i1le 
moyen Ie mains onercux pour les commeryants? » 

Tous les membres du cornite auront reyu un cxcmplaire de 
eet article. 

Messieurs, bienvenue au {:omitri Jc signale In presence, a rna 
droite, du senateur Greene, de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, qui vient de se 
joindre a 110US, tout com111e Ia vice·presidente du comite, Ie 
senateuI Hervieux-Payette, du Quebec. Et voici qu'arrive 
main tenant Ie senateur Mac Harb, de rOntario. 

Je crois savoir que vous avez tous les deux une declaration 
preliminaire it faire. Ce sera d'abord M. Spencer. 

Charles Spencer, dirccteur, Savoir institutionncl ct relations 
internationales, l)epartement de la monnaie, Banque du Canada: 
Par souci de modestie et d'exactitude, puis-je me permettre de 
rectifier un detail de votre presentation? Je n'ai pas l'honneur 
d'etre Ie coauteur du rapport. II est sign!! par M. Arango et Varya 
Taylor, qui n'est pas ici aujourd'hui. Je travaille dans Ie meme 
domaine qu'eux, mais je n'ai pas la ffieme competence qu'eux sur 
ce point precis. Merd tout de meme d'avoir signaM cet article. 

Bonjour, monsieur le president et honorables senateurs. 
Comme Ie president I'a explique, je dirige Ie departement de la 
m0I111aie it la Banque du Canada. Je suis accompagne de 
M. Arango, qui est coauteur de l'article de la Rel'lIe de la 
Banque du Canada consacre a notre enquete aupres des 
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pleased that the bank's research is proving to be of interest to the 
committee, and we hope we can assist your deliberations further this 
morning by summarizing it and discussing it with you. 

[Translation] 

Mr. Chair, 1 propose to review briefly the bank's mandate in 
this area and to explain why we conduct this kind of research. 
Dr. Arango will then provide a brief overview. from our 
perspective, of the use of cash relative to other means of 
payment in the Canadian economy, and that still means 
principally credit and debit cards. He will then summarize some 
key points from the merchant survey which we think may be 
relevant to your discussion, following which we are available for 
your questions. 

I know that the committee hears regularly from the governor 
and senior deputy governor on monetary policy and the macro 
economy, so ] am sure that 1 do not need to explain the Bank of 
Canada's role in those areas. However, the bank also has the 
responsibility under t.his act for issuing bank notes and for 
making all the necessary arrangements for their distribution 
across the country, 

Because we are discussing retail payments today, it is probably 
useful to remind you that we are not respo,nsible for coins, which 
falls to the Royal Canadian Mint. 

[English] 

While we are on the subject of what the bl1nk does not do, I wil1 
point out that the bank has no oversight responsibilities over 
retail payment systems. It has that at the wholesale payments 
level, which includes most payments between financial 
institutions. The bank has an oversight role for those clearing 
systems that have been fOlmally designated by the bank as 
systemically important. This is part of its ,responsibility for 
financial stability under the Payment Clearing and Settlement 
Act, under which the bank can designate a clearing system with 
the approval of the Minister of Finance. Before 1 hand over to 
Dr. Arango! 1 will explain why we do_ the kind of research that 
resulted in the article by him and his colleague, Varya Taylor, 
which led you to invite us here today. 

As I mentioned earlier, the bank issues banknotes and makes 
'arrangements for their distribution. 1n order to plan this work 
effective1y, we have to understand how banknotes are used and 
how that use is likely to evolve in the future. Despite the 
expectations by some that cash would die out, the demand for 
banknotes has remained relatively stable over the last 20 years. 
The value of notes outstanding bas grown more or less in line with 
the growth of the economy. Currently, there, are approximately 

commen;:ants et qui a attire l'attention de votfe comite' sur notre 
tra\'ail. Nous sommes ravis de !'inteCt?:t que VOllS portez aux 
recherches de la Banque, et nous esperons pouvoir VQllS .roumir 
une aide supplementaire dans vos deliberations de ce matin en 
resumant eet article et en en discutant avec vous. 

[Fran90is] 

Monsieur Ie president, si vallS Ie voulez bien, je passerai 
rapidement en revue Ie mandat de la banque dans Ie domaine des 
billets de banqlle et je vous expliquerai pourquoi nous effectuons 
ce type de recherche. M. Arango vous dOllnera ensuite un bref 
apen;u dans l'optique de notre institution, de la place de Yargent 
comptant dans l'economie canadienne par rapport aux autres 
modes de paiehlent, qui sont encore principalement les cartes de 
credit et de debit. It resumera certains points saillants de l'enquete 
aupn!s des dctaillants qui, selon nous, pourrait ecJairer vas 
discussions. Apres quoi nous repondrons a vos questions. 

Je sais que Ie camite entend regulierement Ie gouverneur et Ie 
premier SallS-gouverneur de Ia Banque du Canada au sujet de la 
politique monetaire et de la macroeconomie. 11 n'est done pas 
necessaire que je vous parle du role de notre institution a ce 
chapitre. Cependant la banquc est Bussi responsahle, aux tennes 
de la 10i qui la fonde, de J'emission des billets de banque et de tous 
Ies arrangements lleccssaires a leur distribution d'un bout a rautre 
du pays. 

Comme nOllS allons discuter aujourd'hui des paiements de 
detail, il est probablement utile de rappeler que la production des 
pieces de monnaie ll'est pas du ressort de la banque, mais de Ia 
Monnaie royale canadienne. 

[Traduction1 

Et puisque nous parlons de ce que Ia Banque ne rait pas, je 
vous dirai egalement qu'eUe n'est pas chargee de surveiller les 
systcmes de rcgIemcnt des paicments de detail. Pour les paiements 
de gros, c'est-a-dire la plupart des paiemcnts entre les institutions 
financieres, la, Banque supervise les systemes de compensation qui 
sont officiellemcnt dcsigncs par eUe comme etant d'importance 
systemique. Dans Ie cadre de la responsabilite a I'egard de la 
stabilite financierc qU'elIe exerce aux tennes de la Loi sur la 
compensation et Ie reglement des paiements, la Banque est en cITet 
habilitee a attribuer ceUe dCsignation~ avec l'approbation du 
ministre des Finances. Avant de ceder la parole a M. Arango" je 
voudrais vous expJiquer pourquoi nous effectuol1s Ie g,enre de 
recherches qui ont donne lieu Ii l'article qu'it a reclige avec sa 
collt!gue Varya Taylor ct qui vous a amen6s a nous inviter 
aujourd'hui. 

Comme je l'ai deja dit,la Banque emet des billets de banque et 
prend les dispositions necessaires it leur distribution. Pour 
planifier ces travaux de maniere efficace, nous devons 
comprendre comment les billets sont utilises et comment cette 
utilisation est susceptible, d'evoluer Ii l'avenir. Bien que certains 
s'attendent a ce que l'argent liquide disparaisse, la demande de 
billets de banque est relativement stable depuis 20 ans. La valeur 
des biIlets en circulation a progresse a un rythme plus ou moins 
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S58 billion in banknotes outstanding. However, as Dr. Arango 
will explain, the composition of the notes outstanding and their 
use have changed. Over the years, as part of its focus on 
banknotes, the bank has done a number of public surveys to study 
the use of cash compared to the use of other means of payment, 
We do this work in order to make long-tenn decisions about how 
to manage our banknote responsibilities, and to ensure that 
banknotes are meeting the needs of consumers, retailers and the 
economy . .In doing this research, we also naturally learn things 
about the other payment instruments, and that was particularly 
true of the survey of merchants that Dr. Arango and Ms. Taylor 
conducted. Dr. Arango will provide a summary of the role of cash 
in Canada and the trcnds in retail payments; and he will highlight 
some of the conclusions from the survey of mcrchants, which 
might be helpful to the work of the committee. We have brought 
copies of the charts to which he will refer. [believe you have been 
provided with copies of the Ballk of Canada R~l'iew arl~c1e and a 
more technical paper that reports on' the study in detail. 

Mr. Chair, I ask Dr. Arango to make his presentation. 

Carlos Arango, Principal Researcber., Currency Department, 
Bank of Canada: Good morning, Mr. Chair and honourable 
senators. I am pleased to have the opportunity to appear before 
you to present our rcscarch on merchants' acceptance perceptions 
and costs of retail payment instruments. 

This presentatipn draws mostly from my joint research '''ith 
Vurya Taylor on a survey of 500 Canadian merchants that was 
commissioned by the Bank of Canada in 2006. I make the usual 
disclaimer that the views expressed in this presentation arc those 
of the researchers and should not be attributed to the Bank of 
Canada. As well, I warn the committee that the retail payment 
environment has evolved over the Jast five years, and the results of 
a similar survey today likeJy would be quite different. 

Developments worth noting in the past five years include: The 
introduction of chip cards, which increases security and enables 
payment features such as contactless card payments; the 
prospective introduction of mobile phone payment applications 
at the point of sale; the increasing use of premium reward credit 
cards with higher merchant acceptance fees; and the introduction 
of new regulations for the debit and credit card industries. I will 
discuss retail payments in Canada first. 

Slide 2 shows that cash demand in Canada, expressed as the total 
value of notes outstanding as a percentage of GDP, gross domestic 
product, bas remained fairly stable over the past 30 years at about 
3 per cent. However, a closer look by denomination offers a 

semblable a celui de l'economie, et on a a present queJque 
58 milliards de dollars de billets en circulation. Mais comme vous 
Ie dira M. Arango, l'utilisation des billets et leur repartition entre 
les differentes coupures ont change. Au fi1 des ans, la 8anque a 
effectue plusieurs enquetes publiques dans Ie cadre de ses 
fonctions relatives aux billets, aftn d'etudier l'utilisation des 
especes par rapport aux autres modes de paiement. Nous menons 
ces travaux pour prendre Jes decisions a long tenne qui nous 
permettent de nous acquitter de notre mandat a l'egard des biUets 
de banque et de repondre aux besoins des consommateurs, des 
detaillants et de I'economie a ce chapitre. A la faveur de ces 
recherches, nous elargissons naturel1ement nos connaissances sur 
les autres instruments de paiement, ce qui est particulierement 
vrai dans Ie cas de I'enquete me nee par M. Arango et 
Mme Taylor. M. Arango va'maintenant vous donner un bref 
apentu du role de I'argent comptant au Canada et des tendances 
dans Ie domaine des paiell1ents de detail, et il vous presentera 
certaines conclusions de I'enquete, qui pourraient etfe utiles a vas 
travaux. Nous vous avons apporte des copies des graphiques dont 
nous allons parler, et je crois que vous avez deja regu des 
exemplaires de I'article de la Re~'ue de la Sal/que du Canada, ainsi 
que d'un article plus technique qui traite de ccttc etude en detail. 

Monsieur Ie president, j'invite M, Arango a faire son expose. 

Carlos Arango, chercheur principal, Dcpartcment de la monnaie, 
Banque du Canada: Bonjour, monsieur Ie president et honorables 
senateurs. Je suis heureux de J'occasion qui m'est donnee de 
comparaitre pOllr VOllS presenter les TI!sultats d,e nos recherches 
sur Ics perceptions et Ie cout de l'acceptation par les commerc;unts 
des instruments de paiement de detaiL 

Cette presentation s'inspire surtout de recherches communes que 
j'ai realisees avec Vurya Taylor sur une enquete que la Banque du 
Canada a comrnand6c auprcs de 500 commer9ants Cll 2006. Je fais 
]a mise en garde habituelle : les opinions exprimees ici sont celles des 
cherchcurs ct elles ne doivent pas etre attribuecs a la Banque du 
Canada. J'adresse une autre mise en garde au comite : Ie cadre des 
paiements de detail a evolue au COUTS des dnq demiercs annees et si 
une enquete analogue etait faite aujourd'hui, it est probable que les 
resultats seraiellt fort differents. 

Les changements notables qui sont 'survenus ces cillq dernieres 
annees sont les suivants : I'implantation des cartes a puce, qui 
ameIiorent la securite et permettent des modalites comme Ie 
paiement par carte sans contact; la possibilite d'introduire les 
applications de paiement par telephone mobile au lieu de vente; 
l'augmentation de I'utilisation des carles de prestige avec 
recompenses dont les frais d'acceptation sont plus 61eves pour Ie 
commer~ant; I'implantation d'une nouvelle regiemcntation pour 
Ies secteurs de la carte de debit et de la carte de credit. Je vais 
d'abord parler des paiements de detail au Canada. 

La diapositive 2 montre que la demande de billets de ban que au 
Canada, COIDme valeur totale des billets en circulation en 
pOUl'ccntage du P1B, c'est-a-dire Ie produit interieur brut, reste 
plutot stable dcpuis 30 ans, a 3 p. 100. Toutefois. un examen plus 
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different perspective. Higher denominations, such as the S50 note 
and the $100 note, relative to GDP, are represented by the top area 
in tlle graph. 

Here we see an increase fro111 1.4 per cent to 2.5 per cent of 
GDP over the last three decades. Meanwhile, the demand for 
smaller denominations, slich as the $5, SID and $20 notes, has 
declined from roughly 2 per cent to 1.2 per cent. This decline may 
indicate a reduction in the usc of cash for retail payments as 
smaller banknotc denominations arc associated typically with 
retail trade, especially given that $20 bills are the main notes 
dispensed at ATMs, automated teUer machines. 

Slide 3 provides some evidence that this may be the casco The 
decline in low-value denominations in circulation coincides with 
the grmvth in debit and credit card payments as a percentage of 
aggregate consumption from just 14 per cent in 1994 to over 
50 per cent in 2009. 

Unfortunately, unlike card payments there is no direct way to 
tlack cash payments. As a proxy for cash expenditures, slide 4 
plots ATM cash withdrawals as a percentage of aggregate 
consumption over the last decade. The graph shows a decline in 
cash withdrawals from 16 per cent of consumption in 200J to 
12 per cent in 2009. 

However. as reported in sHde 5, cash is still the predominant 
payment method in telms of transaction volume according to 
preliminary results of our 2009 methods of payments survey of the 
public. This survey collects infonnution on retail purchases, 
including payment method used, fro111 3,500 shopping diaries 
recorded by adult Canadians during a three-day period. Cash 
accounts for 54 per cent of total purchases recorded in the diaries. 
Based on a rough extrapolation, this could amount to at least 
6 billion cash transactions compared to 2.5 billion for credit cards 
and 3.9 billion for debit cards in 2009. 

One charactclistic of retail payments that belps to explain some 
of the developments in the retail payment ,system is 111at they are 
two-sided markets. As depicted in slide 6, in twowsided retail 
payment markets, payment service providers require both 
consumers and merchants to be on board to create demand for 
their services. The key element of these markets are efficiency 
gains for both consumers and merchants jf a third party 
coordinates their demands. Among the benefits of this 
coordination are the sharing of large set-up costs and the gains 
by both merchants and consumers if more of them adopt the 
payment instrument. 

precis de la repartition entre les differentes coupures ouvre des 
perspectives differentes. Les coupures les plus elevees, comme les 
billets de 50 $ et de 100 $, par rupport au PIB, sont repnisentees 
par la partie supecieure du graphique. 

lei, nous voyons une progression de 1,4 a 2,5 p. 100 du PIB 
pendant les trois dernie-res decennies. Par ailteurs, la demande de 
plus petites coupures, ceUes de 5 $, de 10 S et de 20 $, a diminue, 
passant de 2 a 1,2 p. 100 du PIB. Ce ilechissementl'evele peut-etre 
une diminution de l'utilisation de l'argent Iiquide pour les 
paiell1ents de detail, car les petites coupures sont Ie plus souvent 
associe~:s au commerce de detail, d'autant plus que Ics billets 
de 20 $ sont les billets les plus souvent offects dans les guichets 
automatiques. 

La diapositive 3 semble continner que c'est Ie cas. La 
diminution des coupures de faible valeur en circulatiOll coincide 
avec la croissance des paiements par carte de debit et de credit 
comme pourcentage de]a consornmation globale : de 1994 a 2009, 
il est passe de 14 a plus de 50 p. 100. 

Malheureusement. a 1a difference des paiernents par carte, il n'y 
a aucun moyen direct de suivre revolution des paiements en 
liquide. La diapositive 4 utilise cornme approximation des 
depenses rcglCes cornptant les retraits de numeraire aux guichets 
automatiques comme pourcentage de Ja consomma.tion globa]e au 
cours des dix demie-res annees. Le graphique ilIustre une 
diminution de ces retraits, qui sont passes de 16 p. 100 de la 
consommation en 2001 a 12 p. 100 en 2009. 

Toutefois, comme la diapositive 5 Ie montre, rargent Iiquide 
demeure ]e mode de paiement qui pl'edomine cornme pourcentage 
du volume des operations, ainsi qu'cn temoignent les resultats 
pn!Iiminaires de .110tre enquete de 2009 sur les methodes de 
paiement dans Ie public. Cctte enquete pennet de recueilIir de 
!'information sur les achats au detail, dont Ie mode de paiement 
utilise, consignee penda.nt trois jours dans un journal des 
operations par 3 500 Canadiens adultes. L'argent liquide a ete 
utilise dans 54 p. 100 des achats consigncs dans ces journaux. 
Vne extrapolation approximative indique que cela pourrait 
correspondre a au moins 6 milliards d'operations en argent, 
contre 2,5 milliards pour les cartes de credit et 3,9 milliards pour 
les cartes de debit en 2009. 

Une caracteristique des paiements de detail qui aide Ii expliquer. 
une partie de l'evolution du systeme, de paiement de detai1 cst qu'U 
s'agit d'un double marche. Comme la diapositive 61e deceit, dans 
les doubles marches des paiements de detail, les fournisseurs de 
services de paiement ant besoin de la participation aussi bien des 
consommateurs que des commen;:ants pour creer une demande 
pour leurs !';en,ices. L'cltSment cle de ces marches, ce sont les gains 
d'efficacite pour les consommateurs et les commen;ants si 'un tiers 
coordonne leurs demandes. Panni les avantages de cette 
coordination figurent Ie partage de coliJs de mise en place 
importants et les gains Ii realiser tant pour les commen;:ants que 
pour les consommateurs s'ils sont plus nombrcux a adopter 
l'insirument de paiement. 
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Payment service suppliers set up fees and network rules to 
influence the entry into the network of both consumers and 
merchants. Consumers choose their payment instruments based 
all convenience in tenns of speed, record keeping, access to funds, 
payment delay, as well as safety, fees and rewards. However~ 
merchants must consider consumer payment preferences and 
what nearby competitors accept. Merchants' acceptance decisions 
would depend on the costs and efficiency gains from ac-eepting a 
payment method; how much of the costs can be passed on to 
consumers in final prices for goods and services; and the impact 
'on merchants' revenues. 

To better understand the merchant side ofretail payments, the 
bank commissioned a national sun'ey of merchants on their 
accepted means of payment for point-of-sale transactions in 2006. 
The objectives of the survey are presented in slide 7. 

They wel"e to consider how merchants perceive retail payments 
in terms of costs, reliability and risks; second, to estimate the 
share of transactions represented by each payment method; and 
third, to assess the costs of accepting different retail payment 
methods. 

As stated in slide 8, Jpsos Reid, the consulting firm that 
conducted the survey, held over SOD, 20-minute interviews across 
Canada with senior-level merchant representatives familiar with 
the payments methods accepted. The sample was drawn by finn 
size - defined by number of employees, region and subsector
to reflect the diversity of the retail sector. 

Because most merchants in Canada operate as independent 
small businesses, roughly half of the sample consisted of small 
merchants. As well, three-quarters of businesses surveyed were 
independently owned and operated. 

TIle survey included a variety of subsectors such as gas 
stations, grocery stores, restaurants and general merchandise 
stores, but excluded merchants who did not have a physical store 
and were hypothetically unable to accept al1 three methods of 
payment - cash, credit and debit cards. It should be noted that 
the margin of error is relative high at plus/minus 4.4 per cent, 
with 95~per-cent'confidence. 

Slide 9 shows that, when asked whicb payment method 
merchants prefer their customers to use most often, 50 per cent 
of the respondents said debit cards. In comparison, 42 per cent 
favoured cash and only 6 per cent favoured credit cards. 

In our research, we found that merchant preferences are 
significantly influenced by perceptions of risk and cost. In 
particular, as slide 10 shows, merchants perceive cash as the 
least costly. followed by debit cards, with credit cards perceived as 

Les fournisseurs de services de paiement ctablissent des frais et 
les regles du reseau pour influencer l'adhcsion des_consommateurs 
et des commen;:ants a leur reseau. Les consommateurs choisissent 
les modes de paiement en fonction de Ia commodite des points de 
vue de Ia rapidite, de la tenue de livres, de J'acces aux fonds, du 
decalage du paiement ainsi que de 1a securite, des frais et des 
recompenses. Pour leur part, les commer9ants doivent tenir 
compte des preferences du COllsornmateur en matiere de paiement 
et de ce que leurs concurrents voisins acceptent. Les decisions 
d'acceptation des commer9ants dependent des couts et des gains 
d'efficacit6 qui vont de pair avec l'acceptation d'une methode de 
paiement, de la part des couts qu'il est possible de refiIer aux 
consornrnateurs dans Ie prix final des biens et services et de 
I'impact sur les revenus du commer9ant. 

Pour mieux comprendrc Ie point de vue des commer~ants sur 
les paiements de detail, la banque a commande en 2006 LIne 
enquete nationale aupres des commer~ants sur les modes de 
paiement qu'ils acceptaient pour les operations au point de vente. 
Les objectifs de l'enquete sont enonces a la diapositive 7. 

II s'agissait de voir comment les commeryants pcn;oivent les 
paiements de detail des points de vue des couts, de la fiabilite et 
des risques; deuxiemement, d'estimer la part des operations 
devalue a cbaque mode de paiement; enfin, d'evaluer les couts de 
I'acceptation de differents modes de paiement. 

Comme on peut Ie voir a la diapositive 8, Ipsos Reid, finne de 
consultants a Jaquelle renquete a etc confiee, a (enu plus de 
500 entrevues de 20 minutes un peu partout au Canada avec des 
represcntants de haut niveau des commerces qui connaissaient 
bien les modes de paiement acceptes. L'echantillon a ete reparti 
selon la taille de rentreprise, definic par ailIeurs par Ie nombre 
d'employes, la region et Ie sous-secteur, pour refleter 1a diversite 
du secteur du commerce de detail. 

Comme la plupart des ,commer~ants au Canada sont de petites 
entreprises independantes, les petits commer9ants eonstituaient 
environ la moitie de l'echantillon. En outre, les trois quarts des 
entreprises visees par l'enquete etaient de propriete independante 
et exploitees de fa90n independante. 

L'enquete a vise divers sous-secteurs, comrne des pastes 
d'essence, des marches d'alimentation, des restaurants ct dcs 
marchands generaux, mais non ceux qui n'ont pas d'ctablissement 
materiel et qui ne pouvaient, hypothetiquement, accepter les trois 
modes de paiement; argent liquide, carte de credit et carte de debit. 
A signaler que la marge d'erreur est relativement elevee : plus au 
moins 4,4 p. 100 ct un intervalle de confiance de 95 p. 100. 

La diapositive 9 montre que, lorsqu'on leur demande queJ 
mode de paiement ils souhaitent voir leurs clients utiliser Ie plus 
souvent,50 p. 100 des enquetes disent la carte de debit, tandis que 
42 p. 100 preferent l'argent liquide et seulement 6 p. IDOla carte 
de credit. 

Nos recherches ont revele que les preferences des comrneryants 
sont nettement influencees par les perceptions du risque et des 
couts. Plus precisement. la diapositive 10 montre que les 
comme~yants ont I'impression que I'argent Uquide est Ie mode Ie 
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the most costly of the three payment instruments. Debit cards, all 
the other hand, are perceived as the least risky in terms of 
counterfeiting, theft or fraud. 

In spite of these differences in preferences and perceptions 
across merchants and payment methods, ~s shown in slide 11, 
close to 90 per cent of all merchants in the survey accept all major 
payment instruments - cash. debit and credit cards. The smallest 
merchants, measured by number of employees or by sales volume, 
are the least likely to accept card payments. Of those who do not 
accept debit cards. 52_ per cent indicate set~up and processing 
costs as the main barriers. Merchants who do not accept credit 
cards cite Jack of consumer demand and costs as the main 
barriers. These results confinn that merchant acceptance is 
influenced not only by costs, but also by what consumers like 
to pay with. ~ 

111is is indeed the case in the survey, as stated in slide 12. We 
find that among merchants who accept all payment instruments, 
on average, annual sales arc split almost equaUy between cash, 
debit and credit cards. However, payment shares vary across 
merchants. 

Credit card payment shares are higher at stores with higher 
average transaction values, whereas cash and debit ca rd shares are 
higher at low-transaction value stores. Furtllennore, we found 
that credit card payments are more than one-third of annunl sales 
for half of those merchants accepting all payment methods. 

On the cost side, merchants usually face set-up costs and 
per-transaction and monthly fees wben accepting card payments. 
As reported in slide 13, merchunts pay around S40 a month per 
tenninal for their banking and payment-processing services, 
which may include cash services, card processing, tenninal 
leasing and other related services. ' 

The typical transaction fee for debit cards in the survey is 
12 cents, and the typical fee for credit cards is 2 per cent. 
However, in the sample, credit card fees vary between 
1.75 per ce,nt and 2.5 per cent, whereas debit card fees vary 
between 7 cents and 25 cents. 

As reported in slide 14, our research shows that part of this 
variation in Tees is related to merchant characteristics. We found 
that merchants in retail trades with low-transaction vallIes have the 
lowest debit card fees in the sample. As for credit cards, we found 
that merchants with higher saJes volumes and average transaction 
values have significantly lower fees than their counterparts. 

Cost perceptions in the survey reflect this fee structure. As 
stated in slide 15, although, on average, cash is considered the 
least costly payment instrument to handle. we found that cash is 

moins couteux. suivi par 1a carte de debit, tandis que la carte de 
credit est perltue comrne Ie plus onereux des trois modes. Par 
ailleurs, Ia carte de debit est Ie mode per~u cornme celui qui 
presente Ie moins de risques de contrefaQOn, de vol ou de fraude. 

Malgre ces differences dans les preferences et les perceptions chez 
Jes commer9ants et parmi les modes de paiement, pres de 90 p. 100 
des commer~nts interroges acceptent, cOl1une la diapositive 11 
l'indique., tous les modes de paiement principaux : argcnt tiquide, 
carte de debit et carte de credit. Les petits commerces, consideres 
connne tels en fonction du nombre d'employes et du chiffre 
d'nITaires. sont les mains portes a accepter les paiements par cmie. 
Chez ceux qui n'acceptent pas la carte de debit, 52 p. 100 disent que 
les couts d'installation et de traitement sont les principaux obstacles. 
Ces resultats confinnent que J'acceptation par les commen;ants est 
inO'uencee non seu]ement par les cants, mais aussi par les 
preferences des consommateurs. 

Comme la diapositive 121'indiquc, c'est ce que l'enquete reville. 
Nous constatons que, panni les commeryarits qui acceptent tous 
les modes de paiement, en moyenne, les venles annuelles se 
repartissent presque egalement entre arge.nt Iiquide, carte de debit 
et carle de credit. ToutefoisJ les parts des divers modes varient 
d'un commen;:ant 'ill'autrc. 

La part des paiements par carte de credit est plus elevee dans les 
magasins ou la valeur moyenne des operations est Ja plus forte, 
alors que les parts de i'argent liquide et de la carte de debit sont plus 
importnntes duns les magasins au la valeur des achats est plus faible. 
Noris aVOlls egalement constate que les paiements par carte de credit 
represcntcnt plus du tiers du chiffre d'affaires pour la moitie des 
commeryants qui acceptent tous les modes de paiement. 

Pour ce qui est couts, les commeryants doivent habituelIcment 
assumer des COlltS d'installation et des frais par operation ainsi 
que des frais mensuels lorsqu'jls acceptent des paiements par 
carte. La diapositive 13 en rend compte: les commeryants paient 
environ 40 $ par Inois par terminal pour leurs services bancaires 
et de traitement des paiements, ce qui peut englober les services 
rel~tifs it l'argent liquide, Je traitement des paiements par carte, la 
location des terminaux ct d'autres services connexes. 

Les frais types des operations, pour les cartes de debit, selon 
l'enquete, s'Clevent a 12 cents, et ceux de la carte de credit sont de 
2 p. 100. Toutefois, dans l'echantillon, les [rais des cartes de credit 
varient entre 1.75 et 2,5 p. lOa, alors que ceux des cartes de debit 
Ouctuent entre 7 cents et 25 ccnts. 

Comme la diapositive 14 l'expIlque, nos recherches revelent 
que cette variation des frais tient en partie aux caracteristiques du 
commeryant. Nous avons remarque que les detaillants dont la 
valeur des operations est faible ont les frais de carte de debit les 
plus bas de l'echantillon. Quant aux cartes de credit, nous avons 
observe que les commer~ants qui ont un chiffre d'affaires et une 
valeur moyenne des achats eleves doivent payer des frais 
nettement plus faibles que ceux des autres commen;:ants. 

Les perceptions des couts observees dans l'enquete refletent 
cette structure de [rais. Comme it est dit sur la diapositive 15, bien 
que, en mayenne. l'argent Jiquidc soit considere comme Ie mode 
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perceived as more costly than debit cards by merchants with 
higher total sales and average transaction values. More broadly, 
we found that debit and credit cards are perceived as less costly by 
merchants with higher annual sales. 

This is consistent with the economies that large merchants have 
as they can spread their costs among large transaction volumes. It 
also reflects the finding that large merchants face lower card-per
transaction fees, as we saw before. 

Finally, we also found that debit cards are perceived 3S less 
costly than credit cards the higher the average transaction value at 
the store. This is-due, in part, to the fact that the debit card fee is a 
fixed per-transaction fee, whereas the credit card fee is a 
percentage of the value of the transaction. 

So far, we have talked about merchants' perception of the costs 
of cash. To further explore how cash fares compared with debit 
and credit cards in tenns of costs, we estimated the different 
marginal costs associated with each payment instrument. Slide 16 
illustrates the methodology for the typical cash transaction in the 
sample of $36.50. 

For all payment instruments, the labour cost of tender time is 
included. We used the results of different studies on tcnder time 
conducted in 2004 and 2005, which show that cash transactions 
take the least time at the register, foHowed by pin debit and 
signature credit cards. For cash, we estimate the labour cost of the 
reconciliation time and the preparation time per transaction, 
based on average responses given by 33 retailers in follow-up 
interviews. We also included the value of time spent making cash 
deposits at the bank, which we assume is 20 minutes. 

Bahk fees include cash deposit fees and coin ordering, as 
reported by RBe, Royal Bank of Canada, in their public 
brochures. For debit and credit cards, we are taking the typical 
per-transaction fees as a benchmark. Theft and counterfeiting is 
based on a survey of retail crime, made by Jpsos Reid in 2008, and 
on counterfeits passed during this peliod. 

Finally, float is the opportunity cost of funds in transit, based 
on short-term interest rates. For the survey's typical transaction 
value of $36.50, debit card payments are the least costly at 
19 cents, followed closely by cash at 25 cents and credit cards at 
82 cents, but this ranking depends on the value of the transactioll. 

de paiement Ie moins onereux, nous avons remarque qu'il etait 
per~u comme plus couteux que la carte de debit par les 
commer~ants qui ont Ie chiffre d'affaires et Ia valeur moyenne 
des operations le5 plus cleves. De [alfon plus generale, nous avons 
observe que Ies cartes de debit et de credit sont considerees comme 
mains one-reuses par les cornmer~ants qui ont Ie chiffre d'affaires 
annue1 Ie plus eJeve. 

Cela concorde avec les economies que les grands commer~ants 
realisent, puisqu'iIs peuvent etaler leurs frais sur des volumes 
d'operations considerables. Et cela rcfletc aussi Ie fait que, comme 
110US l'avons deja vu, les grands commer~ants ant des frais de 
carte par operation plus faibles. 

Enfin, nous avons appris que les cartes de debit sont per~ues 
comme moins onereuses que Jes cartes de credit lorsque la valeur 
moyenne des operations est plus elevee, ce qui s'explique en partie 
par Ie fait que les frais des cartes de debit sont un 111ontaot fixe par 
operation, alors que ceux des cartes de credit sont un pourcentage 
de la valeur de l'operation. 

Jusqu'a maintenanr, nous avons parle de la perception que les 
comrncn;:ants se font des couts du mode de paiement en argent 
liquide. Pour examiner de plus pres la fayon dont J'argent liquide se 
compare aux cartes de debit et de credit sur Ie plan des couts, nous 
avons estime les couts marginaux assocics a chaque mode de 
paiement. La diapositive 16 illustre les methodes suh·ies pour 
l'operation en liquide type de l'6chantillon, d'un montant de 36,50 $. 

Pour tous les modes de paiement, i1 est lcnu compte du COl it de 
la rnain-d'ccuvre pendant Ie temps de paiement. Nous avons utilise 
a cette fin les resultats de differenles etudes sur Ie temps de 
paiement realisees en 2004 et 2005. Elles montrent que les 
operations en liquide demanClent Ie mains de temps it Ia caisse, 
sui vies des paiements par carte de debit avec NfP, puis des 
pniemcnts par carte de credit avec signature. Dans Ie cas des 
paiements en liquide, nous estimons Ie temps de travail consacre 
au rapprochement et it la preparation, par operation, en nous 
fondant sur les rt!pol1ses moyennes de 33 detaiUants au cours 
d'entrevues de suivi. Nous tenons compte egalement de la valeur 
du temps utilise pour faire les depots a la banque. Nous avons 
suppose qu'it fal1ait 20 minutes. 

Les frais bancaires comprennent les frais de depot d'argent et la 
commande de pieces de monnaie, selon l'infonnation que la RBC, 
la Banque Royale du Canada, fournit dans ses brochures publiques. 
Dans Ie cas des cartes de debit et de credit, nous prenons comme 
valeur repere les frais de transaction types. Les donnees sur Ie vol et 
la contrefa90n reposent sur une enqu&te sur la criminalite dans Ie 
commerce de detail reaIisee par Jpsos Reid en 2008 et sur Ie nombre 
de billets contrefaits ecoules pendant cette peri ode. 

Entin, Ie temps de compensation est Ie cout d'opportunite des 
fonds pendant Ie transit~ fonde sur Ies taux d'jnteret it court terme. 
Pour roperation type de l'enquete, d'une valeur de 36,50 $, les 
paiements par cnrte de debit 50nt les moins cotiteux, it 19 cents, 
suivis de pres par Ie comptant, a 25 cents, aIors que les paiernents 
par carte de credit coutent 82 cents, mais ce classement depend de 
la valeur de "operation. 
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Slide 17 illustrates the differences in per-transaction costs 
between cash and debit cards as transaction value increases. For 
cash, we assume that aU cost items increase with the transaction 
value, except tender time, deposit time at the bank, and coin 
ordcling. The graph shows that, as the per-transaction cost of 
cash increases with transaction value, it crosses debit card 
per-transaction fees at different thresholds as debit card fees rise. 

We found that cash is cheaper than debit cards at stores with 
average transaction values that arc below $12 if debit card fees are 
as low as 7 cents among the lowest in the survey; below S23, if 
debit card fees are 12 cents, in the middle range; and below $51 if 
debit card fees are as high as 25 cents among the highest in the 
survey. As for credit cards, at the survey values of the credit card 
fees, credit card costs are always above those of either cash or 
debit cards, depending on the transaction value. 

To conclude. our research shows that the two-sided nature of 
retail payment markets is key to understanding the trade-orrs 
merchants have in their payment instrument acceptance decisions. 
Merchants in low average value and small-scale retail activities 
are less likely to accept card payments. This is because consumers 
do not use cards as much for low transaction values and because 
it is relatively more costly to run electronic payments with low 
annual sales. Aside from acceptance, merchants have little 
influence over payment instrument shares and consumers' 
choices drive payment instrument usage at the point of sale 
with a strong dependence on transaction value. 

Finally, our estimates suggest that debit card transactions are 
less costly than cash for a broad cross-section of merchants. 

Thank you, once again, for inviting us to present this research. 
We will be happy to answer any questions that you may have. 

The Chair: Thank you very much., Mr. Spencer and 
Dr. Arango. 111at is helpful. I think I speak for everyone when 
I say that it was very clear. It is much appreciated. 

Before turning to my list of speakers. you cautioned us that this 
research was done in 2006. Am I correct? 

Mr. Arango: That is correct. 

La diapositive 17 illustre les differences de [rais par operation 
entre Ie paiement en liquide et Ie paiement par carte de credit 
lorsque la valeur de l'operation augrnente. Pour Ie paiement 
comptant, nous supposans que tous Ies elements des frais 
augmentent avec la valeur de l'operation. exception faite du 
temps de paiement, du temps de depot a la banque et de Ia 
commande de pieces de monn!lie. Le graphique mantre que, 
lorsque Ie cout par operation des paiements comptants augmente 
avec la valeur de l'operation, la courbe recoupe la ligne des frais 
par operation des paiements par carte de debit a des seuils 
differents, Jorsque Jes frais des cartes de debit augmentent. 

Nous avons observe que Ie paiement eomptant est moins 
onerellx que Ie paiement par carte de debit dans les magasins ou la 
valeur moyenne de l'operation est inf6rieure Ii 12 $ si les frais des 
cartes de debit sont de seulement 7 cents, soit Ie niveau Ie plus bas 
observe dans I'enquete; inf6rieure a 23 $, si les frais des cartes de 
debit sont de 12 cents, sait Ie niveau moyen; et inferieure Ii 51 $ .• si 
les frais des cartes de debit sont de 25 cents, soit Ie niveau Ie plus 
cleve observe dans I'enquetc. Quant aux cartes de credit, si on se 
fie aux frais observes dans l'enquete, elIes sont toujours plus 
oncreuses que Ie paiement en liquide ou par carte de debit, selon 
la valeur de I'operation. 

Pour concJure, disons que nos recherches montrent que Ie 
double mal'che des paiements de detail est une caractcristique 
essentielle si on veut comprendre les compromis que les 
commen;:ants doivent faire lorsqu'il s'agit de decider d'accepter 
les divers modes de paiement. Les cOIl1mcr~al1ts qui ont des 
activites de vente au detail de faibJe envergurc et une valeur 
moyenlle des operations peu elcvcc sont moins portes a accepter 
les paiements par carte. Cest que les consommateurs ne se servent 
pas de leurs cartes autant pour les achats de faible valeur et qu'il 
cst relativement plus couteux d'offrir Ie paiement par voie 
eIectronique Iorsq1.le Ie chiffre d'affaires aonuel est peu cleve. 
Hannis la decision d'accepter ou non les cartes, les cOlmnerc;ants 
ont peu d'influenee sur Ia part des divers modes de paiement, et ce 
sont les choix des consommateurs qui determinent l'utilisation des 
divers modes au point de vente, ce choix dependant largement de 
la valeur de l'operation. 

Enfin, nos estimations indiquent que Ies opcrations par carte 
de debit sont moins onereuses que Ie paiement comptant pour un 
large echantilIon de commeryants. 

Merci encore de nous avoir invites a prcsenter les resultats de 
ces recherches. Nous serons tres heureux de repolldre avos 
questions. 

Le president: Merd beaucoup, monsieur Spencer et monsieur 
Arango. Votl'e temoigllage est utile. Je crois pouvoir exprimer Ie 
sentiment general en disant que I'expose a eti: tres clair. Nous 
vallS en sommes tres recoDnaissants. 

Avant de passer a la lisle des senateurs qui veulent intervenir,je 
fiippeUe que vous avez dit que ces recherches remontent a 2006. 
Est·ee exact? 

M. Arango: C'est exact. 
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The Chair: Therefore, things probably are different in 2011. 
Have you any research to indicate any trends between 2006 and 
2011 of which we should be cognizant? 

Mr. Arango: Currently, we are doing surveys to the consumers, 
not to the merchants. Unfortunately. we do not have a recent 
survey on the merchant side. On the consumer side, we had one 
survey conducted in 2009, where we actually have more accurate 
estimates of what is happening on the acceptance side on the 
lower transaction-value ranges. From the consumers' point of 
view, when they do transaction values below $15. they find that in 
50 per cent orthe cases they believe cards arc not accepted at low
value transaction stores or purchases. 

We also introduced a section in the Canadian Financial 
Afollitor, which is an omnibus survey by Jpsos Reid on payment 
choices and behaviour by household. Unfortunately, we only 
introduced this survey in 2009, so we cannot have complete 
figures, year after year, on how things are changing now with the 
introduction of new technologies such as "contactless" payment. 
However, we will be able to have a close monitoring of current 
developments in the retail market with this survey. 

Senator Ringuette: I have read your full report. It is very 
interesting. [n your presentation, on slide 16 in regard to the 
variable cost, is the capital cost induded in there or have you not 
added it to your figures because it might vary, or one merchant 
might buy or rent? Is the capital cost of the technology included in 
your costing here? 

Mr. Arango: No, in this table we are reporting on only the 
variable costs of accepting different payment methods per 
transaction. 

Senator Ringuette: We. have heard in the last two meetings that 
we have had, especially from the witnesses from the h'easury 
department of the City of Ottawa, about the huge cost for 
technology to meet the required secUlity standards set by Visa and 
MasterCard. That would increase your cost here ifit were included 
because it is not a cost that '\iould be entailed in cash; it would 
certainly be required in regard to debit and the credit card system. 
The cost we have here would increase if you add the capital cost. 

:!VIr. Arango: Right. 

Senator Ringuette: Are you participating with the current task 
force on the payment system? 

Mr. Spenc.er: The bank is represented at the round tables. We 
have not made a fannal submission, but we have been consulted 
by ,the task force and we have a colleague who has sat on the 
round tables. 

Senator Ringuette: Visa and MasterCard have indicated to us 
that they believe that their product is an electronic currency_ Do 
you agree with that definition? 

Le president: La situation est done probablement differellte 
en 2011. Y a~t-i1 des recherches dont nous devrions etre au courant 
et qui reveleraient les tendances observees entre 2006 et 2011? 

M. Arango: En ce moment, nous faisons des enquetes aupres 
des consommateurs et non des commen;:ants. Malheureusement, 
nous n'avons aUCUlle enquete recente aupres des cdmmer~ants. 
Du cote des consommateurs, nous avons realise une enquete 
en 2009. Elle a donne des estimations plus exactes de ce qui se 
passe du cote de l"acceptation des caltes pour les operations de 
faible valeur. Lorsqu'ils font des achats de moihs de 15 $, les 
consommateurs croient dans 50 p. 100 des cas que les cartes ne 
sont pas acceptees dans les magasins au les operations ou les 
achats sont de valeur peu elevee. 

Nous avons egalement ajoute une rubrique au Canadian 
Financial Monitor, une enquete generale d'Ipsos Reid sur Jes 
choix de mode de paiement et Ie comportement par menage. 
Malheureusement, nous 11'avo11s entame cette enquete qU'en 2009. 
de sorte que nous ne pouvons avoir des chiffres cotUplets, annee 
apres annee, sur revolu,tion de Ja situation attribuable a 
J'implantation de nouvelles technologies, comme des operations 
sans contact. Par contre, cette cnquete IlOUS permettra de smyre 
de pres ce qui se passe actuelIemcl1t dans Ie commerce de detail. 

Le seoateur Ringuette: rai Iu votce rapport integralement et it 
est tres interessant. Dans votre expose, Ii la diapositive J 6 sur les 
frais variables, avez~vous tenu compte des frais d'immobi}isation 
ou aveZRvous evite de Ie fair,e parce qu'Hs peuvent varier ou parce 
que certains commeryants peuvent louer Ie materiel au lieu de 
l'acheter? TenezRvous compte des frais d'immobilisation de la 
technologie dans votre calcul des couts? 

M. Arango: Non, dans ce tableau, iln'est fait etat que des frais 
variables par opc1'<ltion de I'acccptatioll des divers modes de 
paiement. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Au cours de nos deux demieres seances, 
nous avons entendu plus particulierement les temoins du Tresor 
de la Ville d'Ottawa qui nous ont parJe du cout enorme de Ia 
technologie necessaire pour respecter les exigences en matiere de 
sec-urite de Visa et de MasterCard. Cela ferait augmenter les couts 
que VOllS pn!sentez icil car ce ne sont pas des couts Ii. absorber 
dans Ie cas des paiements en Jiquide. Mais its sont inevitables dans 
Ie cas des systemes de paiement par carte de debit et par carte de 
credit. Les couts presentes iei seraient plus 6leves si on ajoutait Ie 
COllt des immobilisations. 

M. Arango: C'est juste. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Participez-vous aux recherches de 
I'actuel groupe de travail sur Ie systeme de paiement'l 

M. Spencer: La banque est representee aux tables rondes. 
Nous n'avons pas fait de presentation officielle., mais Ie groupe de 
travailnous a consuites et nous avons un coUegue qui siege nux 
tables rondes. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Visa et MasterCard nous ont dit que, a 
leur avis, leur produit est de l'afl~ent Clectronique. Acceptez-vous 
cette definition? 
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Mr. Spencer: I am not sure there is a definition of "electronic 
currency." OUf research and our responsibility in the currency 
department is conducted for non~electronic currency~ which is 
currently paper money. The Royal Canadian Mint, of course, is 
responsible for metal money. r am not aware whether there is a 
standard definition of other forms of currency. 

Senator Ringuette: Would you agree that any fonn of payment 
would be equal to currency? That is, whether it is gold or 
whatever, it is a fonn of currency? 

Mr. Spencer: I think you can define anything as currency. A 
transaction is reaUy an exchange of value. That can be done in a 
number of different ways. One of them is by passing a banknote 
across a counter. 1 am not sure ,vhat the definition of "currency" 
would entail. It is not a concept that we use beyond that. 

Mr. Arango: On the research side, we always make a distinction 
between money and how you access money. When we do these 
types of studies talking about payment instruments, we are doing 
research more on the means of accessing your different money 
holdings. It could be cash, or it could be demand deposits at the 
bank, and so forth. That is an important distinction. 

Senator Ringuette: You are involvedjn providing some kind of 
consultation with the task force. We all know that the future of 
elcctronic payments, whether it is with what I call the fantastic 
plastic., or with your cell phone, or maybe even a chip in my wrist, 
will replace your paper cun·cncy. You will have to move to the 
new mode of payment that is not necessarily paper .based, but is 
electronic. Therefore, you have an electronic currency that is now 
in the global marketplace. 

When v.ilJ you make that move'? 

Mr. Spencer: I am not sure I fuHy understand the move that 
you are talking about. As Mr. Arango explained, t11e currency is 
the item that holds value; a transaction is the movement of that 
value. In our terms in the currency department, "currency" is 
banknotes. A transaction is that thing that happens across a retail 
counter. 

We are quite certain that ways to move value around are 
evolving. As we said when we did this survey, the dominant means 
of payment in Canada, other than cash, credit cards or debit cards, 
we are seeing, not importantly from the point of view of volume but 
interestingly at- the margins of the market, the introduction of 
contactiess payments1 the mooting of mobile phone payments, 
et cetera. All of those tools facilitate transactions. 

I am not .sure that the concept of currency applies to those 
transactions. Certainly, we in the currency department are not 
responsible for that. Our mandate is to manage banknotes for 
Canada and to ensure that we understand the environment in 
which they are being managed. 

M. Spencer! Je ne suis pas sur qu'il existe une definition de 
1'« argent electronique». Nos recherches et notre responsabHite, 
au departement de la monnaie, concernent l"argent non 
electronique, c'est-a-dire, actuellement, Ie papier-monnaie. Bien 
eritendu, c'est Ia Monnaie royale canadienne qui s'occupe des 
pieces. Je ne suis pas au courant des definitions nonnalisees qui 
existeraient au sujet d'autres fonnes de monnaic. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Convenez-vous que toutc forme de 
paiement est l'equivalent de la monnaie, c'est-a-dire que rOT ou 
autre chose est une forme de Ulonnaie? 

M. Spencer: On peut definir n'importe quai comme monnaie. 
Ul1e operation est au fond un echange de valeurs, et elle peut se 
faire de differcntes manier-es. L'une d'elles consiste a remettre un 
billet de banquc au comptoir. Je ne suis pas sur de ce que 
recouvrirait la notion de {( monnaie}). Ce n'est pas une notion 
que nous utilisons en dehors de ce cadre. 

M. Arango: En recherche, nous faisons toujours une 
distinction entre "argent et la rayon d'y acceder. Lorsque nous 
realisons ces etudes sur les modes de paiement, les recherches 
portent plutot sur les moyens d'acceder aux differents types de 
reserve d'argent. 11 peut s'agir d'argent liquide, de depOts a vue a 
la banque, et ainsi de suite. La distinction est importante. 

Le senatcur Ringuette: Vells avcz donne des conseils au groupe 
de travail. Nous savons tous que l'avenir des paiements 
clectroniques, qu'il s'agisse de ce que j"appclle Ie plastique 
fantastique, du telephone cellulaire ou peut-etre meme d'une 
puce it mon poignct, va rempiacerle papier-monnaie. Vous devrez 
passer au nouveau mode de paiement, qui n'utilise pas 
mkessairement Ie papier, mais plutot l'electrollique. VallS avez 
donc de l'argent electronique qui est utilise sur Ic march6 mondial. 

Quand allez-vous faire ce cllangement? 

M. Spencer: Je ne suis pas sur de comprendre vraimcnt Ie 
changement dont vous parIez. Commc M. Ar'dngo l'a explique, la 
monnaie est ce qui incarne la valeur; une operation, c'est Ie 
deplacement de cette valeur. Pour nous, au departement de la 
monnaie, la {( monnaie». ce sont des billets de ban que. 
L'operation, c'est ce qui se passe au comptoir du detai11ant. 

Nous sommes tout Ii fait certains que la rayon d'echanger les 
valeurs evolue. Comme nous ravons dit Jorsque nous avons fait 
l'enquete .. Ie mode de paiement qui domine au Canada, en dehors 
de l'argent liquide et des cartes de credit et de debit, ce sont les 
paiements sans contact et les paiements par telephone mobile, par 
exemple, qui ne sont pas importanls du point de vue du volurile 
mais se manifcstent aux marges du marche. T ous ces outils 
facilitellt Ies operations. 

Je ne suis pas sur que la notion de monnaie s'applique aces 
autres operations, mais Ie departemcllt de Ia mOllnaie n'a aucune 
responsabilite Ii Jeur egard. Notre mandat est de gerer ies billets de 
banque et de veiller a comprendre Ie contexte dans Jequet Us 
sont geres. 
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Senator Ringuette: Would you envision Visa, MasterCard and 
Interac systems as dearing systems for electronic payments? 

Mr. Spencer: J am not an expert on payment and clearing 
systems, so the question is a little outside my field. Certainly, \1,.'e 
do not have any research in our area that would shed light on 
that question. 

Senator Ringuette: No research is being done by the Bank of 
Canada on that issue. 

Mr. Spencer: I did not say that. I said that we in the currency 
department do not do tbat research. I am not aware of what 
research there is. 

The bank·s direct responsibility with clearing systems is limited 
to those that are designated under the Payment Clearing and 
Settlement Act. They are very large-value systems that act 
between the financial institutions. They have nothing, except at 
a very a'ggregate level, to do with the transactions that occur at 
the retail level or in networks that serve the retail level. 

Senator Ringuette: A very high value of transactions occurs on 
a daily basis using Visa, MasterQlrd and debit. Interae has 
voluntarily adhered to the payment act reguhltions, but Visa and 
MasterCard have not done so. 

Mr. Spencer: There are two different payment acts: The 
Payment Clearing and Settlement Act and the Canadian 
Payments Act. The Bank of Canada is oat involved in the latter. 

Senator Ringuette: The bank is responsible for the clearing 
system. 

Mr. Spencer: It is responsible for overseeing a systemically 
impo11ant dearing system. It is part of our responsibility for 
financial stability. It goes to the macroprudelltial issues around 
the solvency of financial institutions. We deal with the clearing 
systems between those financial institutions. 

Senator Ringuette: The Reserve Bank of Australia, and the 
federal reserve banks of New Zealand, the U.K., France, Sweden 
Argentina and Venezuela~ J believe, are in the process of studying 
credit card fees. The Reserve Bank of Australia legislated caps on 
these fees seven years ago. I suppose the Bank of Canada 
networks \\;th its counterparts in other countries. Have you 
looked at any of those studies? 

1\1r. Spencer: Certainly, we are in those networks and aware of 
the things that they have done. I do not think it would be 
appropriate for me to comment on their actions. The Reserve 
Bank of Australia has published reports on their processes, which, 
jf the committee is not aware of them, would be interesting 
for you. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Considereriez-vaus Jes systemes de 
Visa, de MasterCard et d'Interac comme des systemes de 
compensation des paiements electroniqucs? 

:M. Spencer: Je ne suis pas un expert des systemes de paiement 
et de compensation. Chose certaine, nous n'avons fait de notre 
cote aucune recherche susceptible de jeter un eclairage sur 
cette question. 

Le senateur Ringuette: La Banque du Canada oe fait dpnc 
aucune recherche sur la question. 

M. Spencer: Je n'ai pas dit 9a. J'ai dit que Ie departement de la 
monnaie ne fait pas de recherches de cet ordre. Je ne sais pas 
queUes sont les recherches qui se font. 

La responsabilite directe de Ia banque a regard des systemes de 
compensation est 1imitee Ii. ce que pn!voit la Loi sur Ia 
compensation et Ie regiement des paiements. Ce sont des 
systemes qui portent sur des valeurs tres importantes et qui 
mettent en contact les institutions financieres. Cela n'a rien a voir, 
sinon Ii. un niveau de regroupement tres cleve, avec les operations 
au niveau du detail au dans Ies reseaux. qui sont au service du 
commerce de detail. 

Le senateur Ringuette: n y a des operations de valeur tres 
elevee qui se font quotidiennement au moyen de Visa, de 
MasterCard ct de la carte de debit. Interac s'est conforme 
volontairement au n':glement d'application de la loi sur les 
paiements, mnis Visa et MasterCard ne rant pas fait. 

M. Spencer: II y a deux lois differentes qui portent sur les 
paiements: la Loi sur la compensation et Ie reglement des 
paiements et In Loi canadienne sur les paiements, dont la Banque 
du Canada ne s'occupe pas. 

Le scnateur Ringuette: La banque est responsabIe du systeme 
de compensation. 

M. Spencer: Ene doit surveiIler un systeme de compensation 
qui cst important sur Ie plan systemique. CeJa se rattacbe a sa 
responsabilite al'egard de la stabilite financiere. Cela se rapporte 
aux questions macroprudentielles qui gravitent autour de la 
solvabilite des institutions finaocieres. NallS nous occupons des 
systemes de compensation entre les institutions financicres. 

Le senateur Ringuette: La Reserve Bank of Australia et les 
banqucs centrales de la Nouvel1e w Zelande, du Royaume~Uni, de 
la France, de Suede, de l' Argentine et du Venezuela, je crais, sont 
en train d'etudier les frais des cartes de cr&lit. La Reserve Bank of 
Australia a plafonne ces frais par voie legislative il y a sept ans. Je 
suppose que la Banque du canada communique avec les banques 
centrales d'autres pays. Avez~vous examine l'une ou I'autre de 
ces etudes? 

M. Spencer: Certainement, nous faisons partie de ces n!seaux 
et nous savons ce que Ies autres banques ont fait. Je ne crois pas 
qu'il convienne que je fasse, quelque observation a ce sujet. La 
Reserve Bank of Australia a publie des rapports sur ses processus 
et its pourraient interesser Ie comite, s"ilne les connait pas deja. 
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Senator Ringuette: The committee will be in a conference caU 
with them in the next two weeks. 

I will return to slide 16, Dr. Arango. On the consumer side, 
you reported that a debit card system is the least costly for a 
merchant at 19 cents per transaction; a cash transaction ill the 
amount of $36 costs 25 cents; and a credit card transaction costs 
82 cents. Since 2006 when you did this survey.] do not think there 
has been an increase in cash transactions. My last conversation 
with peopJe from Interac indicated that the processing fee for 
debit cards is 12 cents per transaction. On the merchant side 
since 2006, the processing fees for credit cards ha,'c had quite an 
increase. It has almost doubled since 2006. 

How much of an increase does that represent for a $36 purchase'l 
lt no longer costs 82 cents to process that transaction. The 
processing fees that used to be at 0.76 per cent are now at least 
2.5 percent. 

Mr. Arango: 1 would have two points on this question. These 
calculations are done on a per-transaction basis. Fjrst, you are 
referring to the increase in the cost of accepting credit cards. That 
could be based on total numbers whereby the more people use 
credit cards.< the total bill of credit cards will increase over time, 
but not necessatily the transaction cost of accepting the credit 
card fee. 

Second, recently we have seen differentiated discount fees for 
different transaction types. That will make not one table but 
many different tables, depending on the various segments of the 
markel, which will change the results; I agree with that. 

Senator Ringuette: It will make a m~~or increase. Do you 
expect to do a second survey so that we may have updated data 
on the real costs? 

Mr. Arango: On the merchant side, we do not have plans for 
conducting a survey in the near future. Currently. we are working 
on the 2009 survey and conducting research on the consumer side 
of the use of different m~ans of payment, which will fonn part of 
our projections for the demand for cash as we move into the new 
series of banknoles. 

Mr. Spencer: Remember also, senator, that the objective of our 
research program is focused on cash. As you just said, it is 
unlikely that the merchant view of cash has changed significantly 
in the intervening period. We are more interested in focusing 'on 
places where the use of cash is likely to have changed, which 
means primaLily the consumer side. 

Senator Banks: I want (0 ensure that I understand correctly. 
The proportions on your slides 5 and 12 are different. ] 
unde;rstand that slide ]2 uses dollar vaJues. Slide 5 says 
"volume." I presume that "volume'" refers to the number of 
transactions regardless of their value. 

Mr. Arango: That is correct. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Le comite aura une conference 
telepltonique avec e1les au cours des deux prochaines semaines. 

J'en reviens a la diapositive 16, monsieur Arango. Du cote du 
consommateur, vaus clites que Ie systeme de carte de debit est Ie 
mains onereux pour Ie commer~ant} it 19 cents par operation. Un 
paiement campUlnt de 36 S entraine des frais de 25 cents, tandis 
qu'une operation avec carte de credit coute 82 cents. Depuis 2006, 
annec de l'enquete, je ne crais pas que les frais lies aux operations en 
liquide aient augmente. D'apres mes demiers echanges avec les 
representants d'Interac, les frais de trditement pour les cartes de 
debit s'elevent a 12 cents par operation. Du cote des commen;ants, 
les frais de traitement pour les cartes de credit ont beaucoup 
augmente depuis 2006, puisqu'ils ont presque double. 

Pour un achat de 36 $, corn bien cctte augmentation represente
t-elIe? Les frais ne sont plus de 82 cents par transaction. Les frais 
de traitement, qui etaient autrefois de 0,76 p. J 00 sont muintenant 
d'au moins 2,5 p. 100. 

M. Arango: Deux points. dans cette question. Ces calculs se 
font par operation. D'abord, vous parlez du caul de I'acceptation 
des cartes de cr&lit. Cela serait fonde sur Ie nombre total, et plus 
les consommateurs utilisent les cartes de crooit, plus Ie total des 
frais des cartes de credit augmente avec Ie temps. mais pas 
necessairement les fmis de transaction qU'entraine l'acceptation 
des Crais des cartes de credit. 

Deuxicmement, DOUS avons vu nkemment des frais d'escompte 
differents pour divers types d'operation. 11 faudrait alors non un 
seul tableau, mais un grand nombre de tableaux, scion les divers 
segments du marche, ce qui modifierait les, resultats. Je suis 
d'accord hlwdessus. 

Lc senatcur Ringuette: II y aura une hausse majeure. Prevoyez
vous fI!aliscr une deuxieme enquete qui 110US livrerait des donnees 
a jour sur les couts reels? 

M. Arango: Du cote des commen;ants, nous ne prevoyons pas 
d'enquete dans un avenir rapproche. Actuellement, nous tnwaillons 
a Jlenquete de 2009 ct raisons des recherches sur }'utilisation des 
differents modes de paiement. Les resultats serviront a l'elaboration 
de nos projections sur la demande de numeraire lorsque 110llS 

sortirons la nouvelle sene de billets de banque. 

M. Spencer: N'oubliez pas non plus, senateur, que notre 
programme de recherche est axe sur l'argent liquide. Carnme vous 
venez de Ie dire, il est peu probable que l'idee que les cammer9ants 
se font de l'argent liquide nit beaucoup evolue entre-temps. Nous 
nous interessons plutot aux endroits ou l'utilisation de I'argent 
liquide a probablement evolue, ce qui veut dire surtout du cote 
des consommateurs. 

'Le senateur Banks: Je veux etre sur de bien comprendre. -Les 
proportions indiquees dans les diapositives 5 et 12 sont differentes. 
Je cornprends qu'on utilise des dollars dans la diapasitive 12, aJars 
qu'il est question de « volume» dans 1a diapositive 5. Je presume 
qu'an entend par « volume» Ie nombre d'operations sans egard it 
leur'valeur. 

M. Arango: C'est exact. 
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Senator Banks! That explains the difference in the proportions. 

Mr. Arango: That is correct. 

Senator Banks: You said that you omitted online transactions. 

IVlr. Arango: Yes. 

Senator Banks: I understand why, because you arc dealing with 
currency and it is not currency, in the sense that you described it. 

Have you any idea how significant that part of the market is? 1 
do not know what I mean by the "market," but how significant 
online purchases are? I assume they are growing. I assume that it 
is the same approximate cbarges - I do not know whether you 
looked at this - obtained through the use of credit cards in 
online shopping that they do if I am standing in front of the 
counter; is that so, or do we know'? 

Mr. Arango: I think we are aware of some surveys done ill that 
regard. Statistics Canada issues some of these surveys on Internet 
acth'ity and access to the Internet. 

There is also another survey we can follow up to the committee 
that is measuring what is the online activity and which means of 
payment are used. In our research, we do not have any idea of the 
growth or the developments in online shopping. 

Senator Banks: When you were looking at the S\lrvey of 
merchants and their costs - if 1 were operating a credit card, 1 
guess I would do the same thing - aside from the fact that they 
can do it and aside from the fact of profitability, is there an 
operational cost rationale that explains the difference between a 
Oat-fee transaction for debit cards on the one hand and a 
percentage fee for credit card transactions on tJle other? 

I would do it too, if I was the proprietor of Visa and could get 
away with it, but are you aware of a cost factor that would cause 
them to do that'? 

Mr. Arango: There are some studies that look into how to 
decompose the interchange fee and the discount fee that we can 
submit to the committee. Actually, they kind of disaggregate what 
is in the interchange fee and what else is in the total discount that 
is charged to the merchant. 

What I can talk to in those studies is they assume that parl of 
that is to fund the other side of the market, which is the rewards 
programs, and part of that could be covering some of the risk 
costs associated with credit card handling. 

Senator Banks: And the cost of the money. because sometimes 
those transactions are larger. 

Mr. Arango: Correct. 

Senator Banks: As we heard yesterday, it is the cost of the money. 

Le senateur Banks: C'est ce qui expJique que les proportions 
soient differentes. 

M. Arango: Effectivement. 

Le senateur Banks: VOllS dites avoir laisse de cote les 
operations en ligne. 

M. Arango: COest un fait. 

Le senateur Banks: Je comprends pourquoi. VOllS vous 
occupez de la monnaie, et il De s'agit pas 1ft de rnonnaie ainsi 
que vous l'avez decrite. 

Avez-vous une idee de 1'importance de cette partie du marche? 
Je ne sais pas trop ce que je veux dire par « marcM », mais quelle 
est I'importance des achats en ligne'! Je presume qu'its sont en 
progression. j'ignore si vous avez examine la question, mais je 
presume que les frais sont a peu pres les memes, que les cartes de 
credit servent ft des aehats en Iigne ou dans un point de vente. Est
ee exact? Sayons-nous ft quoi OOUS en tenir? 

M. Arango: Je crois que nous sommes au courant d'enquetes qui 
auraient ete faites ft cet egard. Statistique Canada publie certaines 
de ces enquetes sur l'aethdte sur Internet ct racces a Internet. 

Il y a aussi une .mtre cnquete que nous pourrions communiquer 
au comite et qui mesure J'activito en ligne et l'utilisation des divers 
modes de paiement. }\fos propres recherches ne pennettent pas de se 
faire la moindre idee de la croissance ou de revolution des achats 
en ligne. 

Le scnateur Banks: Quand vaus avez examine renqucte aupn!s 
des commer9ants et sur leurs frais - si j'exploitais une carte de 
credit, je [erais sans doute la meme chose - mis a part Ie fait que 
la chose est possible et mis a part ]a rentabilite, avez-vous 
remarque une justification des frais de fonctionnement qui 
explique la difference entre les frais unifonncs exiges pour les 
operations avec carte de debit et les frais au pourcentage des 
operations avec carte de credit? 

J'agirais de la memo fa~on. si j'etais Ie proplietairc de Visa ct 
pouvais m'en tirer, mais y a-t-il un facteur de cout qui justifie 
I'imposition de frais au pourcentage? 

M. Arango: 11 y a des etudes qui decomposent les [rais 
d'interchange et les frais d'cscompte. Nous pouvons Ies 
communiquer au comito. En fait, elll:s dec-Omposent les elements 
qui se trouvent dans les frais d'interchange et les autres elements 
qui sont englobes dans l'escompte total impose au commen;ant. 

Je peux dire de ces etudes qu'elles presument qu'une partie des 
frais sert ft financer l'autre partie du marche, c'est-a-dire les 
programmes de recompenses, et une autre partie les risques lies it 
I'utilisation de Ia ,carte de credit. 

Le scnateur Banks: Et Ie cout de rargent, car il arrive que Ies 
operations portent sur de plus gros montants. 

M. Ara~go : Exact. 

Lc scnatcur Banks: Comme nous l'avons appris hier, c'est Ie 
cout de J'argent. 
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Mr. Spencer: I think you had an interesting answer to that 
question yesterday, that the services offered for those two cards to 
the consumer and to the merchant are different; therefore. 
presumably they have different inputs and different values and 
different costs. They arc the best people positioned to explain to 
you why the business models for those two means of payment are 
different. 

Senator Banks: And they did. 

Mr. Arango, is it reasonable to infer to the reason that the 
Jarger the cost of the item or service being purchased, the less 
likely people are to use cash, simply because if we are going to buy 
an airline ticket for S3,000 or 5700, we probably do not have that 
in our pocket. Is it as simple as that? 

Mr. Arango: There are many reasons why people may prefer 
credit cards to cash for larger transaction items, In our 2009 survey, 
we disaggregate the different attributes of the alternative means of 
payment to consumers to estimate and pin down what are the 
marginal benefits to consumers of these different attributes. 

We arc stin undergoing this research. Once we have final 
results, when it is public, we wil1 provide that to the committee. 

Senator Banks: I do not get any -points when 1 use cash. 

Senator Kochhar: I am looking at your slide 16, Mr. Arango. 
There are three modes of payment - cash, debit and credit. The 
cash payment is more expensive than debit for the merchant, but 
most small merchants, when they get cash, do not feel it is costing 
them any money - it is just a perception. 

Debjt, by virtue of what it means, you pay with your card and 
it is debited to your account right away and money is realized, so 
merchants like that, even though it costs them money to realize 
tbat instant cash. People pay by credit card because, unless they 
are paying within 25 or 30 days, they have leverage to expand 
their ability to finance anything. 

In this electronic age, have you ever thought of giving currency 
notes? You give a card, loaded with SIOO or $500 and you can 
take that card, which is as good as currency; it is easier to carry, 
much less chance of losing it, if there is a code or PIN number on 
that., when you make a payment. Do you think banks might 
consider that in the future? 

1\1r. Spencer: That is an interesting question. It is a large public 
policy question, and it comes down to when is a banknote not a 
banknote. It is a piece of paper that says S50. If we were to issue 
instead a card that said $50, would that still be a banknote? 

M. Spencer: On VOllS a fait une rcponse interessante a cctte 
question hier: les services offerts par les deux cartes au 
consomrilateur et au commen,:allt sont differcilts. Par consequent, 
on peut presumer que les facteuTS, les valeurs et les couts sont 
differents. Ces gens-Iii sont les micux places pour vous expliquer 
pourquoi les rnodeles d'affaires des deux modeles de ser.-ices de 
paiement sont differents. 

Le senateur Banks: Et iis 1'0nt fait. 

Monsieur Arango, est-il raisonnable de deduire que. plus Ie 
coot de l'article au du service achete est important, mains it est 
probable que Ie consommateur paiera en argent Hquide, 
simp]ement parce que, s'il achete un billet d'avion a 3 000 $ ou 
meme Ii 700 $, il n'a probablement pas cet argent dans ses poches. 
Est~ce que c'cst aussi simple que cela? 

M. Arango: II y a bien des raisons qui poussent les 
consommateurs a opter pour Ja carte de credit plutot que 
l'argent liquide lorsqu'il s'agit d'un gros achat. Dans notre 
enquete de 2009, nous dissocions les dilTerentes cantct6nstiques 
des divers modes de paiement pour les consommateurs afin 
d'estimer et de definir les avantages comp16melltaires des 
diff6rentes caracteristiques. 

NOliS poursuivons ces recherches. Des que nous aurons les 
resuJtats finals et qu'ils seront rendus publics, nous les 
communiquerons au comite. 

Le senateur Banks: Je u'obtiens auelln point, lorsque je paie en 
argent comptant. 

Le senateur Kochhar : Je regarde votre diapositive 16, monsieur 
Arango. n y a trois modes de paiement: argent comptant; debit et 
credit. Le paiement en argent comptant cmite plus cher au 
commerya'nt que la carte de debit, rnais Ja plupart des 
conllnergants n'ont pas I'impression, lorsqu'ils se font payer en 
liquide, que cela leur coiite de l'argent. C'est une simple impression. 

Le debit, Ie mot Ie dit, consiste a payer avec sa carte, et Ie 
montant est immooiatement debi1e au compte bancaire ot I'argent 
est verse. Cela plait au cammen;ant, meme si cela leur coilte 
quelque chose pour obtenir eet argent instantane11lcnt. Les 
consommateurs utilisent la carte de credit paree que, a mains 
qu'ils Jl'acquittent Ie solde dans les 25 ou 30 jours, ils pelivent 
augmenter ainsi leur capacite de financer n'importe quai. 

A rere de l'ciectronique qui est la notre, avez-vous jamais pense 
a emettre des cartes de monnaie? Veus emettriez une carte qui 
contient 100 $ ou 500 $ et Ie consommateur pourrait utiliser ceUe 
carte comme de rargcnt Iiquide? Ccst plus facile a porter, il y a 
bien moins de risques de la perdre, s'n s'y trouve un code ou un 
NIP, lorsqu'on fait un paiement. Pensez-vous que les banques 
pourraient envisager cette formule un jour? 

M. Spencer: Question interessante. C'est une grande 
proposition de politique d'jnteret public et i1 s'agit de savoir 
quand un billet de banque n'est pas un billet de banque. Cest un 
bout de papier qui dit 50 S. Si, a la place, nous emettions une carte 
du merne montant, est-ce que ce serait encore un billet de ban que? 
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AJl I can say about that is we are not there yet. We are planning 
to issue a new series qf banknotes starling this year, which will 
still be ·banknotes and will not have any electronic components 
on them. 

Senator Oliver: Any different denominations? 

Mr. Spencer: No. I cannot tell you too much about the new 
series yet because we arc going to be giving out a lot more 
infonnation, but the denomination structure will stay the same. 

Senator Kochhar: Do you think it is possible in the next 
30 years, 40 years. that we wi1lmake it easier? 

Mr. Spencer: Central bankers arc trained not to answer 
hypothetical questions, especially ones that go out 30 years or 
40 years. 

The Chair: Politicians have no such constraints. 

Senator Ringuette: Electronic currency is already here. 

Senator L. Smith: In reading the reports, when you started the 
study and the study that you are doing now for consumers, what 
was your objective? What did you want to get out of it'! 

We h.we seen some of the learnings from it. However, 
regarding the purpose of the stUdies, what were yon expecting 
to achieve'? 

Mr. Arango: Our main objective is to understand the demand 
for cash, the use of cash in the future. We are in the middle of 
innovation in retail paymentsj things are changing. 
Understanding the two sides of the market is important to us. 
Understanding what are the motivations for merchants to accept 
alternative means of payment that could be dose substitutes to 
cash in the future is really important to understand what would 
happen with the demand for cash in making our annual and long~ 
telm plans for the issuing of ballknotes at the bank. 

Senator L. Smith: For the consumer side, now that you have 
started it as of 2009, is that a continuation of that? 

Mr. Arango: It is a continuation on the other side to 
understand how incentives by Consumers may change their 
decisions - how different fees, the structure of fees also on 
debit cards, how they matter for consumers. as we find debit cards 
are closer substitutes to cash. especially for 10wer~value 

transaction purchases. 

Mr. Spencer: Mr. Arango has explained it well. It really comes 
down to the banknote business. We have a responsiblity to make 
the right decisions. We exist fundamentally to supply 
banknotes - it says in our mandate and our annual report -
that Canadians can use with confidence and that they can get at 
when they need to. We have to make sure there is a supply of 
secure banknotes that people can use. To do that, we must make 
some long-term decisions. We only issue, for example, a new 

Tout ce que je peux dire. c'est que nous n'en sommes pas 
encore Ia. Nons pn!voyons commencer a emettre une nouvelle 
serie de billets de banque cette annee. II s'agira toujours de billets 
de banque., sans aucun element electronique. 

Lc senatcur Oliver: Y a~t-il des coupures differentes? 

1\1. Spencer: Non. Je ne peux pas encore VOllS en dire 
beaucoup sur Ia nouvelle sene. Nous fournirons beaucoup plus 
d'infonnation, mais la structure des coupures restera la meme. 

Le scnateur Kochhar : Est-it possible que, d'ici 30 ou 40 ans, 
nous facilitions les choses? 

M. Spencer: Les responsables des banques centrales 
apprennent a ne pas rCpondre nux questions hypoth6tiques, 
surtout celies qui portent sur une p6riode de 30 ou 40 ans. 

Le president: Les hornmes et Ies femmes politiques n'ont pas 
ces contraintes. 

Lc senateur Ringuette: L'argent' electronique existe deja. 

Le senateur L. Smith: Je lis les rappol1s. Quand vous avez 
entrepris cette etude et ceUe que VOllS faites main tenant sur les 
c()J1sommateurs, quel ctait votre objectif? Que vouIicz-volls 
en retiree'? 

NOllS avons quelques enseignements qui en ont cte tires, mais 
en ce qui concerne la raison d'8tre de ces etudes, qu'espenez-vous 
obtenir? 

M. Arango: Nous cherchiolls surtout it. com prendre la 
demande de numer-aire, l'utilisation qui se ferait de la monnaie 
a l'avenir. Nous sommes au beau milieu des innovations dans les 
paiements de detail. La situation evolue: II est important pour 
nous de com prendre les deux valets du marcht':o II est important de 
comprendre les raisons pour JesqueJles les commer~nts acceptent 
des modes de paiement differents qui pourraient se substituer a 
l'argent liquide si nous voulons vraiment saisir ce qu'il adviendra 
de Ja demande de monnaie dans nos plans annuels et a long tenne 
d'cmissions de monnaie a la banque. 

Le senatcur L. Smith: Du cote des consommatctlrs, vous avez 
amorce une etude en 2009'Z Est-ce que c'est la suite de la meme 
demarche'! 

M. Arango: C'est la suite, mais de l'autre cotc. puisqu'il s'agit 
de comprendre comment les consommateurs peuvent etre portes a 
modifier leurs decisions: comment des frais differents, comment 
Ia struc;ture des frais des cartes de debit peuvent importer aux 
consommateufs, car nous constatons que les cartes de debit sont 
un substitut proche de l'argent liquide, surtout pour les achats de 
faible valeur. 

M. Spencer: M. Arango a donne une bonne explication. C'est 
au fond une question de billets de banque. Nous devons prendre 
les boones decisions. Notre raison d'etre fondamentale est de 
foumir des billets de banque. 11 est dit dans notre mandat et notre 
rapport annuel que les Canadiens doivent pouvoir utiliser les 
bi1lets avec confiance et en obtenir quand ils en ant besoin. NOllS 
devons veiller a ce qu'il y ait un bon approvisionnement en billets 
de banque dont les Canadiens peuvent se servir. Pour cela, nous 
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series of ballknotcs every eight years. We have been at work on 
the current series for five years. We had to decide then what it 
would "look like and how it would be structured. We also operate 
cash processing systems at the central bank that have a lifespan of 
up to 20 years. It is important for us to have a good sense as to 
what the outlook for cash will be for the next 8 years or even 
20 years to ensure we are positioned 10 meet that demand and to 
do it efficiently. 

Senator Oliver: I want to go to the main reason that brings you 
before this committee today, namely, a bill that is before this 
committee. The bill's title is Bill 8-201. The title of that bill reads 
as follows: Bi11 S-201, An Act to amend the Office of the 
Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act (credit and debit cards). 

1 would like to like to know if the bank- that is, you-has an 
opinion as to whether or not they see a role for OSFI l Office of 
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions. in the regulation of 
debit and credit cards. 

Mr. Spencer: The short answer to your question is no. The 
bank participates with the Department of Finance and OSFI, as 
well as COIC, Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, l.md the 
Financial Consumer Agency of Canada, FCAC, in decisions on 
the financial regulation, if you like, the financial environment and 
the government's involvement in it. However, the bank's mandate 
touches this only in two areas. One is financial stability, which I 
described before, namely. the payment and clearing systems; the 
other is the supply of banknotes. Beyond that, it is up to OSFI, 
the Department of Finance and the other agencies to decide how 
best to handle an issue like this. 

Senator Oliver: Fundamentally. do you not see a new role for 
OSFI in relation to debit and credit cards? 

Mr. Spencer: No, 1 did not say that. I said that the bank does 
not have a view all that. 

Senator Ringuette: Nice try. 

[Translation] 

Senator Hcrvieux~Payette: Earlier you mentioned fraud or 
theft involving cash. Credit cards previously had no personal 
identification numbers, or PINs, which limit the risk of fraud, 
counterfehing and identity theft. Did you evaluate that fact from 
a security standpoint in your studies? 

Your study was conducted in 2006, and PINs were not yet very 
widespread at that time. Banks implemented that system much 
later than Europe, for example. It seems to me this aspect is not 

devons prendre des decisions qui portent sur Ie long tenne. Par 
exemple, nous ll'emettons qu'a taus les huit ans une nouvelle serle 
de billets de ban que. Nous travaiIIons a la serle actuelle depuis 
cinq ans. NOllS avons dfi decider de l'aspect des billets et de 1a 
structure des coupures. Nous exploitons aussi des systemes de 
traitement de l'argent liquide a la banque centrale, des systemes 
qui ant une duree de vie d'au plus 20 ans. Il est important pour 
nous d'avoir une bonne idee de ce que sera Ie contexte de la 
monllaie pendant les huit prochaines annees ou meme d'ici 20 ans 
pour etre en mesure de repondre a la demande et de Ie faire de 
fa~on efficace. 

Le scnatcur Olh'cr : Je vaudrais en venir a la raison principale 
de votre comparution devant Ie comite, c'est~a-dire un projet de 
loi actuellement a l'etude. n s'agit du projet de Ioi S-201 et il 
s'intitule Loi modifiant la Loi sur Je Bureau du surintendallt des 
institutions financiercs (cartes de credit et de debit). 

Je voudrais savair si la banque, c'cst~a-dire vous, pense que Ie 
Bureau du surintendant des institutions financieres.le BSIF, a un 
role ii jauer dans 1a fC'!glementation des cartes de debit et de credit. 

M. Spencer! La rcponse breve, c'est non. La banque participe 
avec Ie ministere des Finances et Ie BSIF ainsi que la SADC,. 
c'est-a-dire la SocitHe d'assurance-depots du Canada. et l' ACFC, 
c'est-a-dire I'Agence de la consornmation en matiere financiere du 
Canada, aux decisions sur la reglementatian en matiere financiere, 
si on veut, sur Ie contexte financier et l'intervention de l'Etat dans 
ce contexte. Toutefois, Ie mandat de la banque ne touche que deux 
questions. L'une est la stabilite financiere, que j'ai deja decrite, 
soit les systemes de paiement et de compen_sation, et rautre est 
l'approvisionnement en bi1Jets de banque. En dehors de cela, it 
appartient au BSIF, au ministcre des Finances et a d'autres 
organismes de decider des meilleurs moyens de gerer Dne question 
comme celle-ci-

Le senatcur Oliver: Fondamentalement, vous ne croyez pas 
que Ie BSIF a un nouveau role a jouer relativement au}'; cartes de 
debit et de credit? 

M. Spencer: Non, je n'ai pas dit eela. J'ai dit. que la banque 
n'avait pas d'opillion Ii. exprimer sur Ia question. 

Le senateur Ringuette: Bien essaye. 

[f}'an9ais] 

Le senateur Hen'ieux-Payette : Vous parliez tantOt de fraude 
au de vol en cc qui concerne I'argent comptant. Auparavant, Ies 
cartes de credit n'avaient pas de numero d'identification 
personnel, un NIP, qui limite les risques de fraude, de 
contrefa90n et de vol d'identite. Avez-vo).ls evalue ce fait au 
niveau securitaire lars de vos etudes? 

Votre etude a ete faite en 2006, et Ie NIP n'etait pas encore tres 
repandu a ce moment-lao Nos banques ant implante ce systeme 
tres tard~ si all compare avec l'Europe, par ex.emple. II me semble 
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